
  City of Fort Atkinson 
  City Manager’s Office 
  101 N. Main Street 
  Fort Atkinson, WI 53538 

 
 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
IN PERSON AND VIA ZOOM 

THURSDAY, JULY 6, 2023 – 7:00 PM 
CITY HALL – SECOND FLOOR 

If you have special needs or circumstances which may make communication or accessibility difficult at 
the meeting, please call (920) 397-9901.  Accommodations will, to the fullest extent possible, be made 

available on request by a person with a disability. 

 
AGENDA 

1. Call meeting to order 
 

2. Roll call 
 

3. Public Hearing – None 
 

4. Public Comment: The City Council will receive comments from City residents. Comments 
are generally limited to three minutes per individual. Anyone wishing to speak is required 
to sign up in advance or state the following items for the record when called upon: 
name, address, subject matter, and contact information. No action will be taken on any 
public comments unless the item is also elsewhere on the agenda.   
 

5. Consent Agenda: The Consent Agenda outlined below is hereby presented for action by 
the City Council. Items may be removed from the Consent Agenda on the request of any 
one Council member. Items not removed may be adopted by one action without debate. 
Removed items may be taken up either immediately after the Consent Agenda or placed 
later on the agenda at the discretion of the Council President. 
 

a. Review and possible action relating to the minutes of the June 20, 2023 regular 
Fort Atkinson City Council meeting (Ebbert, Clerk/Treasurer/Finance Director) 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/5997866403?pwd=alcreldSbGpNUVI1VnR1RWF5bXovdz09 
Meeting ID: 599 786 6403 

Passcode: 53538 
 

Dial by Location 
+1 312 626 6799 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/5997866403?pwd=alcreldSbGpNUVI1VnR1RWF5bXovdz09


b. Review and possible action relating to the minutes of the June 27, 2023 regular 
Fort Atkinson Plan Commission meeting (Ebbert, Clerk/Treasurer/Finance 
Director) 

c. Review and possible action relating to the minutes of the June 27, 2023 Loan 
Review Committee meeting (Ebbert, Clerk/Treasurer/Finance Director) 

d. Review and possible action relating to the minutes of the June 27, 2023 Police 
and Fire Commission meeting (Ebbert, Clerk/Treasurer/Finance Director) 

e. Review and possible action relating to the minutes of the June 28, 2023 
Economic Development Commission meeting (Ebbert, Clerk/Treasurer/Finance 
Director) 

f. Review and possible action Special Event: Parks and Recreation Youth Triathlon 
on Saturday, July 29, 2023 from 7 a.m. to 12 p.m. at Rock River Park, Aquatic 
Center and Montclair Place (Ebbert, Clerk/Treasurer/Finance Director) 

g. Review and possible action Special Event: Knight Nation 5K on Saturday, August 
19, 2023 from 10 a.m. to 1 p.m. at Crown of Life campus (Ebbert, 
Clerk/Treasurer/Finance Director) 

h. Review and possible action Special Event: Tour De Fort on Saturday, August 26, 
2023 from 7 a.m. to 2 p.m. at Jones Park, Lions Pavilion and bike routes (Ebbert, 
Clerk/Treasurer/Finance Director) 

i. Review and possible action Special Event: Making Fort Special on Thursday, 
Sept. 14, 2023 from 5 to 7 p.m. at Jones Park Shelter (Ebbert, 
Clerk/Treasurer/Finance Director) 
 

6. Petitions, Requests, and Communications  
 

a. Presentation of Tourism Annual Report (Fort Atkinson Chamber of Commerce-
Tourism) 

b. Presentation of the City of Fort Atkinson Financial Statements and 
Supplemental Information for the year ending December 31, 2022 (Andrea 
Jansen, CPA, CFE, Partner, Baker Tilly US, LLP) 

 
7. Resolutions and Ordinances 

 
a. Review and possible action relating to a resolution expressing support for Local 

Government Funding Legislation Resolution Wisconsin Act 12 (Houseman, City 
Manager) 

b. First reading of an Ordinance to adopt Zoning Text Amendments relating to 
medium industrial land uses, home occupations, off street parking, fencing, 
building maintenance, landscaping, signage and pools (Draeger, Building/Zoning 
Administrator) 
 

8. Reports of Officers, Boards, and Committees: 
 

a. City Manager’s Report (Houseman, City Manager)  



9. Unfinished Business – None

10. New Business:

a. Review and possible action relating to proposals for the Fire Chief Recruitment 
process (Houseman, City Manager)

b. Review and possible action relating to a Development Agreement with Fort 
Healthcare (Selle, Director of Public Works)

c. Review and possible action relating to a Certified Survey Map for the property 
located at 1712 and 1714 Montclair Place  (Draeger, Building/Zoning 
Administrator)

d. Review and possible action relating to a Certified Survey Map for the property 
located at 624 and 704 Sherman Ave East  (Draeger, Building/Zoning 
Administrator)

11. Miscellaneous – None

12. Claims, Appropriations and Contract Payments:

a. Review and possible action relating to the Verified Claims presented by the 
Director of Finance and authorization of payment (Ebbert,
Clerk/Treasurer/Finance Director)

13. Adjournment

Date Posted: June 29, 2023 

CC: City Council; City Staff; City Attorney; News Media; Fort Atkinson School District; Fort Atkinson 
Chamber of Commerce 

Visit us online! City news and information can be found at www.fortatkinsonwi.gov, and be sure to 
follow us on Facebook @FortAtkinsonWI. 

Note the City’s new .gov domain name and new phone numbers. Visit our website for more 
information.  

http://www.fortatkinsonwi.gov/


  City of Fort Atkinson 
  City Clerk/Treasurer’s Office 
  101 N. Main Street 
  Fort Atkinson, WI 53538 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
IN PERSON AND VIA ZOOM 

TUESDAY, JUNE 20, 2023 – 7:00 PM 
CITY HALL – SECOND FLOOR 

 
 

1. CALL MEETING TO ORDER 
President Johnson called the meeting to order at 7:00 pm. 
 
2. ROLL CALL 
Present: Cm. Jaeckel, Cm. Lescohier, Cm. Schultz and President Johnson. Also present: City 
Manager, City Clerk/Treasurer, City Attorney, City Engineer, Public Works Superintendent, 
Fire Chief, Division Chief, Building Inspector, Wastewater Superintendent and Park & 
Recreation Director.  
 
Excused absence: Cm. Becker 
 
3. PUBLIC HEARINGS – NONE  
 
4. PUBLIC COMMENT:  
Dean Trost, 1315 Montclair Place – President of ATV/UTV Club. Supports the use of 
ATV/UTV on City streets.  
 
5. CONSENT AGENDA:  
a. Review and possible action relating to the minutes of the June 6, 2023 regular City 
Council meeting (Ebbert, Clerk/Treasurer/Finance Director) 
b. Review and possible action relating to the minutes of the June 13, 2023 Plan Commission 
meeting (Ebbert, Clerk/Treasurer/Finance Director) 
c. Review and possible action relating to the minutes of the June 14, 2023 Parks and 
Recreation Advisory Board (Franseen, Parks and Recreation Director) 
d. Review and possible action relating to building, plumbing, and electrical permit report 
for May 2023 (Draeger, Building Inspector) 
e. Review and possible action relating to the City Clerk-issued License and Permit Report for 
May 2023 (Ebbert, Clerk/Treasurer/Finance Director)  
f. Review and possible action relating to City Sewer, Water, and Stormwater Utility 
Financial Statements as of May 31, 2023 (Ebbert, Clerk/Treasurer/Finance Director)  
g. Review and possible action relating to Citizen Appointments to Committees, 
Commissions, and Boards (Houseman, City Manager) 
Cm. Schultz moved, seconded by Cm. Jaeckel to approve the Consent Agenda as listed, 
items 5.a. through 5.g. Motion carried.  
 
6. PETITIONS, REQUESTS, AND COMMUNICATIONS 



a. Review and possible action relating to proclamation recognizing July as Parks and 
Recreation Month in the City of Fort Atkinson (Houseman, City Manager) 
Cm. Lescohier moved, seconded by Cm. Schultz to approve the proclamation recognizing 
the month of July as Parks and Recreation Month in the City of Fort Atkinson.  Motion 
carried.  

 
7. RESOLUTIONS AND ORDINANCES: 
a. Second and possible third/final reading and action on an Ordinance relating to a Zoning 
Map Amendment to change the zoning from Downtown Periphery Mixed Use (DPMU) to 
Neighborhood Mixed Use (NMU) for the properties located at 211 Milwaukee Avenue East 
and 210 South Water Street East (Selle, City Engineer/Director of Public Works) 
Engineer Selle reviewed the submission from Melanie Becker, owner Rock River Assets, LLC, 
for a Zoning Map Amendment for the vacant properties located at 211 Milwaukee Avenue 
East and 210 South Water Street East. She has requested to change the zoning from 
Downtown Periphery Mixed Use (DPMU) to Neighborhood Mixed Use (NMU) to facilitate 
future development.  
 
Cm. Schultz moved, seconded by Cm. Lescohier to suspend the rules and offer a third and 
final reading of this ordinance. Motion carried.  
 
Cm. Lescohier moved, seconded by Cm. Jaeckel to enact the ordinance amending the 
Official Zoning Map of the City of Fort Atkinson to change the zoning of the subject 
properties from DPMU to NMU.  Motion carried.  
 
8. REPORTS OF OFFICERS, BOARDS, AND COMMITTEES: 
a. City Manager’s Report (Houseman, City Manager)  
No action required. 
 
9. UNFINISHED BUSINESS – NONE 
 
10. NEW BUSINESS: 
a. Review and possible action to authorize the City Manager to sign a contract for agenda 
management services with CivicPlus (Houseman, City Manager) 
Manager Houseman reviewed that City staff had been putting steps in place to improve 
communication with the City Council and residents, and to increase access to information 
about City finances and services. By utilizing an agenda management solution, City Council 
and other board documents will be easier for residents to access and will create efficiencies 
for City staff. The CivicPlus Agenda and Meeting Management software will allow staff to 
create agenda items and manage live meetings. The software provides time-saving 
automation while allowing the balance of conveniences with manual controls and overrides. 
The system will also allow for internal collaboration and custom workflows, version tracking 
and approvals. 
 



The 2023 budget includes funds for agenda management software in the amount of 
$10,000 in the dues and subscriptions account. The proposal from CivicPlus will cost $8,157 
in the first year and $5,035.80 in year two. The initial cost includes the annual fee of $4,796, 
Premium Configuration $2,220, Custom Template Design $420, virtual consulting $480 and 
two virtual training sessions of half a day for $720 each. The year one cost includes a $1,199 
discount due the City having multiple services with the company. The ongoing annual cost 
of the web-based software is expected to be similar to the cost in year two ($5,000). If 
approved, staff intends to continue to budget for this subscription. 

 
Cm. Schultz moved, seconded by Cm. Lescohier to authorize the City Manager to sign a 
contract for agenda management services with CivicPlus at a cost of $8,157 with funds from 
the City Manager dues and subscriptions account. Motion carried.  
 
b. Review and possible action relating to the Wastewater Utility 2022 Compliance 
Maintenance Annual Report (CMAR) to Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources 
(Christensen, Wastewater Superintendent) 
Superintendent Christensen reviewed the Utility’s 2022 grades are as follows: 

 Influent flow and loadings = A 
 Effluent quality: BOD = A 
 Effluent quality: TSS = A 
 Effluent Quality: Ammonia = A 
 Effluent quality: Phosphorus = A 
 Biosolids quality and management = A 
 Preventive maintenance and staffing = A 
 Operator certification = A 
 Financial management = A 
 Collection systems = A 

The overall grade point average for 2022 is 4.00 (2021 = 4.00; 2020 = 3.84) and indicates 
that overall the plant is in good condition and is operating at a high level. 
 
Cm. Jaeckel moved, seconded by Cm. Schultz to approve the resolution authorizing the 
2022 Compliance Maintenance Annual Report for the City of Fort Atkinson Wastewater 
Utility. Motion carried.  
 
c. Review and possible action relating to the 2023-2025 Fort Youth Tackle Football Field 
Use and Concession Stand Agreement (Franseen, Parks and Recreation Director) 
Director Franseen discussed how the Fort Youth Tackle Football has made significant 
contributions at the Kiwanis Football Fields through their fundraising efforts. This includes 
funding, building, and maintaining the concession stand, press box, storage garage, small 
storage shed, two scoreboards, and light poles and fixtures. While FYTF is responsible for 
repair or replacement of all the aforementioned items, they must seek approval from the 
Parks and Recreation Director or their designee. This approval process is crucial in 
maintaining consistency of color and facade throughout the parks, as well as ensuring that 
new buildings or structures are not built without proper City approvals. FYTF holds public 



liability insurance and will hold the City harmless from any third party claims which arise 
from the leased property.  The City currently has concession stand lease agreements with 
the Fort Atkinson Lion’s Club at Ralph Park, Fort Youth Baseball at Memorial Park, and the 
Fort Atkinson Generals Baseball Team, Inc. at Jones Park. 
 
Cm. Schultz moved, seconded by Cm. Jaeckel to approve the 2023-2025 Fort Youth Tackle 
Football Field Use and Concession Stand Agreement between the City of Fort Atkinson and 
the Fort Youth Tackle Football Program, Inc. Motion carried. 
 
d. Review and possible action to Upgrade and Improve Neighborhood Storm Warning 
Sirens (Rausch, Fire Chief) 
Chief Rausch shared that in April 2023, Emergency Communication System inspected the 
City’s neighborhood storm warning sirens. There are four such sirens in the City, located on 
Cloute Hill on the water tower property, at Ralph Park near Wheels Park, on Jamesway at 
the lift station, and on the roof of the Municipal Building. The inspection found some 
immediate repair and replacement needs for two of the siren locations. Late summer is the 
expected timeline for replacement and repairs.  
 
1. Replacement of Jamesway Siren: The Jamesway siren is currently not functioning 

correctly, and it cannot be fixed due to the unavailability of replacement parts. To 
rectify this issue, staff proposes replacing the Jamesway siren unit with a new one. 
Additionally, relocating the siren for improved distribution will be considered. This 
replacement project will involve the following: 

• Cost of Parts: $14,113.00 
• Cost of Labor: $8,675.00 
• Relocation expenses to ensure serviceability from the public right-of-way are 

included in the cost. 
2. Pole Replacement at Ralph Park: The siren at Ralph Park requires a pole replacement 

due to deterioration. To address this issue, staff recommends replacing the deteriorated 
pole with a new one. The pole replacement project will incur the following cost: 

• Cost of Pole Replacement: $6,775.00 
 

 

Proposed Funding Tables for Neighborhood Storm Warning Siren Project

Table 1: Project Costs
Project Total Cost

Jamesway Siren Replacement 22,788.00$                           
Ralph Park Pole Replacement 6,775.00$                              

TOTAL: 29,563.00$                           

Table 2: Funding Sources
Funding Sources Account Number Amount Expended

Emergency Management 01-52-5261-0600 4,000.00$                    
American Rescue Plan Act 22-50-5000-1000 25,563.00$                  

29,563.00$                  TOTAL:



 
Cm. Lescohier moved, seconded by Cm. Jaeckel to approve the storm warning siren 
replacement at Jamesway and the pole replacement at Ralph Park for a total cost of 
$29,563 to be funded through the emergency management supplies account and the 
American Rescue Plan Act fund. Motion carried.  
 
11. MISCELLANEOUS – NONE 
 
12. CLAIMS, APPROPRIATIONS AND CONTRACT PAYMENTS: 
a. Review and possible action relating to the Verified Claims presented by the Director of 
Finance and authorization of payment (Ebbert, Clerk/Treasurer/Finance Director)  
Cm. Schultz moved, seconded by Cm. Jaeckel to approve the Verified Claims as presented. 
Motion carried.  
 
13. ADJOURNMENT 
Cm. Jaeckel moved, seconded by Cm. Schultz to adjourn. Meeting adjourned at 7:44 pm. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
Michelle Ebbert 
City Clerk/Treasurer 
 
 
 
 



  City of Fort Atkinson 
  City Clerk/Treasurer’s Office 
  101 N. Main Street 
  Fort Atkinson, WI 53538 

 
PLAN COMMISSION MEETING 

IN PERSON AND VIA ZOOM 
TUESDAY, JUNE 27, 2023 – 4:00 PM  

CITY HALL – SECOND FLOOR 
 

1. CALL MEETING TO ORDER 
Manager Houseman called the meeting to order at 4:00 pm. 
 
2. ROLL CALL 
Commissioners: Gray, Highfield, Kessenich, Schultz, Manager Houseman and Engineer Selle. 
Excused absence: Commissioner Shull. Also present: City Attorney, City Clerk/Treasurer, 
Building Inspector and Engineer Technician.  
 
3. REVIEW AND POSSIBLE ACTION RELATING TO THE MINUTES OF THE JUNE 13, 2023 

REGULAR PLAN COMMISSION MEETING 
Cm. Gray moved, seconded by Cm. Kessenich to approve the minutes from the June 13, 
2023 Plan Commission meeting as submitted. Motion carried unanimously. 

 
4. PUBLIC HEARING: ZONING TEXT AMENDMENTS RELATING TO MEDIUM INDUSTRIAL 

LAND USES, HOME OCCUPATIONS, OFF STREET PARKING, FENCING, BUILDING 
MAINTENANCE, LANDSCAPING, SIGNAGE AND POOLS. (DRAEGER) 

Building Inspector Draeger reviewed the list of amendments with the Commission.  
 
Chairperson Manager Houseman opened the public hearing at 4:15 pm.   
 
John Donohue, 1550 Raveen Street – inquired on the mechanism on enforcement of 
ordinance violations. Draeger provided the path of enforcement which includes several 
contacts made in attempt for correction. Without correction, the Police Department may 
participate in encouraging correction or turn to enforcement.  
 
Chairperson Manager Houseman closed public hearing at 4:17 pm.  

 
5. REVIEW AND POSSIBLE RECOMMENDATION TO THE CITY COUNCIL RELATING TO 

ZONING TEXT AMENDMENTS RELATING TO MEDIUM INDUSTRIAL LAND USES, HOME 
OCCUPATIONS, OFF STREET PARKING, FENCING, BUILDING MAINTENANCE, 
LANDSCAPING, SIGNAGE AND POOLS (DRAEGER) 

Cm. Schultz asked for clarification on section 2 regarding garages and setbacks. Draeger 
confirmed this does not apply to various residential zoning.  



Cm. Schultz inquired on various properties within the City that may be in violation of having 
equipment stored outside or similar home occupations. Draeger discussed the allowance 
and guidelines of home occupations.  
 
Cm. Gray asked for confirmation on the size of signs increasing from 24 to 48. This 
amendment speaks to drive thru restaurant menu signage boards which will allow up to 
two signs, or one per drive thru lane.  
 
Cm. Schultz moved, seconded by Cm. Gray to recommend the City Council approve the 
Zoning Text Amendments relating to medium industrial land uses, home occupations, off 
street parking, fencing, building maintenance, landscaping, signage, pools and the 
recommended change on item #7.c. Motion carried unanimously. 

 
6. REVIEW AND POSSIBLE RECOMMENDATION TO THE CITY COUNCIL RELATING TO A 

CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP FOR THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 1712 AND 1714 MONTCLAIR 
PLACE (CSM-2023-06) (DRAEGER) 

Building Inspector Draeger presented a request from the property owner for a two-lot 
Certified Survey Map for the parcel located at 1712 Montclair Pl. The property owner would 
like to separate the existing DR-8 Duplex Residential lot into two separate lots allowing the 
construction of a twin house using the zero-lot line zoning mechanism.   
 
The preliminary Certified Survey Map that was submitted is missing a few requirements 
listed in Section 70.06.03 of the City of Fort Atkinson Land Division Ordinance.  
• CSM must include the owner’s email and phone number. 
• An inset map showing the location of the parcel relative to the City of Fort Atkinson 
• CSM must label adjacent lands west and south of the proposed lots as Unplotted Land 
• CSM must show all existing setback lines and reference to the current zoning document 

made 
• CSM should include location of water and sewer service 

 
Staff recommends approval with the following conditions:  
• A joint maintenance agreement for the roof and shared wall of the house, to be 

recorded on each parcel, 
• Addition of the missing information required in Article VI, Section 70.06.03 – CSM 

Requirements, of the City of Fort Atkinson Land Division Ordinance.   
 
Cm. Gray moved, seconded by Cm. Schultz to recommend the City Council approve Certified 
Survey Map for the property located at 1712 and 1714 Montclair Place subject to the 
conditions outlined in the Staff report. Motion carried unanimously. 

 
7. REVIEW AND POSSIBLE RECOMMENDATION TO THE CITY COUNCIL RELATING TO A 

CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP FOR THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 624 AND 704 SHERMAN AVE 
EAST (CSM-2023-07) (DRAEGER) 



Building Inspector Draeger discussed the request from the property owner Terry A Duch has 
requested a two-lot Certified Survey Map for the parcels located at 624 Sherman Ave E. and 
704 Sherman Ave E.  The property owner would like to break off a portion of 624 Sherman 
Ave E and join it with the adjoining property at 704 Sherman Ave E. The lot at 624 Sherman 
is legal nonconforming with respect to lot width. Approval of this CSM would increase the 
width of the 624 Sherman Ave E lot creating a legal conforming lot. The lot at 704 Sherman 
would increase in size, remain a legal lot, and would retain the shoreline access from both 
current lot configurations. 

 
Staff recommends that the Plan Commission recommend the City Council approve this 
preliminary Certified Survey Map. Contingent on the final Certified Survey Map including 
the following: 
• increase width of the proposed lot at 624 Sherman Ave E. to the 100 ft required for SR-

2 Zoning.  
• add the missing information required in Article VI, Section 70.60.03 – CSM 

Requirements, of the City of Fort Atkinson Land Division Ordinance. 
 

Cm. Schultz moved, seconded by Cm. Gray to approve the Certified Survey Map for the 
property located at 624 and 704 Sherman Ave East subject to the conditions outlined in the 
Staff report. Motion carried unanimously. 

 
8. ADJOURNMENT 
Kessenich moved, seconded by Highfield to adjourn. Motion carried unanimously and 
meeting adjourned at 4:37 pm. 
 
Respectfully submitted 
Michelle Ebbert 
City Clerk/Treasurer 

 



  City of Fort Atkinson 
  City Clerk/Treasurer’s Office 
  101 N. Main Street 
  Fort Atkinson, WI 53538 

 
LOAN REVIEW COMMITTEE MEETING 

IN PERSON AND VIA ZOOM 
TUESDAY, JUNE 27, 2023 – 2:00 PM 

CITY HALL – SECOND FLOOR 
 

 
1. CALL MEETING TO ORDER 
Manager Houseman called the meeting to order at 2:00 pm.  
 
2. ROLL CALL 
Committee members: Jim Bowers, Robert Cassiday and Mark McGlynn. Also present: City 
Manager, City Clerk/Treasurer, Thrive ED Deb Reinbold and Phil Ostrowski. 
 
3. REVIEW AND POSSIBLE ACTION RELATING TO THE MINUTES OF THE LOAN REVIEW 
COMMITTEE MEETING ON MAY 1, 2023 
McGlynn moved, seconded by Cassiday to approve the minutes of the Loan Review 
Committee meeting on May 1, 2023. Motion carried 3-0. 
 
Trent Erdman and Chris Hanson addressed the Committee and discussed the plans for the 
new business/building.  
 
4. THE LOAN REVIEW COMMITTEE WILL ADJOURN INTO CLOSED SESSION PER WIS. STAT. 
§19.85(1)(F) TO CONSIDER FINANCIAL AND PERSONAL INFORMATION OF AN APPLICANT 
FOR THE CITY OF FORT ATKINSON’S CAPITAL CATALYST REVOLVING LOAN FUND (CCRFL) 
McGlynn moved, seconded by Bowers to adjourn into closed session per Wis. Stat 
§19.85(1)(f) to consider financial and personal information of an applicant for the City of 
Fort Atkinson’s Capital Catalyst Revolving Loan Fund. Motion carried 3-0.  
 
5. THE LOAN COMMITTEE WILL RETURN TO OPEN SESSION AND MAY MAKE A 
RECOMMENDATION TO THE ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION RELATING TO AN 
APPLICATION FROM LIL’ HAWKS KIDZ ACADEMY TOO, LLC FOR THE CCRLF  
Bowers moved, seconded by Cassiday to return to open session. Motion carried 3-0. 
 
Manager Houseman summarized the possible recommendation from the Committee 
that the Economic Development Commission approve a loan from the CCRLF for 
$100,000 with a 2% fixed interest rate over 15 years with a second mortgage on the 
building located at 1255 Talcott Street, Fort Atkinson, Wisconsin and personal 
guaranties from Christine Hansen.  
 
Bowers moved, seconded by McGlynn to recommend to the Economic Development 
Commission approve the loan subject to the terms described by Manager Houseman. 
Motion carried 3-0. 



 
 

 
6. ADJOURNMENT 
Bowers moved, seconded by Cassiday to adjourn. Meeting adjourned at 2:42 pm. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
Michelle Ebbert 
City Clerk/Treasurer  



  City of Fort Atkinson 
  City Clerk/Treasurer’s Office 
  101 N. Main Street 
  Fort Atkinson, WI 53538 

 
POLICE AND FIRE COMMISSION MEETING 

IN PERSON AND VIA ZOOM 
TUESDAY, JUNE 27, 2023 – 5:00 P.M. 

CITY HALL – SECOND FLOOR 
 
 
1. CALL MEETING TO ORDER 
Chairperson Jones called the meeting to order at 5:00 pm. 
 
2. ROLL CALL 
Commissioners: Hartwick, Jones, Raub, Schultz and Turk. Also present: City Manager, 
Clerk/Treasurer and Interim Chief.  
 
3. REVIEW AND POSSIBLE ACTION RELATING TO THE MINUTES OF THE JUNE 1, 2023 

MEETING OF THE POLICE AND FIRE COMMISSION 
Schultz moved, Raub seconded to approve the minutes of the June 1, 2023 meeting of the 
Police and Fire Commission. Motion carried unanimously.  
 
4. REVIEW AND POSSIBLE ACTION RELATING TO HIRING OF TOP CANDIDATES FROM THE 

HIRING PROCESS FOR VOLUNTEER POSITIONS FOR THE FIRE DEPARTMENT (LAWRENCE) 
Interim Chief Lawrence presented the top candidates following the recruitments. This would 
create a total of 45 paid-on-call volunteers.  
 
Hartwick moved, seconded by Schultz to approve the top candidates on a 12-month 
probationary status effective July 1, 2023 pending successful completion of background 
investigation and drug screen. Motion carried unanimously.  
 
5. REVIEW AND POSSIBLE RECOMMENDATION TO THE CITY COUNCIL RELATING TO 

PROPOSALS FOR THE FIRE CHIEF RECRUITMENT PROCESS (HOUSEMAN) 
Manager Houseman reviewed the table provided that summarized the received proposals. 
Should the Commission not select a firm at this time, the City Council may take action and 
select a firm. Funds exists for the hiring of consultant/firm to perform the search due to Staff 
limitations to conduct the search.   This position also served as the Emergency Management 
Directory which will be included on the job description when posted. The Commission discussed 
the recruitment and considerations when selecting a firm.  
 
Schultz moved, seconded by Turk to recommend the City Council approve the proposal from 
GovHR USA with the Assessment Center being an option, if necessary for the Fire Chief 
Recruitment process.  Motion carried unanimously.  
 
 



 
 

6. ADJOURNMENT 
Schultz moved, seconded by Turk to adjourn. Meeting adjourned at 5:48 pm.  
 
Respectfully submitted 
Michelle Ebbert 
City Clerk/Treasurer 
 
 



  City of Fort Atkinson 
  City Clerk/Treasurer’s Office 
  101 N. Main Street 
  Fort Atkinson, WI 53538 

 
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION  

WEDNESDAY, JUNE 28, 2023 – 4:00 PM 
CITY HALL – SECOND FLOOR 

 
 
1. CALL MEETING TO ORDER 
Chairperson Nelson called the meeting to order at 4:00 pm. 
 
2. ROLL CALL 
Present: Commissioners Camplin, Donohue, Nelson, Paulson Weston, Ralston and Council Rep 
Lescohier. Also present: Ex-Officio City Manager, Ex-Officio Chamber Director, Clerk/Treasurer, 
Thrive ED JCEDC representative.   
 
Excused absence: McGlynn 
 
3. REVIEW AND POSSIBLE ACTION RELATING TO THE MINUTES OF THE MAY 3, 2023 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION MEETING 
Donohue moved, seconded by Camplin to approve the minutes of the May 3, 2023 Economic 
Development Commission meeting. Motion carried unanimously. 
 
Trent Erdman and Chris Hanson addressed the Committee and discussed the plans for the new 
business/building.  
 
4. THE ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION MAY ADJOURN INTO CLOSED SESSION PER 

WIS. STAT. §19.85(1)(F) TO CONSIDER FINANCIAL AND PERSONAL INFORMATION OF AN 
APPLICANT FOR THE CITY OF FORT ATKINSON’S CAPITAL CATALYST REVOLVING LOAN 
FUND (CCRLF) FROM LIL’ HAWKS KIDZ ACADEMY TOO, LLC 

Lescohier moved, seconded by Donohue to adjourn into closed session per Wis. Stat 
§19.85(1)(F) to consider financial and personal information of an applicant for the City of Fort 
Atkinson Capital Catalyst Revolving Loan Fund (CCRLF) from Lil’ Hawks Kidz Academy Too, LLC. 
Motion carried unanimously. 
 
5. THE ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION MAY REMAIN IN CLOSED SESSION PER WIS. 

STAT. §19.85(1)(E) TO CONDUCT OTHER SPECIFIED BUSINESS, WHENEVER COMPETITIVE 
OR BARGAINING REASONS REQUIRE A CLOSED SESSION IN OR TO REVIEW A DRAFT 
DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT BETWEEN FORT HEALTHCARE AND THE CITY OF FORT 
ATKINSON  

Lescohier moved, seconded by Donohue to remain in closed session per Wis Stat §19.85(1)(E) 
to conduct other specified business, whenever competitive or bargaining reasons require a 
closed session in or to review a Draft Development Agreement between Fort Healthcare and 
the City of Fort Atkinson. Motion carried unanimously.  



 
 

 
6. THE ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION MAY RETURN TO OPEN SESSION FOR THE 

PURPOSES: 
Ralston moved, seconded by Camplin to reconvene into open session at 5:18 pm. Motion 
carried unanimously. 
 

a. REVIEW AND POSSIBLE ACTION RELATING TO AN APPLICATION FROM LIL’ HAWKS 
KIDZ ACADEMY TOO, LLC FOR A CAPITAL CATALYST REVOLVING LOAN FUND LOAN 

Manager Houseman summarized the possible recommendation from the Committee that 
the Economic Development Commission approve a loan from the CCRLF for $100,000 with 
a 2% fixed interest rate over 15 years with a second mortgage on the building located at 
1255 Talcott Street, Fort Atkinson, Wisconsin and personal guaranty from Christine 
Hansen.  
 
Paulson Weston moved, seconded by Donohue to recommend approval of a Capital 
Catalyst Revolving Loan Fund for Lil’ Hawks Kidz Academy Too, LLC in the amount of 
$100,000 with a 2% fixed interest rate over 15 years with a second mortgage on the 
building located at 1255 Talcott Street, Fort Atkinson, Wisconsin and personal guaranty 
from Christine Hansen. Motion carried unanimously.  
 

b. REVIEW AND POSSIBLE RECOMMENDATION TO THE CITY COUNCIL RELATING TO A 
DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT BETWEEN FORT HEALTHCARE AND THE CITY OF FORT 
ATKINSON 

Paulson Weston moved, seconded by Camplin a recommendation by the Economic 
Development Commission to the City Council to approve the Development Agreement between 
Fort Healthcare and the City of Fort Atkinson upon final formal review between Fort Healthcare 
and the City of Fort Atkinson. Motion carried unanimously. 
 
7. ADJOURNMENT 
Ralston moved, seconded by Paulson Weston to adjourn. Meeting adjourned at 5:21 pm. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
Michelle Ebbert 
City Clerk/Treasurer 
 
 
 



  City of Fort Atkinson 
  City Clerk/Treasurer’s Office 
  101 N. Main Street 
  Fort Atkinson, WI 53538 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 
DATE:  July 6, 2023 
 
TO:  Fort Atkinson City Council 
 
FROM:  Michelle Ebbert, City Clerk/Treasurer/Finance Director 
 
RE: Review and possible action relating to Special Event: 
 City of Fort Atkinson Park & Recreation Youth Triathlon 
 
BACKGROUND 
The City of Fort Atkinson is committed to supporting quality special events throughout the 
community. The Special Event Guide and Application was created to assist with planning events 
in the city and to allow appropriate contact information be obtained and forwarded to 
Departments.  The planning guide is designed to assist members of the community in the 
planning, preparation and running of events and programs in Fort Atkinson.  
 
The Special Event Guide defines a special event as a planned extraordinary occurrence or 
temporary aggregation of attractions, open to the public, that (a) is conducted on public 
property, (b) is conducted on private property and has a substantial impact on public property, 
(c) has activities that request special temporary licenses; or (d) require special city services, 
whether open to the public or not, including but not limited to, any of the following: street 
closures, provisions of barricades, garbage cans, stages or special no parking signs, special 
electrical services, or special police protection. Special events include, but not limited to, 
neighborhood and community festivals, parades, processions, fairs, and bicycle or foot races.  
 
DISCUSSION 
Event: Parks & Recreation Youth Triathlon 
Date: Saturday, July 29, 2023 
Location: Rock River Park, Aquatic Center, Montclair Pl. 
Contact Person: Brett Ketterman 
Hours of Event: 7:00 am to 12:00 pm  
Estimated Number of Attendees:  300+ 
 
Participants aged 7 to 14 will swim at the Aquatic Center, bike on the road through Rock River 
Park and the Montclair Street. Participants will then run on Sinnissippi Drive in the park to the 
archery range and back. Over 50 volunteers will be helping direct kids where to go, on the swim 
deck, on the course, and throughout the location 
 
Event information was routed to Departments without any concerns provided.  



 
 

 
 
FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 
There is no financial impact to the City of Fort Atkinson for the event. Departments will assist 
with proper refuse receptacles and barricades.  
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends that City Council approve the Special Event Youth Triathlon for the Parks & 
Recreation to be held on Saturday July 29, 2023 at Rock River Park, Aquatic Center and 
Montclair Subdivision and approve closure of Sinnissippi Drive from 5:00 am to 11:00 pm.  
 
ATTACHMENTS 
Special Event Application and Map 









  City of Fort Atkinson 
  City Clerk/Treasurer’s Office 
  101 N. Main Street 
  Fort Atkinson, WI 53538 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 
DATE:  July 6, 2023 
 
TO:  Fort Atkinson City Council 
 
FROM:  Michelle Ebbert, City Clerk/Treasurer/Finance Director 
 
RE: Review and possible action relating to Special Event: 
 Crown of Life Christian Academy Knight Nation 5K 
 
BACKGROUND 
The City of Fort Atkinson is committed to supporting quality special events throughout the 
community. The Special Event Guide and Application was created to assist with planning events 
in the city and to allow appropriate contact information be obtained and forwarded to 
Departments.  The planning guide is designed to assist members of the community in the 
planning, preparation and running of events and programs in Fort Atkinson.  
 
The Special Event Guide defines a special event as a planned extraordinary occurrence or 
temporary aggregation of attractions, open to the public, that (a) is conducted on public 
property, (b) is conducted on private property and has a substantial impact on public property, 
(c) has activities that request special temporary licenses; or (d) require special city services, 
whether open to the public or not, including but not limited to, any of the following: street 
closures, provisions of barricades, garbage cans, stages or special no parking signs, special 
electrical services, or special police protection. Special events include, but not limited to, 
neighborhood and community festivals, parades, processions, fairs, and bicycle or foot races.  
 
DISCUSSION 
Event: Knight Nation 5K 
Dates and Hours of Event: Saturday, August 19, 2023 10:00 am – 1:00 pm 
Location: CLCA Campus - 535 Berea Drive 
Contact Person: Kayla Brown, kayla_kj@hotmail.com  
Estimated Number of Attendees:  100-150 
 
Event information was routed to Departments. The Department of Public works has concerns 
regarding the 5K route taking place on stretches of road with poor pavement condition. The 
Police Department is aware of this concern but has determined the current route is best for this 
event.  
 
FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 
There is no financial impact to the City of Fort Atkinson for the event.  

mailto:kayla_kj@hotmail.com


 
 

 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends the City Council approve the Crown of Life Christian Academy Knight Nation 
5K for August 19, 2023 at the Crown of Life Christian Academy Campus.  
 
ATTACHMENTS 
Special Event Application and map 



Continued

Event Setup Time:

Attach a map of the event including: 

        I am renting a city park

        I am renting city equipment

8’ white plastic table (43 available; $4.50/each) Qty ____

Qty ____

Additional Picnic Table ($15/each; includes delivery & pick up)* Qty ____

Qty ____

Qty ____

Traffic Cones* Qty ____

        Electrical Access The City Electrican may reach out to you to address any needs/concerns.

Please specify if you have any requests or requirements beyond current access:

CITY OF FORT ATKINSON 
Special Event Application

Fee: $25.00

Event Date (mm/dd/yyyy):

Event Tear Down Time: 

Event Description:

Goal/Purpose of Event:

Name of Business/Group Organizing Event:

Contact Person for Event:

Estimated Number of Attendees: Hours of Event:

Phone: Email: Day of Event Contact Person (if different from above):

Email:Phone Number:

Special Event Details

Event Location:

Event Name:

Designated parking areas and available number of spaces*, directional signage for events (i.e. parking guidance), 
pedestrian street crossing locations, location of any traffic control barricades or personnel to ensure safe 
coordination of vehicles and pedestrians

Additional Garbage/Recycling Can*

Barricades* 

Attach copy of paid park rental from Parks & Recreation Department. Equipment rentals are reservable through 
the Parks & Recreation office 920-397-9910. You are responsible for picking up, setting up, tearing down, and 
return of equipment. Each park is equipped with picnic tables and garbage/recycling receptacles, and additional 
are available upon request. If additional cans are requested, the event coordinator will need to pick up additional 
can liners from Park & Recreation office. The event coordinator is responsible for trash and recycling disposal. If 
there is no dumpster on site, a dumpster may be required and is the responsibility of the event coordinator.

Metal folding chair (190 available; $0.75/each)

Please secure and submit payment for requested equipment prior to submitting Special Event Application. 
*Attach a map with a location for drop off of equipment with this application.

Check all applicable boxes:

* If limited parking available, provide proof of permission from neighboring businesses/property to utilize their
parking

920-723-9178

X - YES

4



        I will be having music

Start Time of Music: End Time of Music: _________________

        I will be closing a street(s)* Barricades can be provided by Public Works upon request 

        I will be selling beer and/or wine*

*Restroom Plan also required with sales of beer and/or wine. Refer to the Special Event Guide.

        I will be erecting a tent, canopy or other temporary structure.*

        I am having a walk/race* 

Responsible Party Signature:

Submission Date:

For Office Use Only:

Date Received:

Date Paid:

Council Approval / Denial Date:

Date applicant notified of Council action and any event stipulations:

Event Stipulations:

I understand I am responsible for a fire safety and medical plan. I understand it is my responsibility to read the Special Events Guide. I understand I may be 
required to provide Proof of Insurance. I understand that I may need to contact multiple Departments to arrange for assistance. I understand I am responsible 
for timely clean up after the event. I understand that additional charges may apply and that I can be billed after my event.

* Provide proof of permission from neighboring businesses/properties if street closure impacts daily activity

*Event coordinator is responsible for ensuring that the temporary structure is safely installed. Event Coordinator is
required to contact Diggers Hotline at least 4 business days prior to the event. Diggershotline.com, 1-800-242-8511

*See map instructions above. In addition to the previously listed map requirements, clearly mark your walk/race
route on the map.

_________________

By signing, I agree to the following statements:

(Per City Ordinance 17.03) no person shall cause or allow loud, excessive or unusual noise that will disturb the 
comfort and quiet repose of persons in the vicinity. All music shall terminate as of 10:00 p.m. City noise ordinance 
must be followed

Alcohol license and licensed bartender(s) required. Contact City Clerk (920) 397-9901 prior to submitting this 
application.

X - YES



Person Directing, 
Signage & 2 

Baricade Needed

Person Directing, 
Signage & 2 

Baricade Needed

Signage & Per-
son Directing

Signage & Per-
son Directing

Signage & Per-
son Directing

Signage & Person Directing

KNIGHT NATION RUN/WALK 2023
3.1 miles | Saturday, August 19

Signage & Per-
son Directing

Signage & Per-
son Directing

START/END 
@ CLCA

Parking in CLCA 
Lot & Lawn for  
50-60 vehicles. 
Traffic director  

at entrance.



  City of Fort Atkinson 
  City Clerk/Treasurer’s Office 
  101 N. Main Street 
  Fort Atkinson, WI 53538 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 
DATE:  July 6th, 2023 
 
TO:  Fort Atkinson City Council 
 
FROM:  Michelle Ebbert, City Clerk/Treasurer/Finance Director 
 
RE: Review and possible action relating to Special Event: 
 Tour De Fort  
 
BACKGROUND 
The City of Fort Atkinson is committed to supporting quality special events throughout the 
community. The Special Event Guide and Application was created to assist with planning events 
in the city and to allow appropriate contact information be obtained and forwarded to 
Departments.  The planning guide is designed to assist members of the community in the 
planning, preparation and running of events and programs in Fort Atkinson.  
 
The Special Event Guide defines a special event as a planned extraordinary occurrence or 
temporary aggregation of attractions, open to the public, that (a) is conducted on public 
property, (b) is conducted on private property and has a substantial impact on public property, 
(c) has activities that request special temporary licenses; or (d) require special city services, 
whether open to the public or not, including but not limited to, any of the following: street 
closures, provisions of barricades, garbage cans, stages or special no parking signs, special 
electrical services, or special police protection. Special events include, but not limited to, 
neighborhood and community festivals, parades, processions, fairs, and bicycle or foot races.  
 
DISCUSSION 
Event: Tour De Fort  
Date: Saturday, August 26th, 2023 
Location: Jones Park, Lions Pavillion, 3 bike routes 
Contact Person: Jason Fiege; jasfiege@gmail.com  
Hours of Event: 7:00 am to 2:00 pm 
Estimated Number of Attendees:  100-200 
 
The Fort Atkinson Lion’s Club will be hosting a bike ride as a fundraiser for their club. Event 
information was routed to Departments without any concerns provided.  
 
 
FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 
There is no financial impact to the City of Fort Atkinson for the event.  

mailto:jasfiege@gmail.com


 
 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends that City Council approve the Fort Atkinson Lions Club Tour Da Fort on 
Saturday August 26, 2023 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
Special Event Application and Map 
 











  City of Fort Atkinson 
  City Clerk/Treasurer’s Office 
  101 N. Main Street 
  Fort Atkinson, WI 53538 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 
DATE:  July 6th, 2023 
 
TO:  Fort Atkinson City Council 
 
FROM:  Michelle Ebbert, City Clerk/Treasurer/Finance Director 
 
RE: Review and possible action relating to Special Event: Making Fort Special 

Awards 
 
BACKGROUND 
The City of Fort Atkinson is committed to supporting quality special events throughout the 
community. The Special Event Guide and Application was created to assist with planning events 
in the city and to allow appropriate contact information be obtained and forwarded to 
Departments.  The planning guide is designed to assist members of the community in the 
planning, preparation and running of events and programs in Fort Atkinson.  
 
The Special Event Guide defines a special event as a planned extraordinary occurrence or 
temporary aggregation of attractions, open to the public, that (a) is conducted on public 
property, (b) is conducted on private property and has a substantial impact on public property, 
(c) has activities that request special temporary licenses; or (d) require special city services, 
whether open to the public or not, including but not limited to, any of the following: street 
closures, provisions of barricades, garbage cans, stages or special no parking signs, special 
electrical services, or special police protection. Special events include, but not limited to, 
neighborhood and community festivals, parades, processions, fairs, and bicycle or foot races.  
 
DISCUSSION 
Event: Making Fort Special  
Date: Thursday, September 14th, 2023 
Location: Jones Park Shelter 
Contact Person: Sue Hartwick 
Hours of Event: 5:00 pm – 7:00 pm 
Estimated Number of Attendees: 120 
 
The Fort Atkinson Community Foundation will be presenting awards to three community 
members. Event information was routed to Departments without any concerns provided.  
 
FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 
There is no financial impact to the City of Fort Atkinson for the event.  
 



 
 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends that City Council approve the Special Event Making Fort Special Awards on 
Thursday, September 14th, 2023.  
 
ATTACHMENTS 
Special Event Application 



Continued

Event Setup Time:

Attach a map of the event including: 

        I am renting a city park

        I am renting city equipment

8’ white plastic table (43 available; $4.50/each) Qty ____

Qty ____

Additional Picnic Table ($15/each; includes delivery & pick up)* Qty ____

Qty ____

Qty ____

Traffic Cones* Qty ____

        Electrical Access The City Electrican may reach out to you to address any needs/concerns.

Please specify if you have any requests or requirements beyond current access:

CITY OF FORT ATKINSON 
Special Event Application

Fee: $25.00

Event Date (mm/dd/yyyy):

Event Tear Down Time: 

Event Description:

Goal/Purpose of Event:

Name of Business/Group Organizing Event:

Contact Person for Event:

Estimated Number of Attendees: Hours of Event:

Phone: Email: Day of Event Contact Person (if different from above):

Email:Phone Number:

Special Event Details

Event Location:

Event Name:

Designated parking areas and available number of spaces*, directional signage for events (i.e. parking guidance), 
pedestrian street crossing locations, location of any traffic control barricades or personnel to ensure safe 
coordination of vehicles and pedestrians

Additional Garbage/Recycling Can*

Barricades* 

Attach copy of paid park rental from Parks & Recreation Department. Equipment rentals are reservable through 
the Parks & Recreation office 920-397-9910. You are responsible for picking up, setting up, tearing down, and 
return of equipment. Each park is equipped with picnic tables and garbage/recycling receptacles, and additional 
are available upon request. If additional cans are requested, the event coordinator will need to pick up additional 
can liners from Park & Recreation office. The event coordinator is responsible for trash and recycling disposal. If 
there is no dumpster on site, a dumpster may be required and is the responsibility of the event coordinator.

Metal folding chair (190 available; $0.75/each)

Please secure and submit payment for requested equipment prior to submitting Special Event Application. 
*Attach a map with a location for drop off of equipment with this application.

Check all applicable boxes:

* If limited parking available, provide proof of permission from neighboring businesses/property to utilize their
parking



        I will be having music

Start Time of Music: End Time of Music: _________________

        I will be closing a street(s)* Barricades can be provided by Public Works upon request 

        I will be selling beer and/or wine*

*Restroom Plan also required with sales of beer and/or wine. Refer to the Special Event Guide.

        I will be erecting a tent, canopy or other temporary structure.*

        I am having a walk/race* 

Responsible Party Signature:

Submission Date:

For Office Use Only:

Date Received:

Date Paid:

Council Approval / Denial Date:

Date applicant notified of Council action and any event stipulations:

Event Stipulations:

I understand I am responsible for a fire safety and medical plan. I understand it is my responsibility to read the Special Events Guide. I understand I may be 
required to provide Proof of Insurance. I understand that I may need to contact multiple Departments to arrange for assistance. I understand I am responsible 
for timely clean up after the event. I understand that additional charges may apply and that I can be billed after my event.

* Provide proof of permission from neighboring businesses/properties if street closure impacts daily activity

*Event coordinator is responsible for ensuring that the temporary structure is safely installed. Event Coordinator is
required to contact Diggers Hotline at least 4 business days prior to the event. Diggershotline.com, 1-800-242-8511

*See map instructions above. In addition to the previously listed map requirements, clearly mark your walk/race
route on the map.

_________________

By signing, I agree to the following statements:

(Per City Ordinance 17.03) no person shall cause or allow loud, excessive or unusual noise that will disturb the 
comfort and quiet repose of persons in the vicinity. All music shall terminate as of 10:00 p.m. City noise ordinance 
must be followed

Alcohol license and licensed bartender(s) required. Contact City Clerk (920) 397-9901 prior to submitting this 
application.



 
 

 
 
 
Reporting and insights 
from 2022 audit: 
City of Fort Atkinson 
 

 
December 31, 2022 

DRAFT 05/23/23



THIS COMMUNICATION IS INTENDED SOLELY FOR THE INFORMATION AND USE OF THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE, AND, IF APPROPRIATE, 
MANAGEMENT, AND IS NOT INTENDED TO BE AND SHOULD NOT BE USED BY ANYONE OTHER THAN THESE SPECIFIED PARTIES. 

BAKER TILLY US, LLP, TRADING AS BAKER TILLY, IS A MEMBER OF THE GLOBAL NETWORK OF BAKER TILLY INTERNATIONAL LTD., THE MEMBERS OF WHICH 
ARE SEPARATE AND INDEPENDENT LEGAL ENTITIES. 

Executive summary 
June 20, 2023 

To the City Council 
City of Fort Atkinson 
111 North Main St. 
Fort Atkinson, Wisconsin 53538 

We have completed our audit of the financial statements of the City of Fort Atkinson (the City) for the year 
ended December 31, 2022, and have issued our report thereon dated June 30, 2023. This letter presents 
communications required by our professional standards. 

Your audit should provide you with confidence in your financial statements. The audit was performed 
based on information obtained from meetings with management, data from your systems, knowledge of 
your City’s operating environment and our risk assessment procedures. We strive to provide you clear, 
concise communication throughout the audit process and of the final results of our audit. 

Additionally, we have included information on key risk areas the City should be aware of in your strategic 
planning. We are available to discuss these risks as they relate to your organization’s financial stability 
and future planning. 

If you have questions at any point, please connect with us: 

• Andrea Jansen, Partner: Andrea.Jansen@bakertilly.com or +1 (608) 240 2338

Sincerely, 

Baker Tilly US, LLP 

Andrea Jansen, CPA, CFE, Partner 

DRAFT 05/23/23

mailto:Andrea.Jansen@bakertilly.com


 

© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP  Page | 3 

Responsibilities 
Our responsibilities 
As your independent auditor, our responsibilities include: 

• Planning and performing the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance. 

• Assessing the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. Included in that assessment is a consideration of the City’s internal control over financial 
reporting. 

• Performing appropriate procedures based upon our risk assessment. 
• Evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 

accounting estimates made by management. 
• Forming and expressing an opinion based on our audit about whether the financial statements 

prepared by management, with the oversight of those charged with governance:  
• Are free from material misstatement 
• Present fairly, in all material respects and in accordance with accounting principles generally 

accepted in the United States of America 
• Performing tests related to compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and 

grants, as required by Government Auditing Standards 
• Considering internal control over compliance with requirements that could have a direct and material 

effect on major federal and major state programs to design tests of both controls and compliance with 
identified requirements 

• Forming and expressing an opinion based on our audit in accordance with OMB’s Uniform 
Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform 
Guidance) and State Single Audit Guidelines about the entity’s compliance with requirements 
described in the OMB Compliance Supplement and State Single Audit Guidelines that could have a 
direct and material effect on each of its major federal and state programs.  

• Our audit does not relieve management or those charged with governance of their responsibilities. 
 

 
We are also required to communicate significant matters related to our audit that are relevant to the 
responsibilities of those charged with governance, including:  

• Internal control matters 
• Qualitative aspects of the City’s accounting practice including policies, accounting estimates and 

financial statement disclosures 
• Significant unusual transactions 
• Significant difficulties encountered 
• Disagreements with management 
• Circumstances that affect the form and content of the auditors’ report  
• Audit consultations outside the engagement team 
• Corrected and uncorrected misstatements 
• Other audit findings or issues 
 

DRAFT 05/23/23



 

© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP  Page | 4 

Audit status 
Significant changes to the audit plan 
There were no significant changes made to either our planned audit strategy or to the significant risks and 
other areas of emphasis identified during the performance of our risk assessment procedures.  

 

 

DRAFT 05/23/23



 

© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP  Page | 5 

Audit approach and results 
Planned scope and timing 
Audit focus 

Based on our understanding of the City and environment in which you operate, we focused our audit on 
the following key areas: 

• Key transaction cycles 
• Areas with significant estimates 
• Implementation of new accounting standards 
• Areas of complexity including Tax Incremental Districts and federal and state grants. 
 
Our areas of audit focus were informed by, among other things, our assessment of materiality. Materiality 
in the context of our audit was determined based on specific qualitative and quantitative factors combined 
with our expectations about the City’s current year results. 
 

Key areas of focus and significant findings 
Significant risks of material misstatement 

A significant risk is an identified and assessed risk of material misstatement that, in the auditor’s 
professional judgment, requires special audit consideration. Within our audit, we focused on the following 
areas below. 

Significant risk areas Testing approach Conclusion 
Management override of 
controls 

Incorporate unpredictability into 
audit procedures, emphasize 
professional skepticism and 
utilize audit team with industry 
expertise 

Procedures identified provided 
sufficient evidence for our audit 
opinion 

Improper revenue recognition 
due to fraud 

Confirmation or validation of 
certain revenues supplemented 
with detailed predictive analytics 
based on non-financial data and 
substantive testing of related 
receivables 

Procedures identified provided 
sufficient evidence for our audit 
opinion 

 
Other areas of emphasis 

We also focused on other areas that did not meet the definition of a significant risk, but were determined 
to require specific awareness and a unique audit response.  

Other areas of emphasis    
Cash and investments Revenues and receivables General disbursements 

Payroll Pension and OPEB 
assets/liabilities 

Long-term debt 

Capital assets including 
infrastructure 

Net position calculations Financial reporting and required 
disclosures 

DRAFT 05/23/23



 

© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP  Page | 6 

Internal control matters 
We considered the City’s internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing our audit 
procedures for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the financial statements. We are not expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control.  

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the preceding paragraph 
and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or 
significant deficiencies and, therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were 
not identified. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis. 

A material weakness is a deficiency or combination of deficiencies in internal control such that there is a 
reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be 
prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. We identified the following deficiencies as 
material weaknesses: 
 
• Missing key controls 
There are certain controls that are not currently in place related to significant transaction cycles. As a 
result, there is a risk that erroneous or unauthorized transactions or misstatements could occur without 
the knowledge of management or the governing body. Our recommendations for strengthening controls 
are listed below. 
 

Controls over monthly and year-end accounting 
• There should be a process to review, record, and approve retainages at year-end in order to 

ensure retainages are accurately reported. 
 
Since the controls listed above or other compensating controls are not currently in place, errors or 
irregularities could occur as part of the accounting processes that might not be discovered by 
management or the governing body. Therefore, the absence of these controls is considered to be a 
material weakness. 
 
We recommend that a designated employee review the segregation of duties, risks, and these potential 
controls and determine whether additional controls should be implemented. This determination should 
take into consideration a cost / benefit analysis.  
 
• Financial statement close process 
Properly designed systems of internal control provide your organization with the ability to process and 
record accurate monthly and year-end transactions and annual financial reports. 
 
Our audit includes a review and evaluation of the internal controls relating to financial reporting. Common 
attributes of a properly designed system of internal control for financial reporting are as follows: 
 

• There is adequate staffing to prepare financial reports throughout the year and at year-end. 
• Material misstatements are identified and corrected during the normal course of duties. 
• Complete and accurate financial statements, including footnotes, are prepared. 
• Complete and accurate schedule of expenditures of federal and state awards is prepared. 
• Financial reports are independently reviewed for completeness and accuracy. 

 
  

DRAFT 05/23/23



 

© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP  Page | 7 

Our evaluation of the internal controls over financial reporting has identified control deficiencies that are 
considered to be a material weakness surrounding the preparation of financial statements and footnotes, 
including the schedule of federal and state awards, adjusting journal entries identified by the auditors, and 
an independent review of financial reports.  
 
Management has not prepared financial statements that are in conformity with generally accepted 
accounting principles or the schedule of expenditures of federal and state awards that is conformance 
with the applicable federal or state requirements. In addition, material misstatements in the general ledger 
were identified during the financial audit.  
 

  

DRAFT 05/23/23



 

© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP  Page | 8 

Required communications 
Qualitative aspect of accounting practices 

• Accounting policies: Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting 
policies. In accordance with the terms of our engagement letter, we have advised management about 
the appropriateness of accounting policies and their application. The significant accounting policies 
used by City are described in Note 1 to the financial statements. As described in Note 1, the City 
changed accounting policies related to leases by adopting Accounting Pronouncement GASB No. 87, 
Leases, in 2022.  We noted no transactions entered into by the City during the year for which 
accounting policies are controversial or for which there is a lack of authoritative guidance or 
consensus or diversity in practice. 

• Accounting estimates: Accounting estimates, including fair value estimates, are an integral part of the 
financial statements prepared by management and are based on management's knowledge and 
experience about past and current events and assumptions about future events. Certain accounting 
estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the financial statements, the 
degree of subjectivity involved in their development and because of the possibility that future events 
affecting them may differ significantly from those expected. The following estimates are of most 
significance to the financial statements: 

 
Estimate Management’s process to 

determine  
Baker Tilly’s conclusions 
regarding reasonableness 

Net pension liability and 
related deferrals 

Evaluation of information 
provided by the Wisconsin 
Retirement System  

Reasonable in relation to the 
financial statements as a whole 

Net/Total OPEB liability 
and related deferrals 

Key assumptions set by 
management with the 
assistance of a third party 
actuary 

Reasonable in relation to the 
financial statements as a whole 

Depreciation Evaluate estimated useful life 
of the asset and original 
acquisition value 

Reasonable in relation to the 
financial statements as a whole 

 
There have been no significant changes made by management to either the processes used to 
develop the particularly sensitive accounting estimates, or to the significant assumptions used to 
develop the estimates, noted above.  
 

• Financial statement disclosures: The disclosures in the financial statements are neutral, consistent 
and clear. 

 
Significant unusual transactions 

There have been no significant transactions that are outside the normal course of business for the City or 
that otherwise appear to be unusual due to their timing, size or nature.  

Significant difficulties encountered during the audit 

We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management and completing our audit.  

  

DRAFT 05/23/23



© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP Page | 9 

Disagreements with management 

Professional standards define a disagreement with management as a matter, whether or not resolved to 
our satisfaction, concerning a financial accounting, reporting, or auditing matter that could be significant to 
the financial statements or the auditors' report. We are pleased to report that no such disagreements 
arose during the course of our audit.  

Audit report  

There have been no departures from the auditors’ standard report. 

Audit consultations outside the engagement team  

We encountered no difficult or contentious matters for which we consulted outside of the engagement 
team.  

Uncorrected misstatements and corrected misstatements 

Professional standards require us to accumulate misstatements identified during the audit, other than 
those that are clearly trivial and to communicate accumulated misstatements to management. 
Management is in agreement with the misstatements we have identified, and they have been corrected in 
the financial statements. The schedule within the attachments summarizes the material corrected 
misstatements, that, in our judgment, may not have been detected except through our auditing 
procedures. The internal control matters section of this report describes the effects on the financial 
reporting process indicated by the corrected misstatements, other than those that we consider to be of a 
lesser magnitude than significant deficiencies and material weaknesses. 

Other audit findings or issues 

We encountered no other audit findings or issues that require communication at this time. 

We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing 
standards, with management each year prior to retention as the City’s auditors. However, these 
discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional relationship and our responses were not a 
condition to our retention. 

Other information in documents containing audited basic financial statements 

Official statements (or other equivalent document which we may not read unless engaged separately) 

The City’s audited financial statements are “general purpose” financial statements. General purpose 
financial statements consist of the basic financial statements that can be used by a broad group of people 
for a broad range of activities. Once we have issued our audit report, we have no further obligation to 
update our report for events occurring subsequent to the date of our report. The City can use the audited 
financial statements in other client prepare documents, such as official statements related to the issuance 
of debt, without our acknowledgment. Unless we have been engaged to perform services in connection 
with any subsequent transaction requiring the inclusion of our audit report, as well as to issue an auditor’s 
acknowledgment letter, we have neither read the document nor performed subsequent event procedures 
in order to determine whether or not our report remains appropriate. 

DRAFT 05/23/23



 

© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP  Page | 10 

Management’s consultations with other accountants 

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and accounting 
matters. Management informed us that, and to our knowledge, there were no consultations with other 
accountants regarding auditing or accounting matters. 

Written communications between management and Baker Tilly 

The attachments include copies of other material written communications, including a copy of the 
management representation letter. 

Compliance with laws and regulations 

We did not identify any non-compliance with laws and regulations during our audit. 

We will issue a separate document which contains the results of our audit procedures to comply with the 
Uniform Guidance and State Single Audit Guidelines. 

Fraud 

We did not identify any known or suspected fraud during our audit.  

Going concern 

Pursuant to professional standards, we are required to communicate to you, when applicable, certain 
matters relating to our evaluation of the City’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable 
period of time but no less than 12 months from the date of the financial statements, including the effects 
on the financial statements and the adequacy of the related disclosures, and the effects on the auditor's 
report. No such matters or conditions have come to our attention during our engagement.  

Independence 

We are not aware of any relationships between Baker Tilly and the City that, in our professional judgment, 
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence. 

Related parties 

We did not have any significant findings or issues arise during the audit in connection with the City’s 
related parties.  

Other matters 

We applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information (RSI) that supplements 
the basic financial statements. Our procedures consisted of inquiries of management regarding the 
methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s 
responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our 
audit of the basic financial statements. We did not audit the RSI and do not express an opinion or provide 
any assurance on the RSI. 

With respect to the supplementary information accompanying the financial statements, it is presented for 
purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial statements. Because the 
financial statements do not present fairly, in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States of America, the financial position of the City or the changes in its financial position, it is 
inappropriate to and we do not express an opinion on the supplementary information. 

  

DRAFT 05/23/23



© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP Page | 11 

Nonattest services 
The following nonattest services were provided by Baker Tilly: 

• Financial statement preparation 
• Preparation of the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal and State Awards 
• Adjusting journal entries
• Compiled regulatory reports
• Civic Systems Software

In addition, we prepared GASB No. 34 conversion entries which are summarized in the “Reconciliation of 
the Balance Sheet of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Net Position” and the “Reconciliation of 
the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds to the 
Statement of Activities” in the financial statements. 

None of these nonattest services constitute an audit under generally accepted auditing standards, 
including Government Auditing Standards. 

DRAFT 05/23/23



 

© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP  Page | 12 

Reports to those charged with governance 
Visit our resource page for regulatory updates, trending challenges and opportunities in your industry and 
other timely updates.  

Visit the resource page at https://www.bakertilly.com/insights/audit-committee-resource-page. 

  

DRAFT 05/23/23

https://www.bakertilly.com/insights/audit-committee-resource-page


 

© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP  Page | 13 

Management representation letter  
  

DRAFT 05/23/23



June 30, 2023

Baker Tilly US, LLP
4807 Innovate Lane
P.O. Box 7398
Madison, WI 53718

Dear Baker Tilly US, LLP:

We are providing this letter in connection with your audit of the financial statements of the City of Fort Atkinson as
of December 31, 2022 and for the year then ended for the purpose of expressing opinions as to whether the
primary government financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of
the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund
information of the City of Fort Atkinson and the respective changes in financial position and cash flows, where
applicable, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP). We
confirm that we are responsible for the fair presentation of the previously mentioned financial statements in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. We are also responsible
for adopting sound accounting policies, establishing and maintaining internal control over financial reporting, and
preventing and detecting fraud.

Certain representations in this letter are described as being limited to matters that are material. Items are
considered material, regardless of size, if they involve an omission or misstatement of accounting information that,
in the light of surrounding circumstances, makes it probable that the judgment of a reasonable person relying on
the information would be changed or influenced by the omission or misstatement. An omission or misstatement that
is monetarily small in amount could be considered material as a result of qualitative factors.

We confirm, to the best of our knowledge and belief, the following representations made to you during your audit.

Financial Statements

1) We have fulfilled our responsibilities, as set out in the terms of the audit engagement letter dated August
25, 2022.

2) The financial statements referred to above are fairly presented in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.  We have engaged you to advise us in fulfilling that
responsibility. The financial statements include all properly classified funds of the primary government
required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America to be included in the
financial reporting entity.

3) We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

DRAFT 05/23/23



4) We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control to
prevent and detect fraud.

5) Significant assumptions we used in making accounting estimates, including those measured at fair value,
if any, are reasonable.

6) All events subsequent to the date of the financial statements and for which accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America require adjustment or disclosure have been adjusted
or disclosed. No other events, including instances of noncompliance, have occurred subsequent to the
financial statement date and through the date of this letter that would require adjustment to or disclosure
in the aforementioned financial statements or in the schedule of findings and questioned costs.

7) All material transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are reflected in the financial
statements and the schedule of expenditures of federal and state awards.

8) There are no known or possible litigation, claims, and assessments whose effects should be considered
when preparing the financial statements. There are no unasserted claims or assessments that our lawyer
has advised us are probable of assertion and must be disclosed in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

9) Guarantees, whether written or oral, under which the City is contingently liable, if any, have been properly
recorded or disclosed.

Information Provided

10) We have provided you with:

a) Access to all information, of which we are aware, that is relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements, such as financial records and related data, documentation,
and other matters and all audit or relevant monitoring reports, if any, received from funding sources.

b) Additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of the audit.

c) Unrestricted access to persons within the entity from whom you determined it necessary to obtain
audit evidence.

d) Minutes of the meetings of City Council or summaries of actions of recent meetings for which minutes
have not yet been prepared.

11) We have disclosed to you results of our assessment of the risk that the financial statements may be
materially misstated as a result of fraud.

12) We have no knowledge of any fraud or suspected fraud that affects the entity and involves:

a) Management,

b) Employees who have significant roles in internal control, or

c) Others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements.

13) We have no knowledge of any allegations of fraud or suspected fraud affecting the entity received in
communications from employees, former employees, regulators, or others.

DRAFT 05/23/23



14) We have no knowledge of known instances of noncompliance or suspected noncompliance with
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, or grant agreements, or abuse, whose effects should be
considered when preparing financial statements.

15) There are no related parties or related party relationships and transactions, including side agreements, of
which we are aware.

Other

16) There have been no communications from regulatory agencies concerning noncompliance with, or
deficiencies in, financial reporting practices.

17) We have a process to track the status of audit findings and recommendations.

18) We have identified to you any previous financial audits, attestation engagements, and other studies
related to the audit objectives and whether related recommendations have been implemented.

19) We have provided our views on reported findings, conclusions, and recommendations, as well as our
planned corrective actions, for our report.

20) The City has no plans or intentions that may materially affect the carrying value or classification of assets,
deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of resources or fund balance or net position.

21) We are responsible for compliance with federal, state, and local laws, regulations, and provisions of
contracts and grant agreements applicable to us, including tax or debt limits, debt contracts, and IRS
arbitrage regulations; and we have identified and disclosed to you all federal, state, and local laws,
regulations and provisions of contracts and grant agreements that we believe have a direct and material
effect on the determination of financial statement amounts or other financial data significant to the audit
objectives, including legal and contractual provisions for reporting specific activities in separate funds.

22) There are no:

a) Violations or possible violations of budget ordinances, federal, state, and local laws or regulations
(including those pertaining to adopting, approving and amending budgets), provisions of contracts and
grant agreements, tax or debt limits, and any related debt covenants whose effects should be
considered for disclosure in the financial statements or as a basis for recording a loss contingency, or
for reporting on noncompliance, except those already disclosed in the financial statement, if any.

b) Other liabilities or gain or loss contingencies that are required to be accrued or disclosed by
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

c) Nonspendable, restricted, committed, or assigned fund balances that were not properly authorized
and approved.

d) Rates being charged to customers other than the rates as authorized by the applicable authoritative
body.

e) Violations of restrictions placed on revenues as a result of bond resolution covenants such as revenue
distribution or debt service funding. 

DRAFT 05/23/23



23) In regards to the nonattest services performed by you listed below, we acknowledge our responsibility
related to these nonattest services and have 1) accepted all management responsibility; 2) designated an
individual with suitable skill, knowledge, or experience to oversee the services; 3) evaluated the
adequacy and results of the services performed, and 4) accepted responsibility for the results of the
services.

a) Financial statement preparation

b) Adjusting journal entries

c) SEFSA preparation

d) Compiled regulatory reports

e) Civic Systems software

None of these nonattest services constitute an audit under generally accepted auditing standards,
including Government Auditing Standards.

24) The City of Fort Atkinson has satisfactory title to all owned assets, and there are no liens or
encumbrances on such assets nor has any asset been pledged as collateral.

25) The City of Fort Atkinson has complied with all aspects of contractual agreements that would have a
material effect on the financial statement in the event of noncompliance.

26) The financial statements include all component units as well as joint ventures with an equity interest, and
properly disclose all other joint ventures and other related organizations, if any. Component units have
been properly presented as either blended or discrete.

27) The financial statements include all fiduciary activities required by GASB No. 84.

28) The financial statements properly classify all funds and activities.

29) All funds that meet the quantitative criteria in GASB Statement No. 34 and No. 37 for presentation as
major are identified and presented as such and all other funds that are presented as major are
particularly important to financial statement users.

30) Components of net position (net investment in capital assets; restricted; and unrestricted) and
components of fund balance (nonspendable, restricted, committed, assigned and unassigned) are
properly classified and, if applicable, approved.

31) The City of Fort Atkinson has no derivative financial instruments such as contracts that could be assigned
to someone else or net settled, interest rate swaps, collars or caps.

32) Provisions for uncollectible receivables, if any, have been properly identified and recorded.

33) Expenses have been appropriately classified in or allocated to functions and programs in the statement of
activities, and allocations have been made on a reasonable basis.

34) Revenues are appropriately classified in the statement of activities within program revenues and general
revenues.

DRAFT 05/23/23



35) Interfund, internal, and intra-entity activity and balances have been appropriately classified and reported.

36) Deposits and investments are properly classified, valued, and disclosed (including risk disclosures,
collateralization agreements, valuation methods, and key inputs, as applicable).

37) Provision, when material, has been made to reduce excess or obsolete inventories to their estimated net
realizable value.

38) Capital assets, including infrastructure and intangible assets, are properly capitalized, reported, and, if
applicable, depreciated/amortized. Any known impairments have been recorded and disclosed.

39) Tax-exempt bonds issued have retained their tax-exempt status.

40) We have appropriately disclosed the City of Fort Atkinson's policy regarding whether to first apply
restricted or unrestricted resources when an expense is incurred for purposes for which both restricted
and unrestricted net position are available and have determined that net position were properly
recognized under the policy. We have also disclosed our policy regarding which resources (that is,
restricted, committed, assigned or unassigned) are considered to be spent first for expenditures for which
more than one resource classification is available.

41) We are following our established accounting policy regarding which resources (that is, restricted,
committed, assigned or unassigned) are considered to be spent first for expenditures for which more than
one resource classification is available. That policy determines the fund balance classifications for
financial reporting purposes.

42) We acknowledge our responsibility for the required supplementary information (RSI). The RSI is
measured and presented within prescribed guidelines and the methods of measurement and presentation
have not changed from those used in the prior period. We have disclosed to you any significant
assumptions and interpretations underlying the measurement and presentation of the RSI.

43) With respect to the supplementary information, (SI):

a) We acknowledge our responsibility for presenting the SI in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America, and we believe the SI, including its form and
content, is fairly presented in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America. The methods of measurement and presentation of the SI have not changed from
those used in the prior period, and we have disclosed to you any significant assumptions or
interpretations underlying the measurement and presentation of the supplementary information.

b) If the SI is not presented with the audited financial statements, we will make the audited financial
statements readily available to the intended users of the supplementary information no later than the
date we issue the supplementary information and the auditor's report thereon.

44) We assume responsibility for, and agree with, the findings of specialists in evaluating the OPEB liability
and have adequately considered the qualifications of the specialists in determining the amounts and
disclosures used in the financial statements and underlying accounting records. We did not give or cause
any instructions to be given to specialists with respect to the values or amounts derived in an attempt to
bias their work, and we are not otherwise aware of any matters that have had impact on the
independence or objectivity of the specialists.

DRAFT 05/23/23



45) We assume responsibility for, and agree with, the information provided by the Wisconsin Retirement
System as audited by the Legislative Audit Bureau relating to the net pension asset/liability and related
deferred outflows and deferred inflows and have adequately considered the reasonableness of the
amounts and disclosures used in the financial statements and underlying accounting records. We also
assume responsibility for the census data that has been reported to the plan.

46) We have implemented GASB Statement No. 87, Leases, and believe that all required disclosures and
accounting considerations have been identified and properly classified in the financial statements in
compliance with the Standard.

47) We have reviewed our long-term debt agreements and believe that all terms related to significant events
of default with finance-related consequences, termination events with finance-related consequences and
subjective acceleration clauses have been properly identified and disclosed.

48) We have identified any leases or other contracts that are required to be reported as leases and are in
agreement with the key assumptions used in the measurement of any lease related assets, liabilities or
deferred inflows of resources.

49) We are responsible for the estimation methods and assumptions used in measuring assets and liabilities
reported or disclosed at fair value, including information obtained from brokers, pricing services or third
parties.  Our valuation methodologies have been consistently applied from period to period.  The fair
value measurements reported or disclosed represent our best estimate of fair value as the measurement
date in accordance with the requirements of GASB 72 – Fair Value Measurement.  In addition our
disclosures related to fair value measurements are consistent with the objectives outlined in GASB 72. 
We have evaluated the fair value information provided to us by brokers, pricing services or other parties
that has been used in the financial statements and believe this information to be reliable and consistent
with the requirements.

50) The auditing standards define an annual report as “a document, or combination of documents, typically
prepared on an annual basis by management or those charged with governance in accordance with law,
regulation, or custom, the purpose of which is to provide owners (or similar stakeholders) with information
on the entity’s operations and the financial results and financial position as set out in the financial
statements.” Among other items, an annual report contains, accompanies, or incorporates by reference
the financial statements and the auditors’ report thereon. We confirm that we do not prepare and have no
plans to prepare an annual report.

51) With respect to federal and state award programs:

a) We are responsible for understanding and complying with and have complied with the requirements of
the Single Audit Act Amendments of 1996, OMB Circular A 133, Audits of States, Local Governments,
and Non-Profit Organizations, State Single Audit Guidelines, including requirements relating to
preparation of the schedule of expenditures of federal and state awards (SEFSA).

b) We acknowledge our responsibility for preparing and presenting the SEFSA and related disclosures
in accordance with the requirements of OMB Circular A-133 §310.b and the State Single Audit
Guidelines, and we believe the SEFSA, including its form and content, is fairly presented in
accordance with OMB Circular A-133 §310.b and the State Single Audit Guidelines. The methods of
measurement and presentation of the SEFSA have not changed from those used in the prior period
and we have disclosed to you any significant assumptions and interpretations underlying the
measurement and presentation of the SEFSA.

c) If the SEFSA is not presented with the audited financial statements, we will make the audited financial
statements readily available to the intended users of the SEFSA no later than the date we issue the
SEFSA and the auditors’ report thereon.

DRAFT 05/23/23



d) We have identified and disclosed to you all of our government programs and related activities subject
to OMB Circular A-133 and the State Single Audit Guidelines and included in the SEFSA,
expenditures made during the audit period for all awards provided by federal agencies in the form of
grants, federal cost reimbursement contracts, loans, loan guarantees, property (including donated
surplus property), cooperative agreements, interest subsidies, insurance, food commodities, direct
appropriations, and other direct assistance.

e) We are responsible for understanding and complying with, and have complied with the requirements
of laws, regulations, and the provisions of contracts and grant agreements related to each of our
federal and state programs and have identified and disclosed to you the requirements of laws,
regulations, and the provisions of contracts and grant agreements that are considered to have a direct
and material effect on each major federal and state program.

f) We are responsible for establishing and maintaining, and have established and maintained, effective
internal control over compliance for federal and state programs that provide reasonable assurance
that we are administering our federal and state awards in compliance with laws, regulations, and the
provisions of contracts and grant agreements that could have a material effect on our federal and
state programs. We believe the internal control system is adequate and is functioning as intended.
Also, no changes have been made in the internal control over compliance or other factors to the date
of this letter that might significantly affect internal control, including any corrective action taken with
regard to control deficiencies reported in the schedule of findings and questioned costs.

g) We have made available to you all contracts and grant agreements (including amendments, if any)
and any other correspondence with federal or state agencies or pass-through entities relevant to the
programs and related activities.

h) We have received no requests from a federal or state agency to audit one or more specific programs
as a major program.

i) We have complied with the direct and material compliance requirements including when applicable,
those set forth in the OMB Compliance Supplement and the State Single Audit Guidelines, relating to
federal and state awards.

j) We have disclosed any communications from grantors and pass-through entities concerning possible
noncompliance with the direct and material compliance requirements, including communications
received from the end of the period covered by the compliance audit to the date of the auditors’ report.

k) Amounts claimed or used for matching were determined in accordance with relevant guidelines in
OMB Circular A-87, Cost Principles for State, Local, and Tribal Governments, and OMB’s Uniform
Administrative Requirements for Grants and Cooperative Agreements to State and Local
Governments.

l) We have disclosed to you our interpretation of compliance requirements that may have varying
interpretations.

m) We have made available to you all documentation related to the compliance with the direct and
material compliance requirements, including information related to federal and state program financial
reports and claims for advances and reimbursements.

n) We have disclosed to you the nature of any subsequent events that provide additional evidence about
conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period affecting noncompliance during the reporting
period.

DRAFT 05/23/23



o) We are not aware of any instances of noncompliance with direct and material compliance
requirements that occurred subsequent to the period covered by the auditors’ report.

p) No changes have been made in internal control over compliance or other factors that might
significantly affect internal control, including any corrective action we have taken regarding significant
deficiencies or material weaknesses in internal control over compliance, subsequent to the date as of
which compliance was audited.

q) Federal and state program financial reports and claims for advances and reimbursements are
supported by the books and records from which the financial statements have been prepared.

r) The copies of federal and state program financial reports provided you are true copies of the reports
submitted, or electronically transmitted, to the respective federal and state agency or pass-through
entity, as applicable.

s) We have charged costs to federal and state awards in accordance with applicable cost principles.

t) We are responsible for and have accurately prepared the summary schedule of prior audit findings to
include all findings required to be included by OMB Circular A-133 and the State Single Audit
Guidelines and we have provided you with all information on the status of the follow-up on prior audit
findings by federal and state awarding agencies and pass-through entities, including all management
decisions.

u) We are responsible for and have ensured the reporting package does not contain protected personally
identifiable information.

v) We are responsible for and have accurately prepared the auditee section of the Data Collection Form
as required by OMB Circular A-133.

w) We are responsible for preparing and implementing a corrective action plan for each audit finding.

Sincerely,

City of Fort Atkinson

Signed: ______________________________

Signed: _______________________________

Signed: _______________________________

DRAFT 05/23/23



 

© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP  Page | 20 

Client service team 
  

 
 
Andrea Jansen, CPA, CPE 
Partner  
  
4807 Innovate Lane 
Madison, Wisconsin 53718 
United States 
  
T +1 (608) 240 2338  
andrea.jansen@bakertilly.com 
  
  
  

 
 
Aaron Galvan, CPA  
Senior Associate  
  
4807 Innovate Lane 
Madison, Wisconsin 53718 
United States 
  
T +1 (608) 240 2684  
aaron.galvan@bakertilly.com 
  
  
  

DRAFT 05/23/23

mailto:andrea.jansen@bakertilly.com
mailto:aaron.galvan@bakertilly.com


 

© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP  Page | 21 

Accounting changes relevant to the City of 
Fort Atkinson 
Future accounting standards update 

GASB 
Statement 
Number 

Description Potentially 
Impacts 
you 

Effective Date  

94 Public-Private and Public-Public Partnerships 
and Availability Payment Arrangements  12/31/23 

96 Subscription-Based Information Technology 
Arrangements  12/31/23 

99 Omnibus 2022  12/31/23 

100 Accounting Changes and Error Corrections  12/31/24 

101 Compensated Absences  12/31/24 

 
Further information on upcoming GASB pronouncements. 

Determining if GASB 94 applies for your organization 

GASB 94, Public-Private and Public-Public Partnerships and Availability Payment Arrangements provides 
guidance related to public-private and public-public partnerships (PPP) and availability payment 
arrangements (APA). 

A PPP is an arrangement in which an entity contracts with an operator to provide public services by 
conveying control of the right to operate or use infrastructure or other capital asset. A common example 
of PPP is a service concession arrangement.  

An APA is an arrangement in which an entity compensates an operator for services that may include 
designing, constructing, financing, maintaining, or operating an asset.  

The City should start to identify any contracts that could meet either definition to ensure they are reviewed 
for applicability and accounted for correctly when the standard is effective. Initial steps include reviewing 
contracts that didn’t meet the definition of a lease under GASB 87 and identifying any other agreements 
where the organization contracts with or partners with another entity to provide services. 

  

DRAFT 05/23/23

https://www.bakertilly.com/insights/gasb-update-for-public-sector-organizations


 

© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP  Page | 22 

Future accounting for subscription-based IT arrangements 

Subscription-based IT arrangements include contracts that convey control of the right to use another 
party’s IT software. It would not include any licensing arrangements that provide a perpetual license, 
which would still be accounted for as an intangible asset. Subscription-based IT arrangements are 
becoming more and more popular with IT vendors. This standard mirrors the new lease standard. The 
City will be able to utilize the systems put into place to implement the lease standard to properly account 
for these contracts. Common examples of these contracts in the utility industry include: 

• Leasing space in the cloud 

• GIS systems 

• SCADA systems 

• Some work order or inventory systems as well as some general ledger or billing systems 

The City should work with its IT department and department managers to determine a population listing of 
contracts that would fall under this standard to determine the potential future impact to financial reporting.  

  

DRAFT 05/23/23



 

© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP  Page | 23 

Material corrected misstatements 
Description Opinion unit Amount 
To adjust reserves related to PSC rate order for 
accelerated depreciation on water mains 

Water utility $   1,896,750 

To capitalize utility mains from completed 
construction not classified 

Water and Sewer utilities $   1,627,759 

To allocate CDBG grant receivable / revenue Water, sewer, and stormwater 
utilities, transportation 
improvements, all remaining 
funds 

$   1,735,184 

To adjust deferred revenue related to taxes General $   1,185,328 

To record CY depreciation expense  Stormwater utility $        57,568 

To allocate CDBG overhead costs Transportation Improvements $        56,286 

To adjust utility plant  Stormwater utility $      112,874 

To reduce restricted cash account Water utility $      351,250 

To record retainage payable Sewer utility $      343,216 

To adjusting opening equity Water utility $      167,858 

To gross up debt premium and issuance costs General Debt Service $      324,222 

To allocate grant-related additions to 
contributed plant accounts 

Water utility $      459,824 

To record unavailable revenue for CDBG grant All Remaining Funds $      634,366 

To record utility plant retirements Water and sewer utilities $      675,792 

To record lease receivable and deferred inflow 
of resources related to GASB No. 87 
implementation 

General $     400,271 

   
 
The remaining misstatements that were identified and corrected by management were not material 
individually or in the aggregate to the financial statements taken as a whole.  

  

DRAFT 05/23/23



© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP Page | 24 

Two-way audit communications 
As part of our audit of your financial statements, we are providing communications to you throughout the 
audit process. Auditing requirements provide for two-way communication and are important in assisting 
the auditor and you with more information relevant to the audit. 

As this past audit is concluded, we use what we have learned to begin the planning process for next 
year’s audit. It is important that you understand the following points about the scope and timing of our 
next audit: 

a. We address the significant risks of material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, through
our detailed audit procedures.

b. We will obtain an understanding of the five components of internal control sufficient to assess the
risk of material misstatement of the financial statements whether due to error or fraud, and to
design the nature, timing and extent of further audit procedures. We will obtain a sufficient
understanding by performing risk assessment procedures to evaluate the design of controls
relevant to an audit of financial statements and to determine whether they have been
implemented. We will use such knowledge to:

• Identify types of potential misstatements.
• Consider factors that affect the risks of material misstatement.
• Design tests of controls, when applicable, and substantive procedures.

c. We will not express an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting or
compliance with laws, regulations and provisions of contracts or grant programs. For audits
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards, our report will include a
paragraph that states that the purpose of the report is solely to describe the scope of testing of
internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the result of that testing and not to
provide an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting or on
compliance and that the report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with
Government Auditing Standards in considering internal control over financial reporting and
compliance. The paragraph will also state that the report is not suitable for any other purpose.

d. The concept of materiality recognizes that some matters, either individually or in the aggregate,
are important for fair presentation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles while other matters are not important. In performing the audit, we are
concerned with matters that, either individually or in the aggregate, could be material to the
financial statements. Our responsibility is to plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance that material misstatements, whether caused by errors or fraud, are detected.

Our audit will be performed in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America and Government Auditing Standards, OMB’s Uniform Administrative Requirements, 
Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance) and the State Single 
Audit Guidelines. 

DRAFT 05/23/23



 

© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP  Page | 25 

We will not express an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting or 
compliance with laws, regulations, and provisions of contracts or grant programs. For audits done in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards, the Uniform Guidance, and the State Single Audit 
Guidelines, our report will include a paragraph that states that the purpose of the report is solely to 
describe (a) the scope of testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the result 
of that testing and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting 
or on compliance, (b) the scope of testing internal control over compliance for major programs and major 
program compliance and the result of that testing and to provide an opinion on compliance but not to 
provide an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over compliance and, (c) that the report is an 
integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering 
internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the Uniform Guidance, and the State Single 
Audit Guidelines, in considering internal control over compliance and major program compliance. The 
paragraph will also state that the report is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 
We are very interested in your views regarding certain matters. Those matters are listed here: 

a. We typically will communicate with your top level of management unless you tell us otherwise. 

b. We understand that the governing board has the responsibility to oversee the strategic direction 
of your organization, as well as the overall accountability of the entity. Management has the 
responsibility for achieving the objectives of the entity. 

c. We need to know your views about your organization’s objectives and strategies, and the related 
business risks that may result in material misstatements. 

d. We anticipate that the City will receive an adverse opinion on its financial statements because of 
the exclusion of the Fort Atkinson Historical Society. 

e. Which matters do you consider warrant particular attention during the audit, and are there any 
areas where you request additional procedures to be undertaken? 

f. Have you had any significant communications with regulators or grantor agencies? 

g. Are there other matters that you believe are relevant to the audit of the financial statements? 

Also, is there anything that we need to know about the attitudes, awareness and actions of the governing 
body concerning: 

a. The entity’s internal control and its importance in the entity, including how those charged with 
governance oversee the effectiveness of internal control? 

b. The detection or the possibility of fraud? 

We also need to know if you have taken actions in response to developments in financial reporting, laws, 
accounting standards, governance practices, or other related matters, or in response to previous 
communications with us. 

With regard to the timing of our audit, here is some general information. If necessary, we may do 
preliminary financial audit work during the months of October-December, and sometimes early in January. 
Our final financial fieldwork is scheduled during the spring to best coincide with your readiness and report 
deadlines. After fieldwork, we wrap up our financial audit procedures at our office and may issue drafts of 
our report for your review. Final copies of our report and other communications are issued after approval 
by your staff. This is typically 6-12 weeks after final fieldwork, but may vary depending on a number of 
factors.  

  

DRAFT 05/23/23



 

© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP  Page | 26 

Keep in mind that while this communication may assist us with planning the scope and timing of the audit, 
it does not change the auditor’s sole responsibility to determine the overall audit strategy and the audit 
plan, including the nature, timing and extent of procedures necessary to obtain sufficient appropriate audit 
evidence. 

We realize that you may have questions on what this all means, or wish to provide other feedback. We 
welcome the opportunity to hear from you. 

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson

Financial Statements and
Supplementary Information

December 31, 2022

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Table of Contents
December 31, 2022

Page

Independent Auditors' Report i

Required Supplementary Information

Management's Discussion and Analysis iv

Basic Financial Statements

Government-Wide Financial Statements

Statement of Net Position 1

Statement of Activities 3

Fund Financial Statements

Balance Sheet - Governmental Funds 4

Reconciliation of the Balance Sheet of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Net Position 6

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - Governmental Funds 7

Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances
of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities 9

Statement of Net Position - Proprietary Funds 10

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position - Proprietary Funds 12

Statement of Cash Flows - Proprietary Funds 13

Statement of Fiduciary Net Position - Fiduciary Fund 15

Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position - Fiduciary Fund 16

Index to Notes to Financial Statements 17

Notes to Financial Statements 18

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Table of Contents
December 31, 2022

Page

Required Supplementary Information

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual -
General Fund 60

Special Revenue Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual -
Transportation Improvements 65

Schedule of Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability (Asset) - Wisconsin Retirement
System 66

Schedule of Employer Contributions - Wisconsin Retirement System 66

Schedule of Proportionate Share of the Net Insurance OPEB Liability - Local Retiree Life
Insurance Fund 67

Schedule of Employer Contributions - Local Retiree Life Insurance Fund 67

Schedule of Changes in Employer's Total OPEB Liabilities and Related Ratios - Health
Insurance 68

Notes to Required Supplementary Information 69

Supplementary Information

Combining Balance Sheet - Nonmajor Governmental Funds 71

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - Nonmajor
Governmental Funds 75

DRAFT 05/23/23



 

i 

Independent Auditors' Report 

To the City Council of 
City of Fort Atkinson 

Adverse and Unmodified Opinions 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type 
activities, the discretely presented component unit, each major fund and the aggregate remaining fund 
information of the City of Fort Atkinson, Wisconsin, (the City), as of and for the year ended  
December 31, 2022 and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City's 
basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 

Adverse Opinion on Discretely Presented Component Unit 

In our opinion, because of the significance of the matter discussed in the Basis for Adverse and Unmodified 
Opinions section of our report, the financial statements referred to above do not present fairly the financial 
position of the discretely presented component unit of the City as of December 31, 2022, or the changes in 
financial position for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America. 

Unmodified Opinions on Governmental Activities, Business-Type Activities, Each Major Fund and the 
Aggregate Remaining Fund Information 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective 
financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund and the 
aggregate remaining fund information of the City as of December 31, 2022 and the respective changes in 
financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Basis for Adverse and Unmodified Opinions  

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing Standards). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of 
the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the City and to meet our 
other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
adverse and unmodified audit opinions. 

Matters Giving Rise to Adverse Opinion on the Discretely Presented Component Unit 

The financial statements do not include financial data for the City’s legally separate component unit, the Fort 
Atkinson Historical Society. Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require 
the financial data for the component unit to be reported with the financial data of the City’s primary 
government unless the City also issues financial statements for the financial reporting entity that include the 
financial data for its component unit. The City has not issued such reporting entity financial statements. The 
effects of not including the City’s legally separate component unit on the discretely presented component unit 
have not been determined. 

DRAFT 05/23/23



 

ii 

Emphasis of Matter 

As discussed in Note 1, the City adopted the provisions of GASB Statement No. 87, Leases, effective  
January 1, 2022. Our opinions are not modified with respect to this matter. 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; and for the design, 
implementation and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or 
events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the City's ability to continue as a going 
concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known information that 
may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter. 

Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error and to issue an auditors' report that includes our 
opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is 
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and Governmental Auditing Standards will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered 
material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the 
judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we: 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures 
include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the City's internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that 
raise substantial doubt about the City's ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period 
of time. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings and certain internal control-related matters 
that we identified during the audit. 

DRAFT 05/23/23



 

iii 

Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the required 
supplementary information, as listed in the table of contents be presented to supplement the basic financial 
statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic 
financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an 
essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, 
economic or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary 
information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which 
consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the 
information for consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements and 
other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion 
or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient 
evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 

Supplementary Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise the City's basic financial statements. The supplementary information as listed in the table of 
contents is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial 
statements. Because of the significance of the matter described above, it is inappropriate to and we do not 
express an opinion on the supplementary information referred to above. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated ________, 2023 
on our consideration of the City’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance 
with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose 
of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s 
internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed 
in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the City’s internal control over financial 
reporting and compliance. 

Madison, Wisconsin 
__________, 2023 
 

DRAFT 05/23/23



CITY OF FORT ATKINSON 
 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS – UNAUDITED 
As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2022 

 
 

iv 

The management of the City of Fort Atkinson (the City) offers all persons interested in the financial 
position of the City, this narrative overview and analysis of the City's financial performance during the 
fiscal year ending December 31, 2022. You are invited to read this narrative in conjunction with the city’s 
financial statements. 
 
 
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 
 
The City's total net position totaled over $71 million. $33.1 million was related to governmental activities 
and $38.7 million to business-type activities. Events that had major impacts on the City's 2022 financials 
were: 
 

 City-wide computer and technology upgrades .gov, and fiber installation- $ 12,296 

 Municipal Building Facility and Safety Study - $8,800 

 Police Department Squads - $94,573 

 Police Department Radios and Defibrillator Upgrades - $42,167 

 Fire Department Final Renovations - $83,665 

 Fire Department Radio Upgrades - $16,170 

 Public Works Facility Study - $9,000 

 Wastewater Treatment Plant Upgrade Phase I completed - $1,360,218 

 Wastewater Treatment Plant Upgrade Phase II in progress - $12,934,438 

 Replacement of Downtown Holiday Lights - $13,177 

 Public Works Skid Loader - $34,573 

 Aquatic Center Improvements - $41,310 

 Transportation Improvements – Street Works - $963,807 

 Implementation of GASB Statement No. 87, Leases 

 
 
OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the City’s basic financial 
statements. These financial statements consist of two parts: Management’s Discussion and Analysis (this 
section) and the basic financial statements. The basic financial statements include two kinds of 
statements that present different views of the City: 
 

 The first two statements are government-wide financial statements that provide both long-term 
and short-term information about the City's financial status. 

 
 The remaining statements are fund financial statements that focus on individual parts of city 

government, reporting the City's operations in more detail than the government-wide statements. 
 
These financial statements also include notes that explain some of the information in the financial 
statements and provide more detailed data. The statements are followed by a section of the required 
supplementary information that further explains and supports the information in the financial statements. 
The remainder of this overview section of management’s discussion and analysis explains the structure 
and contents of each of the statements. 

DRAFT 05/23/23



CITY OF FORT ATKINSON 
 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS – UNAUDITED 
As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2022 

 
 

v 

 
OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont.) 

 
 GOVERNMENT-WIDE STATEMENTS 
 
The government-wide statements report information about the City as a whole using accounting methods 
similar to those used by private-sector companies. The statement of net position includes all of the 
government’s assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources. All of 
the current year’s revenues and expenses are accounted for in the statement of activities regardless of 
when cash is received or paid. 
 
The two government-wide statements report the City's net position and how they have changed. Net 
Position – the difference between the City's assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, and 
deferred inflows of resources – is one way to measure the City's financial health, or position. Over time, 
increases or decreases in the City's net position are an indicator of whether its financial health is 
improving or deteriorating. To assess the overall health of the city you need to consider additional non-
financial factors such as changes in the City's property tax base and the condition of the City's roads. 
 
The statement of activities presents information showing how the government’s net position changed 
during the most recent fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying 
event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of the cash flows. Thus, revenue and 
expenses reported in this statement for some items will only result in cash flows in future fiscal periods. 
 
The government-wide financial statements of the City are divided into three categories: 
 

 Governmental activities – Most of the City's basic services are included here, such as police, fire, 
public works, park and recreation, library, and general administration. Property taxes and state 
aid finance most of these activities. 

 Business-type activities – The City charges fees to customers to help it cover the costs of certain 
services it provides. The City's water, sewer, and stormwater system are included here. 

  Fiduciary activities – Included in these activities are collections of all property taxes in the City for 
all taxing jurisdictions. 

DRAFT 05/23/23



CITY OF FORT ATKINSON 
 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS – UNAUDITED 
As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2022 

 
 

vi 

 
OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont.) 

 
 FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
 
A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have been 
segregated for specific activities or objectives. The City, like other state and local governments, uses fund 
accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements. All of the 
funds of the City can be divided into three categories: governmental funds, proprietary funds, and 
fiduciary funds. 
 
Governmental Funds – Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions 
reported as governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the 
government-wide financial statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on near-term inflows 
and outflows of spendable resources available at the end of the fiscal year. Such information may be 
useful in evaluating a government’s near-term financing requirements. 
  
Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial 
statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar 
information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. By doing 
so, readers may better understand the long-term impact on the government’s near-term financing 
decisions. Both the governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund statement of revenues, 
expenditures, and changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between 
governmental funds and governmental activities. 
 
Information is presented separately in the governmental fund balance sheet and in the governmental fund 
statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances for the general fund, transportation 
improvements, general debt service, and Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) District No. 6, which are 
considered to be major funds. Data from the other governmental funds are combined into a single, 
aggregated presentation. Individual fund data for each of these non-major governmental funds is provided 
in the form of combining statements elsewhere in this report. 
 
The City adopts an annual appropriated budget for its general fund and other funds as listed in Note 2. A 
budgetary comparison statement has been provided for the general fund and transportation 
improvements fund to demonstrate compliance with this budget. 
 
Proprietary Funds – The City maintains three different types of proprietary funds (water, sewer, and 
stormwater utilities), all of which are enterprise funds. Enterprise funds are used to report the same 
functions presented as business-type activities in the government-wide financial statements. Proprietary 
fund financial statements present the same type of information as the government-wide financial 
statements, only in more detail. 
 
Fiduciary Funds – Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside 
the government. Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial statements because 
the resources of those funds are not available to support the City's own programs. The accounting used 
for fiduciary funds is much like that used for proprietary funds. 
 
The City is the trustee, or fiduciary, for collection of all property taxes within the City for all taxing districts 
including the School District of Fort Atkinson, Madison Area Technical College and Jefferson County. We 
exclude these activities from the City's government-wide financial statements because the City cannot 
use these assets to finance its operation. 
 

DRAFT 05/23/23



CITY OF FORT ATKINSON 
 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS – UNAUDITED 
As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2022 

 
 

vii 

 
OVERVIEW OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont.) 

 
 FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont.) 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements – The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full 
understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. 
 
Other Information – In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, required 
supplementary information presents a detailed budgetary comparison schedule for the general fund and 
transportation improvements fund to demonstrate compliance with the budget along with additional 
information about the city’s pension and other postemployment benefits. The combining statements 
referred to earlier in connection with non-major governmental funds are presented immediately following 
the required supplementary information. 
 
 
FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY AS A WHOLE 

 
An analysis of the City's financial position begins with a review of the Statement of Net Position and the 
Statement of Activities. These two statements report the City's net position and changes therein. It should 
be noted that the financial position can also be affected by non-financial factors, including economic 
conditions, population growth and new regulations. 
 
A summary of the City's Statement of Net Position is presented below in Table 1. 
 

Table 1 
Condensed Statements of Net Position 

 
 Governmental Activities  Business-Type Activities  Totals  
 2022  2021  2022  2021  2022  2021   
       
Current and other assets $ 27,027,569 $ 21,353,669 $ 8,637,163 $ 7,082,712 $ 35,664,732 $ 28,436,381 
Capital assets 34,164,102 33,402,143 46,171,662 37,530,841 80,335,764 70,932,984 

Total Assets 61,191,671 54,755,812 54,808,825 44,613,553 116,000,496 99,369,365 
       
Total deferred outflows of   
resources 5,475,112

 
 3,603,862

 
1,101,378

 
 729,054

 
6,576,490

 
4,332,916

 

       
Long-term liabilities 14,241,494 13,744,318 14,846,951 8,274,189 29,088,445 22,018,507 
Other liabilities 2,015,817 1,140,098 1,089,284 745,608 3,105,101 1,885,706 

Total Liabilities 16,257,311 14,884,416 15,936,235 9,019,797 32,193,546 23,904,213 
       
Total deferred inflows of 
resources 17,224,063

 
13,797,201

 
1,252,317

 
911,327

 
18,476,380

 
14,708,528

 

       
Invested in capital assets,  
  net of related debt 22,678,622

 
 21,378,390

 
 31,857,343

 
29,744,669

 
54,535,965

 
51,123,059

 

Restricted 5,845,547 5,041,230 1,466,006 1,076,047 7,311,553 6,117,277 
Unrestricted  4,661,240 3,258,437 5,398,302 4,590,767 10,059,542 7,849,204 
       

Total Net Position $ 33,185,409 $ 29,678,057 $ 38,721,651 $ 35,411,483 $ 71,907,060 $ 65,089,540 

 

DRAFT 05/23/23



CITY OF FORT ATKINSON 
 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS – UNAUDITED 
As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2022 

 
 

viii 

 
FINANCE ANALYSIS OF THE CITY AS A WHOLE (cont.) 

 
The largest portion of the City's total net position (75%) reflects its investment in capital assets (e.g., land, 
buildings and improvements, machinery and equipment, and infrastructure), less any debt used to acquire 
those assets that is still outstanding. The City uses these capital assets to provide services to citizens; 
consequently, these assets are not available for future spending. Although the City's investment in its 
capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to repay this 
debt must be provided from other sources, since the capital assets themselves cannot be used to 
liquidate these liabilities. 
 
An additional portion of the City's net position (10%) represents resources that are subject to external 
restrictions on how they may be used. The remaining portion of the City's net position represents 
resources that are unrestricted on how they may be used. 
 

Table 2 
Condensed Statement of Activities 

 
 Governmental Activities  Business-Type Activities  Totals  
 2022  2021  2022  2021  2022  2021  
Revenues:     

Program Revenues     
Charges for services $  1,256,257  $ 1,096,334 $ 7,023,753 $ 5,837,520 $ 8,280,010 $ 6,933,854 
Operating grants and  
  contributions 1,701,060

 
1,895,965

 
-
 

-
 

1,701,060 1,895,965
Capital grants and  
  contributions 1,022,142

 
497,535

 
1,423,633

 
656,004

 
2,445,775 1,153,539

General Revenues       
Property taxes 9,085,628 8,905,817 - - 9,085,628 8,905,817  
Other taxes 295,799 274,448 - - 295,799 274,448
Intergovernmental 1,526,708 1,312,605 - - 1,526,708 1,312,605
Public gifts and grants 215,136 282,639 - - 215,136 282,639
Other 129,119 426,404 34,402 5,309 163,521 431,713
   Total Revenues 15,231,849 14,691,747 8,481,788 6,498,833 23,713,637 21,190,580

Expenses:     
General government 1,090,715 1,008,937 - - 1,090,715 1008,937
Public safety 4,169,999 3,973,449 - - 4,169,999 3,973,449
Public works 2,502,078 2,822,143 - - 2,502,078 2,530,532
Health and human services 34,114 33,209 - - 34,114 33,209
Culture, education and             
  recreation 2,930,785

 
 2,622,451

 
-
 
 -

 
2,930,785

 
2,622,451

Conservation and 
  development 987,109

 
724,363

 
-
 

-
 

987,109
 

1,015,974
Water - - 1,418,513 1,427,884 1,418,513 1,427,884
Sewer - - 2,821,082 2,555,417 2,821,082 2,555,417
Stormwater - - 598,625 474,799 598,625 474,799
Interest and fiscal charges 343,097 383,796 - - 343,097 383,796
   Total Expenses 12,057,897 11,568,348 4,838,220 4,458,100 16,896,117 16,026,448

Income (Loss) Before 
Transfers 3,173,952

 
 

 
3,123,399

 
 3,642,262

 
2,040,733

 
6,817,520

 
5,164,132

 

Transfers 333,400 336,744 (333,400) (336,744) - -

Changes in Net Position 3,507,352 3,460,143 3,310,168 1,703,989 6,817,520 5,164,132 

Beginning Net Position 
29,678,057

 
26,217,914

 
35,411,483

 
33,707,494

 
65,089,540 59,925,408

 Ending Net Position $ 33,185,409 $ 29,678,057 $ 38,721,651 $ 35,411,483 $ 71,907,060 $ 65,089,540

DRAFT 05/23/23



CITY OF FORT ATKINSON 
 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS – UNAUDITED 
As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2022 

 
 

ix 

 
FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY AS A WHOLE (cont.) 

 
As previously noted, the Statement of Net Position shows the change in financial position or net position. 
The specific nature or source of these changes then becomes more evident in the Statement of Activities 
as shown above in Table 2. 
 
 GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES 

Governmental activities increased the City's net position by $3,507,352 compared to an increase of 
$3,460,143 in 2021. The increase is related primarily to grants and donations.  
 
 BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES 

Business-type activities increased the City's net position by $3,310,168 compared to an increase of 
approximately $1,972,458 in 2021. The current year increase is the result of regular operations. 
 
 
FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY'S FUNDS 

 
 GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 

The focus of the city of Fort Atkinson's governmental funds is to provide information on near-term inflows, 
outflows, and balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing the City's 
financing requirements. In particular, unassigned fund balance may serve as a useful measure of the 
government’s net resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year. 

At December 31, 2022, the City's governmental funds reported combined fund balances of $10,809,120. 
Of this amount, $1,211,967 constitutes the unassigned fund balance. An additional $2,902,328 is non-
spendable funds related to land held for resale, delinquent items, prepaids and TIF District advances. 
Restricted funds amount to $4,513,131 for unspent debt related to capital purchases, library, museum, 
and grant purposes, or other amounts restricted by state statutes. Committed funds amount to $547,452 
for transportation improvements. The remaining $1,634,242 is assigned to deposits, loan programs, non-
lapsing funds and equipment replacement, utility taxes, the municipal airport and previous industrial land 
sales.  

GENERAL FUND 

The unassigned fund balance is approximately $3,513,540. This amount does not include $2,889,109 of 
fund balance for prepaid items, land held for resale, advances, and delinquent personal property taxes 
shown as non-spendable because they are assets on the balance sheet that are not in spendable form. 

The City evaluates general fund balance by measuring the unassigned general fund balance as a 
percentage of the general fund budget. For 2022, unassigned fund balance is $3,513,540, and the current 
year general fund expenditure budget is $8,698,567, resulting in an unassigned fund balance of 40%. The 
City's goal is to maintain a 15%-30% general fund balance to current year’s expenditure budget. The City 
is above its policy range at year end.  
 

TRANSPORTATION IMPROVEMENTS 

The transportation improvements special revenue fund has fund balance of $707,452 at the end of the 
current year, which is an increase of $914,580 from the previous year, largely related to grant funding. 
 

DRAFT 05/23/23



CITY OF FORT ATKINSON 
 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS – UNAUDITED 
As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2022 

 
 

x 

 
FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY'S FUNDS (cont.) 

 
GENERAL DEBT SERVICE 

The general debt service fund had a restricted fund balance of $4,932 at year end, an increase of $2,064 
from the prior year.  
 

TIF DISTRICT NO. 6 
 
TIF District No. 6 was created for the express purpose of a new business park. TIF District No. 6 had an 
increase in fund balance for 2022 of approximately $80,157 and a year-end fund balance deficit of 
$1,551,824. The deficit resulted primarily from land acquisition costs over and above the tax increment. It 
was anticipated in the project plan that the initial land contract payments would be funded through the 
general fund until the tax increment was sufficient to cover land acquisition and infrastructure costs. In 
2011, the City approved a Project Plan Amendment for TIF District No.6, placing a distressed designation 
on the District. The designation of TIF District No. 6 as distressed will allow the extension of the maximum 
life by ten years beyond its original termination date of January 18, 2023. In addition, TIF Districts No. 7 
and No. 8 were amended to become “donor” districts to TIF District No. 6 so that allocations can be made 
from TIF District No. 7 and No. 8 to support TIF District No.6. The projections are for a positive cash flow 
for TIF District No. 6 in 2027 with the help of the donor districts. At the end of 2010, the infrastructure in 
Phase 1 was 99% complete and five new businesses have located in the park. No new business has 
been added to the tax roll since 2010, however one of the businesses has had an expansion since that 
time.  
 

PROPRIETARY FUNDS 
 
The water utility rates are governed by the Public Service Commission of Wisconsin (PSCW). The 
authorized rate of net operating income as a percentage of average rate base is 4.90%. For 2022, the 
water utility result of operation was 4.89%. 
 
The sewer utility rates are governed by the Fort Atkinson City Council. Current rates were effective as of 
January 1, 2021. 
 
The stormwater rates are governed by the Fort Atkinson City Council. The fixed rate remained consistent 
to the previous year at $52.50 per year in 2022.  
 
The city of Fort Atkinson's proprietary fund financial statements provide the same type of information 
found in the government-wide financial statements, but in more detail. Factors concerning the finances of 
these funds have already been addressed in the discussion of the City's business-type activities. 

DRAFT 05/23/23



CITY OF FORT ATKINSON 
 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS – UNAUDITED 
As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2022 

 
 

xi 

 
CAPITAL ASSETS 

 
At the end of 2022, the City has invested a total of $80,335,764 in capital assets. This investment in 
capital assets includes land, land improvements, buildings, machinery and equipment and infrastructure. 
 

Table 3 
Capital Assets 

 
 Governmental Activities  Business-Type Activities  Totals  
 2022  2021  2022  2021  2022  2021  
Land and other assets not  
  being depreciated $ 5,877,315 

 
$ 5,208,016

 
 $ 13,298,563

 
$ 5,507,497

 
$ 19,175,878

 
$ 10,715,513

 

Land improvements 3,404,813 3,404,813 - - 3,404,813 3,404,813 
Buildings 21,222,748 21,222,748 - - 21,222,748 21,222,748 
Machinery and equipment 11,274,151 10,475,419 - - 11,274,151 10,475,419 
Infrastructure 23,330,215 22,504,470 - - 23,330,215 22,504,470 
Utility plant - - 66,340,359 64,768,563 66,340,359 64,768,563 
       

Total Capital Assets 65,109,242 62,815,466 79,638,922 70,276,060 144,748,164 133,091,526 
       
Less: Accumulated  
  Depreciation (30,945,140

 
) (29,413,323

 
) (33,467,260

 
) (32,745,219

 
) (64,412,400

 
) (62,158,542

 
) 

       
Net Capital Assets $ 34,164,102 $ 33,402,143 $ 46,171,662 $ 37,530,841 $ 80,335,764 $ 70,932,984 

 
Major capital asset events during the current fiscal year included the following: 
 

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES 
 

 Road improvements 
 Squad cars 
 Street rehabilitation and maintenance 
 Computer and technology upgrades 
 Fire station renovation and expansion (partial) 
 Parks improvements 
 Aquatic center improvements 
 Fiber Installation and Technology Upgrades 
 Public Works and Parks Equipment 
 

BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES 
 

 Water Utility meter replacement 
 Wastewater Treatment Plant Upgrades 
 Stormwater ponds 
 
Additional information on the City's capital assets can be found in Note 3. of this report. 

 

DRAFT 05/23/23



CITY OF FORT ATKINSON 
 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS – UNAUDITED 
As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2022 

 
 

xii 

 
LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS 

 
At December 31, 2022, the City had $16,608,700 of long-term general obligation bonds and notes 
outstanding, which is a decrease of $313,077 from the previous year. 
 
In accordance with Wisconsin Statutes, total general obligation indebtedness of the City may not exceed 
five% of the equalized value of taxable property within the City's jurisdiction. The debt limit as of 
December 31, 2022 was $62,896,825. Total general obligation debt outstanding at year-end was 
$16,608,700. Therefore, the City was at 26% of the legal debt limit.  
 
In the current year, the City also issued $6,704,595 in revenue debt for the Sewer Utility. The outstanding 
amount of revenue debt as of December 31, 2022 is $10,749,028. This clean water fund loan will be 
repaid solely from future sewer utility revenues and relates to the wastewater treatment plant upgrade. 
The City has not drawn the full amount authorized for this debt issuance through the end of the year. The 
fully authorized amount is $14,125,508. 
 
Additional information on the City's long-term obligations can be found in Note 3. of this report. 
 
 
CURRENTLY KNOWN FACTS/ECONOMIC CONDITIONS 

 
All currently known facts and economic conditions were considered in preparing the 2023 City budget. 
None of these conditions are anticipated to significantly change the overall financial position of the City. 
 
The federal government passed the American Rescue Plan Act on March 11, 2021 to respond to the 
COVID-19 public health emergency and its negative economic impacts. Amounts were appropriated for 
fiscal year 2021 to units of local government to mitigate the fiscal effects stemming from the public health 
emergency. The City's estimated award is $1.2 million, which will be used to combat the negative effects 
of the public health emergency in the local economy. The City received half of its allocation in 2021 and 
the remaining 50% of the funds in June 2022. The funds are to cover costs incurred by December 31, 
2024. 
 
 
REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION 

 
The financial report is designed to provide our citizens, customers, investors and creditors with a general 
overview of the City's finances. If you have questions about this report or need any additional information, 
contact Michelle Ebbert, City Finance Director/Clerk/Treasurer. 
 

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Statement of Net Position
December 31, 2022

Governmental
Activities

Business-
Type

Activities Total

Assets and Deferred Outflows of Resources

Assets
Cash and investments $ 10,386,970 $ 5,785,268 $ 16,172,238
Receivables:

Taxes 10,416,568 - 10,416,568
Delinquent personal property taxes 72 - 72
Accounts 309,259 541,322 850,581
Loans 227,837 - 227,837
Due from other governments 1,299,771 1,097,393 2,397,164
Leases 397,087 - 397,087

Internal balances 333,400 (333,400) -
Inventories - 50,470 50,470
Land held for resale 818,210 - 818,210
Prepaid items 184,514 2,392 186,906
Restricted assets:

Cash and investments - 969,079 969,079
Net pension asset 2,653,881 524,639 3,178,520

Capital assets:
Land 5,877,315 364,125 6,241,440
Construction in progress - 12,934,438 12,934,438
Other capital assets, net of depreciation 28,286,787 32,873,099 61,159,886

Total assets 61,191,671 54,808,825 116,000,496

Deferred Outflows of Resources
Deferred charge on refunding - 23,737 23,737
Pension related amounts 5,190,477 1,002,400 6,192,877
OPEB related amounts 284,635 75,241 359,876

Total deferred outflows of resources 5,475,112 1,101,378 6,576,490

See notes to financial statements

1

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Statement of Net Position
December 31, 2022

Governmental
Activities

Business-
Type

Activities Total

Liabilities, Deferred inflows of Resources
and Net Position

Liabilities
Accounts payable $ 863,997 $ 1,012,228 $ 1,876,225
Accrued liabilities and deposits 149,269 77,056 226,325
Unearned revenues 1,002,551 - 1,002,551
Noncurrent liabilities:

Due within one year 1,711,126 982,061 2,693,187
Due in more than one year 11,752,068 13,654,103 25,406,171
OPEB liabilities 778,300 210,787 989,087

Total liabilities 16,257,311 15,936,235 32,193,546

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unearned revenues 10,777,817 - 10,777,817
Pension related amounts 6,279,732 1,205,314 7,485,046
OPEB related amounts 166,514 47,003 213,517

Total deferred inflows of resources 17,224,063 1,252,317 18,476,380

Net Position
Net investment in capital assets 22,678,622 31,857,343 54,535,965
Restricted for:

Library 747,500 - 747,500
Museum 879,711 - 879,711
Tourism 104,179 - 104,179
TIF district purposes 850,128 - 850,128
Grant purposes 610,148 - 610,148
Pension 2,653,881 524,639 3,178,520
Debt service - 81,211 81,211
Equipment replacement - 860,156 860,156

Unrestricted 4,661,240 5,398,302 10,059,542

Total net position $ 33,185,409 $ 38,721,651 $ 71,907,060

See notes to financial statements

2

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Statement of Activities
Year Ended December 31, 2022

Program Revenues
Net (Expenses) Revenues and Changes in Net

Position

Functions/Programs Expenses
Charges for

Services

Operating
Grants and

Contributions

Capital 
Grants and

Contributions
Governmental

Activities
Business-Type

Activities Total

Governmental activities:
General government $ 1,090,715 $ 210,862 $ - $ - $ (879,853) $ - $ (879,853)
Public safety 4,169,999 569,229 297,580 - (3,303,190) - (3,303,190)
Public works 2,502,078 199,119 1,113,261 387,776 (801,922) - (801,922)
Health and human services 34,114 - - - (34,114) - (34,114)
Culture, education and recreation 2,930,785 270,946 285,353 - (2,374,486) - (2,374,486)
Conservation and development 987,109 6,101 4,866 634,366 (341,776) - (341,776)
Interest and fiscal charges 343,097 - - - (343,097) - (343,097)

Total governmental activities 12,057,897 1,256,257 1,701,060 1,022,142 (8,078,438) - (8,078,438)

Business-type activities:
Water utility 1,418,513 2,984,050 - 459,824 - 2,025,361 2,025,361
Sewer utility 2,821,082 3,484,765 - 877,050 - 1,540,733 1,540,733
Stormwater utility 598,625 554,938 - 86,759 - 43,072 43,072

Total business-type activities 4,838,220 7,023,753 - 1,423,633 - 3,609,166 3,609,166

Total $ 16,896,117 $ 8,280,010 $ 1,701,060 $ 2,445,775 (8,078,438) 3,609,166 (4,469,272)

General Revenues
Taxes:

Property taxes, levied for general purposes 6,538,350 - 6,538,350
Property taxes, levied for debt service 1,097,562 - 1,097,562
Property taxes, levied for TIF districts 1,449,716 - 1,449,716
Other taxes 295,799 - 295,799

Intergovernmental revenues not restricted to specific programs 1,526,708 - 1,526,708
Public gifts and grants 215,136 - 215,136
Investment income (loss) (135,954) 34,402 (101,552)
Miscellaneous 265,073 - 265,073

Total general revenues 11,252,390 34,402 11,286,792

Transfers 333,400 (333,400) -

Change in net position 3,507,352 3,310,168 6,817,520

Net Position, Beginning 29,678,057 35,411,483 65,089,540

Net Position, Ending $ 33,185,409 $ 38,721,651 $ 71,907,060

See notes to financial statements

3

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Balance Sheet
Governmental Funds
December 31, 2022

General
Transportation
Improvements

General Debt
Service

Assets
Cash and investments $ 4,442,303 $ 327,342 $ 4,392
Receivables:

Taxes 6,037,660 500,000 1,296,445
Delinquent personal property taxes 72 - -
Accounts 97,808 - -
Due from other governments - 665,405 -
Lease 397,087 - -
Loans - - -

Due from other funds 333,400 - -
Land held for resale 818,210 - -
Prepaid items 171,295 - -
Advances to other funds 1,899,532 - -

Total assets $ 14,197,367 $ 1,492,747 $ 1,300,837

Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources and Fund
Balances

Liabilities
Accounts payable $ 165,242 $ 7,666 $ -
Accrued liabilities 8,208 - -
Unearned revenues - - -
Advances from other funds - - -

Total liabilities 173,450 7,666 -

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unearned revenues 6,398,909 500,000 1,296,445
Unavailable revenues - 277,629 -

Total deferred inflows of resources 6,398,909 777,629 1,296,445

Fund Balances (Deficit)
Nonspendable 2,889,109 - -
Restricted 235,000 160,000 4,392
Committed - 547,452 -
Assigned 987,359 - -
Unassigned (deficit) 3,513,540 - -

Total fund balances (deficit) 7,625,008 707,452 4,392

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources and fund
balances $ 14,197,367 $ 1,492,747 $ 1,300,837

See notes to financial statements

4

DRAFT 05/23/23



TIF District No.
6

Nonmajor
Governmental

Funds Total

$ 275,127 $ 5,337,806 $ 10,386,970

177,774 2,404,689 10,416,568
- - 72

5,364 206,087 309,259
- 634,366 1,299,771
- - 397,087
- 227,837 227,837
- - 333,400
- - 818,210
- 13,219 184,514
- - 1,899,532

$ 458,265 $ 8,824,004 $ 26,273,220

$ - $ 691,089 $ 863,997
- - 8,208
- 1,002,551 1,002,551

1,832,315 67,217 1,899,532

1,832,315 1,760,857 3,774,288

177,774 2,404,689 10,777,817
- 634,366 911,995

177,774 3,039,055 11,689,812

- 13,219 2,902,328
- 4,113,739 4,513,131
- - 547,452
- 646,883 1,634,242

(1,551,824) (749,749) 1,211,967

(1,551,824) 4,024,092 10,809,120

$ 458,265 $ 8,824,004 $ 26,273,220

See notes to financial statements

5

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Reconciliation of the Balance Sheet of Governmental Funds

to the Statement of Net Position
December 31, 2022

Total Fund Balances, Governmental Funds $ 10,809,120

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position are different
because:

Capital assets used in governmental funds are not financial resources and therefore are not
reported in the funds.

Land 5,877,315
Other capital assets 59,231,927
Less accumulated depreciation (30,945,140)

Some receivables that are not currently available are reported as unavailable revenues in the
fund financial statements but are recognized as revenue when earned in the government-
wide statements. 911,995

The net pension asset does not relate to current financial resources and is not reported in the
governmental funds. 2,653,881

Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions do not relate to current financial resources
and are not reported in the governmental funds. 5,190,477

Deferred inflows of resources related to pensions do not relate to current financial resources
and are not reported in the governmental funds. (6,279,732)

The OPEB liabilities do not relate to current financial resources and are not reported in the
governmental funds. (778,300)

Deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB do not relate to current financial resources
and are not reported in the governmental funds. 284,635

Deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB do not relate to current financial resources and
are not reported in the governmental funds. (166,514)

Some liabilities, including long-term debt, are not due and payable in the current period and,
therefore, are not reported in the funds.

Bonds and notes payable (12,914,700)
Compensated absences (548,494)
Accrued interest (141,061)

Net Position of Governmental Activities $ 33,185,409

See notes to financial statements

6

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances -
Governmental Funds
Year Ended December 31, 2022

General
Transportation
Improvements

General Debt
Service

TIF District No.
6

Revenues
Taxes $ 5,327,560 $ 700,445 $ 1,097,562 $ 146,888
Intergovernmental 2,117,904 387,776 - 1,720
Licenses and permits 269,050 - - -
Fines, forfeitures and penalties 175,645 - - -
Public charges for services 448,581 113,166 - -
Intergovernmental charges for services 241,433 - - -
Special assessments 15,492 - - -
Investment income (loss) 101,482 - - 656
Miscellaneous 72,207 - - 10,727

Total revenues 8,769,354 1,201,387 1,097,562 159,991

Expenditures
Current:

General government 870,504 - - -
Public safety 3,889,591 - - -
Public works 2,344,572 - - -
Health and human services 34,114 - - -
Culture, recreation and education 1,425,392 - - -
Conservation and development 245,841 - - 6,964

Capital outlay 33,309 963,807 - 171,874
Debt service:

Principal - - 2,838,623 364,000
Interest and fiscal charges - - 356,097 19,261

Total expenditures 8,843,323 963,807 3,194,720 562,099

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
expenditures (73,969) 237,580 (2,097,158) (402,108)

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Debt issued - 677,000 - -
Premium on debt issued - - 74,222 -
Refunding debt issued - - 2,025,000 -
Transfers in 393,335 - - 482,265
Transfers out (85,355) - - -

Total other financing sources (uses) 307,980 677,000 2,099,222 482,265

Net change in fund balances 234,011 914,580 2,064 80,157

Fund Balances (Deficit), Beginning 7,390,997 (207,128) 2,328 (1,631,981)

Fund Balances (Deficit), Ending $ 7,625,008 $ 707,452 $ 4,392 $ (1,551,824)

See notes to financial statements

7

DRAFT 05/23/23



Nonmajor
Governmental

Funds Total

$ 2,108,972 $ 9,381,427
879,755 3,387,155

- 269,050
- 175,645

179,816 741,563
3,000 244,433

- 15,492
(238,092) (135,954)

271,275 354,209

3,204,726 14,433,020

153,636 1,024,140
211,464 4,101,055

- 2,344,572
- 34,114

989,048 2,414,440
199,049 451,854

1,706,511 2,875,501

348,300 3,550,923
42,600 417,958

3,650,608 17,214,557

(445,882) (2,781,537)

1,348,000 2,025,000
- 74,222
- 2,025,000

273,861 1,149,461
(730,706) (816,061)

891,155 4,457,622

445,273 1,676,085

3,578,819 9,133,035

$ 4,024,092 $ 10,809,120

See notes to financial statements

8

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures,

and Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds
to the Statement of Activities

Year Ended December 31, 2022

Net Change in Fund Balances, Total Governmental Funds $ 1,676,085
  
Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are different

because:

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the statement of net
position the cost of these assets is capitalized and they are depreciated over their
estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation expense in the statement of activities.

Capital outlay is reported as an expenditure in the fund financial statements but is
capitalized in the government-wide financial statements 2,875,501

Some items reported as capital outlay were not capitalized (424,096)
Depreciation is reported in the government-wide financial statements (1,689,446)

Receivables not currently available are reported as revenue when collected or currently
available in the fund financial statements but are recognized as revenue when earned in
the government-wide financial statements. 798,829

Debt issued provides current financial resources to governmental funds, but issuing debt
increases long-term liabilities in the statement of net position. Repayment of debt principal
is an expenditure in the governmental funds, but the repayment reduces long-term
liabilities in the statement of net position.

Debt issued (4,050,000)
Principal repaid 3,550,923

Some expenses in the statement of activities do not require the use of current financial
resources and, therefore, are not reported as expenditures in the governmental funds. 

Compensated absences 145,553
Accrued interest on debt 639
Net pension asset/liability 630,439
Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions 1,765,341
Deferred inflows of resources related to pensions (1,746,111)
OPEB liabilities (143,652)
Deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB 112,805
Deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB 11,438

Change in Net Position of Governmental Activities $ 3,514,248

See notes to financial statements

9

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Statement of Net Position
Proprietary Funds
December 31, 2022

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Water Utility Sewer Utility
Stormwater

Utility Total

Assets
Current assets:

Cash and investments $ 991,159 $ 4,304,295 $ 489,814 $ 5,785,268
Receivables:

Customer accounts receivable 350,866 134,774 55,682 541,322
Other 467,542 543,092 86,759 1,097,393
Prepaid items 952 720 720 2,392
Inventories 50,470 - - 50,470

Restricted assets:
Redemption account - 108,923 - 108,923

Total current assets 1,860,989 5,091,804 632,975 7,585,768

Noncurrent assets:
Restricted assets:

Replacement account - 860,156 - 860,156
Net pension asset 204,094 270,187 50,358 524,639

Capital assets:
Land 69,046 295,079 - 364,125
Construction in progress - 12,934,438 - 12,934,438
Utility plant 20,184,982 36,426,484 9,728,893 66,340,359
Less accumulated depreciation (6,448,414) (22,462,945) (4,555,901) (33,467,260)

Total noncurrent assets 14,009,708 28,323,399 5,223,350 47,556,457

Total assets 15,870,697 33,415,203 5,856,325 55,142,225

Deferred Outflows of Resources
Deferred charge on refunding 14,024 9,713 - 23,737
Pension related amounts 373,324 506,964 122,112 1,002,400
OPEB related amounts 31,232 44,009 - 75,241

Total deferred outflows of resources 418,580 560,686 122,112 1,101,378

See notes to financial statements

10

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Statement of Net Position
Proprietary Funds
December 31, 2022

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Water Utility Sewer Utility
Stormwater

Utility Total

Liabilities
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 17,427 $ 980,968 $ 13,833 $ 1,012,228
Accrued interest 28,069 5,358 15,917 49,344
Current portion of general obligation debt 274,000 126,000 56,000 456,000
Due to other funds 333,400 - - 333,400
Compensated absences 8,276 27,247 - 35,523
Liabilities payable from restricted assets:

Current portion of revenue debt payable - 490,538 - 490,538
Accrued interest - 27,712 - 27,712

Total current liabilities 661,172 1,657,823 85,750 2,404,745

Noncurrent liabilities:
General obligation bonds payable 1,762,000 372,000 1,104,000 3,238,000
Compensated absences 27,254 66,331 - 93,585
Revenue bonds payable - 10,258,490 - 10,258,490
Unamortized premium 32,631 8,213 23,184 64,028
OPEB liability 78,800 131,987 - 210,787

Total noncurrent liabilities 1,900,685 10,837,021 1,127,184 13,864,890

Total liabilities 2,561,857 12,494,844 1,212,934 16,269,635

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Deferred inflows related to pension 423,161 628,948 153,205 1,205,314
OPEB related amounts 20,386 26,617 - 47,003

Total deferred inflows of resources 443,547 655,565 153,205 1,252,317

Net Position
Net investment in capital assets 11,812,007 16,030,528 4,014,808 31,857,343
Restricted for:

Pensions 204,094 270,187 50,358 524,639
Equipment replacement - 860,156 - 860,156
Debt service - 81,211 - 81,211

Unrestricted 1,267,772 3,583,398 547,132 5,398,302

Total net position $ 13,283,873 $ 20,825,480 $ 4,612,298 $ 38,721,651

See notes to financial statements

11

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position
Proprietary Funds
Year Ended December 31, 2022

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Water Utility Sewer Utility
Stormwater

Utility Total

Operating Revenues
Charges for services $ 2,984,050 $ 3,484,765 $ 554,938 $ 7,023,753

Total operating revenues 2,984,050 3,484,765 554,938 7,023,753

Operating Expenses
Operation and maintenance 941,184 1,784,006 350,228 3,075,418
Depreciation 382,973 869,108 211,063 1,463,144
Taxes 21,919 42,860 - 64,779

Total operating expenses 1,346,076 2,695,974 561,291 4,603,341

Operating income (loss) 1,637,974 788,791 (6,353) 2,420,412

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)
Investment income 3,984 29,739 679 34,402
Interest expense (72,437) (125,108) (37,334) (234,879)

Total nonoperating revenues
(expenses) (68,453) (95,369) (36,655) (200,477)

Income before contributions and
transfers 1,569,521 693,422 (43,008) 2,219,935

Contributions and Transfers
Capital contributions 459,824 877,050 86,759 1,423,633
Transfers out (333,400) - - (333,400)

Total contributions and transfers 126,424 877,050 86,759 1,090,233

Change in net position 1,695,945 1,570,472 43,751 3,310,168

Net Position, Beginning 11,587,928 19,255,008 4,568,547 35,411,483

Net Position, Ending $ 13,283,873 $ 20,825,480 $ 4,612,298 $ 38,721,651

See notes to financial statements

12

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Statement of Cash Flows
Proprietary Funds
Year Ended December 31, 2022

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Water Utility Sewer Utility
Stormwater

Utility Total

Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Received from customers $ 2,510,289 $ 3,378,109 $ 521,033 $ 6,409,431
Paid to suppliers for goods and services (869,813) (1,294,593) (110,955) (2,275,361)
Paid to employees for services (193,395) (258,867) (230,576) (682,838)

Net cash flows from operating activities 1,447,081 1,824,649 179,502 3,451,232

Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Investment income 3,984 29,739 679 34,402

Net cash flows from investing activities 3,984 29,739 679 34,402

Cash Flows From Noncapital Financing
Activities

Paid to municipality for tax equivalent (336,744) - - (336,744)

Net cash flows from noncapital
financing activities (336,744) - - (336,744)

Cash Flows From Capital and Related
Financing Activities

Proceeds from debt issue 250,000 6,704,594 - 6,954,594
Debt retired (264,000) (121,000) (51,000) (436,000)
Interest paid (70,398) (108,280) (39,207) (217,885)
Acquisition and construction of capital

assets (1,680,603) (8,040,908) (282,087) (10,003,598)
Capital contributions received 459,824 877,050 86,759 1,423,633

Net cash flows from capital and related
financing activities (1,305,177) (688,544) (285,535) (2,279,256)

Net change in cash and cash
equivalents (190,856) 1,165,844 (105,354) 869,634

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning 1,182,015 4,107,530 595,168 5,884,713

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Ending $ 991,159 $ 5,273,374 $ 489,814 $ 6,754,347

See notes to financial statements

13

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Statement of Cash Flows
Proprietary Funds
Year Ended December 31, 2022

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Water Utility Sewer Utility
Stormwater

Utility Total

Reconciliation of Operating Income (Loss)
to Net Cash Flows From Operating
Activities

Operating income (loss) $ 1,637,974 $ 788,791 $ (6,353) $ 2,420,412
Adjustments to reconcile operating income

(loss) to net cash flows from operating
activities:

Depreciation 382,973 869,108 211,063 1,463,144
Depreciation charged to other funds 39,333 - - 39,333

Changes in assets, deferred
outflows/inflows of resources and
liabilities:

Accounts receivable (44,547) (22,749) (33,905) (101,201)
Other accounts receivable (463,710) (82,155) - (545,865)
Inventories 791 - - 791
Prepayments 397 223 (720) (100)
Accrued compensation 11,118 2,863 - 13,981
Other current liabilities - 3,802 - 3,802
Accounts payable (51,509) 286,626 - 235,117
Pension related deferrals and

assets/liabilities (61,427) (34,476) 9,417 (86,486)
OPEB related deferrals and liabilities (4,312) 12,616 - 8,304

Net cash flows from operating activities $ 1,447,081 $ 1,824,649 $ 179,502 $ 3,451,232

Reconciliation of Cash and Cash
Equivalents to the Statement of Net
Position, Proprietary Funds

Cash and investments $ 991,159 $ 4,304,295 $ 489,814 $ 5,785,268
Restricted cash and investments:

Redemption account - 108,923 - 108,923
Replacement account - 860,156 - 860,156

Cash and cash equivalents $ 991,159 $ 5,273,374 $ 489,814 $ 6,754,347

Noncash Capital and Related Financing
Activities

Amortization of premium/deferred charge on
refunding

$ 280 $ (281) $ 1,449

See notes to financial statements

14

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Statement of Fiduciary Net Position
Fiduciary Fund
December 31, 2022

Custodial
Fund

Assets
Cash and investments $ 8,858,236
Tax roll receivable 9,104,587

Total assets 17,962,823

Liabilities
Due to other taxing units 17,962,823

Total liabilities 17,962,823

Net Position

Total net position $ -

See notes to financial statements

15

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position
Fiduciary Fund
Year Ended December 31, 2022

Custodial
Fund

Additions
Property taxes collected for other governments $ 11,937,806

Total additions 11,937,806

Deductions
Property taxes distributed to other governments 11,937,806

Total deductions 11,937,806

Change in fiduciary net position -

Net Position, Beginning -

Net Position, Ending $ -

See notes to financial statements

16

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Index to Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

Page

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 18

Reporting Entity 18
Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements 19
Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting and Financial Statement Presentation 21
Assets, Deferred Outflows of Resources, Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources and

Net Position or Equity 22
Deposits and Investments 22
Receivables 24
Inventories and Prepaid Items 24
Restricted Assets 25
Capital Assets 25
Other Assets 25
Deferred Outflows of Resources 26
Compensated Absences 26
Long-Term Obligations 26
Leases 27
Deferred Inflows of Resources 27
Equity Classifications 27
Pension 28
Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions (OPEB) 28
Basis for Existing Rates 29

2. Stewardship, Compliance and Accountability 29

Budgetary Information 29
Excess Expenditures and Other Financing Uses Over Budget 29
Deficit Balances 30
Limitations on the City's Tax Levy 30

3. Detailed Notes on All Funds 30

Deposits and Investments 30
Receivables 32
Restricted Assets 33
Capital Assets 34
Interfund Receivables/Payables, Advances and Transfers 36
Long-Term Obligations 38
Lease Disclosures 42
Net Position/Fund Balances 43

4. Other Information 45

Employees' Retirement System 45
Risk Management 50
Commitments and Contingencies 51
Other Postemployment Benefits 51
Subsequent Events 59
Economic Dependency 59
Effect of New Accounting Standards on Current-Period Financial Statements 59

17

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The accounting policies of the City of Fort Atkinson, Wisconsin (the City) conform to accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America as applicable to governmental units. The accepted
standard-setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles is the
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB).

Reporting Entity

This report includes all of the funds of the City. The reporting entity for the City consists of the primary
government and its component unit. Component units are legally separate organizations for which the
primary government is financially accountable or other organizations for which the nature and
significance of their relationship with the primary government are such that their exclusion would
cause the reporting entity's financial statements to be misleading. The primary government is
financially accountable if (1) it appoints a voting majority of the organization's governing body and it is
able to impose its will on that organization, (2) it appoints a voting majority of the organization's
governing body and there is a potential for the organization to provide specific financial benefits to, or
impose specific financial burdens on, the primary government, (3) the organization is fiscally
dependent on and there is a potential for the organization to provide specific financial benefits to, or
impose specific financial burdens on, the primary government. Certain legally separate, tax exempt
organizations should also be reported as a component unit if all of the following criteria are met: (1)
the economic resources received or held by the separate organization are entirely or almost entirely
for the direct benefit of the primary government, its component units or its constituents; (2) the primary
government or its component units, is entitled to, or has the ability to access, a majority of the
economic resources received or held by the separate organization; and (3) the economic resources
received or held by an individual organization that the primary government, or its component units, is
entitled to, or has the ability to otherwise access, are significant to the primary government.

Component units are reported using one of three methods, discrete presentation, blended or fiduciary.
Generally, component units should be discretely presented in a separate column in the financial
statements. A component unit should be reported as part of the primary government using the
blending method if it meets any one of the following criteria: (1) the primary government and the
component unit have substantively the same governing body and a financial benefit or burden
relationship exists, (2) the primary government and the component unit have substantively the same
governing body and management of the primary government has operational responsibility for the
component unit, (3) the component unit serves or benefits, exclusively or almost exclusively, the
primary government rather than its citizens or (4) the total debt of the component unit will be paid
entirely or almost entirely from resources of the primary government.

Component Unit Not Presented

Fort Atkinson Historical Society

The Fort Atkinson Historical Society (Historical Society) is a legally separate organization that
qualifies as a component unit of the city. Audited financial statements of the Historical Society
are not available for the year ended December 31, 2022.

18

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements 

In June 2017, the GASB issued Statement No. 87, Leases. This Statement requires the recognition of
certain lease assets and liabilities for leases that previously were classified as operating leases and
recognized as inflows of resources or outflows of resources based on the payment provisions of the
contract. The standard establishes a single model for lease accounting based on the foundational
principle that leases are financings of the right-to-use an underlying asset. Under the Statement, a
lessee is required to recognize a lease liability and an intangible right-to-use lease asset, and a lessor
is required to recognize a lease receivable and a deferred inflow of resources, which enhances the
relevance and consistency of information about the City’s leasing activities. This standard was
implemented January 1, 2022.

Government-Wide Financial Statements

The statement of net position and statement of activities display information about the reporting
government as a whole. They include all funds of the reporting entity except for fiduciary funds.
The statements distinguish between governmental and business-type activities. Governmental
activities generally are financed through taxes, intergovernmental revenues and other
nonexchange revenues. Business-type activities are financed in whole or in part by fees charged
to external parties for goods or services. 

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given
function or segment are offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly
identifiable with a specific function or segment. The City does not allocate indirect expenses to
functions in the statement of activities. Program revenues include 1) charges to customers or
applicants who purchase, use or directly benefit from goods, services or privileges provided by a
given function or segment, and 2) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the
operational or capital requirements of a particular function or segment. Taxes and other items not
included among program revenues are reported as general revenues. Internally dedicated
resources are reported as general revenues rather than as program revenues.

Fund Financial Statements

Financial statements of the City are organized into funds, each of which is considered to be a
separate accounting entity. Each fund is accounted for by providing a separate set of self-
balancing accounts, which constitute its assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred
inflows of resources, net position/fund balance, revenues and expenditures/expenses. 

Funds are organized as major funds or nonmajor funds within the governmental and proprietary
statements. An emphasis is placed on major funds within the governmental and proprietary
categories. A fund is considered major if it is the primary operating fund of the City or meets the
following criteria:

a. Total assets/deferred outflows of resources, liabilities/deferred inflows of resources,
revenues or expenditures/expenses of that individual governmental or enterprise fund are
at least 10% of the corresponding total for all funds of that category or type, and 

b. The same element of the individual governmental or enterprise fund that met the 10% test
is at least 5% of the corresponding total for all governmental and enterprise funds
combined.

19

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

c. In addition, any other governmental or enterprise fund that the City believes is particularly
important to financial statement users may be reported as a major fund.

Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary funds and
fiduciary funds, even though the latter are excluded from the government-wide financial
statements. Major individual governmental funds and major individual enterprise funds are
reported as separate columns in the fund financial statements.

The City reports the following major governmental funds:

General Fund

General Fund accounts for the City's primary operating activities. It is used to account for and
report all financial resources except those accounted for and reported in another fund.

Special Revenue Fund

Transportation Improvements is used to account for and report transportation projects that are
legally restricted or committed to supporting expenditures for the program.

Debt Service Fund

General Debt Service is used to account for and report financial resources that are restricted,
committed or assigned to expenditure for the payment of general long-term debt principal,
interest and related costs, other than TIF district or enterprise debt.

Capital Projects Fund

Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) District No. 6 is used to account for and report financial
resources that are restricted, committed or assigned to expenditures outlined in the TIF
project plan.

Enterprise Funds

The City reports the following major enterprise funds:

Water Utility accounts for operations of the water system

Sewer Utility accounts for operations of the sewer system

Stormwater Utility accounts for operations of the stormwater system

The City reports the following nonmajor governmental funds:

Special Revenue Funds

Special Revenue Funds are used to account for and report the proceeds of specific
revenue sources that are restricted or committed to expenditures for specified purposes
(other than debt service or capital projects).

Wisconsin Development Fund Subsidized Taxi Program
Library Trust CDBG
Museum Trust Municipal Airport
EMS Capital Catalyst Grant
Lodging Room Tax ARPA
Dwight Foster Public Library

20

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

Capital Projects Funds

Capital Projects Funds are used to account for and report financial resources that are
restricted, committed or assigned to expenditure for capital outlays, including the acquisition
or construction of capital facilities and other capital assets.

TIF District No. 7 TIF District No. 8
TIF District No. 9 TIF District No. 10
Capital Improvements Projects

In addition, the City reports the following fund type:

Custodial Funds

Custodial Fund is used to account for and report assets controlled by the City and the assets
are for the benefit of individuals, private organizations and/or other governmental units.

Tax Collection

Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting and Financial Statement Presentation 

Government-Wide Financial Statements

The government-wide statement of net position and statement of activities are reported using the
economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Under the accrual
basis of accounting, revenues are recognized when earned and expenses are recorded when the
liability is incurred or economic asset used. Revenues, expenses, gains, losses, assets and
liabilities resulting from exchange and exchange-like transactions are recognized when the
exchange takes place. Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for which they are
levied. Taxes receivable for the following year are recorded as receivables and deferred inflows.
Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements
imposed by the provider are met. Special assessments are recorded as revenue when earned.
Unbilled receivables are recorded as revenues when services are provided.

As a general rule, the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide
financial statements. Exceptions to this general rule are charges between the City's utilities and
various other functions of the government. Elimination of these charges would distort the direct
costs and program revenues reported for the various functions concerned.

Fund Financial Statements 

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when
they are both measurable and available. Available means collectible within the current period or
soon enough thereafter to be used to pay liabilities of the current period. For this purpose, the City
considers revenues to be available if they are collected within 60 days of the end of the current
fiscal period. Expenditures are recorded when the related fund liability is incurred, except for
unmatured interest on long-term debt, claims, judgments, compensated absences and pension
expenditures, which are recorded as a fund liability when expected to be paid with expendable
available financial resources.

Property taxes are recorded in the year levied as receivables and deferred inflows. They are
recognized as revenues in the succeeding year when services financed by the levy are being
provided.

21

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

Intergovernmental aids and grants are recognized as revenues in the period the City is entitled to
the resources and the amounts are available. Amounts owed to the City which are not available
are recorded as receivables and unavailable revenues. Amounts received before eligibility
requirements (excluding time requirements) are met are recorded as liabilities. Amounts received
in advance of meeting time requirements are recorded as deferred inflows.

Special assessments are recorded as revenues when they become measurable and available as
current assets. Annual installments due in future years are reflected as receivables and
unavailable revenues. At December 31, 2022, there were $665,771 of unrecorded anticipated
future assessments which are not recorded as receivables because collection is subject to certain
events occurring in the future. No formal repayment schedules have been established.

Revenues susceptible to accrual include property taxes, miscellaneous taxes, public charges for
services, special assessments and interest. Other general revenues such as fines and forfeitures,
inspection fees, recreation fees and miscellaneous revenues are recognized when received in
cash or when measurable and available under the criteria described above. 

Proprietary and Fiduciary Funds

Proprietary and fiduciary fund financial statements are reported using the economic resources
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting, as described previously in this note. 

The proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items.
Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and
delivering goods in connection with a proprietary fund's principal ongoing operations. The principal
operating revenues of the water, sewer and stormwater utilities are charges to customers for sales
and services. Special assessments are recorded as receivables and contribution revenue when
levied. Operating expenses for proprietary funds include the cost of sales and services,
administrative expenses and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and expenses not
meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses.

All Financial Statements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities and deferred inflows of resources
and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenditures/expenses during the reporting period. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.

Assets, Deferred Outflows of Resources, Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources and Net
Position or Equity

Deposits and Investments

For purposes of the statement of cash flows, the City considers all highly liquid investments with
an initial maturity of three months or less when acquired to be cash equivalents.

Investment of City funds is restricted by Wisconsin state statutes. Available investments are
limited to:

a. Time deposits in any credit union, bank, savings bank or trust company. 

22

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

b. Bonds or securities of any county, city, drainage district, technical college district, village,
town or school district of the state. Also, bonds issued by a local exposition district, a local
professional baseball park district, a local professional football stadium district, a local
cultural arts district, the University of Wisconsin Hospitals and Clinics Authority or the
Wisconsin Aerospace Authority.

c. Bonds or securities issued or guaranteed by the federal government.

d. The local government investment pool.

e. Any security maturing in seven years or less and having the highest or second highest
rating category of a nationally recognized rating agency.

f. Securities of an open-end management investment company or investment trust, subject
to various conditions and investment options.

g. Repurchase agreements with public depositories, with certain conditions.

Investment of most trust funds including cemetery perpetual care funds, is regulated by
Chapter 881 of the Wisconsin Statutes. Investment of library trust funds is regulated by
Chapter 112. Those sections give broad authority to use such funds to acquire various kinds of
investments including stocks, bonds and debentures.

The City has adopted an investment policy. That policy contains the following guidelines related to
custodial credit risk:  all deposits of city funds in interest bearing time instruments shall be secured
by pledged collateral in an amount equal to at least 100% of the total investment less the amount
insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or the Federal Savings and Loan Insurance
Corporation. At December 31, 2022, the City has deposits which do not meet the previous criteria
and are uninsured and uncollateralized. See Note 3. The policy addresses credit risk by limiting
the types of securities allowable, pre-qualifying financial institutions, broker/dealers, intermediaries
and advisors with which the City will do business with and by diversifying the investment portfolio
to minimize the impact of potential losses from any one type of security or individual issuer.

Investments are stated at fair value, which is the amount at which an investment could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties. Fair values are based on methods and
inputs as outlined in Note 3. No investments are reported at amortized cost. Adjustments
necessary to record investments at fair value are recorded in the operating statement as
increases or decreases in investment income. Investment income on commingled investments of
municipal accounting funds is allocated based on average balances. The difference between the
bank statement balance and carrying value is due to outstanding checks and/or deposits in transit.

The Wisconsin Local Government Investment Pool (LGIP) is part of the State Investment Fund
(SIF) and is managed by the State of Wisconsin Investment Board. The SIF is not registered with
the Securities and Exchange Commission, but operates under the statutory authority of Wisconsin
Chapter 25. The SIF reports the fair value of its underlying assets annually. Participants in the
LGIP have the right to withdraw their funds in total on one day's notice. At December 31, 2022, the
fair value of the City 's share of the LGIP's assets was substantially equal to the amount as
reported in these statements.

See Note 3 for further information. 

23

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

Receivables  

Property taxes are levied in December on the assessed value as of the prior January 1. In addition
to property taxes for the City, taxes are collected for and remitted to the county government as
well as the local school district and technical college district. Taxes for all state and local
governmental units billed in the current year for the succeeding year are reflected as receivables
and due to other taxing units on the accompanying statement of fiduciary net position.

Property tax calendar, 2022 tax roll:

Lien date and levy date December 2022
Tax bills mailed December 2022
Payment in full, or January 31, 2023
First installment due January 31, 2023
Second installment due July 31, 2023
Personal property taxes in full January 31, 2023
Tax sale, 2022 delinquent real estate taxes October 2025

Delinquent real estate taxes as of July 31 are paid in full by the County, which assumes the
collection thereof. No provision for uncollectible accounts receivable has been made for the water
and sewer utilities because they have the right by law to place substantially all delinquent bills on
the tax roll and other delinquent bills are generally not significant. 

During the course of operations, transactions occur between individual funds that may result in
amounts owed between funds. Short-term interfund loans are reported as "due to and from other
funds." Long-term interfund loans (noncurrent portion) are reported as "advances from and to
other funds." Interfund receivables and payables between funds within governmental activities are
eliminated in the statement of net position. Any residual balances outstanding between the
governmental activities and business-type activities are reported in the governmental-wide
financial statements as internal balances.

In the governmental fund financial statements, advances to other funds are offset equally by a
nonspendable fund balance account which indicates that they do not constitute expendable
available financial resources and, therefore, are not available for appropriation or by a restricted
fund balance account, if the funds will ultimately be restricted when the advance is repaid.

It is the City's policy to record revenue when the initial loan is made from grant funds. The net
amount of the loan receivable balance is included in fund balance. Interest received from loan
repayments is recognized as revenue when received in cash. Loans in the City's Wisconsin
Development Fund have been defederalized. As a result, any unspent loan repayments at year
end are presented as assigned fund balance in the fund financial statements.

Inventories and Prepaid Items  

Governmental fund inventories, if material, are recorded at cost based on the FIFO method using
the purchases method of accounting. Proprietary fund inventories are generally used for
construction and/or for operation and maintenance work. They are not for resale. They are valued
at cost based on FIFO and charged to construction and/or operation and maintenance expense
when used.

Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are
recorded as prepaid items in both government-wide and fund financial statements. The cost of
prepaid items is recorded as expenditures/expenses when consumed rather than when
purchased.

24

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

Restricted Assets  

Mandatory segregations of assets are presented as restricted assets. Such segregations are
required by bond agreements and other external parties. Current liabilities payable from these
restricted assets are so classified. The excess of restricted assets over current liabilities payable
from restricted assets will be used first for retirement of related long-term debt. The remainder, if
generated from earnings, is shown as restricted net position.

Capital Assets  

Government-Wide Financial Statements

Capital assets, which include property, plant and equipment, are reported in the government-
wide financial statements. Capital assets are defined by the government as assets with an
initial cost of more than $10,000 for general capital assets and $25,000 for infrastructure
assets and an estimated useful life in excess of one year. All capital assets are valued at
historical cost or estimated historical cost if actual amounts are unavailable. Donated capital
assets are recorded at their estimated acquisition value at the date of donation. 

Additions to and replacements of capital assets of business-type activities are recorded at
original cost, which includes material, labor and overhead. The cost of renewals and
betterments relating to retirement units is added to plant accounts. The cost of property
replaced, retired or otherwise disposed of, is deducted from plant accounts and, generally,
together with removal costs less salvage, is charged to accumulated depreciation.

Depreciation of all exhaustible capital assets is recorded as an allocated expense in the
statement of activities, with accumulated depreciation reflected in the statement of net
position. Depreciation is provided over the assets' estimated useful lives using the straight-line
method. The range of estimated useful lives by type of asset is as follows:

Buildings 10-40 Years
Land Improvements 10-20 Years
Machinery and Equipment 4-25 Years
Utility Systems 15-85 Years
Infrastructure 50-75 Years

Fund Financial Statements

In the fund financial statements, capital assets used in governmental fund operations are
accounted for as capital outlay expenditures of the governmental fund upon acquisition.
Capital assets used in proprietary fund operations are accounted for the same way as in the
government-wide statements.

Other Assets  

The general fund is reporting assets held for resale in the amount of $818,210. These assets are
valued at the lower of cost or market value and are intended to be used for future development of
the City.

25

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

Deferred Outflows of Resources 

A deferred outflow of resources represents a consumption of net position/fund balance that
applies to a future period and will not be recognized as an outflow of resources
(expense/expenditure) until that future time.

A deferred charge on refunding arises from the advance refunding of debt. The difference
between the cost of the securities placed in trust for future payments of the refunded debt and the
net carrying value of that debt is deferred and amortized as a component of interest expense over
the shorter of the term of the refunding issue or the original term of the refunded debt. The
unamortized amount is reported as a deferred outflow of resources in the government-wide and
proprietary fund financial statements.

Compensated Absences  

Under terms of employment, employees are granted sick leave and vacations in varying amounts.
Only benefits considered to be vested are disclosed in these statements. 

All vested vacation and sick leave pay is accrued when incurred in the government-wide and
proprietary fund financial statements. A liability for these amounts is reported in governmental
funds only if they have matured, for example, as a result of employee resignations and
retirements, and are payable with expendable resources. 

The City provides postemployment health insurance benefits for all eligible employees. Eligibility is
based on various criteria. The benefits are based on contractual agreements with employee
groups, local ordinances or employee benefit policies. Employees may convert a portion of
accumulated sick leave to pay for health care premiums. The cost of those premiums is
recognized as an expenditure as the premiums are paid. The entire cost is paid by the City.
Funding for those costs is provided out of the current operating budget of the City. The
contributions are financed on a pay as you go basis. Total expenditures for such premiums during
the year were $93,456. The number of participants eligible to receive benefits as of December 31,
2022 is 8. The total amount outstanding at year end to be paid in the future is $114,089 and is
included in the government-wide statement of net position. 

Payments for vacation and sick leave will be made at rates in effect when the benefits are used.
Accumulated vacation and sick leave liabilities at December 31, 2022, are determined on the
basis of current salary rates and include salary related payments.

Long-Term Obligations   

All long-term obligations to be repaid from governmental and business-type resources are
reported as liabilities in the government-wide statements. The long-term obligations consist
primarily of notes and bonds payable and accrued compensated absences.

Long-term obligations for governmental funds are not reported as liabilities in the fund financial
statements. The face value of debts (plus any premiums) are reported as other financing sources
and payments of principal and interest are reported as expenditures. The accounting in
proprietary funds is the same as it is in the government-wide statements.

For the government-wide statements and proprietary fund statements, bond premiums and
discounts are amortized over the life of the issue using the straight-line method. The balance at
year end is shown as an increase or decrease in the liability section of the statement of net
position.

26

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

Leases

The City is a lessor because it leases capital assets to other entities. As a lessor, the City reports
a lease receivable and corresponding deferred inflow of resources in both the fund financial
statements and government-wide financial statements. The City continues to report and
depreciate the capital assets being leased as capital assets of the primary government. 

Deferred Inflows of Resources  

A deferred inflow of resources represents an acquisition of net position/fund balance that applies
to a future period and therefore will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until
that future time.

Equity Classifications  

Government-Wide Statements

Equity is classified as net position and displayed in three components:

a. Net Investment in Capital Assets - Consists of capital assets including restricted
capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation and reduced by the outstanding
balances (excluding unspent debt proceeds) of any bonds, mortgages, notes or other
borrowings that are attributable to the acquisition, construction or improvement of
those assets.

b. Restricted Net Position - Consists of net position with constraints placed on their
use either by 1) external groups such as creditors, grantors, contributors or laws or
regulations of other governments or, 2) law through constitutional provisions or
enabling legislation.

c. Unrestricted Net Position - All other net positions that do not meet the definitions of
"restricted" or "net investment in capital assets."

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the City's policy to
use restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources as they are needed.

Fund Statements

Governmental fund balances are displayed as follows:

a. Nonspendable - Includes fund balance amounts that cannot be spent either because
they are not in spendable form or because legal or contractual requirements require
them to be maintained intact.

b. Restricted - Consists of fund balances with constraints placed on their use either by
1) external groups such as creditors, grantors, contributors or laws or regulations of
other governments or 2) law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.

c. Committed - Includes fund balance amounts that are constrained for specific
purposes that are internally imposed by the government through formal action of the
highest level of decision making authority. Fund balance amounts are committed
through a formal action (resolution) of the City Council. This formal action must occur
prior to the end of the reporting period, but the amount of the commitment, which will
be subject to the constraints, may be determined in the subsequent period. Any
changes to the constraints imposed require the same formal action of the City Council
that originally created the commitment.

27

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

d. Assigned - Includes spendable fund balance amounts that are intended to be used
for specific purposes that do not meet the criteria to be classified as restricted or
committed. The City Council has, by resolution, adopted a financial policy authorizing
the Council to assign amounts for a specific purpose. Assignments may take place
after the end of the reporting period.

e. Unassigned - Includes residual positive fund balance within the general fund which
has not been classified within the other above mentioned categories. Unassigned
fund balance may also include negative balances for any governmental fund if
expenditures exceed amounts restricted, committed or assigned for those purposes.

Proprietary fund equity is classified the same as in the government-wide statements.

The City has a formal minimum fund balance policy. That policy is to maintain unassigned
general fund balance at a minimum of 15 - 30% of budgeted general fund expenditures. The
unassigned general fund balance at year end was $3,513,540 or 40% of the budgeted general
fund expenditures in 2022.

See Note 3 for further information.

Pension  

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability (asset), deferred outflows of resources and
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions and pension expense, information about the
fiduciary net position of the Wisconsin Retirement System (WRS) and additions to/deductions
from WRS' fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by
WRS. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are
recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported
at fair value.

Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions (OPEB)  

For purposes of measuring the total OPEB liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred
inflows of resources related to OPEB and OPEB expense, information has been determined on
the same basis as reported by the City OPEB Plan. For this purpose, the City OPEB Plan
recognizes benefit payments when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. 

The fiduciary net position of the Local Retiree Life Insurance Fund (LRLIF) has been determined
using the flow of economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting.
This includes for purposes of measuring the net OPEB liability, deferred outflows of resources and
deferred inflows of resources related to other post-employment benefits, OPEB expense and
information about the fiduciary net position of the LRLIF and additions to/deductions from LRLIFs
fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by LRLIF. For
this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when
due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value.

28

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

Basis for Existing Rates  

Water Utility

Current water rates were approved by the Public Service Commission of Wisconsin and
placed into effect by the utility on October 1, 2021.

Sewer Utility

Current sewer rates, which include increases for the years 2021 through 2023, were approved
by the city council to be effective as of January 1, 2021.

Stormwater Utility

Current stormwater rates were approved by the city council to be effective as of
January 1, 2021.

2. Stewardship, Compliance and Accountability  

Budgetary Information

A budget has been adopted for the general fund, transportation improvement, general debt service,
TIF District No. 6, TIF District No. 7, TIF District No. 8, EMS, Lodging Room Tax, Dwight Foster Public
Library, Subsidized Taxi Program, Municipal Airport, CDBG, Capital Catalyst Grant, ARPA and Capital
Improvements Project. A budget has not been formally adopted for Wisconsin Development Fund,
Library Trust, Museum Trust, and TIF Districts No. 9 and 10. Wisconsin Statute 65.90 requires that an
annual budget be adopted for all funds.

Excess Expenditures and Other Financing Uses Over Budget  

Funds

Budgeted
Expenditures

and Other
Financing Uses

Actual
Expenditures

and Other
Financing Uses

Excess
Expenditures

and Other
Financing Uses

Over Budget

General Debt Service $ 1,097,581 $ 3,194,720 $ 2,097,139
TIF District No. 6 390,161 562,099 171,938
EMS 30,000 505,082 475,082
Subsidized Taxi Program - 164,356 164,356
Municipal Airport 96,200 123,391 27,191
TIF District No. 7 456,594 469,019 12,425
Capital Improvements Project 498,904 587,814 88,910
Capital Catalyst Grant - 1,175 1,175
ARPA - 248,441 248,441

The City controls expenditures at the department level. Some individual departments experienced
expenditures which exceeded appropriations. The detail of those items can be found in the City's year-
end budget to actual report.

29

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

Deficit Balances  

Generally accepted accounting principles require disclosure of individual funds that have deficit
balances at year end.

As of December 31, 2022, the following individual funds held a deficit balance:

Fund Amount Reason

EMS $ 200,678 Timing difference in funding source
TIF District No. 6 1,551,824 Timing difference in funding source
TIF District No. 9 9,193 Timing difference in funding source
TIF District No. 10 8,750 Timing difference in funding source

TIF district deficits are anticipated to be funded with future incremental taxes levied over the life of the
districts, which is 27 years for the districts created before October 1, 1995, and 23 years for districts
created thereafter through September 30, 2004. Beginning October 1, 2004, the life of new districts
varies by type of district (20-27 years) and may be extended in some cases. TIF District No. 6 has
been designated as distressed and can collect increment for an additional 10 years past the original
life. The EMS deficit is anticipated to be funded with future user charges.

Limitations on the City'S Tax Levy  

Wisconsin law limits the City's future tax levies. Generally the City is limited to its prior tax levy dollar
amount (excluding TIF Districts), increased by the greater of the percentage change in the City's
equalized value due to net new construction or zero percent. Changes in debt service from one year
to the next are generally exempt from this limit with certain exceptions. The City is required to reduce
its allowable levy by the estimated amount of fee revenue it collects for certain services, if those
services were funded in 2013 by the property tax levy. Levies can be increased above the allowable
limits if the amount is approved by referendum.

3. Detailed Notes on All Funds 

Deposits and Investments 

The City's deposits and investments at year end were comprised of the following:

Carrying
Value

Bank and
Investment
Balances Associated Risks

Deposits $ 15,196,604 $ 15,535,468 Custodial credit
Mutual funds, bonds 506,804 506,804 Credit, interest rate
Mutual funds, other 1,052,559 1,052,559 N/A
LGIP 6,286,391 6,286,391 Credit

Certificates of deposit (negotiable) 1,957,137 1,958,694

Credit, custodial credit,
interest rate,
concentration of credit

US Treasuries 999,458 1,003,814 Custodial, interest rate
Petty cash 600 - N/A

Total deposits and investments $ 25,999,553 $ 26,343,730

30

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

Reconciliation to financial statements

Per statement of net position:
Unrestricted cash and investments $ 16,172,238
Restricted cash and investments 969,079

Per statement of net position, fiduciary
fund:

Custodial fund 8,858,236

Total deposits and investments $ 25,999,553

Deposits in each local and area bank are insured by the FDIC in the amount of $250,000 for time and
savings accounts (including NOW accounts) and $250,000 for demand deposit accounts (interest-
bearing and noninterest-bearing). In addition, if deposits are held in an institution outside of the state
in which the government is located, insured amounts are further limited to a total of $250,000 for the
combined amount of all deposit accounts.

Bank accounts are also insured by the State Deposit Guarantee Fund in the amount of $400,000.
However, due to the nature of this fund, recovery of material principal losses may not be significant to
individual municipalities. This coverage has been considered in computing custodial credit risk.

The City maintains collateral agreements with its banks. At December 31, 2022, the banks had
pledged various government securities in the amount of $2,524,408 to secure the City's deposits.

The City categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by
generally accepted accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to
measure the fair value of the asset. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical
assets; Level 2 inputs are significant other observable inputs; Level 3 inputs are significant
unobservable inputs. 

The valuation methods for recurring fair value measurements are as follows:

 Market approach, prices or other information from market transactions involving identical

assets

 Market approach, prices or other information from market transactions involving similar assets

- used for negotiable certificates of deposit

December 31, 2022
Investment Type Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Mutual funds, bonds $ 506,804 $ - $ - $ 506,804
Mutual funds, other 1,052,559 - - 1,052,559
US Treasuries 999,458 - - 999,458
Certificates of deposit (negotiable) 1,957,137 - - 1,957,137

Total $ 4,515,958 $ - $ - $ 4,515,958

Custodial Credit Risk 

Deposits

Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a financial institution failure, the City's
deposits may not be returned to the City.

31

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

As of December 31, 2022, $13,474,442 of the City's total bank balances were exposed to
custodial credit risk as follows:

Uninsured and uncollateralized $ 13,474,442

Total $ 13,474,442

Credit Risk 

Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its
obligations.

As of December 31, 2022, the City's investments were rated as follows:

Investment Type
Standard
& Poors

Mutual funds, bonds AA-, BBB
Certificates of deposit (negotiable) Not rated

The City also held investments in the following external pool which is not rated:

Local Government Investment Pool (LGIP)

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the value of an
investment.

As of December 31, 2022, the City's investments were as follows:

Maturity (In Years)
Investment Type Fair Value Less than 1 1-5 Greater Than 5

Mutual funds, bonds $ 506,804 $ - $ 249,331 $ 257,473
US Treasuries 999,458 999,458 - -
Certificates of deposit 1,957,137 486,457 1,470,680 -

Total $ 3,463,399 $ 1,485,915 $ 1,720,011 $ 257,473

See Note 1 for further information on deposit and investment policies.

Receivables  

Receivables are expected to be collected within one year except for delinquent personal property
taxes and leases reported in the general fund and loan balances reported in the nonmajor funds.

32

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

Governmental funds report unavailable or unearned revenue in connection with receivables for
revenues that are not considered to be available to liquidate liabilities of the current period. Property
taxes levied for the subsequent year are not earned and cannot be used to liquidate liabilities of the
current period. Governmental funds also defer revenue recognition in connection with resources that
have been received, but not yet earned. At the end of the current fiscal year, the various components
of unavailable revenue and unearned revenue reported in the governmental funds were as follows:

Unearned Unavailable

Property taxes receivable for subsequent year $ 10,380,730 $ -
Reimbursement grants not received - 911,995
Grant funds not spent 1,002,551 -
Lease payments not yet due 397,087 -

Total unearned/unavailable revenue for governmental
funds $ 11,780,368 $ 911,995

Unearned revenue included in liabilities $ 1,002,551

Unearned revenue included in deferred inflows 10,777,817

Total unearned revenue for governmental funds $ 11,780,368

Restricted Assets  

The following represent the balances of the restricted assets:

Long-Term Debt Accounts

Redemption - Used to segregate resources accumulated for debt service payments over the next
twelve months.

Equipment Replacement Account

The sewer utility established an equipment replacement account to be used for significant
mechanical equipment replacement as required by the Wisconsin Department of Natural
Resources.

Net Pension Asset

Restricted assets have been reported in connection with the net pension asset balance since this
balance must be used to fund employee benefits.

Following is a list of restricted assets at December 31, 2022: 

Restricted
Assets

Liabilities
Payable from

Restricted
Assets

Restricted Net
Position

Redemption account $ 108,923 $ 27,712 $ 81,211
Equipment replacement account 969,079 - 969,079
Net pension asset 3,178,520 - 3,178,520

Total $ 4,256,522 $ 27,712 $ 4,228,810

33

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

Capital Assets  

Capital asset activity for the year ended December 31, 2022, was as follows:

Beginning
Balance Additions Deletions

Ending
Balance

Governmental Activities
Capital assets not being depreciated:

Land $ 5,208,016 $ 669,299 $ - $ 5,877,315

Total capital assets not being
depreciated 5,208,016 669,299 - 5,877,315

Capital assets being depreciated:
Land improvements 3,404,813 - - 3,404,813
Buildings 21,222,748 - - 21,222,748
Machinery and equipment 10,475,419 798,732 - 11,274,151
Infrastructure 22,504,470 983,374 157,629 23,330,215

Total capital assets being depreciated 57,607,450 1,782,106 157,629 59,231,927

Total capital assets 62,815,466 2,451,405 157,629 65,109,242

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Land improvements (1,346,062) (105,916) - (1,451,978)
Buildings (9,849,013) (802,277) - (10,651,290)
Machinery and equipment (8,184,600) (416,329) - (8,600,929)
Infrastructure (10,033,648) (364,924) 157,629 (10,240,943)

Total accumulated depreciation (29,413,323) (1,689,446) 157,629 (30,945,140)

Net capital assets being depreciated 28,194,127 92,660 - 28,286,787

Total governmental activities capital
assets, net of accumulated depreciation $ 33,402,143 $ 761,959 $ - $ 34,164,102

Depreciation expense was charged to functions as follows: 

Governmental Activities
General government $ 63,611
Public safety 629,828
Public works 504,595
Culture, recreation and education 452,316
Conservation and development 39,096

Total governmental activities depreciation expense $ 1,689,446

34

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

Business-Type Activities

Beginning
Balance Additions Deletions

Ending
Balance

Water
Capital assets not being depreciated:

Land and land rights $ 69,046 $ - $ - $ 69,046
Completed construction not classified 118,275 - 118,275 -

Total capital assets not being
depreciated 187,321 - 118,275 69,046

Capital assets being depreciated:
Source of supply 159,505 - - 159,505
Pumping 1,208,424 - - 1,208,424
Treatment 75,288 - - 75,288
Transmission and distribution 15,520,705 1,832,083 362,107 16,990,681
Administrative and general assets 1,734,706 16,378 - 1,751,084

Total capital assets being depreciated 18,698,628 1,848,461 362,107 20,184,982

Total capital assets 18,885,949 1,848,461 480,382 20,254,028

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Source of supply (157,325) (2,181) - (159,506)
Pumping (788,009) (27,276) - (815,285)
Treatment (75,288) - - (75,288)
Transmission and distribution (4,284,281) (319,490) 362,107 (4,241,664)
Administrative and general assets (1,083,312) (73,359) - (1,156,671)

Total accumulated depreciation (6,388,215) (422,306) 362,107 (6,448,414)

Net capital assets being depreciated 12,310,413 1,426,155 - 13,736,568

Net water capital assets $ 12,497,734 $ 1,426,155 $ 118,275 $ 13,805,614

Beginning
Balance Additions Deletions

Ending
Balance

Sewer
Capital assets not being depreciated:

Land and land rights $ 295,079 $ - $ - $ 295,079
Construction in progress 5,110,227 7,824,211 - 12,934,438
Completed construction not classified 1,509,484 - 1,509,484 -

Total capital assets not being
depreciated 6,914,790 7,824,211 1,509,484 13,229,517

Capital assets being depreciated:
Collection system 12,877,866 302,995 54,084 13,126,777
Collection system pumping 596,255 - - 596,255
Treatment and disposal 19,839,373 1,480,117 307,121 21,012,369
Administrative and general assets 1,670,992 20,091 - 1,691,083

Total capital assets being depreciated 34,984,486 1,803,203 361,205 36,426,484

Total capital assets 41,899,276 9,627,414 1,870,689 49,656,001

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Sewer plant (21,955,042) (870,201) 362,298 (22,462,945)

Total accumulated depreciation (21,955,042) (870,201) 362,298 (22,462,945)

Net capital assets being depreciated 13,029,444 933,002 (1,093) 13,963,539

Net sewer capital assets $ 19,944,234 $ 8,757,213 $ 1,508,391 $ 27,193,056

35

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

Beginning
Balance Additions Deletions

Ending
Balance

Stormwater
Capital assets not being depreciated:

Construction in progress $ 33,145 $ - $ 33,145 $ -

Total capital assets not being
depreciated 33,145 - 33,145 -

Capital assets being depreciated:
Stormwater assets 9,457,690 328,327 57,124 9,728,893

Total capital assets being depreciated 9,457,690 328,327 57,124 9,728,893

Total capital assets 9,490,835 328,327 90,269 9,728,893

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Stormwater assets (4,401,962) (211,063) 57,124 (4,555,901)

Total accumulated depreciation (4,401,962) (211,063) 57,124 (4,555,901)

Net capital assets being depreciated 5,055,728 117,264 - 5,172,992

Net stormwater capital assets $ 5,088,873 $ 117,264 $ 33,145 $ 5,172,992

Business-type capital assets, net of
accumulated depreciation $ 37,530,841 $ 10,300,632 $ 1,659,811 $ 46,171,662

Depreciation expense was charged to functions as follows:

Business-Type Activities
Water $ 382,973
Sewer 869,108
Stormwater 211,063

Total business-type activities depreciation expense $ 1,463,144

Depreciation expense may be different from business-type activity accumulated depreciation additions
because of joint metering, salvage, cost of removal, internal allocations or costs associated with the
disposal of assets.

Interfund Receivables/Payables, Advances and Transfers   

Interfund Receivables/Payables

The following is a schedule of interfund receivables and payables including any overdrafts on
pooled cash and investment accounts:

Receivable Fund Payable Fund Amount

General fund Water utility $ 333,400

Total, fund financial statements $ 333,400

All amounts are due within one year.

All interfund balances resulted from the time lag between the dates that (1) interfund goods and
services are provided or reimbursable expenditures occur, (2) transactions are recorded in the
accounting system and (3) payments between funds are made.

36

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

Advances

The general fund is advancing funds to TIF District Nos. 6, 9 and 10, and the subsidized taxi
program. The amount advanced is determined by the deficiency of revenues over expenditures
and other financing sources since the district's inception. No repayment schedules have been
established and no interest is being charged.

The following is a schedule of interfund advances:

Receivable Fund Payable Fund Amount

Amount Not
Due Within
One Year

General fund TIF District No. 6 $ 1,832,315 $ 1,832,315
General fund TIF District No. 9 9,193 9,193
General fund TIF District No. 10 8,750 8,750
General fund Subsidized Taxi Program 49,274 49,274

Total, fund financial statements 1,899,532

Less fund eliminations (1,899,532)

Total, interfund advances $ -

Transfers

The following is a schedule of interfund transfers:

Fund Transferred To Fund Transferred From Amount Principal Purpose

General fund Water utility $ 333,400 Tax equivalent
TIF District No. 6 TIF District No. 7 208,265 TIF increment sharing
TIF District No. 6 TIF District No. 8 274,000 TIF increment sharing

General Fund ARPA 59,935
Reimburse for qualified

expenses

EMS ARPA 122,362
Reimburse for qualified

expenses
Capital improvements

project ARPA 66,144
Reimburse for qualified

expenses
Capital improvements

project General fund 85,355

Total, fund financial statements 1,149,461

Less fund eliminations (816,061)

Total transfers, government-wide statement of
activities $ 333,400

Generally, transfers are used to (1) move revenues from the fund that collects them to the fund
that the budget requires to expend them, (2) move receipts restricted to debt service from the
funds collecting the receipts to the debt service fund and (3) use unrestricted revenues collected
in the general fund to finance various programs accounted for in other funds in accordance with
budgetary authorizations.

37

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

Long-Term Obligations  

Long-term obligations activity for the year ended December 31, 2022, was as follows:

Beginning
Balance Increases Decreases

Ending
Balance

Amounts Due
Within One

Year

Governmental Activities
Bonds and notes payable:

General obligation debt $ 10,364,000 $ 2,025,000 $ 992,000 $ 11,397,000 $ 1,338,000
General obligation notes from direct

borrowings and direct placements 2,051,623 - 533,923 1,517,700 245,100
Note anticipation note - 2,025,000 2,025,000 - -

Total bonds and notes payable 12,415,623 4,050,000 3,550,923 12,914,700 1,583,100

Other liabilities:
Vested compensated absences 694,047 104,903 250,456 548,494 128,026

Total other liabilities 694,047 104,903 250,456 548,494 128,026

Total governmental activities long-
term liabilities $ 13,109,670 $ 4,154,903 $ 3,801,379 $ 13,463,194 $ 1,711,126

Business-Type Activities
Bonds and notes payable:

General obligation debt $ 3,880,000 $ 250,000 $ 436,000 $ 3,694,000 $ 456,000
Revenue bonds 4,044,433 6,704,595 - 10,749,028 490,538
Note anticipation note - 250,000 250,000 - -
(Discounts)/Premiums 76,694 - 12,666 64,028 -

Vested compensated absences 8,001,127 7,204,595 698,666 14,507,056 946,538

Other liabilities:
Vested compensated absences 111,326 51,362 33,580 129,108 35,523

Total other liabilities 111,326 51,362 33,580 129,108 35,523

Total business-type activities long-
term liabilities $ 8,112,453 $ 7,255,957 $ 732,246 $ 14,636,164 $ 982,061

In accordance with Wisconsin Statutes, total general obligation indebtedness of the City may not
exceed 5% of the equalized value of taxable property within the City's jurisdiction. The debt limit as of
December 31, 2022, was $62,896,825. Total general obligation debt outstanding at year end was
$16,608,700. 

38

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

General Obligation Debt 

All general obligation debt payable is backed by the full faith and credit of the City. Debt in the
governmental funds will be retired by future property tax levies or tax increments accumulated by
the debt service fund. Business-type activities debt is payable by revenues from user fees of those
funds or, if the revenues are not sufficient, by future tax levies.

Governmental Activities

General Obligation Debt
Date of
Issue

Final
Maturity

Interest
Rates

Original
Indebtedness

Balance
December
31, 2022

G.O. refunding bonds 05/22/12 02/01/23 2.00-3.00% $ 5,750,000 $ 590,000
G.O. refunding bonds 05/26/15 02/01/27 1.50-3.00 990,000 200,000
Promissory note* 11/15/16 03/01/23 1.25 373,000 53,200
Promissory note* 06/27/17 03/01/27 2.08 394,000 197,000
G.O. corporate purpose

bonds 06/26/18 02/01/38 3.0-4.0 1,580,000 1,260,000
G.O. refunding bonds 11/18/19 08/01/39 3.0 6,985,000 6,485,000
Promissory note* 12/20/19 09/01/29 2.75 950,000 660,000
G.O refunding bonds 02/22/21 02/01/35 1.79 894,000 837,000
Promissory note* 08/23/21 05/01/31 1.55 675,000 607,500
G.O refunding bonds 05/24/22 02/01/42 3.10-5.00 2,025,000 2,025,000

Total governmental activities, general obligation debt $ 12,914,700

Business-Type Activities

General Obligation Debt
Date of
Issue

Final
Maturity

Interest
Rates

Original
Indebtedness

Balance
December
31, 2022

G.O. refunding bonds 05/22/12 02/01/23 2.00-3.00% $ 1,875,000 $ 175,000
G.O. refunding bonds 05/26/15 02/01/27 1.50-3.00 2,055,000 875,000
G.O. corporate purpose

bonds 06/26/18 02/01/38 3.0-4.0 2,635,000 2,225,000
G.O. refunding bonds 02/22/21 02/01/35 1.79 180,000 169,000
G.O. refunding bonds 05/24/22 02/01/42 3.1-5.00 250,000 250,000

Total business-type activities, general obligation debt $ 3,694,000

* Debt issue is a direct borrowing or direct placement

Debt service requirements to maturity are as follows:

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities
General Obligation Debt General Obligation Debt

Years Principal Interest Principal Interest

2023 $ 1,338,000 $ 364,648 $ 456,000 $ 109,844
2024 1,009,000 307,994 302,000 96,635
2025 640,000 276,929 312,000 87,206
2026 761,000 250,746 317,000 77,104
2027 817,000 221,470 328,000 66,905
2028-2032 3,626,000 739,981 797,000 252,853
2033-2037 2,251,000 308,578 922,000 120,532
2038-2042 955,000 39,566 260,000 10,410

Total $ 11,397,000 $ 2,509,912 $ 3,694,000 $ 821,489

39

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

Governmental Activities
Notes from Direct Borrowings

and Direct Placements

Years Principal Interest

2023 $ 245,100 $ 30,062
2024 196,900 25,464
2025 196,900 21,065
2026 201,900 16,629
2027 201,900 12,125
2028-2031 475,000 14,188

Total $ 1,517,700 $ 119,533

The City's outstanding debt from direct borrowings and/or direct placements related to
governmental contain event of default and/or termination provisions with possible finance-related
consequences. The 2021 promissory notes contain provisions that include a 5% delinquency
penalty and interest rate adjustments to 12% until any delinquent balances are paid. All other
direct borrowings of the City contain terms that in the event of default, the unpaid balance shall
automatically mature and become immediately due and payable. 

Revenue Debt

Business-type activities revenue bonds are payable only from revenues derived from the
operation of the sewer utility. 

The sewer utility has pledged future sewer revenues, net of specified operating expenses, to
repay revenue bonds issued in 2021. Proceeds from the bonds provided financing for the sewer
system upgrades. The bonds are payable solely from sewer revenues and are payable through
2041. Annual principal and interest payments on the bonds are expected to require 39% of net
revenues. The total principal and interest remaining to be paid on the bonds is $12,415,886.
Principal and interest paid for the current year and total customer net revenues were $93,805 and
$1,687,638, respectively.

Revenue debt payable at December 31, 2022, consists of the following:

Business-Type Activities Revenue Debt

Date of
Issue

Final
Maturity

Interest
Rates

Original
Indebtedness

Balance
December
31, 2022

Sewer Utility

2021 Clean Water Fund Loan 07/28/2021 05/01/2041 1.557% $ 10,749,028 $ 10,749,028 (1)

Total business-type activities, revenue debt $ 10,749,028

The City's outstanding revenue debt from direct borrowings and/or direct placements related
to business type activities contain event of default and/or termination provisions with possible
finance-related consequences. The 2021 Clean Water Fund Loan contains terms that in the
event of default, any delinquent amounts may be deducted from any state payments that are
due to the municipality.

(1) - During 2021 the utility was authorized to issue $14,125,508 of Sewerage system Clean Water
Fund revenue bonds. The original amount reported above has been issued as of 
December 31, 2022. The repayment schedule is for the amount issued.

40

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

Business-Type Activities
Revenue Debt  from Direct

Borrowings and Direct
Placements

Years Principal Interest

2023 $ 490,538 $ 162,999
2024 498,176 155,846
2025 505,933 148,029
2026 513,810 140,091
2027 521,810 132,028
2028-2032 2,733,478 534,745
2033-2037 2,953,010 313,504
2038-2042 2,532,273 79,616

Total $ 10,749,028 $ 1,666,858

Other Debt Information  

Estimated payments of compensated absences are not included in the debt service requirement
schedules. The compensated absences liability attributable to governmental activities will be
liquidated primarily by the general fund. 

Current Refunding

On May 24, 2022, the City issued $2,275,000 in general obligation bonds with an average coupon
rate of 3.66% to refund $2,275,000 of outstanding note anticipation notes with an average coupon
rate of 0.97%. The net proceeds along with existing funds of the City were used to prepay the
outstanding debt.

The cash flow requirements on the refunded debt prior to the current refunding was $2,297,067
from 2022 through 2023. The cash flow requirements on the 2022 refunding bonds are
$2,859,524 from 2022 through 2042. The economic gain or loss on the issuance has not been
determined. The City obtained interim financing through the note anticipation note and planned to
refinance to allow for repayment over a longer period of time.

Bond Covenant Disclosures

Insurance

The utility is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts, theft of, damage to or destruction
of assets, errors and omissions, workers compensation and health care of its employees.
These risks are covered through the purchase of commercial insurance, with minimal
deductibles. Settled claims have not exceeded coverage in any of the last three years. There
were no significant reductions in coverage compared to the prior year.

41

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

Debt Coverage 

Under terms of the resolutions providing for the issue of revenue bonds, revenues less
operating expenses excluding depreciation (defined net earnings) must exceed 1.1 times the
highest annual debt service of the bonds. The coverage only includes revenue debt and does
not include general obligation or other debt. The coverage requirement was met in 2022 as
follows: 

Operating revenues $ 3,484,765
Investment income 29,739
Less operation and maintenance expenses (1,826,866)

Net defined earnings $ 1,687,638

Minimum required earnings per resolution:
Highest annual debt service 2021 CWF bonds $ 654,022

Coverage factor 1.10

Minimum required earnings $ 719,424

Actual Debt Coverage 2.58

 Lease Disclosures 

Lessor - Lease Receivables

Governmental Activities

Lease Receivables Description
Date of

Inception
Final

Maturity Interest Rates

Receivable
Balance

December
31, 2022

US Cellular, ground lease 11/11/22 10/26/52 2.01% $ 397,087

Total governmental activities $ 397,087

The City recognized $584 of lease revenue during the fiscal year.

The City recognized $2,016 of interest revenue during the fiscal year.

Regulated Leases

The City maintains certain regulated leases related to the municipal airport that, in accordance
with GASB No. 87, do not recognize a lease receivable or a deferred inflow of resources.
Regulated leases are subject to external laws, regulations or legal rulings. Hanger rent revenues
for the year of $10,113 were recognized in the municipal airport fund.

42

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

Net Position/Fund Balances 

Net position reported on the government-wide statement of net position at December 31, 2022,
includes the following:

Governmental Activities

Net investment in capital assets:
Land $ 5,877,315
Other capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 28,286,787
Less long-term debt outstanding (12,914,700)
Plus unspent capital related debt proceeds 110,220
Plus unspent proceeds of capital-related debt included above 1,319,000

Total net investment in capital assets $ 22,678,622

43

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

Governmental Funds

Governmental fund balances reported on the fund financial statements at December 31, 2022,
include the following:

General
Fund

Transportation
Improvements

General Debt
Service

TIF District
No. 6

Nonmajor
Funds Total

Fund Balances

Nonspendable:
Prepaid items $ 171,295 $ - $ - $ - $ 13,219 $ 184,514
Land held for resale 818,210 - - - - 818,210
Delinquent personal

property taxes 72 - - - - 72
Advances to other

funds 1,899,532 - - - - 1,899,532

Subtotal 2,889,109 - - - 13,219 2,902,328

Restricted for:
Library purposes - - - - 745,573 745,573
Museum purposes - - - - 879,711 879,711
Capital equipment 235,000 - - - - 235,000
Debt service - - 4,392 - - 4,392
TIF purposes - - - - 850,128 850,128
Tourism - - - - 104,179 104,179
Grant purposes - - - - 610,148 610,148
Capital outlay

(unspent debt) - 160,000 - - 924,000 1,084,000

Subtotal 235,000 160,000 4,392 - 4,113,739 4,513,131

Committed to:
Transportation

improvements - 547,452 - - - 547,452

Subtotal - 547,452 - - - 547,452

Assigned to:
PILOT from utility 333,400 - - - - 333,400
Deposits 6,400 - - - - 6,400
Land purchases 28,707 - - - - 28,707
Carryovers to 2023 153,141 - - - - 153,141
Fire equipment

replacement 166,217 - - - - 166,217
Subsequent year's

budget 207,733 - - - - 207,733
Municipal airport - - - - 56,765 56,765
Loan programs - - - - 517,265 517,265
Memorial A Larson 29,900 - - - - 29,900
Memorial L Knoepfel 61,861 - - - - 61,861
Capital improvements - - - - 72,853 72,853

Subtotal 987,359 - - - 646,883 1,634,242

Unassigned (deficit): 3,513,540 - - (1,551,824) (749,749) 1,211,967

Total fund
balances
(deficit) $ 7,625,008 $ 707,452 $ 4,392 $ (1,551,824) $ 4,024,092 $ 10,809,120

44

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

Business-Type Activities
Net investment in capital assets:

Land $ 364,125
Construction in progress 12,934,438
Other capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 32,871,793
Less Long-term capital-related debt outstanding (14,274,028)
Less unamortized debt premium (64,028)
Add deferred charge on refunding 23,737

Total net investment in capital assets $ 31,856,037

4. Other Information 

Employees' Retirement System

Plan Description

The WRS is a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan. WRS benefits and
other plan provisions are established by Chapter 40 of the Wisconsin Statutes. Benefit terms may
only be modified by the legislature. The retirement system is administered by the Wisconsin
Department of Employee Trust Funds (ETF). The system provides coverage to all eligible State of
Wisconsin, local government and other public employees. All employees, initially employed by a
participating WRS employer on or after July 1, 2011, expected to work at least 1,200 hours a year
(880 hours for teachers and school district educational support employees) and expected to be
employed for at least one year from employee’s date of hire are eligible to participate in the WRS. 

ETF issues a standalone Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR), which can be found at
https://etf.wi.gov/about-etf/reports-and-studies/financial-reports-and-statements.

Additionally, ETF issued a standalone Wisconsin Retirement System Financial Report, which can
also be found using the link above.

Vesting

For employees beginning participation on or after January 1, 1990, and no longer actively
employed on or after April 24, 1998, creditable service in each of five years is required for
eligibility for a retirement annuity. Participants employed prior to 1990 and on or after April 24,
1998, and prior to July 1, 2011, are immediately vested. Participants who initially became WRS
eligible on or after July 1, 2011, must have five years of creditable service to be vested. 

Benefits Provided

Employees who retire at or after age 65 (54 for protective occupation employees, 62 for elected
officials and executive service retirement participants, if hired on or before 12/31/2016) are entitled
to retirement benefit based on a formula factor, their average earnings and creditable service.

Final average earnings is the average of the participant's three highest annual earnings period.
Creditable service includes current service and prior service for which a participant received
earnings and made contributions as required. Creditable service also includes creditable military
service. The retirement benefit will be calculated as a money purchase benefit based on the
employee's contributions plus matching employer's contributions, with interest, if that benefit is
higher than the formula benefit.

45

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

Vested participants may retire at age 55 (50 for protective occupations) and receive an actuarially
reduced benefit. Participants terminating covered employment prior to eligibility for an annuity may
either receive employee-required contributions plus interest as a separation benefit or leave
contributions on deposit and defer application until eligible to receive a retirement benefit. 

The WRS also provides death and disability benefits for employees.

Post-Retirement Adjustments

The Employee Trust Funds Board may periodically adjust annuity payments from the retirement
system based on annual investment performance in accordance with s. 40.27, Wis. Stat. An
increase (or decrease) in annuity payments may result when investment gains (losses), together
with other actuarial experience factors, create a surplus (shortfall) in the reserves, as determined
by the system’s consulting actuary. Annuity increases are not based on cost of living or other
similar factors. For Core annuities, decreases may be applied only to previously granted
increases. By law, Core annuities cannot be reduced to an amount below the original, guaranteed
amount (the floor) set at retirement. The Core and Variable annuity adjustments granted during
recent years are as follows:

Year
Core Fund

Adjustment % 
Variable Fund
Adjustment % 

2012 (7.0) (7.0)

2013 (9.6) 9.0

2014 4.7 25.0

2015 2.9 2.0

2016 0.5 (5.0)

2017 2.0 4.0

2018 2.4 17.0

2019 0.0 (10.0)

2020 1.7 21.0

2021 5.1 13.0

Contributions

Required contributions are determined by an annual actuarial valuation in accordance with
Chapter 40 of the Wisconsin Statutes. The employee required contribution is one-half of the
actuarially determined contribution rate for General category employees, including Teachers,
Executives and Elected Officials. Starting on January 1, 2016, the Executives and Elected
Officials category was merged into the General Employee category. Required contributions for
protective employees are the same rate as general employees. Employers are required to
contribute the remainder of the actuarially determined contribution rate. The employer may not
pay the employee required contribution unless provided for by an existing collective bargaining
agreement.

During the reporting period, the WRS recognized $453,073 in contributions from the City.

Contribution rates for the plan year reported as of December 31, 2022 are: 

Employee Category Employee Employer

General (executives & elected officials) 6.75 % 6.75 %

Protective with Social Security 6.75 % 11.75 %

Protective without Social Security 6.75 % 16.35 %

46

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

Pension Asset, Pension Expense (Revenue), Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred
Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions

At December 31, 2022, the City reported an asset of $3,178,520 for its proportionate share of the
net pension asset. The net pension asset was measured as of December 31, 2021, and the total
pension liability used to calculate the net pension asset was determined by an actuarial valuation
as of December 31, 2020 rolled forward to December 31, 2021. No material changes in
assumptions or benefit terms occurred between the actuarial valuation date and the measurement
date. The City’s proportion of the net pension asset was based on the City’s share of contributions
to the pension plan relative to the contributions of all participating employers. At 
December 31, 2021, the City’s proportion was 0.03943484%, which was a decrease of
0.00002288% from its proportion measured as of December 31, 2020.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the City recognized pension expense (revenue) of
$(283,846).

At December 31, 2022, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to pensions from the following sources:

Deferred
Outflows of
Resources

Deferred
Inflows of
Resources

Differences between projected and actual experience $ 5,134,739 $ 370,270

Changes in assumptions 593,003 -

Net differences between projected and actual earnings on
pension plan investments - 7,110,615

Changes in proportion and differences between employer
contributions and proportionate share of contributions 4,824 4,161

Employer contributions subsequent to the measurement date 460,311 -

Total $ 6,192,877 $ 7,485,046

$460,311 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pension resulting from the WRS
Employer’s contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction
of the net pension liability (asset) in the year ended December 31, 2023. Other amounts reported
as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pension will be
recognized in pension expense as follows:

Years Ending 
December 31:

Deferred
Outflows of

Resources and
Deferred Inflows

of Resources
(Net)

2023 $ (147,419)

2024 (861,227)

2025 (379,512)

2026 (364,322)

47

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

Actuarial Assumptions

The total pension liability in the December 31, 2021 actuarial valuation was determined using the
following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:

Actuarial Valuation Date: December 31, 2020

Measurement Date of Net Pension Liability (Asset): December 31, 2021

Experience Study: January 1, 2018 - December 31, 2020
Published November 19, 2021

Actuarial Cost Method: Entry Age Normal

Asset Valuation Method: Fair Value

Long-Term Expected Rate of Return: 6.8%

Discount Rate: 6.8%

Salary Increases:

    Wage Inflation

    Seniority/Merit

3.0%

0.1% - 5.6%

Mortality: 2020 WRS Experience Mortality Table

Post-Retirement Adjustments*: 1.7%

* No post-retirement adjustment is guaranteed. Actual adjustments are based on recognized
investment return, actuarial experience and other factors. 1.7% is the assumed annual adjustment
based on the investment return assumption and the post-retirement discount rate. 

Actuarial assumptions are based upon an experience study conducted in 2021 that covered a
three-year period from January 1, 2018 to December 31, 2020. Based on this experience study,
actuarial assumptions used to measure the Total Pension Liability changed from prior year,
including the discount rate, long-term expected rate of return, post-retirement adjustment, price
inflation, mortality and separation rates. The Total Pension Liability for December 31, 2021 is
based upon a roll-forward of the liability calculated from the December 31, 2020 actuarial
valuation.

48

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

Long-Term Expected Return on Plan Assets

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a
building-block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return
(expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each
major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return
by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and
by adding expected inflation. The target allocation and best estimates of geometric real rates of
return for each major asset class are summarized in the following table:

Asset Allocation Targets and Expected Returns* As of December 31, 2021

Core Fund Asset Class
Asset

Allocation %

Long-Term
Expected

Nominal Rate
of Return %

Long-Term
Expected Real
Rate of Return

%**

Global Equities 52  6.8  4.2 

Fixed Income 25 4.3 1.8

Inflation Sensitive 19 2.7 0.2

Real Estate 7 5.6 3

Private Equity/Debt 12 9.7 7

Total Core Fund*** 115 6.6 4

Variable Fund Asset

U.S. Equities 70 6.3 3.7

International Equities 30 7.2 4.6

Total Variable Fund 100 6.8 4.2

* Asset Allocations are managed within established ranges; target percentages may differ from
actual monthly allocations

** New England Pension Consultants Long Term US CPI (Inflation) Forecast: 2.5%

*** The investment policy used for the Core Fund involves reducing equity exposure by leveraging
lower-volatility assets, such as fixed income securities. This results in an asset allocation beyond
100%. Currently, an asset allocation target of 15% policy leverage is used subject to an allowable
range of up to 20%.

49

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

Single Discount Rate

A single discount rate of 6.8% was used to measure the total pension liability, as opposed to a
discount rate of 7.0% for the prior year. This single discount rate is based on the expected rate of
return on pension plan investments of 6.8% and a municipal bond rate of 1.84% (Source: Fixed-
income municipal bonds with 20 years to maturity that include only federally tax-exempt municipal
bonds as reported in Fidelity Index’s “20-year Municipal GO AA Index” as of December 31, 2021.
In describing this index, Fidelity notes that the Municipal Curves are constructed using option-
adjusted analytics of a diverse population of over 10,000 tax-exempt securities.). Because of the
unique structure of WRS, the 6.8% expected rate of return implies that a dividend of
approximately 1.7% will always be paid. For purposes of the single discount rate, it was assumed
that the dividend would always be paid. The projection of cash flows used to determine this single
discount rate assumed that plan member contributions will be made at the current contribution
rate and that employer contributions will be made at rates equal to the difference between
actuarially determined contribution rates and the member rate. Based on these assumptions, the
pension plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future
benefit payments (including expected dividends) of current plan members. Therefore, the
investment rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected
benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.

Sensitivity of the City’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability (Asset) to Changes in
the Discount Rate

The following presents the City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability (asset) calculated
using the discount rate of 6.80%, as well as what the City’s proportionate share of the net pension
liability (asset) would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower
(5.80%) or 1-percentage-point higher (7.80%) than the current rate: 

1% Decrease
to Discount
Rate (5.8%)

Current
Discount Rate

(6.8%)

1% Increase to
Discount Rate

(7.8%)

City’s proportionate share of the net pension
liability (asset) $ 2,255,385 $ (3,178,520) $ (7,089,922)

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position

Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position is available in separately
issued financial statements available at https://etf.wi.gov/about-etf/reports-and-studies/financial-
reports-and-statements.

At December 31, 2022, the City reported a payable to the pension plan which represents
contractually required contributions outstanding as of the end of the year.

Risk Management  

The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to or destruction of
assets; errors and omissions; workers compensation; and health care of its employees. All of these
risks are covered through the purchase of commercial insurance, with minimal deductibles. Settled
claims have not exceeded the commercial coverage in any of the past three years. There were no
significant reductions in coverage compared to the prior year.

50

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

Commitments and Contingencies  

Claims and judgments are recorded as liabilities if all the conditions of Governmental Accounting
Standards Board pronouncements are met. The liability and expenditure for claims and judgments are
only reported in governmental funds if it has matured. Claims and judgments are recorded in the
government-wide statements and proprietary funds as expenses when the related liabilities are
incurred.

From time to time, the City is party to various pending claims and legal proceedings. Although the
outcome of such matters cannot be forecasted with certainty, it is the opinion of management and the
City attorney that the likelihood is remote that any such claims or proceedings will have a material
adverse effect on the City's financial position or results of operations. 

The City has received federal and state grants for specific purposes that are subject to review and
audit by the grantor agencies. Such audits could lead to requests for reimbursements to the grantor
agency for expenditures disallowed under terms of the grants. Management believes such
disallowances, if any, would be immaterial.

The City has active construction projects as of December 31, 2022. Work that has been completed on
these projects but not yet paid for (including contract retainages) is reflected as accounts payable and
expenditures.

The City has the following encumbrances outstanding at year end expected to be honored upon
performance by the vendor:

Sewer $ 2,254,588

Other Postemployment Benefits

General Information about the OPEB Plan 

Plan Description

The City's defined benefit OPEB plan,  Retiree Benefits Plan (RBP), provides OPEB for all
permanent full-time general and public safety employees of the City. RBP is a single-employer
defined benefit OPEB plan administered by the City. Article 11 of the State Compiled Statutes
grants the authority to establish and amend the benefit terms and financing requirements to
the City Board. No assets are accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria in paragraph 4 of
Statement 75.

Benefits Provided

RBP provides healthcare coverage to active employees and retirees at blended premium
rates. This results in an other postemployment benefit (OPEB) for the retirees, commonly
referred to as an implicit rate subsidy. Retirees participating in the plan contribute 100% of the
blended premium. The City, by paying the blended premium for active employees, contributes
the difference between the blended premium and the age adjusted premium towards retiree
benefits.

51

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

Employees Covered by Benefit Terms

At December 31, 2022, the following employees were covered by the benefit terms: 

Inactive plan members or beneficiaries currently receiving
benefit payments 22

Active plan members 71

Total 93

Total OPEB Liability

The City's total OPEB liability of $575,438 was measured as of December 31, 2021, and was
determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date.

Actuarial Assumptions and Other Inputs 

The total OPEB liability in the  actuarial valuation was determined using the following actuarial
assumptions and other inputs, applied to all periods included in the measurement, unless
otherwise specified:

Inflation 2.0%

Salary increases 3.1-7.8%

Healthcare cost trend rates
6.5% decreasing 0.1% per year to an ultimate
  rate of 5.0%

Healthcare participation rate 100% of blended premium

The discount rate was based on Bond Buyer 20-Bond GO Index.

Mortality rates were based on the Wisconsin 2018 Mortality Table adjusted for future mortality
improvements using the MP-2018 fully generated improvement scale (multiplied 60%).

The actuarial assumptions used in the December 31, 2021 valuation were based on the results of
an actuarial experience study 2015-17 conducted in 2018 using Wisconsin Retirement System.

Changes in the Total OPEB Liability 

Total OPEB
Liability

Balances at December 31, 2021 $ 388,307

Changes for the year:
Service cost 18,807
Interest 8,628
Differences between expected and actual experience (3,519)
Changes in assumptions or other inputs 191,745
Benefit payments (28,530)

Net changes 187,131

Balances at December 31, 2022 $ 575,438

52

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

Sensitivity of the Total OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate

The following presents the total OPEB liability of the City, as well as what the City's total OPEB
liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (1.0%)
or 1-percentage-point higher (3.0%) than the current discount rate:

1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase 

Total OPEB liability $ 605,076 $ 575,438 $ 546,959

Sensitivity of the Total OPEB Liability to Changes in the Healthcare Cost Trend Rates

The following presents the total OPEB liability of the City, as well as what the City's total OPEB
liability would be if it were calculated using healthcare cost trend rates that are 1-percentage-point
lower (5.5% decreasing to 4.0%) or 1-percentage-point higher (7.5% decreasing to 6.0%) than the
current healthcare cost trend rates:

1% Decrease 

Healthcare
Cost Trend

Rates 1% Increase

Total OPEB liability $ 544,233 $ 575,438 $ 610,295

OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources
Related to OPEB

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the City recognized OPEB expense of $2,520. At
December 31, 2022, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to OPEB from the following sources: 

Deferred
Outflows of
Resources

Deferred
Inflows of
Resources

Differences between expected and actual experience $ - $ 140,889
Changes of assumptions or other inputs 178,374 15,479
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 38,557 -

      Total $ 216,931 $ 156,368

$38,557 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB resulting from contributions
subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the OPEB liability in the
year ended December 31, 2023. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and
deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB will be recognized in OPEB expense as follows:

Years Ending December 31: Amount

2023 $ (3,811)
2024 (3,811)
2025 (3,811)
2026 (3,811)
2027 (3,811)
Thereafter 41,061

53

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

Local Retiree Life Insurance Fund (LRLIF)

Plan Description

The LRLIF is a multiple-employer defined benefit OPEB plan. LRLIF benefits and other plan
provisions are established by Chapter 40 of the Wisconsin Statutes. The Wisconsin
Department of Employee Trust Funds (ETF) and the Group Insurance Board have statutory
authority for program administration and oversight. The plan provides post-employment life
insurance benefits for all eligible employees. 

ETF issues a standalone Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR), which can be
found at https://etf.wi.gov/about-etf/reports-and-studies/financial-reports-and-statements. 

Additionally, ETF issued a standalone Retiree Life Insurance Financial Report, which can be
found at the link above.

Benefits Provided

The LRLIF plan provides fully paid up life insurance benefits for post-age 64 retired
employees and pre-65 retirees who pay for their coverage.

Contributions

The Group Insurance Board approves contribution rates annually, based on recommendations
from the insurance carrier. Recommended rates are based on an annual valuation, taking into
consideration an estimate of the present value of future benefits and the present value of
future contributions. A portion of employer contributions made during a member's working
lifetime funds a post-retirement benefit.

Employers are required to pay the following contribution based on employee contributions for
active members to provide them with Basic Coverage after age 65. There are no employer
contributions required for pre-age 65 annuitant coverage. If a member retires prior to age 65,
they must continue paying the member premiums until age 65 in order to be eligible for the
benefit after age 65. 

Contribution rates for the plan year reported as of December 31, 2022 are:

Coverage Type Employer Contribution

50% Post Retirement Coverage 40% of member contribution

25% Post Retirement Coverage 20% of member contribution

54

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

Member contributions are based upon nine age bands through age 69 and an additional eight
age bands for those age 70 and over. Participating members must pay monthly contribution
rates per $1,000 of coverage until the age of 65 (age 70 if active). The member contribution
rates in effect for the plan year are as listed below: 

Life Insurance Member Contribution Rates *For the Plan Year 

Attained Age Basic Supplemental

Under 30 $0.05 $0.05 

30-34 0.06 0.06

35-39 0.07 0.07

40-44 0.08 0.08

45-49 0.12 0.12

50-54 0.22 0.22

55-59 0.39 0.39

60-64 0.49 0.49

65-69 0.57 0.57

*Disabled members under age 70 receive a waiver-of-premium benefit

During the reporting period, the LRLIF recognized $1,432 in contributions from the employer.

OPEB Liabilities, OPEB Expense (Revenue) and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred
Inflows of Resources Related to OPEBs

At December 31, 2022, the City reported a liability of $413,649 for its proportionate share of the
net OPEB liability. The net OPEB liability was measured as of December 31, 2021, and the total
OPEB liability used to calculate the net OPEB liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as
of January 1, 2021 rolled forward to December 31, 2021. No material changes in assumptions or
benefit terms occurred between the actuarial valuation date and the measurement date. The City’s
proportion of the net OPEB liability was based on the City’s share of contributions to the OPEB
plan relative to the contributions of all participating employers. At December 31, 2021, the City’s
proportion was 0.06998700%, which was a decrease of 0.00419900% from its proportion
measured as of December 31, 2020.

55

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the City recognized OPEB expense (revenue) of
$49,542.

At December 31, 2022, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to OPEB from the following sources:

Deferred Outflow
of Resources

Deferred Inflows
of Resources

Differences between expected and actual experience $ - $ 21,042

Net differences between projected and investment
earnings on plan investments 5,381 -

Changes in actuarial assumptions 124,977 20,050

Changes in proportion and differences between
employer contributions and proportionate share of
contributions 11,143 16,057

Employer contributions subsequent to the
measurement date 1,444 -

Total $ 142,945 $ 57,149

$1,444 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB resulting from the LRLIF
Employer’s contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction
of the net OPEB liability in the year ended December 31, 2023. Other amounts reported as
deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB will be
recognized in OPEB expense as follows:

Years Ended
December 31:

Deferred
Outflows of

Resources and
Deferred Inflows

of Resources
(Net)

2023 $ 19,874

2024 19,249

2025 17,230

2026 22,059

2027 8,156

Thereafter (2,216)

56

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

Actuarial Assumptions

The total OPEB liability in the actuarial valuation was determined using the following actuarial
assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:

Actuarial Valuation Date: January 1, 2021

Measurement Date of Net OPEB Liability (Asset) December 31, 2021

Experience Study: January 1, 2018 - December 31, 2020.
Published November

Actuarial Cost Method: Entry Age Normal

20 Year Tax-Exempt Municipal Bond Yield 2.06%

Long-Term Expected Rate of Return: 4.25%

Discount Rate: 2.17%

Salary Increases:

Wage Inflation

Seniority/Merit

3.00%

0.10% - 5.6%

Mortality: 2020 WRS Experience Mortality Table

Actuarial assumptions are based upon an experience study conducted in 2021 that covered a
three-year period from January 1, 2018 to December 31, 2020. Based on this experience
study, actuarial assumptions used to measure the Total OPEB Liability changed from the prior
year, including the price inflation, mortality and separation rates. The Total OPEB Liability for
December 31, 2021 is based upon a roll-forward of the liability calculated from the 
January 1, 2021 actuarial valuation.

57

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

Long-Term Expected Return on Plan Assets

The long-term expected rate of return is determined by adding expected inflation to expected
long-term real returns and reflecting expected volatility and correlation. Investments for the
LRLIF are held with Securian, the insurance carrier. Interest is calculated and credited to the
LRLIF based on the rate of return for a segment of the insurance carriers' general fund,
specifically 10-year A-Bonds (as a proxy, and not tied to any specific investments). The overall
aggregate interest rate is calculated using a tiered approach based on the year the funds
were originally invested and the rate of return for that year. Investment interest is credited
based on the aggregate rate of return and assets are not adjusted to fair market value.
Furthermore, the insurance carrier guarantees the principal amounts of the reserves, including
all interest previously credited thereto. 

State OPEB Life Insurance
Asset Allocation Targets and Expected Returns 

As of December 31, 2021

Asset Class Index
Target

Allocation

Long-Term
Expected

Geometric Real
Rate of Return

US Intermediate Credit Bonds Bloomberg US Interm Credit 45.00%  1.68%
US Long Credit Bonds Bloomberg US Long Credit 5.00 1.82
US Mortgages Bloomberg US MBS 50.00 1.94

Inflation 2.30

Long-Term Expected Rate of Return   4.25

The long-term expected rate of return remained unchanged from the prior year at 4.25%. The
long-term expected rate of return is determined by adding expected inflation to expected long-
term real returns and reflecting expected volatility and correlation. The expected inflation rate
increased from 2.20% as of December 31, 2020 to 2.30% as of December 31, 2021.

Single Discount Rate

A single discount rate of 2.17% was used to measure the total OPEB liability for the current
year, as opposed to a discount rate of 2.25% for the prior year. The significant change in the
discount rate was primarily caused by the decrease in the municipal bond rate from 2.12% as
of December 31, 2020 to 2.06% as of December 31, 2021. The Plan’s fiduciary net position
was projected to be insufficient to make all projected future benefit payments of current active
and inactive members. Therefore, the discount rate for calculating the total OPEB liability is
equal to the single equivalent rate that results in the same actuarial present value as the long-
term expected rate of return applied to benefit payments, to the extent that the plan’s fiduciary
net position is projected to be sufficient to make projected benefit payments, and the
municipal bond rate applied to benefit payment to the extent that the plan’s fiduciary net
position is projected to be insufficient. The plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be
available to make projected future benefit payments of current plan members through
December 31, 2036.

The projection of cash flows used to determine the single discount rate assumed that
employer contributions will be made according to the current employer contribution schedule
and that contributions are made by plan members retiring prior to age 65.

58

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

Sensitivity of the City’s Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB Liability (Asset) to Changes in
the Discount Rate

The following presents the City’s proportionate share of the net OPEB liability (asset)
calculated using the discount rate of 2.17%, as well as what the City’s proportionate share of
the net OPEB liability (asset) would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-
percentage-point lower (1.17%) or 1-percentage-point higher (3.17%) than the current rate: 

1% Decrease
to Discount
Rate (1.17%)

Current
Discount Rate

(2.17%)

1% Increase to
Discount Rate

(3.17%)

City’s proportionate share of the net OPEB
liability (asset) $ 561,173 $ 413,649 $ 302,644

At December 31, 2022, the City reported a payable to the OPEB plan, which represents
contractually required contributions outstanding as of the end of the year.

Subsequent Events  

In 2023, the city continues to draw funding for the sewer utility clean water fund loan. As of the date of
this report, the city has drawn $842,977 in additional loan funds and has received $104,407 in
financial assistance from the state related to the same project.

Economic Dependency  

Sewer Utility

The Sewer Utility has two significant customers who were responsible for 43% of operating
revenues in 2022.

Effect of New Accounting Standards on Current-Period Financial Statements  

The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) has approved the following: 

 Statement No. 96, Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements

 Statement No. 99, Omnibus 2022

 Statement No. 100, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections - an Amendment of GASB

Statement No. 62

 Statement No. 101, Compensated Absences

When they become effective, application of these standards may restate portions of these financial
statements.

59

DRAFT 05/23/23



R E Q U I R E D   S U P P L E M E N T A R Y   I N F O R M A T I O N

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes

in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual - General Fund
Year Ended December 31, 2022

Budgeted Amounts

Original Final Actual
Variance With
Final Budget

Revenues

Taxes
General property taxes $ 6,034,882 $ 6,034,882 $ 5,284,826 $ (750,056)
Interest and penalties on taxes 25 25 288 263
Payments in lieu of taxes 10,400 42,400 42,446 46

Total taxes 6,045,307 6,077,307 5,327,560 (749,747)

Intergovernmental Revenues
Federal aid, law enforcement - - 448 448
Federal aid, law enforcement - - 2,880 2,880
State shared revenues 981,680 981,680 982,715 1,035
State expenditure restraint 181,995 181,995 181,995 -
Fire insurance tax (2% fire dues) 42,000 42,000 45,811 3,811
Other state shared taxes 47,950 47,950 47,959 9
Personal property aids 29,401 29,401 29,401 -
Video service provider aid 31,600 31,600 31,659 59
State aid, general transportation aids 599,037 599,037 597,378 (1,659)
State aid, connecting streets 95,283 95,283 95,283 -
State aid, recycling 33,500 33,500 35,133 1,633
School resource officer 48,700 48,700 52,240 3,540
Payments for municipal services 3,000 3,000 4,702 1,702
Other state payments - - 1,800 1,800
Compost site, town 8,500 8,500 8,500 -

Total intergovernmental
revenues 2,102,646 2,102,646 2,117,904 15,258

Licenses and Permits
Liquor and malt beverage licenses 22,100 22,100 26,110 4,010
Operators' license 7,500 7,500 8,735 1,235
Cigarette licenses 1,500 1,500 1,800 300
Other business and occupational

licenses 500 500 1,010 510
Cable television franchise fees 126,000 126,000 126,000 -
Bicycle licenses 100 100 45 (55)
Dog and cat licenses 20,000 20,000 19,138 (862)
Building permits 38,000 38,000 56,820 18,820
Electrical permits 11,000 11,000 17,334 6,334
Plumbing permits 6,000 6,000 5,421 (579)
Other permits 3,500 3,500 4,657 1,157
Zoning permits and fees 2,500 2,500 1,980 (520)

Total licenses and permits 238,700 238,700 269,050 30,350

Fines and Forfeitures
Court penalties and costs 95,000 95,000 145,171 50,171
Parking violations 30,000 30,000 30,474 474

Total fines and forfeitures 125,000 125,000 175,645 50,645

See notes to required supplementary information

60

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes

in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual - General Fund
Year Ended December 31, 2022

Budgeted Amounts

Original Final Actual
Variance With
Final Budget

Public Charges for Services
General government $ 2,000 $ 2,000 $ 2,216 $ 216
Law enforcement fees 4,000 4,000 3,794 (206)
Fire protection fees - - 83,765 83,765
Ambulance fees 45,000 45,000 44,178 (822)
Street related facilities 35,000 35,000 37,243 2,243
Parking lots, ramps and meters 110 110 110 -
Weed and nuisance control 1,200 1,200 165 (1,035)
Recreation programs 78,000 78,000 80,105 2,105
Museum - 25,107 25,107 -
Swimming areas 156,000 156,000 155,796 (204)
Community center 2,500 2,500 2,501 1
Conservation and development 5,000 5,000 5,101 101
Fiber 8,500 8,500 8,500 -

Total public charges for services 337,310 362,417 448,581 86,164

Intergovernmental Charges for
Services
Local, fire services 228,600 228,600 241,433 12,833

Special Assessments
Sidewalk - - 15,492 15,492

Investment Income
Interest on investments 14,000 14,000 89,922 75,922
Interest on promissory notes 11,560 11,560 11,560 -

Total investment income 25,560 25,560 101,482 75,922

Miscellaneous
Rent 5,500 5,500 7,648 2,148
Donations - 34,295 34,295 -
Refund of prior year expenditures - - 338 338
Other miscellaneous 5,000 5,000 19,526 14,526
Insurance recoveries - - 10,400 10,400

Total miscellaneous 10,500 44,795 72,207 27,412

Total revenues 9,113,623 9,205,025 8,769,354 (435,671)

See notes to required supplementary information

61

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes

in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual - General Fund
Year Ended December 31, 2022

Budgeted Amounts

Original Final Actual
Variance With
Final Budget

Expenditures

General Government
Council $ 27,920 $ 27,920 $ 28,605 $ (685)
Municipal court 68,425 68,425 68,601 (176)
Legal 40,100 40,100 38,800 1,300
Mayor 83,800 83,800 84,750 (950)
Clerk 109,750 110,250 114,805 (4,555)
Labor relations 3,000 3,000 625 2,375
Board of review 35,000 35,000 35,000 -
Independent auditing 34,000 34,000 31,049 2,951
General buildings/plant/hall 50,150 50,150 56,526 (6,376)
Illegal taxes and refunds 100 100 - 100
Property and liability insurance 59,000 59,000 60,075 (1,075)
Law enforcement insurance 96,500 96,500 119,964 (23,464)
Other insurance 58,600 58,600 52,895 5,705
Health insurance 181,681 181,681 121,064 60,617
Manufacturing property assessment

fees 4,500 4,500 4,120 380
Unemployment compensation costs 7,000 7,000 4,000 3,000
Contingency, health insurance 54,964 54,964 46,548 8,416
Other general government 1,000 1,000 3,077 (2,077)

Total general government 915,490 915,990 870,504 45,486

Public Safety
Police 2,037,896 2,037,896 2,106,648 (68,752)
Crossing guards 21,561 21,561 20,778 783
Fire protection 577,550 577,550 587,527 (9,977)
Ambulance 112,000 112,000 109,317 2,683
Hydrant rental 25,487 25,487 18,495 6,992
Building inspection 82,500 84,000 93,060 (9,060)
Electrical inspection 34,045 34,045 29,981 4,064
Sealer of weights and measures 4,800 4,800 4,800 -
Civil defense 1,500 1,500 5,800 (4,300)
Emergency government 8,550 8,550 6,929 1,621
Other public safety 859,325 882,715 906,256 (23,541)

Total public safety 3,765,214 3,790,104 3,889,591 (99,487)

See notes to required supplementary information

62

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes

in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual - General Fund
Year Ended December 31, 2022

Budgeted Amounts

Original Final Actual
Variance With
Final Budget

Public Works
Public works/highway administration $ 296,850 $ 296,850 $ 236,967 $ 59,883
Engineering 74,430 74,430 74,461 (31)
Machinery operation and maintenance 282,000 282,000 284,326 (2,326)
Garages and sheds 170,400 170,400 182,785 (12,385)
Highway and street maintenance 178,000 178,000 182,437 (4,437)
Curb and gutter 4,200 4,200 4,508 (308)
Tree and brush removal 6,000 6,000 5,281 719
Traffic control 93,700 93,700 114,332 (20,632)
Snow and ice control 216,750 216,750 207,898 8,852
Street lighting 279,500 279,500 277,759 1,741
Sidewalks 13,750 13,750 21,949 (8,199)
Parking facilities 5,680 5,680 5,778 (98)
Refuse and garbage collection 550,750 550,750 548,709 2,041
Recycling 163,500 163,500 158,345 5,155
Composting facility 30,750 30,750 39,037 (8,287)

Total public works 2,366,260 2,366,260 2,344,572 21,688

Health and Human Services
Animal control 35,123 35,123 34,114 1,009

Culture, Recreation and Education
Museum 154,700 154,700 173,275 (18,575)
Community center 70,833 70,833 53,845 16,988
Senior citizens' center 86,445 97,401 87,161 10,240
Recreation administration 261,873 261,873 234,183 27,690
Recreation facilities 234,566 234,566 229,496 5,070
Celebration and entertainment 27,700 27,700 36,190 (8,490)
Parks 349,945 349,945 348,738 1,207

Other culture 261,575 286,683 262,504 24,179

Total culture, recreation and
education 1,447,637 1,483,701 1,425,392 58,309

Conservation and Development
Forestry 141,500 151,105 152,743 (1,638)
Industrial development 23,850 23,850 23,694 156
Other conservation and development 70,050 70,050 69,404 646

Total conservation and
development 235,400 245,005 245,841 (836)

See notes to required supplementary information

63

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes

in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual - General Fund
Year Ended December 31, 2022

Budgeted Amounts

Original Final Actual
Variance With
Final Budget

Capital Outlay
Fire protection $ - $ - $ 18,164 $ (18,164)
Other conservation and development - 126,140 15,145 110,995

Total capital outlay - 126,140 33,309 92,831

Total expenditures 8,765,124 8,962,323 8,843,323 119,000

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures 348,499 242,702 (73,969) (316,671)

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers in 335,000 335,000 393,335 58,335
Transfers out - - (85,355) (85,355)

Total other financing sources
(uses) 335,000 335,000 307,980 (27,020)

Net change in fund balance 683,499 577,702 234,011 (343,691)

Fund Balance, Beginning 7,390,997 7,390,997 7,390,997 -

Fund Balance, Ending $ 8,074,496 $ 7,968,699 $ 7,625,008 $ (343,691)

See notes to required supplementary information

64

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes

in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual - Transportation Improvements
Year Ended December 31, 2022

Budgeted Amounts

Original Final Actual
Variance with
Final Budget

Revenues

Taxes
General property taxes $ 500,000 $ 500,000 $ 500,000 $ -
Motor vehicle registration fee 208,000 210,000 200,445 (9,555)

Total taxes 708,000 710,000 700,445 (9,555)

Intergovernmental
State LRIP, capital - - 387,776 387,776

Public Charges for Services
Transportation - - 113,166 113,166

Total revenues 708,000 710,000 1,201,387 491,387

Expenditures

Capital Outlay
Capital outlay 708,000 1,385,000 963,807 421,193

Total expenditures 708,000 1,385,000 963,807 421,193

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures - (675,000) 237,580 912,580

Other Financing Sources
Debt issued - 675,000 677,000 2,000

Total other financing sources - 675,000 677,000 2,000

Net change in fund balance - - 914,580 914,580

Fund Balance (Deficit), Beginning (207,128) (207,128) (207,128) -

Fund Balance, Ending $ (207,128) $ (207,128) $ 707,452 $ 914,580

See notes to required supplementary information

65

DRAFT 05/23/23



Proportionate
Share of the Net Plan Fiduciary

Proportionate Proportionate Pension  Liability (Asset) Net Position
WRS of the Net Share of the as a Percentage as a Percentage

Fiscal Year Pension Net Pension Covered of Covered of the Total
Ending Liability (Asset) Liability (Asset) Payroll Payroll Pension Liability

12/31/22 0.03943484% (3,178,520)$        5,119,614$    62.09% 106.02%
12/31/21 0.03945772% (2,463,400)          5,185,422      47.51% 105.26%
12/31/20 0.03895124% (1,255,965)          5,082,878      24.71% 102.96%
12/31/19 0.03824638% 1,360,686            4,816,488      28.25% 96.45%
12/31/18 0.03768448% (1,118,896)          4,673,410      23.94% 102.93%
12/31/17 0.03713569% 306,087               4,580,496      6.68% 99.12%
12/31/16 0.03728650% 605,898               4,538,005      13.35% 98.20%
12/31/15 0.03800802% (933,581)             4,396,943      21.23% 102.74%

Contributions in
Relation to the Contributions

City Contractually Contractually Contribution as a Percentage
Fiscal Required Required Deficiency Covered of Covered

Year Ending Contributions Contributions (Excess) Payroll Payroll

12/31/22 460,311$          460,311$             -$                  5,267,447$                       8.74%
12/31/21 452,309            452,309               -                    5,119,614                         8.83%
12/31/20 452,027            452,027               -                    5,185,422                         8.72%
12/31/19 412,584            412,584               -                    5,082,878                         8.12%
12/31/18 387,884            387,884               -                    4,817,138                         8.05%
12/31/17 398,149            398,149               -                    4,673,418                         8.52%
12/31/16 361,620            361,620               -                    4,580,496                         7.89%
12/31/15 359,786            359,786               -                    4,538,005                         7.93%

Year Ended December 31, 2022

Schedule of Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability (Asset) -

Schedule of Employer Contributions - Wisconsin Retirement System

City of Fort Atkinson

Wisconsin Retirement System
Year Ended December 31, 2022

See notes to required supplementary information

66

DRAFT 05/23/23



Proportionate
Share of the Net Plan Fiduciary

Proportionate Proportionate OPEB Liability Net Position
WRS of the Net Share of the as a Percentage as a Percentage

Fiscal Year OPEB Net OPEB Covered of Covered of the Total
Ending Liability Liability Payroll Payroll OPEB Liability

12/31/22 0.06998700% 413,649$             4,124,000$    10.03% 29.57%
12/31/21 0.07418600% 408,077               3,950,000      10.33% 31.36%
12/31/20 0.07190600% 306,190               3,798,000      8.06% 37.58%
12/31/19 0.06893300% 177,870               3,625,000      4.91% 48.69%
12/31/18 0.07056300% 212,294               2,967,376      7.15% 44.81%

Contributions in
Relation to the Contributions

City Contractually Contractually Contribution as a Percentage
Fiscal Required Required Deficiency Covered of Covered

Year Ending Contributions Contributions (Excess) Payroll Payroll

12/31/22 1,444$               1,444$                  -$                   4,253,378$                         0.03%
12/31/21 1,401                 1,401                    -                     4,090,835                           0.03%
12/31/20 1,467                 1,467                    -                     4,101,987                           0.04%
12/31/19 1,433                 1,433                    -                     3,871,256                           0.04%
12/31/18 1,335                 1,335                    -                     2,919,583                           0.05%

Year Ended December 31, 2022

City of Fort Atkinson
Schedule of Proportionate Share of the Net Insurance OPEB Liability -
Local Retiree Life Insurance Fund
Year Ended December 31, 2022

Schedule of Employer Contributions - Local Retiree Life Insurance Fund

See notes to required supplementary information

67

DRAFT 05/23/23



Total OPEB Liability 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

Service cost 18,807$           17,039$           18,641$           20,221$           20,221$           

Interest 8,628 10,206             22,555             19,822             19,852             
Changes of benefit terms - - - - - 
Differences between expected and actual experience (3,519)              - (206,641) - - 
Changes of assumptions 191,745           10,202             (8,832)              (17,262)            - 
Benefit payments (28,530)            (23,472)            (11,905)            (37,004)            (44,860)            

Net change in total OPEB liability 187,131           13,975             (186,182)          (14,223)            (4,787)              

Total OPEB Liability, Beginning 388,307           374,332           560,514           574,737           579,524           
Total OPEB Liability, Ending 575,438$         388,307$         374,332$         560,514$         574,737$         

Covered, employee payroll 4,825,523$      5,036,448$      5,036,448$      4,461,015$      4,461,015$      

Total OPEB liability as a percentage of covered,
  employee payroll 11.92% 7.71% 7.43% 12.56% 12.88%

Notes to schedule:

Benefit changes.  There were no changes to the benefits.

Changes of assumptions. The discount rate assumption was changed since the prior year.

No assets are accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria in paragraph 4 of Statement 75.

Note: this schedule is to show information for 10 years. However, accounting standards allow the presentation of as many years
as are available until 10 years are presented.

City of Fort Atkinson
Schedule of Changes in Employer's Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios

Year Ended December 31, 2022
Health Insurance

The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of the calendar-year end prior to the year reported.

See notes to required supplementary information
68

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Notes to Required Supplementary Information
Year Ended December 31, 2022

Budgetary Information

Budgetary information is derived from the annual operating budget and is presented using the same basis of
accounting for each fund as described in Note 1. 

The budgeted amounts presented include any amendments made. The City may authorize transfers of
budgeted amounts within departments. Transfers between departments and changes to the overall budget
must be approved by a two-thirds council action.

Appropriations lapse at year end unless specifically carried over. Carryovers to the following year were
$153,141.  Budgets are adopted at the department level of expenditure. 

Wisconsin Retirement System

The amounts determined for each fiscal year were determined as of the calendar year-end and occurred
within the fiscal year.

The City is required to present the last ten years of data; however, accounting standards allow the
presentation of as many years as are available until ten fiscal years are presented.

Changes in benefit terms. There were no changes of benefit terms for any participating employer in the
Wisconsin Retirement System.

Changes in assumptions. Based on a three-year experience study conducted in 2021 covering January 1,
2018 through December 31, 2020, the ETF Board adopted assumption changes that were used to measure
the total pension liability beginning with the year-end December 31, 2021, including the following:

 Lowering the long-term expected rate of return from 7.0% to 6.8%

 Lowering the discount rate from 7.0% to 6.8%

 Lowering the price inflation rate from 2.5% to 2.4%

 Lowering the post-retirement adjustments from 1.9% to 1.7%

 Mortality assumptions were changed to reflect updated trends by transitioning from the Wisconsin

2018 Mortality Table to the 2020 WRS Experience Mortality Table

Based on a three-year experience study conducted in 2018 covering January 1, 2015 through 
December 31, 2017, the ETF Board adopted assumption changes that were used to measure the total
pension liability beginning with the year-ended December 31, 2018, including the following:

 Lowering the long-term expected rate of return from 7.2% to 7.0%

 Lowering the discount rate from 7.2% to 7.0%

 Lowering the wage inflation rate from 3.2% to 3.0%

 Lowering the price inflation rate from 2.7% to 2.5%

 Lowering the post-retirement adjustments from 2.1% to 1.9%

 Mortality assumptions were changed to reflect updated trends by transitioning from the Wisconsin

2012 Mortality Table to the Wisconsin 2018 Mortality Table

69

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Notes to Required Supplementary Information
December 31, 2022

Local Retiree Life Insurance Fund

The amounts determined for each fiscal year were determined as of the calendar year-end and occurred
within the fiscal year.

The City is required to present the last ten years of data; however, accounting standards allow the
presentation of as many years as are available until ten fiscal years are presented.

Changes in benefit terms. There were no changes of benefit terms for any participating employer in LRLIF.

Changes in assumptions. In addition to the rate changes detailed in the tables above, the State of Wisconsin
Employee Trust Fund Board adopted economic and demographic assumption changes based on a three year
experience study performed for the Wisconsin Retirement System. These assumptions are used in the
actuarial valuations of OPEB liabilities (assets) for the retiree life insurance programs and are summarized
below.

The assumption changes that were used to measure the December 31, 2021 total OPEB liabilities, including
the following:

 Lowering the price inflation rate from 2.5% to 2.4%

 Mortality assumptions were changed to reflect updated trends by transitioning from the Wisconsin

2018 Mortality Table to the 2020 WRS Experience Mortality Table

The assumption changes that were used to measure the December 31, 2018 total OPEB liabilities, including
the following:

 Lowering the long-term expected rate of return from 5.00% to 4.25%

 Lowering the wage inflation rate from 3.2% to 3.0%

 Lowering the price inflation rate from 2.7% to 2.5%

 Mortality assumptions were changed to reflect updated trends by transitioning from the Wisconsin

2012 Mortality Table to the Wisconsin 2018 Mortality Table

70

DRAFT 05/23/23



S U P P L E M E N T A R Y   I N F O R M A T I O N

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Combining Balance Sheet
Nonmajor Governmental Funds
December 31, 2022

Special Revenue Funds

Wisconsin
Development

Fund Library Trust
Museum

Trust EMS

Assets
Cash and investments $ 400,494 $ 723,537 $ 879,711 $ (220,930)
Receivables:

Taxes - - - -
Accounts - - - 67,868
Loans 116,771 - - -
Due from other governments - - - -

Prepaid items - - - 2,037

Total assets $ 517,265 $ 723,537 $ 879,711 $ (151,025)

Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources
and Fund Balances

Liabilities
Accounts payable $ - $ - $ - $ 49,653
Unearned revenues - - - -
Advances from other funds - - - -

Total liabilities - - - 49,653

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unearned revenues - - - -
Unavailable revenues - - - -

Total deferred inflows of resources - - - -

Fund Balances (Deficit)
Nonspendable - - - 2,037
Restricted - 723,537 879,711 -
Assigned 517,265 - - -
Unassigned (deficit) - - - (202,715)

Total fund balances (deficit) 517,265 723,537 879,711 (200,678)

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of
resources and fund balances $ 517,265 $ 723,537 $ 879,711 $ (151,025)

71

DRAFT 05/23/23



Special Revenue Funds

Lodging
Room Tax

Dwight
Foster Public

Library
Subsidized

Taxi Program CDBG
Municipal

Airport

Capital
Catalyst

Grant ARPA

$ 91,654 $ 31,924 $ - $ 83,197 $ 54,208 $ 489,907 $ 1,011,726

- 616,511 - - - - -
44,292 - - - 2,615 - -

- - - - - 111,066 -
- - - 634,366 - - -
- 1,927 - - 9,255 - -

$ 135,946 $ 650,362 $ - $ 717,563 $ 66,078 $ 600,973 $ 1,011,726

$ 31,767 $ 9,888 $ 12,560 $ 550,454 $ 58 $ - $ -
- - - - - - 1,002,551
- - 49,274 - - - -

31,767 9,888 61,834 550,454 58 - 1,002,551

- 616,511 - - - - -
- - - 634,366 - - -

- 616,511 - 634,366 - - -

- 1,927 - - 9,255 - -
104,179 22,036 - - - 600,973 9,175

- - - - 56,765 - -
- - (61,834) (467,257) - - -

104,179 23,963 (61,834) (467,257) 66,020 600,973 9,175

$ 135,946 $ 650,362 $ - $ 717,563 $ 66,078 $ 600,973 $ 1,011,726

72

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Combining Balance Sheet
Nonmajor Governmental Funds
December 31, 2022

Capital Projects Funds

TIF District
No. 7

TIF District
No. 8

TIF District
No. 9

TIF District
No. 10

Assets
Cash and investments $ - $ 845,054 $ - $ -
Receivables:

Taxes 560,035 1,016,743 - -
Accounts - 5,074 - -
Loans - - - -
Due from other governments - - - -

Prepaid items - - - -

Total assets $ 560,035 $ 1,866,871 $ - $ -

Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources
and Fund Balances

Liabilities
Accounts payable $ - $ - $ - $ -
Unearned revenues - - - -
Advances from other funds - - 9,193 8,750

Total liabilities - - 9,193 8,750

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unearned revenues 560,035 1,016,743 - -
Unavailable revenues - - - -

Total deferred inflows of resources 560,035 1,016,743 - -

Fund Balances (Deficit)
Nonspendable - - - -
Restricted - 850,128 - -
Assigned - - - -
Unassigned (deficit) - - (9,193) (8,750)

Total fund balances (deficit) - 850,128 (9,193) (8,750)

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of
resources and fund balances $ 560,035 $ 1,866,871 $ - $ -

73

DRAFT 05/23/23



Capital
Projects
Funds

Capital
Improvements

Project

Total
Nonmajor

Governmental
Funds

$ 947,324 $ 5,337,806

211,400 2,404,689
86,238 206,087

- 227,837
- 634,366
- 13,219

$ 1,244,962 $ 8,824,004

$ 36,709 $ 691,089
- 1,002,551
- 67,217

36,709 1,760,857

211,400 2,404,689
- 634,366

211,400 3,039,055

- 13,219
924,000 4,113,739

72,853 646,883
- (749,749)

996,853 4,024,092

$ 1,244,962 $ 8,824,004

74

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes

in Fund Balances
Nonmajor Governmental Funds
Year Ended December 31, 2022

Special Revenue Funds

Wisconsin
Development

Fund Library Trust
Museum

Trust EMS

Revenues
Taxes $ - $ - $ - $ -
Intergovernmental - - - 152,431
Public charges for services - - - 33,770
Intergovernmental charges for services - - - -
Investment income (loss) 5,066 (120,659) (139,617) -
Miscellaneous - 56,097 - -

Total revenues 5,066 (64,562) (139,617) 186,201

Expenditures
Current:

General government - - - -
Public safety - - - 211,464
Culture, recreation and education - 81,061 35,440 -
Conservation and development - - - -

Capital outlay - - - 293,618
Debt service:

Principal - - - -
Interest and fiscal charges - - - -

Total expenditures - 81,061 35,440 505,082

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
expenditures 5,066 (145,623) (175,057) (318,881)

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
General obligation debt issued - - - -
Transfers in - - - 122,362
Transfers out - - - -

Total other financing sources (uses) - - - 122,362

Net change in fund balances 5,066 (145,623) (175,057) (196,519)

Fund Balances (Deficit), Beginning 512,199 869,160 1,054,768 (4,159)

Fund Balances (Deficit), Ending $ 517,265 $ 723,537 $ 879,711 $ (200,678)

75

DRAFT 05/23/23



Special Revenue Funds

Lodging
Room Tax

Dwight
Foster Public

Library
Subsidized

Taxi Program CDBG
Municipal

Airport

Capital
Catalyst

Grant ARPA

$ 52,620 $ 542,484 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ -
- 286,532 99,338 - 43,000 - 248,441
- 7,437 - - 137,609 1,000 -
- - - - - - -
- - - - - 1,148 9,175
- 41,487 - - - - -

52,620 877,940 99,338 - 180,609 2,148 257,616

30,245 - - - 123,391 - -
- - - - - - -
- 869,441 - - - - -

8,500 - 164,356 - - 1,175 -
- 27,266 - 762,425 - - -

- - - - - - -
- - - - - - -

38,745 896,707 164,356 762,425 123,391 1,175 -

13,875 (18,767) (65,018) (762,425) 57,218 973 257,616

- - - 340,000 - - -
- - - - - - -
- - - - - - (248,441)

- - - 340,000 - - (248,441)

13,875 (18,767) (65,018) (422,425) 57,218 973 9,175

90,304 42,730 3,184 (44,832) 8,802 600,000 -

$ 104,179 $ 23,963 $ (61,834) $ (467,257) $ 66,020 $ 600,973 $ 9,175

76

DRAFT 05/23/23



City of Fort Atkinson
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes

in Fund Balances
Nonmajor Governmental Funds
Year Ended December 31, 2022

Capital Projects Funds

TIF District
No. 7

TIF District
No. 8

TIF District
No. 9

TIF District
No. 10

Revenues
Taxes $ 462,734 $ 840,094 $ - $ -
Intergovernmental 3,539 6,127 - -
Public charges for services - - - -
Intergovernmental charges for services 3,000 - - -
Investment income (loss) 1,197 5,508 - -
Miscellaneous - - - -

Total revenues 470,470 851,729 - -

Expenditures
Current:

General government - - - -
Public safety - - - -
Culture, recreation and education - - - -
Conservation and development 150 6,925 9,193 8,750

Capital outlay 19,954 18,540 - -
Debt service:

Principal 230,000 118,300 - -
Interest and fiscal charges 10,650 31,950 - -

Total expenditures 260,754 175,715 9,193 8,750

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
expenditures 209,716 676,014 (9,193) (8,750)

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
General obligation debt issued - - - -
Transfers in - - - -
Transfers out (208,265) (274,000) - -

Total other financing sources (uses) (208,265) (274,000) - -

Net change in fund balances 1,451 402,014 (9,193) (8,750)

Fund Balances (Deficit), Beginning (1,451) 448,114 - -

Fund Balances (Deficit), Ending $ - $ 850,128 $ (9,193) $ (8,750)

77

DRAFT 05/23/23



Capital
Improvements

Project

Total
Nonmajor

Governmental
Funds

$ 211,040 $ 2,108,972
40,347 879,755

- 179,816
- 3,000

90 (238,092)
173,691 271,275

425,168 3,204,726

- 153,636
- 211,464

3,106 989,048
- 199,049

584,708 1,706,511

- 348,300
- 42,600

587,814 3,650,608

(162,646) (445,882)

1,008,000 1,348,000
151,499 273,861

- (730,706)

1,159,499 891,155

996,853 445,273

- 3,578,819

$ 996,853 $ 4,024,092

78

DRAFT 05/23/23



RESOLUTION NO.    
 

A RESOLUTION EXPRESSING SUPPORT  
FOR LOCAL GOVERNMENT FUNDING LEGISLATION RESOLUTION 

WISCONSIN ACT 12 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Fort Atkinson is excited to share Local Government Funding 
Legislation Assembly Bill 245, Shared Revenue, has been signed into law on Tuesday, June 20, 
2023 by Governor Tony Evers; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Fort Atkinson wishes to thank all members of the legislature who 
voted for this bill. We would especially like to thank Speaker Robin Vos, Senate Majority Leader 
Devin LeMahieu, Senator Mary Felzkowski, Representative Tony Kurtz, and Governor Tony Evers; 
and  
 

WHEREAS, the City of Fort Atkinson wishes to thank our local legislators, Rep. Scott Johnson 
and Senator Steve Nass for their help and support of this historic initiative; and  

 
WHEREAS, beginning July 1, 2024, a full penny of sales tax goes into a segregated local 

government fund; and 
 
WHEREAS, all communities will see at least a 20% increase over current municipal aid 

except Milwaukee which receives 10% and the local sales tax authority; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Fort Atkinson will receive a 32.5% increase ($309,933 in 2024), 

which will help support essential local services; and 
 
 WHEREAS, future percentage increases in sales tax revenue will be applied to both 
existing and supplemental aids. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the City Council of the City of Fort Atkinson, 
thanks the Legislature for increasing funding for the shared revenue program and directs the Clerk 
to send a copy of this resolution to the state legislators representing the City of Fort Atkinson, to 
Governor Tony Evers and to the League of Wisconsin Municipalities. 
 
 
 Adopted this 6th day of July 2023. 
 
       CITY OF FORT ATKINSON 
 
 
              
       Bruce Johnson, Council President 
ATTEST: 
 
 
         
Michelle Ebbert, City Clerk/Treasurer/Finance Director 



Agenda
City of Fort Atkinson 

City Manager’s Office 
101 N. Main Street 

Fort Atkinson, WI 53538 

MEMORANDUM 

DATE: July 6, 2023 

TO: Fort Atkinson City Council  

FROM:  Jedidiah Draeger, Building Inspector/Zoning Administrator 

RE: First reading of an Ordinance to adopt Zoning Text Amendments relating to 
medium industrial land uses, home occupations, off street parking, fencing, 
building maintenance, landscaping, signage and pools 

BACKGROUND 
As City staff have worked with the new ordinance over the past three years, several minor 
changes have been identified to improve overall consistency of applying the code’s standards. 
City staff has also worked with Vandewalle & Associates (the consultant who assisted the City in 
writing the new Zoning Ordinance) to strategically identify the changes needed and how they 
work best within the framework of the overall ordinance.   

The bulk of the proposed Zoning Amendments are considered to be corrections for consistent 
administration of the ordinance and clarification in key areas of the text. They are not 
considered to be large-scale policy changes. The City’s Management Team has reviewed the 
application and all comments have been included within this document.  

Overall, the proposed amendments will improve the application of the ordinance and reflect 
consistency with adopted plans and community goals.  

RECOMMENDATION 
At the meeting on June 27, 2023, the Plan Commission reviewed this matter and recommended 
that the City Council adopt the proposed Zoning Text Amendments to the 2020 City of Fort 
Atkinson Zoning Ordinances as outlined in the attached summery with the following conditions: 

• Summary line #7(c) Text in blue to be included/excluded
• Any other recommendations of City Staff, Plan Commission, and City Council

Staff recommends that the City Council perform the first reading of this Ordinance. 

ATTACHMENTS 
PC Staff Report Packet; Draft Ordinance Amending the Official Zoning Map 



  City of Fort Atkinson 
  Zoning Administrator’s Office 
  101 N. Main Street 
  Fort Atkinson, WI 53538 

 

1 
 

ZONING TEXT AMENDMENTS 
REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION 

 
DATE: June 27, 2023 
 
PROPERTY ADDRESSES: Not Applicable 
 
PARCEL NUMBER: Not Applicable 
 
OWNER: Not Applicable 
 
APPLICANT: City of Fort Atkinson 
 

FILE NUMBER: ZTA-2023-01 
 
EXISTING ZONING: Not Applicable 
 
PROPOSED ZONING: Not Applicable  
 
EXISTING LAND USE: Not Applicable 
 
REQUESTED USES: Not Applicable 
 

 

BACKGROUND ON ZONING TEXT AMENDMENT REVIEW: 
The City of Fort Atkinson Zoning Ordinance Section 15.10.30 outlines the process for Zoning Text 
Amendments that reflects Wisconsin State Statutes Section 62.23(7)(d). Initiation of the request for 
amendments can come from a member of the public, Plan Commission, City Council, or City staff. This 
process requires an application (the proposed amendments), a public hearing before the Plan 
Commission, and action by both the Plan Commission and City Council.  
 
REQUEST OVERVIEW: 
The City completed a full Zoning Ordinance rewrite in 2020. Since that time, City staff have been 
applying the new ordinance to all relevant projects and processes. City staff believes that the 
ordinance is working well in accomplishing many of the community’s goals, implementing the 
Comprehensive Plan, and providing the direction, guidance, and procedural steps needed in response 
to individual applications. However, similar to any plan or ordinance, overtime there are minor 
tweaks needed.  
 
City staff has prepared the attached summary of 20 proposed Zoning Text Amendments. The vast 
majority of the proposed amendments are minor in nature and reflect small errors that have been 
identified within the ordinance that need to be corrected for consistent administration of the 
ordinance and clarification in key areas of the text. This is not uncommon due to the length of the 
ordinance and the interconnected nature of each section, which aims to build upon one another. 
Overall, the proposed amendments can be categorized as administrative tweaks and do not change 
much in the way of policy or procedures. 
 
 
 
 
 



Zoning Text Amendments 
June 27, 2023 
ZTA-2023-01 

2 
 

 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN CONSISTENCY REVIEW: 
Any proposed zoning amendment must be consistent with the City’s Comprehensive Plan. The plan 
recommends a full rewrite of the City’s Zoning Ordinance and Land Division Ordinance, which were 
completed in 2020 and 2022. Additionally, several specific recommendations for individual land use 
categories call for detailed plans associated with new development. Finally, the plan recommends 
that the zoning ordinance be consistently applied in relationship to the plan’s goals, 
recommendations, and policies. City staff believes that the proposed Zoning Text Amendments are in 
concert with the City’s Comprehensive Plan. 
   
PUBLIC NOTICE: 
A public hearing is required for Zoning Text Amendment review and action. All required public 
hearing notices have been properly posted in compliance with state law.  
 
DISCUSSION: 
As City staff have worked with the new ordinance over the past three years, several minor changes 
have been identified to improve overall consistency of applying the code’s standards. City staff has 
also worked with Vandewalle & Associates (the consultant who assisted the City in writing the new 
Zoning Ordinance) to strategically identify the changes needed and how they work best within the 
framework of the overall ordinance.   
 
Again, the bulk of the proposed Zoning Amendments are considered to be corrections for consistent 
administration of the ordinance and clarification in key areas of the text. They are not considered to 
be large-scale policy changes. The City’s Management Team has reviewed the application and all 
comments have been included within this document.  
 
Overall, the proposed amendments will improve the application of the ordinance and reflect 
consistency with adopted plans and community goals.  
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
City staff recommends approval of the 20 proposed Zoning Text Amendments as outlined the 
attached summary dated June 12, 2023 subject to the following conditions: 
• Any other recommendations of City staff, the Plan Commission, and City Council. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

- City of Fort Atkinson Proposed Zoning Ordinance Amendments 



1 
 

City of Fort Atkinson Proposed Zoning Ordinance Amendments 
Draft: June 12, 2023 

1. Section 15.02.11 SR-3 Single Family Residential Zoning District: Correcting Typo In Title 

Section 15.02.11: (SR-3) Single Family Residential-3 Zoning District 

2. Section 15.02.22 – Section 15.02.72 All Zoning Districts, Excluding SR-2, SR-3, SR-5, SR-7, MH-7, 
DR-8, and TF-10: Adjusting Attached Garage Setback 

(7) Density, Intensity, and Bulk Regulations  

 Requirement 

Minimum Attached Garage Setback 
2 feet behind Even with the plane of the building (0 foot 

setback) 

 

3. Section 15.02.32 UMU Urban Mixed Use Zoning District: Correct UMU Intent to Match Permitted 
Land Uses 

(1) Intent. This district is intended to permit areas, generally on established commercial corridors, that 
are or are planning to become mixed use in character and establish standards that are compatible with 
the existing mix of land uses and redevelopment objectives. This district is intended to provide for a 
variety of employment, retail, and community service opportunities, while allowing some residential 
uses at an approximate density of up to 36 dwelling units per acre. Residential uses should not become 
the majority ground floor land use in this district. Uses shall be compatible not only with other uses 
within the district, but land uses in adjoining zoning districts as well.  

 
4. Section 15.03.14 Industrial Land Uses, Section 15.02.51 and 15.02.52 Medium and Heavy Industrial 

Zoning District, and Section 15.06.06 Off-Street Parking and Traffic Circulation: Adding a Medium 
Industrial Land Use Category and Associated References 

Section 15.03.14 Industrial Land Uses 

(6) Medium Industrial: Facilities where the majority of operations, with the exception of loading and 
some outdoor storage of raw materials or finished products, are conducted entirely within an enclosed 
building. Such land uses are not associated with nuisances such as odor, noise, heat, vibration, and 
radiation which are detectable at the property line, and do not pose a significant safety hazard (such as 
danger of explosion). Examples include, but are not limited to manufacturing and or assembly of 
clothing, furniture, cabinetry, electronic components, motorized equipment assembly, production of 
plastic products and components from plastic pellets and related material refined or produced off-site, 
and mass-produced arts and crafts. These land uses may conduct indoor sales as an accessory use 
provided that the requirements of Section 15.03.10(3) are complied with.  

(a) All outdoor activity areas shall meet the requirements for Outdoor Storage (Section 
15.03.16(2) or 15.03.28(17)), be located a minimum of 100 feet from residentially zoned 
property and be surrounded by a bufferyard minimum opacity of 0.5 along all borders of the 
outdoor activity abutting properties which are not zoned MI or HI.  



2 
 

(b) In no event shall the storage of items reduce or inhibit the use or number of parking stalls 
provided on the property below the requirement established by the provisions of (c), below. 
If the number of provided parking stalls on the property is already less than the 
requirement, such storage area shall not further reduce the number of parking stalls already 
present.  

(c) Minimum required parking: One space per each employee on the largest work shift.  
 

Section 15.02.51: (MI) Medium Industrial Zoning District 

(2) Principal Uses Permitted by Right. Refer to Article II for detailed definitions and requirements for 
each of the following land uses. 
(n) Medium Industrial 
 

(3) Principal Uses Permitted as Conditional Use. Refer to Article III for detailed definitions and 
requirements for each of the following land uses. 
(n) Outdoor Storage and Wholesaling  

Section 15.02.51: (HI) Heavy Industrial Zoning District  

(2) Principal Uses Permitted by Right. Refer to Article II for detailed definitions and requirements for 
each of the following land uses. 
(n) Medium Industrial 

Section 15.06.06: Off-Street Parking and Traffic Circulation 

Figure 15.06.06a: Number of Off-Street Parking Spaces Required by Land Use 

Light Industrial  1 space per each employee on the 
largest work shift.  

1.25 spaces per each employee on 
the largest work shift.  

Medium Industrial 1 space per each employee on the 
largest work shift.  

1.25 spaces per each employee on 
the largest work shift.  

Heavy Industrial  1 space per each employee on the 
largest work shift.  

1.25 spaces per each employee on 
the largest work shift.  

 

5. Section 15.03.28(4)(i) Home Occupation Accessory Land Uses: Clarifying Permitted Home 
Occupation Vehicles  

(i) One business-related truck, van, or trailer is permitted per Home Occupation Permit. No vehicle 
larger than one-ton capacity truck or van that is used in conjunction with a home occupation shall be 
stored on the premises or parked on adjacent residential streets. This prohibition shall also include 
specialized mobile equipment. Trailers will be allowed to park on the residential street provided that a 
home occupation permit is approved, the trailer is registered, and a fee paid, and the trailer is safely 
parked adjacent to the permitted property.  
 
  



3 
 

6. Section 15.06.06(12)(a)3.c.i. Off-Street Parking and Circulation: Correcting Consistency on Single-
Family and Two-Family Uncovered Parking Spaces (Not Located in Driveways)  

i. Paved pads surfaced with concrete, or asphalt, and/or gravel may be used for recreation equipment 
trailer storage and/or residential utility trailer storage in any provided interior side yard or rear yard.  
 
7. Section 15.06.06(19) Off-Street Parking and Circulation: Clarifying Surfacing Standards 

(a) All off-street parking, loading, and traffic circulation areas outside of the right of way shall 
be graded and surfaced so as to be dust-free and properly drained and shall be paved with a 
hard, all-weather or other surface to the satisfaction of the City Engineer. Acceptable 
pavement types include asphalt (4” minimum) or concrete (4” minimum). All driveways 
driveway approaches and parking areas located within the right of way shall be surfaced 
with a minimum thickness of 8 inches of base over 4 inches of asphaltic concrete, or 6 
inches of base under 6 inches of concrete. Subbase conditions may require the use of 
geotextiles, drainage, or additional base to ensure longevity of the asphalt or concrete 
surface coarse. 

(b) The following shall be exempt from these surfacing requirements: 
1. Driveways in the RH-35 district shall be exempt except for the first 20 feet of the 
driveway closest to the right-of-way, which shall be asphalt or concrete. 

2. All agricultural land uses (Section 15.03.26). 

3. Enclosed and screened outdoor storage areas. When such uses are discontinued, the 
area(s) shall comply with the surfacing requirements of Subsection (a), above, or shall be 
returned to vegetative ground cover. 

(c) All new and replacement approaches driveway installation and driveway maintenance, 
including replacement of driveway pavement, shall install the required public sidewalk 
through the street terrace upon surfacing and follow all requirements in subsection (a) 
above. 

 
8. Section 15.06.06(21)(c) Limitations on Uses of All Off-Street Parking Areas: Clarifying Vehicle 

Parking Prohibited Specifically in Residential Areas  

(c) Vehicles or equipment not normally associated with a residential use shall not be parked or 
stored outdoors on a residential property unless a Hhome Ooccupancy Ppermit has been 
issued (See Section 15.03.28(4)). On a nonresidential property, such vehicles or equipment 
shall not be parked or stored outdoors, except in areas identified on an approved site plan 
for the purpose of heavy vehicle parking or an Outdoor Storage land use. Such vehicles or 
equipment include but are not limited to:  

1. Construction equipment such as bulldozers, backhoes, skid steers, and forklifts shall not 
be kept on any lot being used for a residential land use  
2. Dump and stake body style trucks  
3. Cube type vans and trucks  
4. Landscaping business equipment such as tractors, tree spades, graders, and scrapers 
shall not be kept on any lot being used for a residential land use  
5. Semi-trailers and tractors  



4 
 

6. Concession, vending, and catering trailers  
7. Commercial/industrial equipment trailers and lifts shall not be kept on any lot being 
used for a residential land use  
8. Tow trucks, wreckers, or car carriers only capable of carrying a single vehicle, except for 
1 light-duty tow truck (not a roll back, flat bed, or carrier type) with a gross vehicle weight 
not exceeding 12,000 pounds, may be parked on a residential lot when on call, operating 
under the rotating call list established and kept by the City of Fort Atkinson Police 
Department  
9. Amusement rides and similar vehicles shall not be kept on any lot being used for a 
residential land use  

 
 
9. Section 15.06.40(5) and (6) Fencing Standard Design and Materials: Clarifying Fencing Standards 

(5) Design and Materials. 

3. Rules Related to Specific Materials. 

a. Permanent chicken wire fences or snow fences shall not be used. 

b. Non-corrugated, solid metal fences are permitted in the LI, MI, HI, IOS, IOC, AO, and 
EX zoning districts within the rear or side yards. 

c. Wire mesh and non-coated/non-galvanized chain link fencing is not permitted 
within front or street yards and shall not extend toward the street beyond the front 
of the building in the SR-2, SR-3, SR-5, SR-7, MH-7, DR-8, TF-10, MRL-8, MRM-12, 
MRH-30, and CON zoning districts, except when used in conjunction with parks, 
schools, airports, or other institutional uses. All other zoning districts are exempt 
from this requirement. 

d. Barb wire fencing or similar security fencing shall be permitted only on the top of 
security fencing in the rear or side yards when located at least 6 feet above the 
ground and shall be permitted only in the LI, MI, HI, IOS, and EX districts. Such 
fences shall meet the setbacks for the principal structure. 

e. Coated chain link fences shall have a minimum 9-gauge thickness, and a top rail 
support is required. Coated chain link fences shall not be permitted in front or street 
yards and shall not extend toward the street beyond the front of the building.  

(6) Height. 

(d) Maximum Height. The maximum height of any fence panel, landscape wall, or decorative 
post shall be the following: 

3. In the LI, MI, HI, IOS, IOC, AO, and EX zoning districts 

 a. 4 feet when located within the required or provided front yard or street yard, 
whichever is closer to the street.  

1. In the LI, MI, HI, IOS, IOC, and EX zoning districts security fencing height can be 
increased to 6 feet provided the fence is decorative in style, as determined by the 
Zoning Administrator.  

b. 8 feet within the side yard or rear yard, but not in the required front yard or beyond the 
front façade of the principal building.  



5 
 

c. Where permitted in rear or side yards, barb wire fencing or similar security fencing on top 
of fences shall not extend higher than 3 feet beyond the top of the fence.  

 

10. Section 15.06.40 - Figure 15.06.40(c) Fencing Standard Design and Materials: Correcting Fence 
Standard Graphic Error to Match Text 

Existing Figure 15.06.40(c)    Proposed New Figure 15.06.40(c) 

  

11. Section 15.06.42(8) Swimming Pools: Matching Swimming Pool Requirements to Building Code 
and Building Practices 

(8) Enclosure. Pools within the scope of this Section that are not enclosed with a permanent building 
shall be completely enclosed by a fence of sufficient strength to prevent access to the pool. Such 
fence or wall shall not be less than 46 feet in height and not less than 4 feet from the pool edge, and 
constructed not to have voids, holes, or openings larger than 4 inches in one dimension. Maximum 
height for such fences or walls is 6 feet from ground level. Pools with walls less than 72 inches tall as 
measured from ground level on the outside edge of the wall shall be required to provide this fence. 
Gates or doors shall be equipped with self-closing and self-latching devices located at the top of the 
gate or door on the pool side of the enclosure, except the door of any residence that forms a part of 
the enclosure. This Section shall not apply to existing fences on the date of adoption of this Chapter 
at least 40 inches in height that otherwise comply with this Section.  

(a) Pools shall not be required to have a fence if each side of the pool structure is a minimum of 
54 inches tall and a removable ladder or gate is provided, or the pool structure is less than 
54 inches tall but has approved wall height extensions and a removeable ladder or gate is 
provided, as approved by the Zoning Administrator.  



6 
 

(a)(b) This Section shall not apply to existing fences on the date of adoption of this Chapter at 
least 48 inches in height that otherwise comply with this Section. 

 
12. New Section 15.06.51 Building Maintenance on Private Property: Adding Missing Provision From 

Past Zoning Ordinance (old zoning code 15.5.7) 

(1) The following shall apply to all private property in the City of Fort Atkinson: 
(a) It is unlawful to retain a building or structure in violation of the adopted building and 

housing code. 
(b) It is unlawful to allow a building or structure to become substantially deteriorated through 

poor or no maintenance so that the structural integrity of the building becomes a health 
and/or safety concern.  

(c) All exterior surfaces of a building or structure that are not inherently resistant to 
deterioration shall be treated periodically with a protective coating of paint or other suitable 
preservative that will provide adequate resistance to weathering and maintain an attractive 
appearance.  

(d) Violations of this Section will be subject to the penalties provided in section 15.10.60. 
 
13. Section 15.07.50(c)1.a.-c. Special Area Design Review: Correcting Naming Typo to Provide 

Consistency with Section 

1. There are three categories of review in this district:  

a. Project Renovation Review (renovation of the exterior appearance of a property such as 
repainting, re-roofing, residing or replacing with identical colors, finishes, and materials) 

b. Design Alteration Review (change only in the exterior appearance of a nonresidential or multi-
family property such as painting, roofing, siding, architectural component substitution, fencing, 
paving, or signage) 

c. Renovation Project Review (modification to the physical configuration of a property such as the 
erection of a new building, the demolition of an existing building, or the addition or removal of 
bulk to an existing building) 

 
14. Section 15.08.10(2) Landscaping Applicability: Simplifying Confusing Language  

(2) Any use for which Planning Commission approval is required under Section 15.10.20 shall 
provide landscaping in accordance with the regulations of this Section, including the following 
development:  

(a) New buildings and paved areas  
(b) Expansions of existing buildings or paved areas. In the case of expansions, only the new 

portion of the building or paved area shall provide landscaping per the requirements of this 
Article. that exceed 50 percent of the existing floor area of the building  

(c) Expansions of paved areas that exceed 50 percent of the existing paved area.  
1. In the case of expansions, only the new portion of building or paved area shall provide 
landscaping per the requirements of this Article.  

 
  



7 
 

15. Section 15.09.11(1) Figure 15.09.01(1)B.1. Permanent Business Sign Group: Clarifying Lighting for 
Wall Signs 

Wall Sign 
• Sign Lighting Allowed: Ambient, backlit, or gooseneckStandard 12,13  

 
16. Section 15.09.11(1) Figure 15.09.01(1)D.4. Permanent Business Sign Group: Permitting an 

Additional Order Board Sign with Multiple Drive-Through Lanes 

Order Board Signs 
• Number of Signs Allowed: 1 for each business 1 sign per drive-through lane 
• Sign Area and Height: 24 sf area/8 ft height 48 sf area/8 ft height10 
• Footnote 10: Order Board Signs shall conform to the location requirements for Drive-Through and 

In-Vehicle Sales or Service land uses. See Section 15.03.10(10). A maximum total of 96 sf of total 
Order Board Signs is permitted per business.  

 
17. Section 15.02.84(4), 15.03.26(7)(b), 15.06.03(3), 15.06.05(3), 15.06.06(3), 15.06.42(3), 15.07.01(3): 

Making Site Plan Review Procedures Consistent Throughout the Zoning Ordinance 

15.02.84(4): Airport Height limitations Overlay Zoning District: Site Plan Approval 

(a) No structure shall hereafter be constructed or located that exceeds the height indicated in 
any zone created by subsection (2) of this Chapter until the owner or his or her agent shall 
have applied in writing and obtained Site Plan Approval (Section 15.10.42) from the  Plan 
CommissionZoning Administrator and City Engineer. Application for Site Plan Approval shall 
meet all requirements of Section 15.10.42, in addition to indicating the purpose, with 
sufficient information to determine whether such structure would conform to the 
regulations herein prescribed.  

15.03.26(7)(b) Market Garden Land Use: Site Plan Approval 

(b) A site plan shall be submitted to the  Plan CommissionZoning Administrator, for approval. 
Said site plan shall list the property owner, established sponsoring organization, and garden 
manager, and demonstrate consideration for and indicate locations of structures, materials 
storage, equipment storage, access for deliveries and pickups, water availability, shaded rest 
area, and availability of public parking.  

15.06.03(3) Vehicle Access Standards: Site Plan Approval 

(3) Review and Approval. Through the site plan review process (see Section 15.10.42), the  Plan 
CommissionZoning Administrator and Engineering Department, shall review and approve all 
proposed driveways and other access points on the subject property. See Chapter 90 of the Fort 
Atkinson Municipal Code. 

15.06.05(3) Visibility Standards: Site Plan Approval 

(3) Review and Approval. Through the site plan review process (see Section 15.10.42), the Plan 
CommissionZoning Administrator,  shall review and approve all development for conformance 
with this Section. 

 



8 
 

15.06.06(3) Off-Street Parking and Traffic Circulation: Site Plan Approval 

(3) Review and Approval. Through the site plan review process (see Section 15.10.42) the  Plan 
CommissionZoning Administrator, shall review and approve all development for conformance 
with this Section.  

15.06.42(3) Swimming Pools: Site Plan Approval 

(3) Review and Approval. Any pool requiring excavation below 1-foot of the existing grade is subject 
to site plan review. The Zoning Administrator Plan Commission shall review and approve all 
development for conformance with this Section through the site plan review process (see Section 
15.10.42).  

15.07.01(3) Exterior Building Design Standards: Site Plan Approval 

(3) Review and Approval. Through the building permit and/or site plan review process, the Plan 
Commission Zoning Administrator shall be responsible and have authority to hear, review, and act 
upon all proposed exterior architectural plans for all proposed development.  

 
18. Section 15.10.32(18)-(19) Conditional Use Permit Procedures: Correcting Typo from Village to City 

18. Recording of Conditional Use Requirements. Except for conditional use approvals for temporary 
uses, a certified copy of the authorizing resolution, containing identifiable description and any 
specific requirements of approval, shall be recorded by the City Village with the Register of Deeds 
for the subject property. The City Village shall record modifications, alterations and expansions as 
well as expired or revoked conditional use permits. 

19. Formerly Approved Conditional Uses. A use now regulated as a conditional use which was approved 
as a legal land use, either permitted by right or as a conditional use, prior to the effective date of 
this Title, shall be considered as a legal, conforming land use so long as the previously approved 
conditions of use and previously approved site plan are followed. Any modification of the previously 
approved conditions of use or site plan shall require application and City Village consideration under 
this Section.  

 
  



9 
 

19. Section 15.10.20 – Figure 15.10.20a: Review and Approval Activities and Bodies: Clarifying 
Procedures for Consistency with Text of the Zoning Ordinance 

Figure 15.10.20a: Review and Approval Activities and Bodies 

Application Process 

 S
ta

ff
 

Pl
an

 
Co

m
m

is
si

on
 

Ci
ty

 C
ou

nc
il 

 B
oa

rd
 o

f 
Zo

ni
ng

 
A

pp
ea

ls
 

H
is

to
ri

c 
Pr

es
er

va
tio

n 
Co

m
m

is
si

on
 

Zoning Ordinance Amendment (§15.10.30) RR PH, RR RE, A   
Zoning Map Amendment (§15.10.31) PM*, RR PH, RR RE, A   

Conditional Use Permit (§15.10.32) PM*, RR RE, A  
Appeal 

Only 
RR** 

Temporary Use Permit (§15.10.40) RE, IP     
Site Plan (§15.10.42)  RE, RR A    

Special Area Design Review (§15.10.43)  See Figure 15.10.43a 
Appeal 

Only 
 

Group & Large Development (§15.06.02)  PM*, RR RE, A 
Appeal 

Only 
 RR** 

Planned Unit Development (§15.10.44) PM*, RR PH, RR RE, A   

Interpretation (§15.10.50) RE, A   
Appeal 

Only 
 

Variance (§15.10.51) RR   
PH, RE, 

A 
 

Appeal (§15.10.52) RR   
PH, RE, 

A 
 

Violations and Penalties (§15.10.60) RE, A     
Official Mapping (§Wis. Stats. 62.23(6)) PM, RR PH, RR RE, A   
Land Interest Transfer  RE, A     
Land Division-CSM/no new lot (Chapter 70) RE, A     
Land Division-CSM/new lot (Chapter 70) RR RE, A    
Land Division-Preliminary Plat (Chapter 70) RR RR RE, A   
Land Division-Final Plat (Chapter 70) RR RR A   
Design Standard Variance (§ RR RE, A   RR** 
Historic Preservation: Landmarking  
(Chapter 42) 

PM, RR RR RE, A  PH, RR 

Historic Preservation: Certificate of 
Appropriateness (Chapter 42) RE, A  

PH, A, 
Appeal 

Only 
 PH, RE, A 

RE = Review and Evaluate IP = Issues Permit RR = Review and Recommend PH = Public Hearing  
PM = Public Meeting A = Final Action 

Figure and footnotes continued on the following page. 



10 
 

Figure 15.10.20a: Review and Approval Activities and Bodies, Continued 

Application Process 

 S
ta

ff
 

Pl
an

 
Co

m
m

is
si

on
 

Ci
ty

 C
ou

nc
il 

Bo
ar

d 
of

 
Zo

ni
ng

 
A

pp
ea

ls
 

H
is

to
ri

c 
Pr

es
er

va
tio

n 
Co

m
m

is
si

on
 

Planning Document/Plans PM, RR RR RE, A  RR** 
Annexation (Wis. Stats. 66.0217)  RR PH, RR RE, A   
Attachment  Refer to Adopted Agreement 
Street Vacation/Discontinuance  
(Wis. Stats. 66.1003) 

RR RR 
PH, RE, 

A 
  

Floodplain Map Amendment (Chapter 30) Refer to Wisconsin DNR/FEMA 
Privilege in the Right-of-Way  
(Wis. Stats. 62.23) 

RE, A    
 

Easement Acceptance/Release  
(Wis. Stats. 62.23) 

RE, A    
 

Sign Permit (§15.09) See Figures 15.09.11(1)-(4) 

Building Permit RE, IP See Chapter 18 of the Municipal Code 

Certificate of Occupancy RE, IP See Chapter 18 of the Municipal Code 

Community Living Arrangement 
Occupancy Permit (§15.10.33) 

RE, IP  

RE = Review and Evaluate IP = Issues Permit RR = Review and Recommend PH = Public Hearing  
PM = Public Meeting A = Final Action 

Note: This table is not exhaustive. Some procedures may not be covered within this table. 
* If determined to be necessary by the Zoning Administrator. 
** Historic Preservation Commission review and recommendation necessary if site/building is locally 
landmarked, individually listed or part of the State or National Register of Historic Places. 
 

  



11 
 

20. Section 15.10.42(2) Site Plan Review and Approval Procedures: Clarifying Site Plan Approval 
Procedures  

(2) Applicability. Site plan review and approval shall be required for changes to site characteristics in 
Subsections (4)(c) through (i) including redevelopment, expansion, and new nonresidential 
development, and residential development containing 3 or more units, except for the following:  all 
multi-family residential, mixed use, commercial, industrial, institutional, storage, transportation, 
telecommunications, extraction and disposal, and energy production land uses where new or 
replacement structures or uses are proposed that are governed by this ordinance. Some other 
residential land uses and some accessory land uses may be subject to Site Plan review and approval.  

(a) Residential accessory buildings, decks, and landscape features that do not affect site 
drainage patterns.  
(b) Fences.  
(c) Uses within a Specific Implementation Plan in a Planned Development in accordance with the 
procedures of Section 15.10.44, provided that the Specific Implementation Plan provides a 
similar level of detail and range of plans as a typical site plan submittal required under this 
Chapter.  

(a) The degree of change shall be evaluated by the Zoning Administrator and City Engineer 
during the pre-application conference. Both must indicate in writing, submitted to the 
applicant, the change requires review by Plan Commission. 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 



Agenda
City of Fort Atkinson 

City Manager’s Office 
101 N. Main Street 

Fort Atkinson, WI 53538 

MEMORANDUM 

DATE: July 6, 2023 

TO: Fort Atkinson City Council 

FROM:  Rebecca Houseman, City Manager 

RE: Review and possible action relating to proposals for the Fire Chief Recruitment 
Process 

BACKGROUND 
In April 2023, Fire Chief Daryl Rausch submitted a letter indicating that he would be retiring 
from the City of Fort Atkinson and exploring a new opportunity in Minnesota. His last day with 
the City was June 23, 2023.  

On June 1st, the Police and Fire Commission authorized staff to issue a Request for Proposals 
(RFP) for recruitment services to assist staff and the PFC in attracting a top-quality candidate to 
fill this role. As staff indicated at the time, there is no additional staff capacity to run a 
recruitment of this magnitude internally. Also at the June 1st meeting, the PFC promoted 
Division Chief Mike Lawrence to the position of Interim Fire Chief until such time that a Fire 
Chief is appointed.  

Staff issued the attached RPF on June 2nd with a deadline of June 23rd at 5:00 p.m. Five 
companies submitted proposals by the deadline for consideration by the PFC: 

• McMahon
• McGrath Consulting Group
• GovHR USA
• CPS HR Consulting
• Angels Recruiting Agency

DISCUSSION 
At the PFC meeting on June 27th, the PFC reviewed the five proposals and the summary table 
attached to this memo. After significant discussion about the quality of the proposals and the 
experience of the firms, the PFC recommended that the City Council hire GovHR for $26,000. 
The PFC also recommended that the additional service of the Assessment Center be kept as an 
option to differentiate between final candidates if necessary.  

The PFC recommended GovHR based on the following factors: 
1. The proposal met the requirements of the RFP, including an estimated number of hours

to complete the tasks, a sample recruitment brochure, and a sample agreement;



 
 

2. The firm’s thorough approach outlined in the proposal, which includes information-
gathering and position assessment;  

3. The firm exclusively recruits for the public sector and has a vast network of potential 
candidates throughout Wisconsin and the Midwest; 

4. Recruiter Tim Sashko has vast experience in the Fire field as well as recruiting in 
Wisconsin for Fire Departments of various sizes and complexities; 

5. Mr. Sashko provided additional thoughts on the challenges in recruiting Fire Chief’s in 
today’s market and offered ways to overcome those challenges; and 

6. Staff performed successful reference checks for Wisconsin clients in South Milwaukee, 
Menomonee Falls, and Beloit. 

 
FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 
The proposal from GovHR is one of the most expensive received; however, the PFC 
recommended hiring the firm due to the reasons outlined above. Staff identified roughly 
$40,000 of available funds in the Fire Department salaries account due to the departure of 
Chief Rausch for the remainder of the year. Staff proposes to use funds from this account (01-
52-5231-0100) to pay for recruitment services.  
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends the City Council authorize the City Manager to execute the contract with 
GovHR for Fire Chief recruitment services for $26,000, with funds from the Fire Department 
Salaries account (01-52-5321-0100), along with retaining the option to add an Assessment 
Center to the process for an additional $8,500 if needed as determined by the Hiring 
Committee (Police and Fire Commission and City Manager).  
 
ATTACHMENTS 
Request for Proposals; McMahon Proposal; McGrath Consulting Group Proposal; GovHR 
Proposal and Assessment Center information; CPS HR Consulting Proposal; Angels Recruiting 
Agency Proposal; City of Fort Atkinson Fire Chief Recruitment Proposals – Summary Table  



 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

Executive Selection of Fire Chief 

 
Prepared for The City of 

 
JEFFERSON COUNTY | WISCONSIN 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 

June 6, 2023 
 
 
Prepared By 

Lori Gosz, Senior Public Management Team Leader 

Jeffrey R. Roemer, Public Safety Manager 
Public Safety & Municipal Management 

 

Proposal 
For Professional  

Consulting Services 

https://mcmgrp.com/expertise/public-emergency-management/


EXECUTIVE SELECTION PROPOSAL 

P a g e  | 2 

Professional Consulting Services 

 
 
 
 

    Executive Selection of Fire Chief 
 

 
Prepared for The City of 
 

 
JEFFERSON COUNTY | WISCONSIN 

 

Prepared By 

McMahon Associates, Inc. | NEENAH, WISCONSIN 
 

June 6, 2023 
 

 

 

 

 
LETTER OF INTEREST  ................................................................................................................................ Page 3 
 
QUALIFICATIONS  ...................................................................................................................................... Page 4 
 
METHODOLOGY ........................................................................................................................................ Page 5 
 
SCOPE OF WORK ....................................................................................................................................... Page 6 
 
PROJECT FEE / SCHEDULE ......................................................................................................................... Page 8 
 
PROJECT TEAM / RESUMES  .................................................................................................................... Page 10 
 
REFERENCES  ........................................................................................................................................... Page 12 
 
 

   

ATTACHMENTS 
2023 McM Fee Schedule 
2023 McM Reimbursable Expenses 
Fort Atkinson Price Proposal 
 

Proposal 
For Professional  

Consulting Services 



EXECUTIVE SELECTION PROPOSAL 

P a g e  | 3 

Professional Consulting Services 

 

 

 

 

Public Safety & Municipal Management 

 

June 6, 2023 
 
City of Fort Atkinson 
Attn: Rebecca Houseman, City Manager 
101 North Main Street 
Fort Atkinson, WI 53538 
 
Dear Ms. Houseman, 
 

We are pleased to submit a proposal for Executive Selection for the City of Fort Atkinson. Our teams’ 
passion for Public Management and working with Municipal Officials provides the basis for our 
interest in submitting this proposal. The McMahon Associates, Inc. (McMAHON) team of consultants 
will not only meet your expectations and has extensive Executive Selection experience.  
 
McMAHON’s Public Safety and Municipal Management Group has national and international public 
sector consulting experience.  Most of our clients are public sector entities: municipalities, counties, 
tribes, or special districts.  Our team of consultants are all senior level staff and are either current 
or former municipal management practitioners.  An important component of our approach is 
frequent communication with the City Administration.  
 
Our extensive operational and strategic experience in the public management area uniquely 
qualifies us for a project of this nature. The team has management, operational, technical, and 
consulting experience with all types of municipal and public management experience.   
 
Thank you again for the opportunity to submit this proposal. If you have any questions or desire to 
schedule a meeting where we can present our proposal in more detail and answer any questions, 
please feel free to contact me at 920-875-0501 or by email at lgosz@mcmgrp.com. We look forward 
to working with you on this important project!  
 
Respectfully, 
McMahon Associates, Inc. 

  

Lori Gosz           Jeffrey R. Roemer 
Senior Public Management Team Leader     Public Safety Manager 
JRR:kmh 

mailto:lgosz@mcmgrp.com


EXECUTIVE SELECTION PROPOSAL 

P a g e  | 4 

Professional Consulting Services 

 
 
 

 

McMAHON provides professional, high quality public management consulting, project management 
and other related services to organizations throughout the United States and abroad. Our 
consultants have served the needs of numerous municipalities throughout the United States and 
remain very active with several public safety and government related organizations including:  

◼ Wisconsin City/County Management Association 

◼ International City/County Management Association 

◼ Wisconsin State Fire Chiefs Association 

◼ International Association of Fire Chiefs 

◼ International Association of Police Chiefs 

◼ Association of Public Safety Communications Officials 

◼ Paramedic Systems of Wisconsin 

◼ National Emergency Number Association 

◼ National Police Protection Association 

◼ Wisconsin Society of Certified Public Managers 

◼ Wisconsin State Police Chiefs Association 

◼ Wisconsin Association of Public Safety Communications Officials 
 

Our consultants possess in-depth knowledge of relevant aspects of public service, which includes 
administration, communications, organization, labor relations, human resources, economics, and 
standards. This knowledge allows us to provide clients with an intellectual and objective analysis of 
the information received. This information is then presented in an easily understood format, 
allowing policy boards to make knowledgeable and informed decisions. 
 
Project progress is measured against an established work plan, timetables, budget, and list of 
deliverables. Project methodology includes frequently scheduled progress meetings to discuss 
progress as well as new or unanticipated issues. The work plans are focused, coordinated, and 
logical. Project team members are also available throughout the duration of the project. 
  

  Qualifications 



EXECUTIVE SELECTION PROPOSAL 

P a g e  | 5 

Professional Consulting Services 

 

 Section 1 

Description of Firm & Project Team 

 

Our approach to this project requires a clear understanding of the current City of Fort Atkinson 
Public Safety organization, staffing, operations, administration, planning, and related concerns. The 
key elements of our methodology include: 

◼ A clear understanding of the project background, complex issues involved and the goals and 
objectives. 
 

◼ A work plan that is comprehensive, well designed, practical and provides for ample opportunity 
for client input. 
 

◼ Sufficient resources and a commitment to successfully completing the project within the 
desired time frame and at a reasonable cost. 

 
Client Input 
To complete a comprehensive Executive Selection Process and make specific recommendations, it 
is critical that we receive quality information from officials, staff, and members of the City of Fort 
Atkinson. Accordingly, our approach includes regular meetings with Administration, along with 
associated agencies that would have valuable information to communicate to the Service. 
 

Practical Recommendations 
Our goal is to provide you with recommendations that can be used now, and in the future, to 
improve the efficiency and effectiveness of the City of Fort Atkinson Fire Department during this 
transition. These recommendations need to be based on industry standards and legal 
considerations. 
 

Project Management 
A successful assessment and the provision of effective recommendations requires a special effort to 
ensure that all levels of the project receive adequate attention and those findings and 
recommendations are thoroughly coordinated. This is accomplished by the development and 
adherence to a project work plan, clear management team assignments and frequent 
communications with City Administration.  

 Methodology 



EXECUTIVE SELECTION PROPOSAL 

P a g e  | 6 

Professional Consulting Services 

 

 

 

Preliminary Planning and Development of Candidate Profile 
◼ Meet with the Police and Fire Commission and City Manager to discuss our recruitment 

approach, strategy, and methodology.  During this meeting we will also discuss salary, 
benefits, and other terms of employment so that we can be clear to potential candidates 
regarding the expectations of the Police and Fire Commission and City Manager. 

◼ Interview the members of the Police and Fire Commission, City Manager, Department 
Heads and other appropriate officials and staff for input on needed Fire Chief qualifications.   

◼ Provide a questionnaire to be completed by elected officials, staff members and other 
potential stakeholders asking for their ranking of key management characteristics that will 
be used to develop the core position profile. 

◼ Document and develop City’s expectations for the position and characteristics deemed 
desirable in the candidate that will be necessary to continue to provide excellence in 
municipal services. 

◼ Develop a candidate profile for the Fire Chief position and a community profile to attract 
top quality applicants. 

 

Advertising/Candidate Search 
◼ Develop the Fire Chief position advertisement based on the City’s candidate profile.  
◼ Recommend effective publications and announcement networks, avoiding those we have 

found costly and ineffective. 
◼ Place advertisements to obtain national exposure for the position. 
◼ Pursue potential candidates through firm resources and networks (i.e., websites inside and 

outside of Wisconsin, state, regional and national contacts we have developed over the 
years). 

 

Resume Review 
◼ Serve as the point of contact between candidates, the Police and Fire Commission and City 

Manager (Search Committee), answering candidate’s questions and providing additional 
information to candidates. 

◼ Review all resumes and match qualifications as indicated on resumes to the candidate 
profile and position requirements. 

◼ Summarize applicant information in an easy-to-read format for the Search Committee to 
review. 

 
Pre-Qualify Candidates 

◼ Facilitate a meeting with the Search Committee to review and narrow the list of applicants 
to ten (10) maximum for personal contact (first cut). 

◼ McMAHON will conduct telephone/virtual interviews with the first cut applicants. 

◼ Based on the telephone/virtual interviews, we will develop a summary of first cut applicants 
for the Search Committee review. 

 Scope of Work 



EXECUTIVE SELECTION PROPOSAL 

P a g e  | 7 

Professional Consulting Services 

◼ We will facilitate a meeting with the Search Committee to narrow the list of applicants to 
the top three to five (3 to 5) candidates (second cut) for further consideration. 

 

Personal Interviews 

◼ We will provide the Search Committee with a list of appropriate interview questions and 
conduct a brief interview training session to discuss those questions they can and cannot 
ask by law, to avoid any legal entanglements. 

◼ Schedule interviews with candidates. 

◼ Facilitate candidate interviews and make all necessary interview arrangements. 

◼ Review interview results with the Search Committee after the interviews are completed. 

◼ Offer our professional observations and assist the Police and Fire Commission and City 
Manager in reaching a consensus on a finalist through a facilitated meeting process which is 
designed to identify the strengths, weaknesses, and cultural fit of the finalists. 

 

Pre-Employment Checks of Finalist 

◼ Verify past employment history. 

◼ Obtain 3 - 5 professional references of finalist (our vast network of contacts in the municipal 
management profession frequently allows us to obtain references beyond that which is 
provided by the applicant). 

◼ Verify academic credentials of finalist. 

◼ Conduct a criminal, internet, and financial background check of the finalist.  
 

Employment Contract Negotiations 

◼ Obtain authority from the Police and Fire Commission and City Manager on the acceptable 
range of salary, benefits, and other conditions of employment to offer to the finalist. 

◼ Negotiate the employment agreement within the parameters established by the Police and 
Fire Commission and City Manager. 

◼ Draft the formal employment agreement for consideration by the Police and Fire 
Commission and City Manager and applicant. 
 

Employment Transition 

◼ We will meet with the current Fire Chief, Police and Fire Commission and City Manager 
(separately if desired) to discuss immediate and on-going issues in which the City is 
involved. 

◼ We will work with the Fire Chief finalist to ensure that he/she understands these issues and 
has a prioritized list that must be addressed to have a smooth transition. 

 
 
 
 
 
 



EXECUTIVE SELECTION PROPOSAL 

P a g e  | 8 

Professional Consulting Services 

 

 

 

 

Project Fee 

McMahon Associates, Inc. proposes to provide the Scope of Services described in this Proposal for 
the Executive Search Services as follows: 

 Lump Sum not to exceed: $16,000 

The breakdown of McMAHON hours for the various recruitment activities are based on estimates 
of what we know about the engagement at this time.  Hours are flexible should circumstances 
require.  The number of candidates in the pool will also have an impact on the consultant hours 
allocated for the project. 

 

◼ Meetings to flesh out desired candidate qualifications and management qualities, conduct 
survey with City stakeholders, prepare Candidate and Community Profile. 

 

◼ Develop advertisement, advertising plan and place advertisements. 

 

◼ Candidate Outreach – in state.  Includes developing written correspondence and phone calls to 
potential candidates. 

 

◼ Applicant screening – review all resumes, contact candidates for clarification of information 
provided, check candidate resumes against desired qualifications and prepare candidate 
summary report to Search Committee. 

 

◼ Phone/Skype and on-site interviews, both 1st and 2nd rounds, includes question development, 
Search Committee interview training, question/exercise preparation for each round, 
participation in the interviews and community meet and greet. 

 

◼ Prepare and negotiate Conditional Offer of Employment, Employment Agreement preparation, 
attend Board meeting. 

   
Upon acceptance of this Proposal, McMAHON will prepare an Agreement incorporating the Scope 
of Services and terms outlined here. All services will be provided in accordance with our General 
Terms & Conditions, dated March 19, 2020, which will be incorporated into the Agreement for 
reference. 
 
Invoices will be sent in four equal payments. 

 

  Project Fee / Schedule 



EXECUTIVE SELECTION PROPOSAL 

P a g e  | 9 

Professional Consulting Services 

Project Schedule 

McMAHON has the staff available to begin this project immediately upon award.  Based on our prior 
experience in projects like that requested in the RFP, recruitment and selection services of this 
nature typically will take 3 - 4 months to complete, plus any additional transition time needed for 
an individual to move to the area and begin employment.  
 
 

Weeks 1-4  5-8  9-12  13-16  

Preliminary  
Planning/Development of  
Candidate Profile 

     

Advertising/Candidate 
Search 

     

Resume Review       

Pre-Qualifying Candidates       

Personal Interviews         

Pre-Employment Checks 
of Finalists 

    

Employment Contract 
Negotiations 

    

Employment Transition     

  



EXECUTIVE SELECTION PROPOSAL 

P a g e  | 10 

Professional Consulting Services 

 

 

 

 

Personnel assigned to this project are selected from McMahon Associates, Inc. (McMAHON).  The 
Project Manager supervises the Project Team and clerical personnel support the team. The combined 
resources ensure that the client receives the best possible combination of professional attention. 
 
Lori M. Gosz – Senior Public Management Specialist 
Lori will serve as the project manager. She is a self-motivated, results driven professional with over 25 
years of municipal management experience in Northeast Wisconsin. A people, process and solution-
oriented leader who appreciates the needs of  the local government. Her focused experience is in human 
resource management, data research and analysis, operational and organizational studies, compliance 
to federal, state, and local regulations.  She has worked successfully with the Wisconsin Department of 
Administration, Department of Natural Resources, and Department of Transportation on grant funding 
and administration of numerous projects. 
 
Ed M. Henschel – Public Management Specialist 
Ed is a Public Management Specialist with 40 years of municipal management experience. Prior to 
joining McMAHON, he served as a City Manager for 30+ years, serving municipalities in Wisconsin and 
Michigan. He was the Executive Director of the Wisconsin City/County Management Association for 10 
years. He also has 20 years of municipal consulting experience conducting municipal recruitments, 
consolidation studies, department operation reviews, and labor negotiations. As a consultant, he has 
specialized in shared service and consolidation studies as well as management reviews for a wide range 
of municipal departments.  In 2019 he published a book entitled Municipal Shared Service and 
Consolidation Handbook. 
 
Kevin I. Bierce – Senior Public Safety Specialist 
Chief Bierce has been the Fire Chief for the City of Pewaukee Fire Department since 2008 where he 
oversees all emergency operations. Prior to becoming Chief, he worked in various positions to include 
Assistant Chief, Division Chief of Prevention, Captain, and Lieutenant. As Division Chief of Inspections, 
Kevin worked to combine the building inspection department of two communities under the authority 
of the Fire Department to create the Building Services Division overseeing building, zoning, and plan 
review of all structures in the Village and City of Pewaukee. He is a licensed building official and serves 
by appointment of the Governor of Wisconsin on the Wisconsin Commercial Building Code Council, 
responsible for the oversight and review of the Wisconsin Building Codes. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Project Team / Resumes 



EXECUTIVE SELECTION PROPOSAL 

P a g e  | 11 

Professional Consulting Services 

Gerald W. Kudek – Public Safety Specialist  

Gerald is an experienced and dedicated public safety professional with over 38 years of experience in 
the fire service. Starting as a paid-on-call firefighter, he advanced to a full time career and has served in 
every aspect of the fire department, from firefighter/EMT, Motor Pump Operator, Lieutenant in charge 
of Training, Battalion Chief, and to his last 10 years as Fire Chief. His strong leadership and relationship 
building skills were key as the department gained City Council approval of 9 new firefighter positions 
(without grant or referendum), as well as moving forward with new station construction and a station 
remodel. His areas of expertise include fiscal responsibility, problem solving, and innovative thinking.  
 

Brian E. Zalewski – Public Safety Specialist 
Brian is an accomplished and innovative leader with a robust industry network, offering expertise in 
public safety operations, emergency management, operational planning, and complex project 
management. He is an impactful team leader and proven professional communicator. Adept at 
combing motivational methods, team coordination, training and mentoring, strategic direction, and 
complex problem-solving to exceed the organization’s objectives. Recognized and formally 
commended for excellent servant leadership, diversity, strong collaborative relationships, 
interpersonal skills and a reputation of integrity. 
 

Mark D. Wiegert – Public Safety Specialist 

Mark is a collaborative team leader with more than 30 years of law enforcement experience. During this 
time, Mark conducted complex investigations, background checks, the management of a multimillion-
dollar budget and overseeing a staff of 70 people. He also served as an Emergency Medical Technician 
and firefighter for nearly 20 years with a paid-on-call service.  
 
Jeffrey R. Roemer – Public Safety Manager 
Jeff manages the PS&MM Division and will be a major resource for the entire project. He has over 35 
years of experience in public safety and is currently Public Safety Manager of the Public Safety & 
Municipal Management Group for McMAHON.  Jeff is a certified public manager and has been providing 
full-time public safety management consulting for the last 24 years.  He worked as a Fire Chief, Police 
Chief, EMS Director, and Emergency Management Director before moving into public management 
consulting. He has worked with over 300 public safety clients nationwide and internationally. 

  



EXECUTIVE SELECTION PROPOSAL 

P a g e  | 12 

Professional Consulting Services 

 

 

 

 

VILLAGE OF PALMYRA 
Executive Selection, Police and Fire Chief/Public Safety Director 
Kathleen Weiss, Village President 
Villpres@vi.palmyra.wi.gov  
262-495-8294 
 
TOWN OF BUCHANAN 
Executive Selection, Town Administrator and Management Counsel 
Karen Lawrence, Supervisor 1 
Supervisor1@townofbuchanan.wi.gov 
920-734-8599 
 
CITY OF WAUPACA 
Execute Selection, City Treasurer and Management Counsel 
Aaron Jenson, City Administrator 
ajenson@cityofwaupaca.org 
715-258-4411 
 
VILLAGE OF UNION GROVE 
Executive Selection, Administrator 
Steve Wicklund, Village President 
swicklund@uniongrove.net 
262-878-1818 
 
CITY OF WISCONSIN DELLS 
Executive Selection and Police Management Counsel 
Karen Terry, Administrator 
kterry@dellscitygov.com 
608-254-2012 X403 
 
CITY OF WAUTOMA 
Police Chief Selection 
Tommy Bohler, Administrator 
tommybohler@cityofwautoma.com 
920-787-4044 
 

  References 

mailto:Villpres@vi.palmyra.wi.gov
mailto:Supervisor1@townofbuchanan.wi.gov
mailto:ajenson@cityofwaupaca.org
mailto:swicklund@uniongrove.net
mailto:kterry@dellscitygov.com
mailto:tommybohler@cityofwautoma.com


EXECUTIVE SELECTION PROPOSAL 

P a g e  | 13 

Professional Consulting Services 

CITY OF CHILTON, WISCONSIN 
Executive Recruitment and Interim Services 
Tom Reinl, Mayor 
chiltonmayor@chiltonwi.com  
920- 849-2451 
 
 
CITY OF NEW HOLSTEIN, WISCONSIN 
Management Counsel and Executive Selection of Police Chief 
Cullen Peltier, City Administrator 
cullenp@cnhwi.org 
920- 898-5766 
 
CITY OF RHINELANDER, WISCONSIN 
Executive Selection, City Administrator 
Kristopher Hanus, Mayor 
khanus@rhinelanderwi.us  
715- 365-8600 
 

 

mailto:chiltonmayor@chiltonwi.com
mailto:cullenp@cnhwi.org
mailto:khanus@rhinelanderwi.us


W \ McM-Info \ Proposal SOQ \ 2023 Fee & Reimbursable Expenses Schedules \ McM-All Offices \ 2023 \ -2023 McM (Fee Schedule)  

McMahon Associates, Inc. Effective: 01/01/2023 
 

LABOR CLASSIFICATION HOURLY RATE 

Principal $196.00  

Senior Project Manager $196.00  

Project Manager $139.00 - $182.00  
Senior Engineer  $173.00 - $186.00  

Engineer $93.00 - $164.00 

Senior Engineering Technician $127.00 - $140.00 

Engineering Technician $80.00 - $116.00 

Senior Architect $166.00 - $186.00 
Architect $130.00 - $155.00 

Senior Land Surveyor $124.00 - $163.00 

Senior Public Management Specialist $155.00 

Public Management Specialist $127.00 

Senior Public Safety Specialist $155.00 
Public Safety Specialist $127.00 

Building Inspector Specialist $125.00 

Land Surveyor $116.00 

K-12 Administrative Specialist $118.00 

Land Surveyor Technician $80.00 - $103.00 

Surveyor Apprentice $66.00 
Erosion Control Technician $88.00 

Senior Hydrogeologist $196.00 

Senior Ecologist $187.00 

Environmental Scientist $95.00 - $107.00 

Senior G.I.S. Analyst $159.00 
G.I.S. Analyst $88.00 - $108.00 

Wetland Delineator $108.00 

Senior Designer $136.00 

Designer $87.00 - $117.00 

Senior On-Site Project Representative $117.00 
On-Site Project Representative $53.00 - $98.00 

State Plan Reviewer $139.00 

Certified Grant Specialist $141.00 

Graphic Designer $104.00 

Senior Administrative Assistant $90.00 – $101.00 
Administrative Assistant $80.00 

Intern $42.00 - $65.00 

Professional Witness Services $357.00 
 

NEENAH, WISCONSIN 
CORPORATE HEADQUARTERS 

Street Address: 
1445 McMAHON DRIVE 
NEENAH, WI  54956 

Mailing Address: 
P.O. BOX 1025 
NEENAH, WI  54957-1025 

Ph 920.751.4200  | Fax 920.751.4284 

Email: MCM@MCMGRP.COM 
Web: WWW.MCMGRP.COM 
 
 
1700 HUTCHINS ROAD 
MACHESNEY PARK, IL  61115 

Ph 815.636.9590  | Fax 815.636.9591 

Email: MCMAHON@MCMGRP.NET 
Web: WWW.MCMGRP.COM 
 
 
952 SOUTH STATE ROAD 2 
VALPARAISO, IN  46385 

Ph 219.462.7743  | Fax 219.464.8248 

Email: MCM@MCMGRP-IN.COM 
Web: WWW.MCMGRP.COM 

This Fee Schedule is subject to revisions 
due to labor rate adjustments and 
interim staff or corporate changes. 

http://www.mcmgrp.com/


 

W \ McM-Info \ Proposal SOQ \ 2023 Fee & Reimbursable Expenses Schedules \ McM-All Offices \ 2023 \  -2023 McM (Reimbursable Expenses Schedule)  

McMahon Associates, Inc. Effective: 01/01/2023 

 

DESCRIPTION  RATE 
  
REIMBURSABLE EXPENSES:  

Commercial Travel 1.1 of Cost 

Delivery & Shipping 1.1 of Cost 

Meals & Lodging 1.1 of Cost 

Review & Submittal Fees 1.1 of Cost 

Outside Consultants 1.12 of Cost 

Photographs & Models 1.1 of Cost 

Misc. Reimbursable Expenses & Project Supplies 1.1 of Cost 

Terrestrial Laser Scanner $1,500.00 

  
REIMBURSABLE UNITS:  

Photocopy Charges - Black & White $0.08/Image 

Photocopy Charges - Color / 8½” x 11”  $0.45/Image 

Photocopy Charges - Color / 8½” x 14” and 11” x 17”  $0.75/Image 

Mileage $0.75/Mile 

Mileage - Truck/Van $1.05/Mile 

All-Terrain Vehicle $60.00/Day 

Global Positioning System (GPS) $21.00/Hour 

Hand-Held Global Positioning System (GPS) $15.00/Hour 

Robotic Total Station $20.00/Hour 

Survey Hubs $0.45/Each 

Survey Lath $0.80/Each 

Survey Paint $6.00/Can 

Survey Ribbon $3.00/Roll 

Survey Rebars - 1¼“ $10.00/Each 

Survey Rebars - ¾”  $3.25/Each 

Survey Rebars - 5/8” $2.75/Each 

Survey Iron Pipe - 1” $3.50/Each 

Survey Steel Fence Post - 1” $5.00/Each 

Control Spikes $1.75/Each 
 

 

NEENAH, WISCONSIN 
CORPORATE HEADQUARTERS 

Street Address: 
1445 McMAHON DRIVE 
NEENAH, WI  54956 

Mailing Address: 
P.O. BOX 1025 
NEENAH, WI  54957-1025 

Ph 920.751.4200  | Fax 920.751.4284 

Email: MCM@MCMGRP.COM 
Web: WWW.MCMGRP.COM 
 
 
1700 HUTCHINS ROAD 
MACHESNEY PARK, IL  61115 

Ph 815.636.9590  | Fax 815.636.9591 

Email: MCMAHON@MCMGRP.NET 
Web: WWW.MCMGRP.COM 
 
 
952 SOUTH STATE ROAD 2 
VALPARAISO, IN  46385 

Ph 219.462.7743  | Fax 219.464.8248 

Email: MCM@MCMGRP-IN.COM 
Web: WWW.MCMGRP.COM 

http://www.mcmgrp.com/


Page 6 

CITY OF FORT ATKINSON, WISCONSIN JUNE 1, 2023 

 

 

City of Fort Atkinson 
 

Proposal to Provide Recruitment Services 

For the position of Fire Chief 

 

I hereby certify that I am authorized to make this offer on behalf of the named company and to 

bind said company to this proposal. By submitting this proposal, I hereby represent that the firm 

identified below is fully qualified to perform the services described to achieve the organization’s 

objectives in a professional manner. 
 

Name of Firm    

Address    

City/State/Zip    

Signature    

Name (Print)    

Title    
 

Telephone Number     

E-Mail Address     

Date Submitted    

 
 

PRICE PROPOSAL 
 

Total Cost of Activities - All costs related to travel, supplies, etc., are to be included. 

 
 

Total, not-to-exceed cost: $  

McMahon Associates, Inc

1445 McMahon Drive

Neenah, WI 54956

Lori Gosz

Senior Public Management Specialist

920-875-0501

lgosz@mcmgrp.com

Type text here

16,000

June 6, 2023



Fort Atkinson Fire 
Department                                                                                      

Fort Atkinson, Wisconsin 

 

 Proposal-Fire Chief Executive Recruitment 
 

 

 

                                                 

                                                                            
                                                

 

                      
 

 

 

 

       
             

                                                        Offices 
 

Jamestown, TN               Hanover Park, IL              Waukesha, WI              Strongsville, OH 
     (Corporate) 



2 

 

 

 
June 19, 2023 

 

Ms. Rebecca Houseman 

City Manager 

City of Fort Atkinson 

101 N. Main St. 

Fort Atkinson, WI 53538 

 

Dear Ms. Houseman, 

 

McGrath Consulting Group, Inc., in partnership with our subsidiary company McGrath Human 

Resources Group, is pleased to submit a proposal for conducting an executive search for the 

position of Fire Chief for the City of Fort Atkinson.  Our firm limits its executive search services 

to the top two administrative positions within an organization. 

 

Having the two divisions of our corporation allows input from two very diverse perspectives. 

Together we approach the recruitment process as a unified team but from different perspectives 

and backgrounds. McGrath Consulting Group, Inc. is enjoying its 23rd year of consulting, which 

includes 500 clients in 40 states.  Included in this hiring process will be an assessment test in 

which the final candidates appear before the hiring team/assessors and demonstrate their 

knowledge and experience utilizing various testing scenarios.  

 

This proposal will outline the methodology utilized by the consultants in determining the best 

candidate to become the next Fire Chief for the Fort Atkinson Fire Department. 

Please contact us if you require any additional information.  

 

Sincerely, 

Victoria McGrath, Ph.D. 
Victoria McGrath, Ph.D.                                                                                                                                      

CEO McGrath Human Resources Group 

  



3 

 

Company Qualifications 
McGrath Human Resources Group is a subsidiary of McGrath Consulting Group, Inc. and 

specializes in public sector consulting.  The principals of the companies bring over 50 years of 

experience in providing comprehensive organizational assessments and executive searches that 

are specifically designed to assist the organizations in securing a candidate that not only fits the 

required skills and qualifications but will also fit into the culture of the Fort Atkinson Fire 

Department.  Our firm specializes in public sector management and recruitment projects in over 

40 states and has over 23 years of experience including within the State of Wisconsin. 

 

The principals of McGrath Consulting are Dr. Tim McGrath, retired Fire Chief, and Dr. Victoria 

McGrath, the CEO of McGrath Human Resource Group.  Both Drs. Tim and Victoria McGrath 

have had significant experience in the hiring process ranging from the development of position 

descriptions and profiles, preparation of job descriptions, position advertising, screening of 

candidates, communication with client and candidates, and in interviewing governing officials, 

department members, and other identified stakeholders to gain a better understanding of the need 

attributes of the next Fire Chief.  In addition, Dr. Tim McGrath has extensive experience in the 

creation and administration of assessment center testing for the Fire Chief position. 

 

Recruitment Services 
McGrath Consulting Group, Inc. will provide complete recruitment services or tailor the process 

to best suit the needs of the Hiring Committee in the following areas: 

 

Planning  
Before a project begins, communication would be established among the principals of the Hiring 

Committee to identify the specific qualifications of the candidate and collect information 

regarding the department.  A specific work plan is then developed for the recruitment in order to 

ensure a smooth and effective start-up of the process.  

 

Interviews can also be held with officers of the fire department, representatives of 

employees/union members (if applicable), Board Members, governing officials, and other 

appropriate parties to ascertain the traits, skills, and qualifications of the next Fire Chief.  This 

information assists the consultants in selecting candidates and ensuring the interview and/or 

assessment process is tailored to meet the needs of the Fort Atkinson Fire Department. 

 

Client Input 
Our search methodology allows the client to have as much or little input as they desire; inasmuch 

we do all of the search steps for you, while allowing you to concentrate on making the final 

decision as to your next Fire Chief. 

 

Technical Advisor 
Throughout the project our consulting team will serve as technical advisors to address questions, 

concerns, or unique opportunities as they relate to the Fort Atkinson Fire Department.  Our firm 

has had the opportunity of conducting executive searches and successfully placing highly 

qualified candidates as Fire Chiefs in multiple states including Wisconsin. 

 



4 

 

Recruitment Literature Development 
Based on the above information, the consultants can prepare recruitment information to be 

distributed to all interested applicants.  A draft copy of all materials can be reviewed by the 

Hiring Committee prior to final distribution. 

 

Our firm will place the job announcement on government/public sector fire service websites and 

publications to ensure a comprehensive distribution in reaching out to a highly diverse and 

qualified cross section of candidates.  This type of recruitment typically yields the largest 

number of qualified candidates.  Placement of this advertisement in local newspapers most often 

does not yield a significant number of resumes; however, what is recommended is that the job 

should be posted in each of your fire stations.   

 

Applicant Packet  
If desired, the consultants will work with the Hiring Committee to prepare an application packet 

to be distributed to all interested applicants.  All completed application materials will be sent 

directly to the consultants. 

 

Candidate Screening 
The screening of applicants has multiple layers.  First, the consultants, via paper screening, will 

do the initial screening to ensure that applicants have the skills, qualifications, and traits as 

determined by the Hiring Committee.  Qualified candidate resumes are summarized and placed 

into a similar format – a candidate profile - that allows for equal assessment of the candidates.  

Second, communication between the Consultant and Hiring Committee will be arranged to 

review the candidates’ profiles. The consultants will work closely with the hiring committee in 

the valuation of the final candidates including an interview if desired.  

 

The candidates are divided into two primary groups – those completely matching the desired 

qualifications and those that only slightly lack some of the matching desired qualifications or 

equivalent qualifications.  A third group – candidates that do not meet the qualifications – will be 

listed by name and City only for review by the Hiring Committee.  

 

Reference Checks 
An initial reference check will be conducted of the final candidate(s) prior to the interview 

process and/or assessment center if desired by the Hiring Committee.  This check will be to 

verify employment, responsibilities, and answer any questions raised during the candidate review 

process.  In addition, an internet/social media search of the candidate’s name and former places 

of employment will be conducted; references will be called to verify resume information.  The 

criminal background check is the responsibility of the client. 

 

Interview 
The consultants will assist the Hiring Committee in the development of interview questions, as 

well as facilitate the interview process.  This includes scheduling applicants for the day, 

preparation of interview questions with copies for all interviewers, facilitating during the 

interviews, and assisting the interviewers in the decision-making process. Various interview 

types are available as determined such as zoom, conference etc. 

 



5 

 

Assessment Center Testing Option 
Our assessment center is a process that places the candidate in a testing environment that 

provides a high degree of reliability and insight into his/her supervisory, leadership, and/or 

management potential by testing skills and ability rather than just knowledge.  The candidates 

participate in a series of exercises designed to simulate his/her competency to perform a 

particular job.  

 

The assessment center process allows the assessors (as well as Board Members) to observe the 

candidates throughout the process; thus, evaluating each candidate’s organizational skills, 

leadership ability, stress tolerance, analytical skills, influence, delegation ability, decisiveness, 

sensitivity and/or empathy, communication techniques both verbal and non-verbal, ability to 

function as a team member, and his/her ethics.  

 

The assessment center testing process has both individual and group tasks that are observed by a 

series of assessors who have been trained by McGrath Consulting Group, Inc. in behavioral 

observation techniques.  The assessors observe the candidates throughout the entire testing 

process.  Each assessor will rank the candidates and then meet as a group and discuss and agree 

upon a composite evaluation of each candidate.  The make-up of the assessment team will 

consist of two or three retired or active Chief Fire/EMS Officers, one or two Human Resource 

specialists and a facilitator (total team five consultants).   

 

Assessment Center Testing has been found to be extremely beneficial in identifying candidates 

who are most apt to succeed.  The Hiring Committee is encouraged to check with the references 

listed as to the advantages of assessment testing. The assessments testing generally is conducted 

at a local area public Municipal or Township, Library building available to the hiring team with 

adequate rooms to conduct the various exercises. 

 

Note:  During an assessment center, candidates have downtime that can be filled in with 

interviews by other stakeholders such as fire department officers, employee groups, or 

community panel, etc.  This option will be discussed during the pre-planning phase of the 

recruitment.  

 

Assessment Center Testing Services:  
The consultants will provide the following: 

• A schedule for each candidate 

• A schedule for each assessor 

• Assessor training (review morning of the test) 

• Candidate orientation (prior to the test) 

• Develop, copy, and administer all testing materials for a maximum of four candidates; all 

materials for the assessors  

• Provide testing process materials for Board Members to follow during the assessment testing 



6 

 

o All materials remain the property of the McGrath Human Resources Group, as well as 
all/any written responses/notes by the candidates and/or assessors.  All documents will 
be collected and maintained in confidence by the consultants for a period of three years. 

• One test facilitator  

• Provide all evaluation criteria sheets and work sheets for the assessors 

• Provide leadership to the assessment team in evaluating candidates and identifying desirable 

candidate traits 

• Assist assessors in developing a candidate-ranking list to be forwarded to the Hiring 

Committee  

 

There are a series of exercises available to the Hiring Committee to choose from that will best 

match the particular challenges and opportunities facing your new Fire Chief.  

 

Note:  The Hiring Committee will be asked to identify a minimum of seven (7) candidates for 

selection; however, only four (4) candidates will be brought to an assessment center.  

Assessment centers with more than four candidates needs to be held on two consecutive days in 

order to provide ample testing opportunities.  This would not only require more time of the 

Hiring Committee and assessors but would also increase the cost of the proposal.  Through 

phone interviews, the Consultant can screen identified candidates to reach the four for the 

assessment center, as well as have two or three candidates as alternates.  The consultants will 

work closely with the hiring committee in their selection of the final candidates. 

 
Staff Qualifications 
Our team of consultants includes professionals who have held leadership positions as 

administrator, council members, public safety director, fire chief (municipal and district), police 

chief, EMS directors, legal advisor, university professor, and human resource specialists.  The 

following members will be a part of the recruitment team.  

 

 

Mike Stried – Executive Search Division Director is a senior consultant who heads up our 

recruitment team for public safety top executive positions. Chief Stried has over 35 years in the 

fire service and held a Chief officer’s position in both a volunteer and career fire/EMS 

department. Chief Stried is an adjunct faculty member at the National Fire Academy and has 

been a consultant with McGrath Consulting Group, Inc. for 13 years. Director Stried will be 

responsible for overseeing/conducting all aspects of your Executive Chiefs Search. 

  

 

Dr. Victoria McGrath – CEO of McGrath Human Resource Group a subsidiary of McGrath 

Consulting Group, Inc. has over 25 years of experience in the field of human resources in the 

public and private sector and ten years of recruitment experience in our consulting firm.  She has 

extensive experience in working on projects with both police and fire departments which include 

assessing leadership attributes.  

 



7 

 

Dr. Victoria McGrath received her doctoral degree from the University of Wisconsin-

Milwaukee, focusing on government and its efforts in efficiency.  She holds a master’s degree in 

management and a dual bachelor’s degree in business and labor relations.  She is an adjunct 

faculty member for Northwestern University and the University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee, in 

both the master’s and doctorate programs, teaching courses ion management, labor issues, 

recruitment and retention, public sector organizational behavior, and research and writing. 

 

Dr. Tim McGrath, CEO of McGrath Consulting Group, Inc. has retired as Fire Chief from two 

very diverse communities in Illinois and Wisconsin.  As an executive board member of the 

Illinois Fire Chiefs, he was active in the Association’s Service Bureau’s activities.  These 

included the recruitment, testing, and placement of fire department Chief Officers.  His practical 

experience and formal education in management initiatives brings a unique dimension to the 

consulting team. 

Dr. McGrath has a doctorate degree in Management and a dual master’s degree in public 

administration and management.  He also holds a Bachelor of Science in Education, and an 

associate degree in Fire Science Management.  Chief McGrath has been an adjunct faculty 

member at the bachelor level for Southern Illinois University; master’s level for Webster 

University; and hired by Northwestern University to teach in the United Arab Emirates.   

 

Other Team Members: 
• One Facilitator 

• Three Fire/EMS Chiefs 

• One HR Specialist 

References  
Braidwood Fire Protection District, IL (Executive Chief Search) 

Contact: Mr. Michael Dillon – District Trustee – email mdillon@braidwoodfire.org. Cell: (815) 

405-0881. 

 

Estes Valley Fire Protection District, CO (Executive Chief Search) 

Contact: Mr. Doug Klink – President Board of Directors – email: dougklink@gmail.com 

Cell: (970) 481-8162 

 

City of Wisconsin Rapids Fire Department, WI (Executive Chief Search) 

Contact: Mr. Ryan Hartman - HR Manager – email: rhartman@wirapids.org  (715)421-8245 

 

South Shore Fire Department-Mt. Pleasant, WI  (Executive Chief Search) 

Contact: Chief Robert Stedman (262) 995-1210  email: rstedman@mtpleasantwi.gov  

 

Sun Prairie Volunteer Fire Department, WI (Executive Chief Search and EMS Director) 

Contact: Chief Christopher Garrison (608) 837-5066 email: cgarrison@cityofsunparaiie.com  or 

Aaron Oppenheimer – City Administrator: - email: aoppenheimer@cityofsunprairie.com.   

(608) 825-1193. 

 

 

mailto:mdillon@braidwoodfire.org
mailto:dougklink@gmail.com
mailto:rhartman@wirapids.org
mailto:rstedman@mtpleasantwi.gov
mailto:aoppenheimer@cityofsunprairie.com


8 

 

City of South Milwaukee, WI Fire Department (Executive Chief Search) 

Contact: Mr. Patrick Brever-Asst. City Administrator (414)768-8051 email: brever@smwi.org  

 

Cy-Fair Volunteer Fire Department, TX (Executive Chief Search) 

Contact: Fire Chief Amy Ramon – former ESD #9 General Manager – (281) 550-6663; email 

amy.ramon@cyfairvfd.org.  

 

City of O’Fallon, IL  (EMS Department Assessment) 

Contact: Ms. Pamala Funk – Assistant City Administrator – email: pfunk@ofallon.org Office: 

(618) 624-4500 or Fire Chief Brent Saunders – email: bsaunders@ofallon.org  (618) 622-1461  

 

Boulder Rural Fire Rescue, CO (Executive Chief Search) 

Contact: Fire Chief Greg Schwab – (303) 530-9575 – email: gschwab@brfr.org 

 

Colorado River Fire-Rescue, CO (Executive Chief Search) 

Contact: Mr. Alan Lambert – Board President – (970) 618-6318 – email: alan.lambert@CRFR.us 

 

Other Services 

Applicant Communication 
The Consultants will be the primary communication source for all applicants.  They will keep the 

candidates apprised of the process, notify the candidates if no longer in consideration, and will 

also provide feedback to the applicants of their performance during the interview process.  

 

Hiring Committee/Department Staff Time 
The Consultant’s will require some time of the Hiring Committee and/or department’s staff in 

coordinating room needs, scheduling interview dates with all appropriate personnel, arranging 

candidate hotel accommodations (if needed), and directions for the candidates.  Further, on the 

date of the interview, assisting the consultants and candidates in room logistics, directions, and 

arranging for lunch to be brought in for the interview team.  The Consultant’s will be responsible 

for the development and copying of all recruitment and assessment materials, as well as 

arranging for interview times with the candidates.  The Consultant’s will also gather and have 

prepared any pre-interview assignments for the applicants, along with sufficient copies for the 

interview team’s review on the day of the interview. 

 

Timeline 
McGrath Consulting Group, Inc. takes pride in meeting its time commitments.  Our firm is large 

enough to have the resources for a successful project, yet small enough to make each client a 

priority.  A selection process typically can be completed within 3 – 3.5 months.   

  

There are factors that impact the scheduling that may be out of the control of the Consultants.  

The proposed time frame is contingent upon timely meetings, receipt of information from the 

Hiring Committee, scheduling of dates, etc. 

 

mailto:brever@smwi.org
mailto:amy.ramon@cyfairvfd.org
mailto:pfunk@ofallon.org
mailto:bsaunders@ofallon.org
mailto:gschwab@brfr.org
mailto:alan.lambert@CRFR.us


9 

 

Costs 
Executive Recruitment:  screening, recruitment, and interview process only:   

(as outlined within this proposal) ….....................................…………. $15,500 

 

Assessment Center Services: Assessment Center testing only: 

(as outlined in this proposal) ..................................................................$18,995 

 

Combined Savings: Executive Recruitment & Assessment Center:   All services outlined in the 

proposal …………................................................................................. $23,325 

  

Costs include consultant(s) time, travel expenses, copies, and all testing materials/supplies.  

Costs do not include advertisement(s), costs associated with candidates (travel, lodging, meals, 

etc.), costs associated with interview/assessment testing rooms and/or meals, or licensing fees to 

conduct business with the City of Fort Atkinson. 

 

The client will be billed 15% of the total upon signing of the contract. The remaining 85% will 

be billed upon completion of the executive search.  

  

Project price is good for 60 days from July 1, 2023. 

 

Guarantee: 

The Consultants will work with the Hiring Committee until an acceptable candidate is offered 

and accepts the position.  If the Hiring Committee contracts both the executive search, 

assessment testing, and chooses a candidate listed in the Category 1 grouping by the consultants, 

and the recruitment process needs to be repeated for these two reasons: 1) the finalist withdraws 

prior to starting the position; or 2) if within one year of appointment the client dismisses the 

individual, our firm will repeat the entire process,  The City of Fort Atkinson would only be 

responsible for the following costs: recruitment team and candidate travel expenses, 

advertisements, and assessor costs (if the assessment testing option is repeated).  All other costs 

would be waived. 

 

Final Word 
This proposal outlines a general scope of services for the recruitment of the Fire Chief.  We will 

work with the Hiring Committee to develop a recruitment process that fits the needs of the fire 

department.  Please feel free to contact us if you have any questions regarding this proposal.   

 

We look forward to working with you. 

 

Sincerely, 

Victoria McGrath, Ph.D. 
Victoria McGrath, Ph.D.                                                                                                                                   

CEO – McGrath Human Resources Group   

 

 



 

 

 

 

Fort Atkinson, Wisconsin 

Fire Chief Recruitment & Selection 
 
June 20, 2023 
 

 
 
630 Dundee Road 
Suite 225 
Northbrook, IL 60062 
 
 
Primary Contact Person:  
Laurie Pederson 
Director of Administrative Services 
847-380-3198 
LPederson@GovHRusa.com  
 

 

 

  

mailto:LPederson@GovHRusa.com


 

Fort Atkinson, Wisconsin – Fire Chief  2 

Table of Contents 

Cover Letter .................................................................................................................................................. 3 

Firm Experience and Qualifications .............................................................................................................. 4 

Our Leadership .......................................................................................................................................... 4 

Our Team Qualifications ............................................................................................................................... 5 

References .................................................................................................................................................... 5 

Project Approach and Strategy ..................................................................................................................... 6 

Phase I: Position Assessment, Position Announcement & Brochure ........................................................ 6 

Phase II: Advertising, Candidate Recruitment & Outreach ....................................................................... 7 

Phase III: Candidate Evaluation & Screening ............................................................................................ 7 

Phase IV: Presentation of Recommended Candidates ............................................................................. 8 

Phase V: Interviewing Process & Background Screening .......................................................................... 8 

Phase VI: Appointment of Candidate ........................................................................................................ 9 

Project Timeline ............................................................................................................................................ 9 

Challenges to a Successful Fire Chief Search in Today’s Market .................................................................. 9 

Commitment to Diversity, Equity & Inclusion in Recruitments .................................................................. 10 

Cost Proposal .............................................................................................................................................. 11 

The GovHR Guarantee ................................................................................................................................ 12 

Optional Assessment Center ....................................................................................................................... 12 

Why Choose GovHR? .............................................................................................................................. 13 

Contract Signature Page ............................................................................................................................. 14 

Optional Services ........................................................................................................................................ 15 

 

Attachments 

Consultant Biography    

Client List  

Sample Brochure  



 

Fort Atkinson, Wisconsin – Fire Chief  3 

Cover Letter 

June 20, 2023 
Ms. Rebecca Houseman 
City Manager 
101 N. Main St. 
Fort Atkinson, WI 53538 
 
Dear Ms. Houseman and Members of the Fort Atkinson Police and Fire Commission: 

 

Thank you for the opportunity to provide you with a proposal for the Fire Chief recruitment and selection 
process for the City of Fort Atkinson, Wisconsin. GovHR USA (“GovHR”) prides itself on a tailored, personal 
approach to executive recruitment and selection, able to adapt to your specific requirements for the 
position.  

GovHR is a public management consulting firm serving municipal clients and other public-sector entities 
on a national basis. Our headquarters offices are in Northbrook, Illinois. We are a certified Female Business 
Enterprise and work exclusively in the public sector. We have 21 full-time and 8 permanent part-time 
employees including 6 full-time recruiters and 26 additional project consultants. Our employees and 
project consultants are located across the country, giving us a national presence. GovHR offers customized 
executive recruitment services and completes other management studies and consulting projects for 
communities.  

GovHR Vice President Tim Sashko will be responsible for your recruitment and selection process. Mr. 
Sashko served as a Fire Chief in Illinois for over 36 years, and has conducted numerous Fire Chief 
recruitments since joining GovHR in 2017. He has also participated in several Assessment Centers for Fire 
Chief candidates, and can coordinate one for the City of Fort Atkinson, if desired. Mr. Sashko’s biography 
is attached to the proposal and his contact information is:   
 

Tim Sashko 

 Vice President, GovHR USA LLC 

Telephone: 847-561-3886 

TSashko@GovHRusa.com 

 
We believe we have provided you with a comprehensive proposal; however, if you would like a service 
that you do not see, let us know. Please contact Laurie Pederson, Director of Administrative Services, 847-
380-3198, if you have questions regarding our proposal or need additional information. We look forward 
to hearing from you and hope to have the opportunity to work with you on this important recruitment. 
 
Sincerely, 

 
Judith Schmittgens 
Corporate Secretary and Compliance Manager 

Authorized Signatory  

mailto:TSashko@GovHRusa.com


 

Fort Atkinson, Wisconsin – Fire Chief  4 

Firm Experience and Qualifications 

GovHR is a public management consulting firm serving local government clients and other public-sector 

entities across the country. The firm was originally formed as Voorhees Associates in 2009 and changed 

its name to GovHR USA in 2013. Our headquarters are in Northbrook, Illinois. We are a certified Female 

Business Enterprise in the State of Illinois and work exclusively in the public and non-profit sectors. GovHR 

offers customized executive recruitment services, management studies and consulting projects for local 

government and organizations who work with local government.  

 

GovHR has 21 full-time and 8 permanent part-time 

employees including 6 full-time recruiters and 26 

additional project consultants who are based in 

Arizona, Colorado, Florida, Georgia, Illinois, 

Indiana, Massachusetts, Michigan, Minnesota, 

Ohio, Tennessee, Texas and Wisconsin, giving us a 

national presence. Additionally, GovTempsUSA, 

GovHR’s subsidiary, provides interim staffing 

solutions to keep operations moving during the 

recruitment process. 

 

Our consultants are experienced executive recruiters who have conducted over 1,000 recruitments, 

working with cities, counties, special districts, and other governmental entities of all sizes throughout the 

country. In addition, we have held leadership positions within local government, giving us an 

understanding of the complexities and challenges facing today’s public sector leaders. 

 

Our Leadership 

  
Heidi Voorhees 

President 
847-380-3240 

HVoorhees@GovHRusa.com 
 

Joellen Cademartori 
Chief Executive Officer 

847-380-3238 
JCademartori@GovHRusa.com  

Ms. Voorhees has conducted more than 400 
recruitments in her management consulting career, 

with many of her clients being repeat clients, attesting 
to the high quality of work performed for them. In 

addition to her 17 years of executive recruitment and 
management consulting experience, Ms. Voorhees has 

19 years of local government leadership and 
management service, including ten years as Village 

Manager for the Village of Wilmette, Illinois. 

Ms. Cademartori is a seasoned manager, with expertise 
in public sector human resources management. She has 

held positions from Human Resources Director and 
Administrative Services Director to Assistant Town 

Manager and Assistant County Manager. Ms. 
Cademartori has worked in forms of government 

ranging from Open Town Meeting to Council-Manager 
and has supervised all municipal and county 

departments ranging from Public Safety and Public 
Works to Mental Health and Social Services. 

mailto:HVoorhees@GovHRusa.com
mailto:JCademartori@GovHRusa.com


 

Fort Atkinson, Wisconsin – Fire Chief  5 

Our Team Qualifications 

 
GovHR Vice President Tim Sashko will be responsible for your recruitment and selection process. Mr. 

Sashko’s biography is attached to this proposal and his contact information is:   

Tim Sashko 

Vice President, GovHR USA LLC 

Telephone: 847-561-3886 

TSashko@GovHRusa.com 

 

Prior to joining GovHR in 2017, Mr. Sashko served as the Fire Chief in Mundelein, Illinois and in Buffalo 

Grove, Illinois and also served as the Executive Director for the Illinois Fire Chiefs Association.  Mr. Sashko 

is currently working on recruitments for Fire Chiefs in Urbandale and Clive, Iowa, and Grand Rapids, 

Michigan. These recruitments are in varying stages of the search process, and Mr. Sashko has the time 

required to devote to a comprehensive search for Fort Atkinson’s next Fire Chief. Mr. Sashko’s complete 

client list can be found on our website at www.govhrusa.com. 

Mr. Sashko will act as your project manager and primary point of contact for this project, and he will be 
assisted with administrative tasks and reference checks by a home office Recruitment Coordinator and a 
Reference Specialist. 
 

References 

We are a proven leader in public sector consulting. More than one-third of the organizations served by 

GovHR are repeat clients. Our team provides a growing pool of highly qualified candidates who are well-

suited to handle the challenges and expectations of professional positions in local government and the 

not-for-profit sector. The following references can speak to the quality of service provided by GovHR. 

 
Beloit, WI (Battalion Chiefs (3), 2022) - Tim Sashko 
(Fire Chief, 2020) - Tim Sashko 
(Assistant Fire Chief & Deputy Fire Chief, 2017) - Heidi Voorhees & Tim Sashko 
Hannah Kuehne, Human Resources Director       
608-364-6612 
kuehneh@beloitwi.gov 
Daniel Pease, Fire Chief     
rykowskid@beloitwi.gov 
 
Menomonee Falls, WI (Fire Chief, 2020) - Lee Szymborski & Tim Sashko 
Mark Fitzgerald, Village Manager   
262-532-4200 
mfitzgerald@menomonee-falls.org 
 
South Milwaukee, WI (Fire Chief, 2022) - Tim Sashko 
Patrick Brever, Assistant City Manager/Economic Development Director 
414-768-8051 
brever@smwi.org 

mailto:TSashko@GovHRusa.com
http://www.govhrusa.com/
mailto:kuehneh@beloitwi.gov
mailto:rykowskid@beloitwi.gov
mailto:brever@smwi.org


 

Fort Atkinson, Wisconsin – Fire Chief  6 

 
Dubuque, IA (Fire Chief, 2022) - Tim Sashko 
Kecia Dougherty, Human Resources Strategic Workforce Equity Coordinator 
563-589-4100 
Kdougher@cityofdubuque.org 
 
Marion, IA (Fire Chief, 2022) - Tim Sashko 
Ryan Waller, City Manager    
319-743-6300 
rwaller@cityofmarion.org 
 
Orlando, FL (Fire Chief, 2022) - Tim Sashko 
Ana Palenzuela, Human Resources Director   
407-246-2057 
ana.palenzuela@cityoforlando.net 
 
GovHR has conducted approximately 70 Fire Chief recruitments since the firm’s inception. A list of these 
recruitments is included with this proposal, and a complete list of clients is located on our website at 
www.govhrusa.com. We are happy to provide you with contact information for any of these additional 
clients upon request. 
 

Project Approach and Strategy 

A typical recruitment and selection process takes approximately 175 hours to conduct. At least 50 hours 

of this time is administrative, including advertisement placement, reference interviews, and due diligence 

on candidates. We believe our experience and ability to professionally administer your recruitment will 

provide you with a diverse pool of highly qualified candidates for your position search. GovHR clients are 

informed of the progress of their recruitment throughout the entire process. We are always available by 

mobile phone or email should you have a question or need information about the recruitment. 

 

Phase I: Position Assessment, Position Announcement & Brochure 
GovHR treats each executive recruitment as a transparent partnership with our client. We believe in 
engaging with stakeholders early in each recruitment process to fully understand the challenges and 
opportunities inherent in the position. Understanding the organizational culture is critical to a successful 
recruitment. We gain this insight and information through meetings (one on one and small groups), 
surveys and a review of relevant information. This information is reflected in a polished marketing piece 
that showcases the organization and the area it serves. 

Information Gathering: 
➢ One-on-one or group interviews with stakeholders identified by the client. 

➢ GovHR can establish a dedicated email address for feedback from stakeholders or the community. 

➢ Community forums (In-person or via video) can be used to gather input and feedback. 

➢ Surveys can be used for department personnel and/or the community to gather feedback. 

➢ Conversations/interviews with department heads. 

A combination of the above items can be used to fully understand community and organizational needs 

and expectations for the position (this proposal includes 12 hours of meetings – additional meetings can 

mailto:Kdougher@cityofdubuque.org
mailto:rwaller@cityofmarion.org
mailto:ana.palenzuela@cityoforlando.net
http://www.govhrusa.com/


 

Fort Atkinson, Wisconsin – Fire Chief  7 

be added for a fee of $150/hour plus actual expenses if incurred. Dedicated email address and one 

organizational survey are included. Community Survey can be conducted for $2,500. Community Forums 

can be conducted as an optional service.  

Development of a Position Announcement to be placed on websites and social media.  

Development of a thorough Recruitment Brochure for client review and approval.  

Agreement on a detailed Recruitment Timetable – a typical recruitment takes between 90 to 120 days 
from the time you sign the contract to appointment of the finalist candidate.  
 

Phase II: Advertising, Candidate Recruitment & Outreach 
We make extensive use of social media as well as traditional outreach methods to ensure a diverse and 

highly qualified pool of candidates. In addition, our website is well known in the local government industry 

– we typically have 14,000+ visits monthly to our website and career center. Additionally, our weekly jobs 

listings are sent to over 7,000 subscribers.  

 

Phase II will include the following:  

➢ GovHR consultants will personally identify and contact potential candidates. 

➢ Develop a database of potential candidates from across the country unique to the position and to 

the Client, focusing on: 

o Leadership and management skills 

o Size of organization  

o Experience in addressing challenges and opportunities also outlined in Phase I  

o The database will range from several hundred to thousands of names and an email blast will 

be sent to each potential candidate.  

➢ Placement of the Position Announcement in appropriate professional online publications: 

o Public sector publications & websites (approximately 20 online sources) 

o Social media: LinkedIn (over 20,000 connections), Facebook and Instagram 

o GovHR will provide you with a list of advertising options for approval 

 

Phase III: Candidate Evaluation & Screening 
Phase III will include the following steps: 

➢ Review and evaluation of candidates’ credentials considering the criteria outlined in the 

Recruitment Brochure  

➢ Candidates will be narrowed down to those candidates that meet the qualification criteria 

➢ Candidate evaluation process: 

o Completion of a questionnaire explaining prior work experience 

o Live Video Interview (45 minutes to 1 hour) conducted by consultant with each finalist 

candidate 

o References provided by the candidate are contacted 

o Internet/Social Media search conducted on each finalist candidate 

 

All résumés will be acknowledged and inquiries from candidates will be personally handled by GovHR, 

ensuring that the Client’s process is professional and well regarded by all who participate.  



 

Fort Atkinson, Wisconsin – Fire Chief  8 

 

Phase IV: Presentation of Recommended Candidates 
Phase IV will include the following steps: 

➢ GovHR will prepare a Recruitment Report presenting the credentials of those candidates most 

qualified for the position.  

➢ GovHR will provide an electronic recruitment portfolio which contains the candidates’ materials 

along with a “mini” résumé for each candidate so that each candidate’s  

credentials are presented in a uniform way.  

➢ Client will receive a log of all applicants and may review résumés if requested.  

➢ Report will arrive in advance of the Recruitment Report Presentation.  

 

GovHR will spend approximately 2 hours with the Client reviewing the recruitment report and providing 

additional information on the candidates. 

  

Phase V: Interviewing Process & Background Screening 
Phase V will include the following steps: 

GovHR will:  

➢ Develop the first and second round interview questions for your review and comment 

➢ Coordinate candidate travel and accommodations 

➢ Provide you with an electronic file that includes: 

o Candidates’ credentials 

o Set of questions with room for interviewers to make notes  

o Evaluation sheets to assist interviewers in assessing the candidate’s skills and abilities 

  

Background screening will be conducted along with additional references contacted:  
  

GovHR USA Background Screening 

✓ Social Security Trace & Verification  ✓ County/Statewide Criminal 

✓ U.S. Federal Criminal Search  ✓ Civil Search 

✓ Enhanced Verified National Criminal 

- National Sex Offender Registry 

- Most Wanted Lists FBI, DEA, ATF, 

Interpol 

- OFAC Terrorist Database Search 

- OIG, GSA, SAM, FDA 

- All felonies and misdemeanors  

reported to the National Database 

 ✓ Bankruptcy, Leans and Judgements 

 ✓ Motor Vehicle Record 

 ✓ Education Verification – All Degrees Earned 

 Optional: Credit Report – Transunion with score 

(based on position and state laws) 

 Optional:  

Professional License Verification  

Drug Screen 

Employment Verification 

 

GovHR will work with you to develop an interview schedule for the candidates, coordinating travel and 

accommodations. GovHR consultants will be present for all the interviews, serving as a resource and 

facilitator.  



 

Fort Atkinson, Wisconsin – Fire Chief  9 

 

GovHR will coordinate a 2-Step Interview process. The first round interviews will include four to five 

candidates. The second round interviews will include two or three candidates. GovHR will supply interview 

questions and an evaluation form.  

 

In addition to a structured interview, the schedule can incorporate: 

➢ Tour of Client facilities 

➢ Interviews with senior staff 

 

Phase VI: Appointment of Candidate 
➢ GovHR will assist you as much as you request with the salary and benefit negotiations and 

drafting of an employment agreement, if appropriate.  

➢ GovHR will notify all applicants of the final appointment, providing professional background 

information on the successful candidate. 

 

Project Timeline 

Week  

1 

Week  

2 

Week 

3 

Week 

4 

Week 

5 

Week 

6 

Week  

7 

Week  

8 

Week 

9 

Week 

10 

Week 

11 

Week 

12 

Week 

13 

Week 

14 

Phase I Phase II Phase III Phase 

IV 

Phase V Phase VI 
 

Weeks 1 & 2  Phase 1: Interviews & Brochure Development 

Weeks 3 thru 6  Phase 2: Advertising, Candidate Recruitment & Outreach 

Weeks 7 thru 9  Phase 3: Candidate Evaluation & Background Screening 

Week 10  Phase 4: Presentation of Recommended Candidates 

Week 11 & 12  Phase 5: Interview Process & Additional Background Screening 

Weeks 13 & 14  Phase 6: Appointment of Candidate 

 

Challenges to a Successful Fire Chief Search in Today’s Market 

Attached to this proposal are some thoughts from Mr. Sashko on recruiting Fire Chiefs in today’s market, 

and how GovHR and Mr. Sashko are uniquely qualified and equipped to handle these challenges for the 

Fort Atkinson Fire Chief search process.  



 

Fort Atkinson, Wisconsin – Fire Chief  10 

Commitment to Diversity, Equity & Inclusion in Recruitments 

GovHR has a long-standing commitment to Equity, Diversity and Inclusion in all of our recruitment and 

selection processes. Since our firm's inception we have supported, with our time and financial resources, 

organizations that advance women and other underrepresented minorities in local government. These 

include the National Forum for Black Public Administrators, the Local Government Hispanic Network, The 

League of Women in Government and CivicPride.  

 

GovHR Team Members have moderated and spoken on DEI initiatives at the International City and 

County Management Association conference and state conferences in Illinois, Michigan, Wisconsin, and 

North Carolina. Our employees and consultants have undergone Implicit Bias Training and we are 

frequent speakers on incorporating DEI values into recruitment and selection processes. We have a list of 

DEI resources on the front page of our website (https://www.govhrusa.com/diversity-equity-and-

inclusion-resources/) that can be accessed by anyone who visits our website.  

 

GovHR has formally partnered with the National Forum for Black Public Administrators' consulting arm, 

i4x, in several recruitment and selection processes throughout the country including Toledo, OH, Fort 

Collins, CO, Ann Arbor, MI, Oakland, MI and Arlington, TX. Our partnership reflects our mutual 

commitment to advancing DEI values and increasing the diversity of local government leaders at the 

highest levels of local government organizations. We can provide you with an estimate for additional fees 

if the City would like to include i4x consultants the City’s Fire Chief recruitment. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

https://www.govhrusa.com/diversity-equity-and-inclusion-resources/
https://www.govhrusa.com/diversity-equity-and-inclusion-resources/


 

Fort Atkinson, Wisconsin – Fire Chief  11 

Cost Proposal 

Summary of Costs Price 

Recruitment Fee: 

Phase I - Assessment, Ad and Brochures Development - $3888.47 

Phase II - Advertising & Outreach - $2,737.48 

Phase III – Candidate Evaluation & Screening - $8,025.80 

Phase IV – Presentation of Candidates - $2,457.51 

Phase V – Interviewing Process - $3,079.67 

Phase VI – Appointment of Candidate - $311.07 

$20,500 

Recruitment Expenses: (not to exceed) 

Expenses include candidate due diligence efforts 

$1,500 

Advertising: 

 

Advertising costs over $2,500 will be placed only with client 

approval. If less than $2,500, Client is billed only for actual cost. 

$2,500* 

Total: $24,500* 

 
*Consultant travel expenses are not included in the price proposal. If the consultant is requested to travel 
to the client, we estimate not-to-exceed travel expenses of $1,500. Only actual expenses will be billed to 
the client for reimbursement to GovHR.  
 
Possible in-person meetings could include:  1. Recruitment brochure interview process  
      2. Presentation of recommended candidates 
      3. Interview Process  
  
Any additional consultant visits requested by the Client (beyond the three visits listed above) will be billed 
at $150/hour; $500 for a half day and $950 for a full day. The additional visits may also result in an increase 
in the travel expenses and those expenses will be billed to the client. This fee does not include travel and 
accommodations for candidates interviewed.  
 

Payment for Fees & Services 

 Professional fees and expenses will be invoiced as follows:  

1st Invoice upon acceptance of proposal: 40% of the Recruitment Fee 
2nd Invoice upon recommendation of candidates: 40% of the Recruitment Fee & expenses incurred to 
date 
Final Invoice upon completion: 20% of the Recruitment Fee plus all remaining expenses  
Payment of invoices is due within thirty (30) days of receipt (unless the client advises that its normal 

payment procedures require 60 days.)  



 

Fort Atkinson, Wisconsin – Fire Chief  12 

The GovHR Guarantee  

GovHR is committed to assisting our clients until a candidate is appointed to the position. Therefore, no 

additional professional fee will be incurred if the client does not make a selection from the initial group 

of recommended candidates and requests additional candidates be developed for interview 

consideration. If additional advertising beyond the Phase I advertising is requested, client will be billed for 

actual advertising charges. Reimbursable expenses may be incurred should the recruitment process 

require consultant travel to Fort Atkinson.  

  

Upon appointment of a candidate, GovHR provides the following guarantee: should the selected and 

appointed candidate, at the request of the Client or the employee’s own determination, leave the employ 

of the Client within the first 12 months of appointment, we will, if desired, conduct one additional 

recruitment for the cost of expenses and announcements only. This request must be made within 6 

months of the employee’s departure.  

 

Optional Assessment Center 

If requested, GovHR will perform an Assessment Center for candidates selected for interview as part of 

the selection process. An Assessment Center is a useful tool for identifying and evaluating the strengths, 

areas for improvement, skills, and abilities of the candidates. GovHR consultants will prepare all the 

related documents and scoring sheets for any three (3) of the following exercises to be completed on the 

Assessment Center day:  

 

 In-Basket Exercise  

 Written/Oral Presentation Exercise  

 Leaderless Group Exercise  

 Structured Interview  

 Budget Analysis Exercise  

 Personnel Issues Exercise 

 Other exercise of the Client’s choosing  

 

 Optional Assessment Center Fee: $8,500* 

  

*The fee assumes that the Assessment Center will be held on one day and be limited to no more than five 

candidates. For each additional candidate, the fee will increase by $750.  

  

The fee includes the preparation of the Assessment Center material and a written report outlining the 

findings of the Assessment Center as reported by the Assessors. We will assist the client in selecting three 

(3) professionals from outside the organization to serve as Assessors in evaluating each candidate’s 

strengths and weaknesses. The client will be responsible for paying a $750 stipend to each Assessor (and 

possible mileage or other transportation costs for the assessors).  

  

The Assessment Center fee does not include lodging, travel and meal expenses for the GovHR facilitator(s) 

to be on-site for the Assessment Center. Actual expenses will be billed in addition to the fee. If the client 

chooses to add the Assessment Center option, the fees and expenses for this will be billed separately. 

 



 

Fort Atkinson, Wisconsin – Fire Chief  13 

Why Choose GovHR? 
 

Unparalleled Expertise and Level of Service: We are a leader in the field of local government recruitment 

and selection with experience in 44 states, in communities ranging in population from 1,000 to 3,000,000. 

Since our establishment in 2009, more than 40% of our clients are repeat clients showing a high level of 

satisfaction with our work. We encourage you to call any of our previous clients. Surveys of our clients 

show that 94% rate their overall experience with our firm as Outstanding and indicate that they plan to 

use our services or highly recommend us in the future. 

 

Delivering the Best: We conduct comprehensive due diligence on candidates. Our state-of-the-art 

process, includes extensive use of social media for candidate outreach and video interviews with potential 

finalist candidates, ensure a successful recruitment for your organization. Our high quality, thorough 

Recruitment Brochure reflects the knowledge we will have about your community and your organization 

and will provide important information to potential candidates. Additionally, before we recommend a 

candidate to you, we will have interviewed them via video, conducted reference calls, and news media 

and social media searches. Our knowledge of local government ensures that we can ask probing questions 

that will verify their expertise.  

 

A Partner from Start to Finish: We are your partners in this important process. You are welcome to review 

all the resumes we receive, and we will share our honest assessment of the candidates. Our goal is your 

complete satisfaction. We can strategize with you on a variety of approaches for meeting your recruiting 

needs, including evaluation of internal candidates, identification of non-traditional candidates who meet 

your recruitment requirements, succession planning and mentoring options. We are committed to 

working with you until you find the candidate that is the best fit for your position. 

 

Services for Any Budget and Any Search: We strive to meet the specific needs of our clients. We offer 

several options for recruitment services to meet your needs and your budget. Our services range from 

Full Executive Recruitments to Virtual Recruitments and even simply Professional Outreach for those who 

want to reach a broader network. In the following proposal, we have provided the scope we believe that 

best fits your needs. However, you may find all our services here on our website. 

 

 

 

 

  

https://www.govhrusa.com/services/executive-recruiting/recruiting-services/


 

Fort Atkinson, Wisconsin – Fire Chief  14 

 

Contract Signature Page 

We believe we have provided you with a comprehensive proposal; however, if you would like a service 
that you do not see in our proposal, please let us know. We can most likely accommodate your request.  
  
This proposal will remain in effect for a period of six months from the date of the proposal. We look 
forward to working with you on this recruitment and selection process!  
 
Fort Atkinson, Wisconsin agrees to retain GovHR USA, LLC (“GovHR”) to conduct a Fire Chief Recruitment 

in accordance with its proposal dated June 20, 2023. The terms of the proposal are incorporated herein 

and shall become a part of this contract. 

 

ACCEPTED: 

 

Fort Atkinson, Wisconsin 

 

By: ____________________________________ 

 

Title: __________________________________ 

 

Date: __________________________________ 

 

Billing Contact: __________________________ 

 

Billing Contact Email: _____________________ 

 

 

GovHR USA, LLC 

 

By: ____________________________________ 

 

Title: ___________________________________ 

 

Date: ___________________________________ 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Fort Atkinson, Wisconsin – Fire Chief  15 

Optional Services 

GovTemps USA 
Need an Interim? GovTempsUSA, a subsidiary of GovHR USA, specializes in the temporary placement of 

positions in local government. The firm offers short-term assignments, in addition to long-term and 

outsourced arrangements. Our placement professionals at GovTempsUSA have typically enjoyed 

distinguished careers in local government and displayed a commitment to public service throughout their 

career.  

 
Recorded One-Way Video Interview of Candidates 
Candidates we recommend for your consideration can complete a one-way video interview with 3 to 5 

questions that will be recorded and which you can review electronically at your convenience. This can 

occur prior to making your decision on which candidates to invite for an interview. Cost $100 per 

candidate.  

 

Leadership/Personality Testing 
GovHR has experience working with a wide variety of leadership and personality assessment tools, 

depending on the qualities and experiences the client is seeking in their candidates. These include but 

are not limited to Luminaspark, Caliper, DISC and others. Depending on the evaluation type selected 

fees can range between $100 to $500 per candidate.  

 

360° Evaluation 
As a service to the Client, we offer the option to provide you with a proposal for a 360° performance 

evaluation for the appointed position at six months into his or her employment. This evaluation will 

include seeking feedback from both elected officials and department directors, along with any other 

stakeholder the Client feels would be relevant and beneficial. This input will be obtained on a confidential 

basis with comments known only to the consultant. If you are interested in this option, GovHR will prepare 

a proposal for this service. 

 

 

 
 

 



TIM SASHKO 

Chief T.E. Sashko (retired) is a Vice President with GovHRUSA and is a 38-year veteran of the fire 
service and is a state certified Fire Officer III in Illinois. 

He began serving in the fire service as a paid-on-call firefighter/paramedic with the Village of Buffalo Grove, IL in 1979 retiring as the fire 
chief/EMA Director and following his career in Buffalo Grove he served the Village of Mundelein as the fire chief/EMA Director. He served as 
the Executive Director for the Illinois Fire Chiefs Association as is a Past-President.  He is a member of the Lake County Board of Health since 
2003 and was honored to be elected as the President/Chairman in November of 2013 and continues to function in that role.  The Lake 
County Health Department is a $85(+) million/year Federally Qualified Health Care and Local Public Health Department provider employing 
over 900+ personnel in Lake County, IL.  He represents the Health Department on various committees for Lake County and advisory boards 
for the United Way of Lake County and the Lake County Veterans and Family Services Foundation.  He was one of the founding members of 
the successful Lake/Cook Critical Incident Protocol promoting public and private partnerships in planning and preparedness for emergency 
management coordinated by Michigan State University.   
 

He has an extensive background in labor relations and has negotiated numerous contracts successfully. He was instrumental in creating 
succession plans for both municipalities he served to provide the necessary guidance and direction for the development of personnel as well 
as employee performance rating systems for current performance and predictive performance for personnel advancement. During his 
career, he has coordinated various strategic plans and Emergency Operational Plans.  He broadened initiatives that provided fiscal balance, 
while maintaining high-level service profile and Community Risk Reduction  strategies within the communities he served. He has been active 
in legislation development, management, negotiations, and representation at the local, county, state, and federal levels both in public safety 
and public health.  Throughout the past 10+ years he has been focused on providing a balanced, professional approach to critical issues 
governed within Illinois in emergency medical services, public health, fire service and community driven emergency service delivery. 

PROFESSIONAL EDUCATION 
• Bachelor’s degree in Management, Southern Illinois University 
 

MEMBERSHIPS AND AFFILIATIONS 
• Chairman, Combined Area Fire Training Partnership  

• Lake County Board of Health, President 

• Operation North Pole, Board Member  
• Greater Chicago Red Cross Heroes Program, Former Member 

• W.S. Darley Corporation, Fire Advisory Board Member  

• United Way of Lake County - 2-1-1, Advisory Board Member 

• United Way of Lake County - 2-1-1, Disaster Planning          
Committee , Chair 

• Illinois Fire Chiefs Association, Former President  

• Metropolitan Fire Chiefs Association, Former President 

• Lake County Fire Chief’s Association, Former President 

• Lake and McHenry Counties Specialized Response Teams,          
Former Chairman 

• Illinois Fire Chiefs Foundation Fund Raising Committee,  
        Former Chair 
• Metropolitan Fire Chiefs Association, Former Director 

• Illinois Fire Chiefs Association, Former Area Representative 

• Trauma Region X, Former Committee Member 

• Buffalo Grove Exchange Club, Former Founder and President  

• Libertyville, Vernon Hills, Mundelein Exchange Club, Former  
        Member 
 

AWARDS 
• Illinois Association of Blood Banks 
• Chief of the Year, Illinois Fire Chief’s Association - 2006 

• Alumni of the Year from Buffalo Grove High School 

• ADRP International Division of ABC – 2019 International  
Humanitarian Award 

 

PROFESSIONAL BACKGROUND 

• IChiefs Solutions, Mundelein, IL  2017 - Present 

• Lake County Board of Health   2003 - Present 

• Executive Director, Illinois Fire Chiefs  
        Association     2015 - 2017 

• Fire Chief/EMA Coordinator, Mundelein, IL  2007 - 2015 

• Fire Chief/EMA Coordinator, Buffalo Grove, IL 1979 - 2007 

P:  847.380.3240  www.govhrusa.com 



Mr. Sashko’s Thought on Challenges in Recruiting Fire Chiefs in Today’s Market 

GovHR USA (GovHR) specializes in a professional staff focused on the respective vocational experiences, 

education, and networking as a premiere service to government agencies for focused recruitments.  

Relative to the specifics of Fire/EMS recruiting at senior leadership levels, GovHR offers a strong 

background through the consultant that would be assigned to the process of providing high performing 

leaders who excel in the current service needs of the Fire/EMS service.  We concentrate on innovative, 

collaborative and market focused leaders who can see the necessary changes and innovations facing this 

critical service.  The Fire/EMS model of yesteryear and today clearly will not look the same in the next 5-

10 years based out of necessity and clarity of purpose and what it can offer.  EMS will be in the forefront 

of this discussion as it represents more than 80 – 85% of today’s service needs.  The key factor is having a 

firm that not only understands this, but fosters the conversation of change and creativity in a move from 

waiting for medical emergencies as the bulk of the service need, to a focus on social determinants of 

health and overall medical care to the residents of Fort Atkinson. 

Some of the key aspects of GovHR’s experience in this market are identified below and have and will be in 

the forefront of this important recruitment. 

Minority Recruitment 

Nationwide, only about 4% of “firefighters” are women according to the U.S. Department of Labor while 

that number has reached 14% in law enforcement and the U.S. military.  The emphasis is that represents 

the general rank of “firefighter” and is inclusive of the officers that have been developed in that workforce.  

It is anticipated that less than 10% of that overall classification has experience in roles as Lieutenants 

(Company Officer), Captains (Company Officer or first level command staff), Battalion Chiefs (management 

of multiple companies), Assistant or Deputy Chief (second in command - senior leadership).  With the 

responsibility of the fire chief’s role, the percentage of available, qualified candidates in this classification 

can be very limited due to the latent onset of the hiring of female firefighters in general.  As one example, 

the City of Joliet, IL with a population of 148,262 residents announced in 2018 it had hired its first female 

firefighter that year in its 165-year history (2018 – Chicago Tribune). 

Not unlike female firefighter leadership, African American, Asian and Hispanic percentages are equally as 

low.  In a report from www.datausa.com the percentage of African American firefighters nationally was 

around 7.7% with subsequent lower numbers for Asian and Hispanic, the next two largest minority groups 

at 1.1% and 2.1% respectively.   Proportionately the levels of career development in leadership roles is 

equally distributed amongst these minorities very much like those of female counterparts.  

While specific data was not available for the Midwest region (the likely focal point of this recruitment) it 

is anticipated, and through our experience that the percentages represented nationally clearly are the 

same in the Midwest, if not less than those identified.  

  

http://www.datausa.com/


 

The Millennial Pool 

Expected to make up almost 50% of the workforce in general by 2022, millennials (born from early 1980’s 

to 2000’s) are starting to dominate the Lieutenant, Captain and Battalion Chief landscape in fire 

departments. Nationally the average age of firefighters in general is approximately 34.8 years of age.  

Millennials possess significantly different characteristics from previous generations – they have close 

affinity with the latest technology, they tend to favor their personal needs more than that of the 

organization they work for, they want open communications and regular feedback and more.  

This workforce in the fire service now represents tenure from 30 or less years in the fire service.  While 

many have sought career path development, the emphasis of “personal needs” is a clear hurdle in moving 

them through career succession.  With the fire services general standard of a 24/28-hour work cycle on 

shift, the ability to navigate to a 40 to 50 - hour work week in a more standard work environment is more 

difficult than ever (sometimes referred to as “going to days”).  This is compounded at times with salary 

compression between rank structures.  It is not uncommon for a Battalion Chief on a shift work cycle, who 

may be a strong candidate for a fire chief’s position,  to make a statement “why would I want to accept 

the extra pressure, responsibility and potential vulnerability (depending on the jurisdiction and the 

employment agreement as a fire chief) of becoming a fire chief when I can work some overtime, work a  

24/48 hour shift and make the same income?”  Family needs, work cycles, salaries and position 

vulnerability all play more into today’s decision on whether or not to accept new challenges, unlike 

generations in the past. 

Knowledge of the Recruiter 

While not a specific challenge for GovHR, it should be noted that having a clear and current understanding 

of the modern fire service and its needs is critical to the success of the recruitment and candidate pool 

development.  With the experience of the recruiter comes the trust that is necessary to obtain the 

confidence of the candidate and their desire to make the career move.  Often, we witness the comfort 

that candidates have with the process we offer and the personalized attention to the candidates in our 

system.  Emphasizing that this is a candidate driven marketplace, no longer can the approach to the 

candidates be one of creating an environment of meeting our needs, but one that we have to carefully 

work with each candidate to make sure they understand the process and value we put in their 

participation.   

Currently 61% of hiring authorities/managers say that recruiters have at best, “low” to “moderate” 

understanding of the jobs that recruiters work on – this is not the case with the focused consultants in the 

GovHR team.  Additionally, 77% of hiring authorities/managers say that recruiter’s candidate screening is 

“inadequate”.  Again, this is a key component of the process with GovHRUSA that we thoroughly review 

and communicate specific details of the position to the candidates and provide that evaluation to our 

clients in detail.   

  



Candidate Driven Marketplace 

Specific to the recruitment of fire chiefs GovHR has witnessed smaller pools of qualified candidates, with 

a relatively high demand for this key leadership role.  It is no secret overall that we are living in a candidate-

driven market with the current economy and generational turnover of leadership.  This creates a very 

competitive marketplace, and we see many of our candidates who are in more than one search and 

finalists as the best in the industry.  Candidates not actively seeking positions are also more likely to not 

be receptive to cold calling strategies, or the like.  Candidates can also be much more selective in their 

career aspirations.  In recent recruitments with active recruiting contacts, it has been clearly evident that 

candidates are very focused on not just obtaining the position, especially those who are becoming the 

“fire chief” for the first time in their career, but family obligations and needs are also a very larger 

percentage of the decision making to accept a position.  Creating a “candidate experience” that draws 

their attention to the community and what it has to offer is very critical and GovHRUSA focuses on that in 

our development and discussions on the community profile. 

Challenge Impacts 

While these are likely the top issues facing the recruitment of fire service leaders, it should be noted that 

the professional consultant with GovHR is well aware of these and focuses on making sure they do not 

become challenges but are addressed as opportunities knowing our market presence and network 

appropriately to meet the needs of our recruitment efforts.  The first step to problem solving is identifying 

the issue and we clearly have focused on addressing these and other issues in our continued goal of 

acquiring talented candidates for key public safety leadership roles.  GovHR successfully recruits fire 

service leaders with outstanding results.   

Networking 

Based on the experience and networking that continues to grow within the realm of the consultants 

experience, the outreach through a variety of modalities is by far the best in the industry when you look 

at the concentrated resources provided.  Outreach through both local, state, regional and national 

professional organizations and networks and having a consultant who is from the industry provides the 

utmost of credibility for Fort Atkinson in the  search for a new Fire Chief.  The brand of GovHR with the 

extensive outreach in more than 40 states has developed a following of thousands of professionals in all 

facets of government leadership roles.  The brand along with the recognized experience and focused 

background of the consultant provide Fort Atkinson with the most advanced levels of the desired success 

of the search for the Fire Chief position.  Additionally, within the network of over 50+ consultants with 

GovHR, we have a weekly exchange of candidate information providing a full exchange of support when 

we are familiar with a candidate.  With the knowledge of our multiple recruitments for the same client, 

this provides a unique insight into the character and leadership qualities of candidates that many firms are 

not capable of duplicating. 

Internal Operations 

You do not just get a consultant; you get a team of dedicated professionals who each bring a balance of 

skill sets to your recruitment creating an environment of success.  GovHR is the premiere leader in “lasting” 

appointments that are validated by the number of recruitments that are for the same agency over and 

over.   



While you get an industry expert on as the lead for the process, the whole team is comprised of a 

Recruitment Supervisor, Recruitment Coordinator, Reference Specialists, a Communications Manager 

(surveys and other outreach), Corporate Compliance Manager for consistency and more.  This team 

approach is all coordinated through a central software management system as well as regular weekly 

meetings and general communications.  Both the client and candidate satisfaction are our focus, and we 

continually make that a priority in the recruitment experience for all involved.  Even those less than 

qualified for a position receive the appropriate communication as to the status of the process.  We pride 

ourselves in knowing that there can be multiple successful leaders in a pool of candidates that even if not 

selected, the candidate experience is one of understanding and fairness. 

Additionally, we communicate with you during the recruitment cycle and it doesn’t become a chamber of 

silence in knowing how your candidate field develops.  A matrix of candidates with over 15 different 

industry related topics/credentials is provided weekly as an “introduction” to the candidate field (please 

reach out to Clive, IA on this communication for validation – a recruitment in process now with interviews 

the end of March).  No other firm provides this level of information and detail so you can see all of the 

applicants in one complete document that is “live” and develops throughout the cycle.   

 

 



�����������	
��	������	����	����� ������ �������������� ���� ���������� !"#$" %&"!"#$" '()*�+,(*- ./01 23145+6!6)"76 8")$#9:)�'()*;)6<*=<(6&�>(#<)(=< '()*�+,(*- ./.? 43@//;6:7)*�'()*�>(#<)(=<A'6)<�+6!!(&# '()*�+,(*- ././ ./43./4'!6)(7" B"(&*#C(!!* '()*�+,(*- ././ 0??3DD1E)!"&76 '()*�+,(*- ./.0 ?/13@1?B*6)F("  :F:#<" '()*�+,(*- ./.0 .//3///G!!(&6(#  )!(&F<6&�H*(F,<# '()*�+,(*-�IJ()<:"!K ./05 1@3@// )!(&F<6&�H*(F,<# '()*�+,(*-�IJ()<:"!K ./.. 1@3@//L"))(&F<6& '()*�+,(*- ./0D 0/32@@L:--"!6�B)6C* >*9:<M�'()*�+,(*-�IJ()<:"!K ./.. 2.3D/D+")9*&<*)#C(!!* '()*�+,(*- ./04 ?53.20+,"N9"(F& '()*�+,(*- ./02 503@//+6!!(&#C(!!* >*9:<M�'()*�+,(*- ./.0 .@35?5>*#�;!"(&*# '()*�+,(*- ./0D @53?42O!P:)&�Q�+6:&<)M#(7*'()*�;)6<*=<(6&�>(#<)(=<'()*�+,(*- ./04 R:!<(O!N,:)#< '()*�+,(*- ./04 243?51'()*N*&S#� &&:(<M�QL*&*-(<�':&7�6-+,(="F6 OT*=:<(C*�>()*=<6) ./04 R:!<(')**96)< '()*�+,(*-�I8(N(<*7K ./0D .@3///H(F,!"&7�;")$ '()*�+,(*- .//D ?03?4@G!!(&6(#�'()*�U"-*<M !!("&=* OT*=:<(C*�>()*=<6) ./0? R:!<(G<"#="�'()*�;)6<*=<(6&>(#<)(=<  ##(#<"&<�>()*=<6)�6-� 7N(&(#<)"<(6&�"&7;!"&&(&F�IJ()<:"!K ./.? D3///G<"#="�'()*�;)6<*=<(6&>(#<)(=< '()*�+,(*- ./.0 D3///8"�B)"&F* '()*�+,(*-�IJ()<:"!K ./0D 0@340/8"$*�+6:&<M ON*)F*&=M�R"&"F*N*&<�+66)7(&"<6) ./04 1/?324.8(&=6!&V667 '()*�+,(*- ./.. 0.3@D/8(#!*AW667)(7F*�'()*>(#<)(=< '()*�+,(*- ./01 1/3///86NP")7 '()*�+,(*- ./04 2?350@R6!(&* '()*�+,(*- ./01 2?30//R6)<6&�B)6C* '()*�+,(*- ./.0 .?3@//X6)<,P)66$ '()*�+,(*- ./02 ?13///



������ �����	
��� ��� ������������������� �����	
��� ��� ���������
���� �����	
��� ��� ��������
������� �����	
��� ��  ������
�!����"# $�%��&������	
��� �� �����&������ �����	
��� ��� ����  '����	
�������������������"�$������� �����	
��� ��� (����'����$�"#�� �����	
��� ��� ��'����$�"#�� �����	
��� ��) ��'
����" �����	
��� ��� �����)'������� �����	
��� ��� � �� *�+� 	���� ����,-(��	
��� ��� �����$���.�� �����	
��� ��� �)� (����" �����	
��� ��� ��������	��"�& (-$*	�-(��$������� ��� � ��)��/���"#��� ����,-�����"�&����%���#"����$������� ��� �����0�"��� 1�+��"�� �����	
��� ��� ������(��
���" 2������	���3 �����	
��� ��� ��� �����"#��� �����	
��� �� �����4��"#���%�#� �����	
��� ��� ���� (�#��"# �����	
��� ��� ���5���"�6�+"�
�% �����	
��� ��� ���)������"��!���
�� �����	
��� �� ��)��))(�""����� �2(������$�%�����"�	
����-7��������5������,�����	
��� ��� (�����
�3�%�� �����	
��� ��� ����)�'��#���& -(�,�����	
���89������"��������������&$������� ���  ���)(������� 	�%��4����#��� �����	
�����"#�-�����"�&�(�"�����"�$������� ��) ���	��&��" �����	
��� ��� ���)�)0��3+��# �����	
��� ��� � ��)�'�������4����� �����	
��� ��� ����(�"��"� 2�:���" �����	
��� ��� �)���;�+�<����& 	
���&�!�����������������"�$������� �����	
��� ��� �)�);���
�	�����"� ��&��������� �����	
��� ��) �����""�&���"�� (�##����+"�6�+"�
�% 	
�������������"#�-�����"�&���������=>������? ��� ���� 6�7�� $�"��" �����	
��� ��� ����4����"# �����	
��� ��� ������>����"�� >����"���2���
 -�����"�&�(�#��������������	
��� ��� ����  >����"���2���
 �����	
��� ��� ����  '�"�
����� �����	
��� ��� � �)��



��������� ��	��
���
�� �����
��
�����������������
������ ���� �� !����	��
���
�� ��

�	������������� ���� �� !����	��
���
�� ��������� ���! �� !�����	��"
�� ��������� ���� �� #��$���%�������		� ��������� ���! �� &��'�(�����		� �����������)��
��	� ���� �# ���*��
��$�	+��,�� ���������-�����
������.%��"����$���"�%��
 ���� �� ��!���,���� ��������� ���� �� �#/������ ��������� ���� �! ������+�
��� ��������� ���� &� ������+�
��� ��������� ���� &� ���



FIRE CHIEF 

The Position in Brief 
The Fire Chief is the executive in charge of overseeing the Village’s fire department. The Chief works closely 
with the Village’s Police and Fire Commission, Village President and Board of Trustees, Village Manager and 
other community stakeholders to ensure the professional deployment of fire, EMS and Community Risk 
Reduction services. The Chief manages a workforce of 15 full-time, and 19 part-time personnel and the 
Village is in the process of hiring six additional full-time personnel. The Chief manages a budget of $6.98 
million.  

Menomonee Falls, Wisconsin 



The Community 
Menomonee Falls is located in Waukesha County and is part of the Greater Milwaukee area. The Village is the most 
populous village in the State of Wisconsin with a resident population of 38,999. It has had a population growth of over 4% 
since the 2010 census.  The overall economy of Menomonee Falls employs over 33,659 people with one of its largest 
employers being the headquarters for Kohl’s Corporation, a national retailer.  

The area that became Menomonee Falls was first inhabited by Native Americans including the Menomonee and 
Chippewa Tribes.  The Village became incorporated in 1892.  Today, Menomonee Falls has gone through various levels 
of redevelopment through their Comprehensive Plan both in residential and industrial settings.   

The downtown business district serves as the historic and cultural heart of the community.  Festivals, seasonal markets, 
parades, sporting events, and performances by local fine arts and theatrical arts groups punctuate the Village’s calendar 
and support a strong sense of community in Menomonee Falls.  

A snapshot of Menomonee Falls demographics and amenities:  
• Average age of 42 years old. 

• Median age 43.8. 

• White 87.7%, African American 2.92%, Hispanic/Latino 2.44%, Asian 5.53%. 

• Median household income, $77,069. 

• Median value of a Menomonee Falls home, $235,300. 

• Two exceptional School Districts serve the community. Menomonee Falls High School is rated by the Wisconsin 
Department of Public Instruction as one of the “Top School Districts” in 2018”, with their leadership receiving 
numerous awards in recent years.    

• Hamilton School District providing education for K – 12received the 5-Star “Significantly Exceeds Expectations” from 
the Wisconsin School Report Card.  Private schools include St. Mary’s Catholic School, Calvary Baptist School, 
Grace Lutheran School, Bethlehem Lutheran School and Zion Lutheran School and Aquinas Academy.   

• There are 114 colleges within 100 miles of Menomonee Falls, including the University of Wisconsin – Milwaukee, 
Marquette University, Concordia University Wisconsin, Mount Mary University and Waukesha County Technical 
College (WCTC). 

• The Village borders Milwaukee to the west and features Old Falls Village. 

• ISO - 3 fire insurance rating. 

• Parks and recreational facilities including: 

• 16 Village parks (250 acres) and open space areas encompassing 2,500 acres. 

• “Bug Line” recreational trail (16-miles), Riverfront Trail (12-miles), 31 total miles of paved trails. 

• Numerous baseball, softball, soccer, football, picnic, volleyball, tennis, ice skating areas. 

• Menomonee Park, 400 acres, campsites, archery range, fishing, sandy beach, swimming quarry. 

• 18-hole Wanaki Golf Course. 

• Founded in 1906, a full library service offered by the Menomonee Falls Public Library.  

• Nearby Kettle Moraine State Forest covering 17,000 acres with boating, fishing, camping, hiking, picnicking and 
more.   

• A comprehensive full health care and in-patient hospital, Froedtert Menomonee Falls Health Care. 

Menomonee Falls, WI—Fire Chief 

https://www.menomonee-falls.org/
https://menomoneefallsdowntown.com/
https://www.fallsschools.org/
https://www.hamilton.k12.wi.us/
https://uwm.edu/
https://www.marquette.edu/
https://www.cuw.edu/
https://www.mtmary.edu/
https://www.wctc.edu/
https://www.wctc.edu/
http://www.oldfallsvillage.com/
https://www.menomonee-falls.org/1192/Wanaki-Golf-Course
https://www.menomoneefallslibrary.org/
https://www.stateparks.com/kettle_moraine.html
https://www.froedtert.com/locations/hospital/menomonee-falls-hospital


Menomonee Falls, WI—Fire Chief 

The Organization 
The Village of Menomonee Falls was 
incorporated as a Village in 1892 and in 1894 
the first Village Board was elected, and the first 
Village Fire Department was formed. The seven
-member Village Board is the policy-making 
body of the Village and functions under a 
Council/Manager form of government.  
Nonpartisan village Trustees are nominated 
and elected at large, non-partisan by numbered 
seats. Terms are staggered in accordance with 
local ordinances as to the term timelines and 
election process.  A Village President is elected 
every three-years.  

The Village Manager is considered by statute to 
be the CEO of the municipal corporation. The 
Manager is appointed by the Village Board as a 
whole and is responsible for the overall 
supervision and administration of the Village’s 
operations.  

The Village Manager has full appointing and oversight authority for the operation of the various Village divisions and 
departments and has the responsibility of carrying out policies adopted by the Village Board.  The Fire Chief is appointed 
by the Police and Fire Commission and the position reports to and is supervised by the Village Manager for all 
operational and budgetary issues in the Fire Department.  

The Village of Menomonee Falls provides comprehensive municipal services, which includes full-time police and fire 
protection including emergency medical and advanced life support ambulance services; the construction and 
maintenance of Village streets; community planning and development; economic development; and public library. The 
Village operates the sewer, water and storm water utilities.  

 
Village services are provided by approximately 232 full-and part-
time employees in the following departments: Fire, Police, Public 
Works (including Sewer Utilities and Water), Community 
Development (including Building Inspections, Economic 
Development and Planning), Department of Engineering and 
Development, Department of Financial Services and the Office 
of the Village Clerk.  

 

The Fire Department 
The department operates from five fire stations (two built new in 
2015) that are staffed by career and part-time members 24 
hours per day, 7 days per week.  The department apparatus 
consists of four engine companies, one truck company (Quint) 
six ambulances, one mini-pumper, one water tender, one 
command unit, one mobile command post and staff support 
vehicles.   

The Fire Chief is supported by one Assistant Chief, one 
Administrative Deputy Chief, three Battalion Chiefs with 
administrative support staff and shift personnel.  The full-time 
personnel are members of IAFF Local 3879. Currently full-time 
personnel work a three-shift schedule on a 24/24 rotation with 
four day off period.  

The Department provides full fire, emergency medical services 
to the Village and region, including providing full fire, EMS and 
fire prevention services to the Village of Lannon. E911 
emergency communications and operations are provided by 
Waukesha County Communications Center. The Fire 
Department’s FY 2020 budget is $ 6.98 million.  



Menomonee Falls, WI—Fire Chief 

Opportunities and Challenges 
The Fire Chief is a key member of the Village’s leadership team. The position has been re-instituted after six years of the 
Village operating under a Protective Services model. The Village’s current Police Chief served in the capacity of Public 
Safety Chief during that entire period, resigning from Fire Department duties in the fall of 2019.   

Developing and maintaining relationships with the Village President, elected officials, Police and Fire Commission, 
Village Manager, department heads, and all levels of employees, both union and non-union employees alike, is 
paramount. In addition, the Chief is a community leader, one that is expected to easily and proactively interact with a 
variety of community stakeholders. Proven communication, interpersonal and human relations skills, and the ability to 
interrelate with a wide variety of people possessing various attitudes and positions are all important and desirable 
qualities for the next Chief.  

Community Relations. The Police and Fire Commission, Village Board and Village Administration enjoy strong working 
relationships with community and business groups representing a diverse set of stakeholders in Menomonee Falls, 
including leaders with the Chamber of Commerce, School Districts and non-profit organizations. Menomonee Falls has 
an active historic downtown and a robust retail presence along the Interstate, and many business owners are also active 
in the community.  

With that as a foundation, the next Chief is expected to cultivate and build relationships with these stakeholders. In a 
similar vein, the Chief has a welcoming opportunity to form cooperative connections with Menomonee Falls neighboring 
jurisdictions through continued automatic aid and mutual aid agreements. 

Management Team. The Village’s management team is a cohesive, energetic group that keenly understands and meets 
the Village Board’s and the community’s expectations. With a framework of a collegial work environment, the new Chief 
can expect this professional assembly of management leaders to be a resource, welcoming the Chief with the 
encouragement, support and tools he/she may need to be an inclusive and responsive leader in the department, and the 
overall organization.  The Village is seeking a “transformational and visionary leader” that can support the vision and 
mission of the Village as well as the department. 

Departmental Assessment. In addition to reestablishing the role of Fire Chief in the department after operating under a 
joint public safety model, the new Chief will be tasked with evaluating the department’s staffing and deployment of 
services from five fire stations.  The Village, in 2020, is hiring six new full-time firefighter/paramedics with future plans for 
additional personnel.  Yet, funding capacity for growing the Department is not certain, both fiscally and politically. To be 
sure, there is recognition and a verbal commitment on the Village Board’s part for additional resources, however, the 
current Village Board cannot bind a future Village Board to resources that are in outline form at this time. Consequently, 
the new Chief is expected to have the planning, modeling and fiscal adeptness to guide the Village through this 
transition.  

The department is faced with a common national issue of recruitment and retention of the part-time workforce and the 
new Chief will need to evaluate and make recommendations on the stabilization of this important part of the fire service 
team.   Being a pacesetter and one that can bring key initiatives from planning to design to completion is an important 
requirement. 

The Village has a significant number of senior assisted and assisted living complexes contributing to the department ’s 
more than 4,700 emergency and service calls in 2019. Coupled with the continued growth of EMS calls in fire 
departments providing this service, the evaluation of EMS service delivery including Mobile Integrated Healthcare/
Paramedicine will be critically important.  The department is facing the need for the evaluation of the distribution of 
staffing as well as strategies operating from the current fire station locations based on this high demand for services.   

Staff Development, leadership and labor-management relations. The new Chief is expected to step into this position 
and provide the leadership to identify, filter and address organizational concerns that may be impacting the Department. 
The Fire Chief will be charged with advancing the organization to new levels of success through appropriate levels of 
accountability.   

Additionally, the next Fire Chief will formalize programs to train and develop all personnel in the Department and identify 
critical elements for developing and preparing future leaders of the Department.  A focus on the core leadership of the 
department will be extremely important.  The Village leadership seeks a candidate that is “plugged in” to the key 
initiatives, strategies and goals of the fire service regionally, statewide and nationally in creating the successful future of 
the department.   

Working in an active collective bargaining environment, the new Chief will need to appreciate and honor the fundamental 
provisions of the collective bargaining agreements. Seeking valued input from all segments of the organization to 
develop the department and the talents of its staff, while exercising confident leadership of the department, will be key 
elements of success for the new Chief.  



Menomonee Falls, WI—Fire Chief 

The Ideal Candidate  
• A Bachelor’s degree in public administration or An 

experienced, innovative, collaborative fire/EMS leader 
with demonstrated managerial, interpersonal and 
customer service skills. 

• A strong communicator with Village officials, the 
Police and Fire Commission, staff and other 
stakeholders. 

• A commitment to the organization as well as the 
senior management team of the Village with a 
genuine confidence and approachability to residents, 
business and governmental leaders.   

• A Fire Chief that is an integral and engaged leader, 
with a strong background in modern fire, EMS, 
emergency management and all hazards practices.   

• A Fire Chief that understands the need to use data for 
problem solving and community risk reduction efforts. 

• The ability to mentor and foster leadership roles 
within the staff, succession planning and a global 
vision of the community’s needs and vision are 
critical.  Creativity and the ability to guide and balance 
change is a must.  

• Possess a bachelor’s degree in fire science, 
emergency management, emergency medical 
services or related fields.  A master’s degree is highly 
desired. 

• Have 10 years of experience and demonstrated 
leadership in a fire service command position is 
required.   

• In the ideal, be a graduate of the National Fire 
Academy Executive Fire Officer, Chief Fire Officer 
Designation or similar certifications.  

Leadership Skills & Management 
Style 

• Have a record of leading and managing in a fiscally 
responsible manner and an understanding of how to 
balance the fire department’s operations and other 
needs within budgetary constraints.  

• Have experience working closely with all supervisory 
levels in the department on the development of 
policy initiatives and strategies for implementing 
those initiatives with the vision to plan strategically 
for the community and the region’s safety. 

• Have a record of being an open communicator 
practicing transparency in local government 
whenever possible and a “no surprises” approach 
with respect to communication with the elected 
officials.   

• Possess experience in and knowledge of employee 
and labor relations and possess a reputation for 
dealing in a friendly, open and fair manner with both 
individual employees and the local bargaining group.   

• Have knowledge of how to effectively utilize 
information technology, encouraging personnel to 
embrace technology and its benefits. 

• Be able to supervise, participate and support 
operations including fire prevention, public education, 
fire pre-planning, building equipment and maintenance 
as well as reviewing and preparing records and 
reports. 

• Demonstrate the ability and experience to assume 
command at emergency incident scenes, directing 
personnel and equipment. 

• Be able to develop and recommend administrative, 

organizational and operational changes and to assist 
in the annual preparation of the operating and capital 
budgets. 

• Have experience in planning, supervising and 
participating in line operations, interpreting and 
enforcing rules and regulations and policies, 
evaluating employee performance, recommending and 
carrying through with personnel actions, 
recommending the hiring and training of personnel. 



Menomonee Falls, WI—Fire Chief 

Management Style and Personal Traits 
Possess complete integrity and exemplify professional and personal characteristics of impeccable behavior which meet 
the highest ethical standards.  

Utilize strategic planning and goal setting utilizing a team-oriented approach that invites creativity and innovation.

Be committed to excellent customer service with the desire to always improve upon the fire department ’s operations, 
policies and procedures in order to remain a high-performing department.

Embrace the community, the region and the regional partners with a genuine desire to engage and where appropriate 
work with residents, businesses, neighboring governmental units, the higher education community and not for profit 
organizations.

Be an excellent communicator and a good listener; be someone who honestly and openly seeks and enjoys the input 
of others whether they are citizens, department personnel, the Police and Fire Commission, Village staff or elected 
officials.  

Be able to speak at public presentations to community organizations, citizen groups and other gatherings and be able 
to convey a message in a genuine, transparent manner. 

Possess strong leadership skills, understanding when it is critical to exercise leadership and when to be flexible and 
adaptable to new ideas. 

Project a calm demeanor with the desire to work through issues thoughtfully with an optimism that challenges are 
surmountable and achievable.



 
Compensation, Benefits, and the 
Organization’s Culture 
The annual salary range for this position is $120,000 +/- DOQ 
plus excellent benefits. Residency in the Village is not 
required. Village employees participate in the Wisconsin 
Retirement System, which is administered by the State of 
Wisconsin. 

How To Apply 
Candidates should apply by February 26, 2020 with resume, 
cover letter and contact information for five work-related 
references to www.GovHRjobs.com to the attention of: 
 
Lee Szymborski, Senior Vice President  
Tim Sashko, Vice President 
GovHR USA 
630 Dundee Road, #130 
Northbrook, IL 60062  
Tel:  847-380-3197 
 
Menomonee Falls is an Equal Opportunity Employer.  

https://govhrusa.applytojob.com/apply/xCCoYwYs1t/Menomonee-Falls-WI-Fire-Chief
https://www.menomonee-falls.org/


Page 6 

CITY OF FORT ATKINSON, WISCONSIN JUNE 1, 2023 

 

 

City of Fort Atkinson 
 

Proposal to Provide Recruitment Services 

For the position of Fire Chief 

 

I hereby certify that I am authorized to make this offer on behalf of the named company and to 
bind said company to this proposal. By submitting this proposal, I hereby represent that the firm 
identified below is fully qualified to perform the services described to achieve the organization’s 
objectives in a professional manner. 

 
Name of Firm    

Address    

City/State/Zip    

Signature    

Name (Print)    

Title    
 

Telephone Number     

E-Mail Address     

Date Submitted    

 
 

PRICE PROPOSAL 
 

Total Cost of Activities - All costs related to travel, supplies, etc., are to be included. 
 
 

Total, not-to-exceed cost: $  

GovHR USA

630 Dundee Rd. #225

Northbrook, IL 60062

Judith Schmittgens

Corporate Secretary

847-380-3185

jschmittgens@govhrusa.com

6/20/23

26,000 (includes estimated and not to exceed
             $1,500 travel. Does not include travel 
              for the optional Assessment Center.}



 
          

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
                                                  

 
 
 
SELECTING THE RIGHT 
PERSON FOR KEY 
LEADERSHIP POSITIONS 
IS ALWAYS A DIFFICULT 
PROCESS 

 
 

THE USE OF 
ASSESSMENT CENTERS 
(SIMULATION 
ASSESSMENTS WITH 
LIVE ROLE PLAYS) HAS 
BEEN ON THE RISE 
WITH 66% OF NORTH 
AMERICAN COMPANIES 
TOO SELECT THE BEST 
LEADERSHIP TALENT 
(MERCER, 2018) 

 

 
 
The evaluation of an individual’s potential to perform in a 
managerial capacity is an important problem for those 
responsible for the hiring of leaders within public safety.  
The services provided by state and local jurisdictions are 
becoming increasingly complex and high-level service 
delivery requires a multitude of skills and abilities.  The 
Assessment Center process conducted by GovHRUSA 
provides the complete review of a panel of Candidates 
using various exercises that evaluate their skills sets.  The 
process provides a detailed analysis that assists 
Administrators, Managers, Fire Commissioners, Human 
Resource Directors and other key leadership in the hiring 
of managerial positions. 
 
An Assessment Center (commonly used by the Military 
and private sector) is based on a thorough analysis of 
individual job behaviors based on a series of simulated 
job-related scenarios where candidates are observed and 
graded by assessors who evaluate their performance.  The 
value of Assessment Centers, developed through years of 
research and countless exercises, is their PREDICTIVE 
ABILITY.  The ultimate success or failure of a candidate has 
a high probability of correlation with how well the 
candidate performed in the Assessment Center. 
 
Is it worth the time, effort and cost?  Public safety service 
delivery industry professionals agree that no cost, time or 
effort should be spared to select the right person for key 
leadership positions.  Screening and evaluating 
candidates who are current, professional, highly trained 
leaders for your operations provides you with the greatest 
chance for future success. 

ASSESSMENT CENTERS 



 

 
 

Benefits of an Assessment Center 

•  Assessment centers measure job-related behaviors rather than other 
characteristics that are not directly related to effective job performance. 

•  Assessment centers measure a broader range of knowledge, skills, and 
abilities than more traditional methods, such as written tests or interviews. 

•  Assessment centers are standardized because testing conditions are identical 
for all candidates. This standardization insures that no candidate receives 
better or worse treatment than another. 

•  Assessment centers are fair regardless of age, gender or race. Unlike some 
testing programs, research has suggested that a candidate’s age, gender, or 
race has no influence on the assessment ratings received. 

•  Candidates typically view assessment centers as a fair evaluation method. 

• Assessment centers serve as a learning experience for assessors as well as for 
candidates. Assessors benefit from their training and experience as assessors; 
they can serve as a management-training tool that helps assessors improve 
their observational skills and their ability to accurately evaluate performance. 
Candidates benefit from the feedback they receive after going through the 
center. The assessment center identifies their strengths and areas in need of 
improvement. 

•  Assessment center ratings tend to be much more accurate than conventional 
ratings because the assessment center provides an opportunity for direct 
observation of behavior in a controlled setting with trained raters. 

Each exercise is observed, evaluated and scored by at least three assessors.  We 
conduct your Assessment Center in one-day depending on the number of candidates 
(additional days may be added for larger candidate pools).  For Chief Officer selections, 
we recommend four exercises out of a group of five; Group Problem Solving Exercise, 
Writing Exercise, Presentation Exercise, In-Basket and Oral Interview Exercise. 
 

 



 
 
 

Exercise A Presentation Exercise 
Dimensions:  Ability to plan and organize their presentation, Written and oral communication skills, Problem analysis 
and Presentation skills. 
Approximate Time Per Candidate: 30-45 Minutes 
Description:  This exercise requires the Candidate to prepare an outline and then give a presentation before a group 
(the Assessors).  A wide range of topics, both traditional and current, are used to evaluate the Candidate’s public 
speaking ability based on a limited preparation time. This exercise is intended to demonstrate the candidate’s ability 
to present an idea, plan a presentation to various groups such as a workforce, civic group, and media, Village/City 
Manager and/or Board.  
Exercise B Group Exercise 
Dimensions:  Communications, problem analysis, planning, organization, leadership, sensitivity, decision making, 
decisiveness, development of subordinates, initiative, listening and persuasiveness. 
Approximate Time Per Candidate: 60 - 80 Minutes (Entire Group Together) 
Description: This exercise is designed for middle and top management positions.  A relevant topic is provided to the 
Candidates at the beginning of the exercise that needs to be resolved.  The Candidates are required to work together 
in a group to reach a consensus with very limited information and limited direction.  The exercise is used to evaluate 
the individual’s ability to establish and work with informal leadership roles while making decisions and solving 
problems.  Goals and objectives are typically provided as an outcome. 

Exercise C Structured Technical Oral Interview 
Dimensions:  The structured interview is to assess both attitudinal and background information on the Candidate. 
Approximate Time Per Candidate: 30-45 Minutes 
Description:  Candidate may be questioned in the following areas: 

• Current issues and trends in the fire service including local, regional and national perspectives 
• Local department programs and needs derived from interviews of stakeholders 
• Candidate’s previous leadership experience related to collective bargaining, accreditation and a 

variety of other subjects 
• Candidate’s view of management functions, insight and leadership qualities 

Exercise D Writing Exercise 
Dimensions:  Conforms to assigned objectives and group consensus, presents problems and solutions, and writes 
completely and accurately, Logical order and format. 

Approximate Time Per Candidate: Preassigned to Candidates and varies with individual effort 
Description:  This exercise is given to evaluate the Candidate’s written communication in a narrative format.  
Candidates are assigned a topic that can be specifically related to the client’s operations, or may be based on a 
general topic.  Each has its own spectrum of evaluation based on accuracy, grammar, relativeness of the information 
provided, insight into the candidate’s values and perspectives and more.    

Exercise E In-Basket Exercise 

Dimensions:  Decision making, organization and planning, perception and analytical ability to related topics, 
sensitivity, decisiveness, oral communications, poise, energy and approach, delegation, follow up and control. 
Approximate Time Per Candidate: 50-60 minutes for exercise and 15-20 minutes for the report out of findings and 
direction (Entire Group Together) 
Description:  Each candidate is provided a series of events/topics (usually 20)as assigned tasks with support 
documentation on the employer, daily conditions, etc.  They individually prioritize and assign various tasks and 
directions through thorough documentation and support.  This exercise is typically referred to as “a day in the life of 
my department” and widely accepted for the personal detail we provide specific to the client’s operations.  It is 
widely held that excellent performance on a well-designed in-basket exercise is an indicator of strong leadership and 
management capability. Candidates are evaluated based on daily task work, which includes explanations provided 
during their presentations.   

ASSESSMENT CENTER EXERCISES (Example) 



 

 

 

 

PROPOSAL 

 

City of Fort Atkinson 
Executive Recruitment Services for  
Fire Chief 
 

 

Due Date: June 23, 2023 

5:00 P.M. CDT 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Your Path to Performance 

 

SUBMITTED BY: 
MELISSA ASHER 
Sr. Practice Leader, Products and Services 
 
CPS HR Consulting 
2450 Del Paso Road, Suite 220 
Sacramento, CA 95834 
P: 916-471-3358 
masher@cpshr.us 
Tax ID: 68-0067209   

www.cpshr.us  
 

 

 



Page 6 

CITY OF FORT ATKINSON, WISCONSIN JUNE 1, 2023 

 

 

City of Fort Atkinson 
 

Proposal to Provide Recruitment Services 

For the position of Fire Chief 

 

I hereby certify that I am authorized to make this offer on behalf of the named company and to 

bind said company to this proposal. By submitting this proposal, I hereby represent that the firm 

identified below is fully qualified to perform the services described to achieve the organization’s 

objectives in a professional manner. 
 

Name of Firm    

Address    

City/State/Zip    

Signature    

Name (Print)    

Title    
 

Telephone Number     

E-Mail Address     

Date Submitted    

 
 

PRICE PROPOSAL 
 

Total Cost of Activities - All costs related to travel, supplies, etc., are to be included. 

 
 

Total, not-to-exceed cost: $  

CPS HR Consulting

2450 Del Paso Road, Suite 220

Sacramento, CA 95834

Melissa Asher

Sr Practice Leader, Products & Services

(916) 471-3358

masher@cpshr.us

06/23/2023

27,000

kmendez
Stamp



  

 

2450 Del Paso Road, Suite 220  Sacramento, CA  95834  www.cpshr.us   Tax ID: 68-0067209 
 

June 23, 2023 
 
 
Rebecca Houseman 
City Manager 
City of Fort Atkinson 
101 N. Main St. 
Fort Atkinson, WI 53538  

Submitted via email to:  rhouseman@fortatkinsonwi.gov 

Subject: Executive Recruitment for Fire Chief 

Dear Ms. Houseman: 

CPS HR Consulting (CPS HR) is pleased to have the opportunity to submit a proposal to assist the 
City of Fort Atkinson (City) with the recruitment of a new Fire Chief.  We are uniquely qualified 
to undertake this effort as we have vast experience in assisting public agencies with executive 
search, screening, and placement.   

We understand that each agency is unique, and our extensive experience allows us to tailor our 
process to specifically meet your needs.  Our work with local government agencies throughout 
the United States gives us an in-depth understanding of government operations, programs, and 
services.   

CPS HR offers a broad spectrum of human resource services while delivering personalized, 
results-oriented services, utilizing best practice methods of recruitment and selection strategies 
from our team of recruitment experts.  Each recruitment is an opportunity to shape and prepare 
your organization for the future.  We understand how important this transition is for you and are 
perfectly placed to assist you in this endeavor.  Once this project begins, we will work with the 
City to tailor our process to highlight this exciting opportunity and attract the best possible 
candidates.  

ORGANIZATION IDENTIFICATION INFORMATION 

Legal Name and DBA Cooperative Personnel Services dba CPS HR Consulting 

Main Office 
Physical: 2450 Del Paso Road, Suite 220, Sacramento, CA 95834 

Mailing: 2450 Del Paso Road, Suite 160, Sacramento, CA 95834 

Phone Main: (800) 822-4277; FAX (916) 263-3613 

Type of Organization Joint Powers Authority (Public Agency) 

Website www.cpshr.us 

http://www.cpshr.us/


  

 

2450 Del Paso Road, Suite 220  Sacramento, CA  95834  www.cpshr.us   Tax ID: 68-0067209 
 

POINTS OF CONTACT 

Principal Contact 
Person/Project Manager 

David Niemeyer, Executive Recruiter; (916) 471-3366; 
dniemeyer@cpshr.us 

Authorized Contract 
Representative 

Melissa Asher, Senior Practice Leader;  (916) 471-3358;  
masher@cpshr.us 

 

It is our commitment to work in partnership with your organization to a successful result.   

Thank you for the opportunity to be considered for this assignment.  Should you have questions 
or comments about the information presented in this proposal, please contact me at (916) 471-
3358 or via email at masher@cpshr.us. 

Sincerely, 

Melissa Asher 
Senior Practice Leader, Products and Services 



Proposal to City of Fort Atkinson  
Executive Recruitment for Fire Chief 

Page | i  
 

 

Table of Contents 
Experience and Qualifications ....................................................................................................... 1 

a. About CPS HR Consulting ...................................................................................................................... 1 

b. Executive Recruitment Team ................................................................................................................ 2 

c. Recruitments and References for David Niemeyer ............................................................................... 3 

d. CPS HR Related Recruitments ............................................................................................................... 4 

Recruitment Experts ................................................................................................................................. 4 

Approach/Strategy to Perform the Project ................................................................................... 7 

a. Tentative Schedule ................................................................................................................................ 7 

b. Our Approach ........................................................................................................................................ 8 

Methodology and Scope of Work ............................................................................................................. 9 

Phase I - Develop Candidate Profile and Recruitment Strategy ............................................................... 9 

Phase II – Aggressive, Proactive, and Robust Recruitment ..................................................................... 10 

Phase III – Selection ................................................................................................................................ 12 

c. Commitment to Communication ........................................................................................................ 13 

d. Challenges to a Success Recruitment ................................................................................................. 13 

Cost Proposal .............................................................................................................................. 14 

a. Professional Services Cost ................................................................................................................... 14 

b. Hourly Rates ........................................................................................................................................ 14 

c. Estimates of Additional Services and/or Expenses Not Included ........................................................ 15 

Additional Material ..................................................................................................................... 16 

a. Alternate Proposals to Reduce Cost .................................................................................................... 16 

b. Sample Work Products ........................................................................................................................ 18 

c. Placement Guarantee .......................................................................................................................... 24 

d. Sample Contract .................................................................................................................................. 25 

Appendix A: List of Past Recruitments ........................................................................................ 30 

https://cpshr.sharepoint.com/sites/CRM/account/City%20of%20Fort%20Atkinson/opportunity/Exec%20Search%20Fire%20Chief%2006-2023/_Proposal%20Exec%20Search%20for%20City%20of%20Fort%20Atkinson_Fire%20Chief%2006-2023.docx#_Toc138417315
https://cpshr.sharepoint.com/sites/CRM/account/City%20of%20Fort%20Atkinson/opportunity/Exec%20Search%20Fire%20Chief%2006-2023/_Proposal%20Exec%20Search%20for%20City%20of%20Fort%20Atkinson_Fire%20Chief%2006-2023.docx#_Toc138417316
https://cpshr.sharepoint.com/sites/CRM/account/City%20of%20Fort%20Atkinson/opportunity/Exec%20Search%20Fire%20Chief%2006-2023/_Proposal%20Exec%20Search%20for%20City%20of%20Fort%20Atkinson_Fire%20Chief%2006-2023.docx#_Toc138417317


Proposal to City of Fort Atkinson  
Executive Recruitment for Fire Chief 

Page | 1  
 

 

Experience and Qualifications 
a. About CPS HR Consulting 
CPS HR Consulting has been assisting organizations with their 
talent management needs for over 35 years.  We have unique 
expertise in delivering HR management and consulting services, 
employment testing, and assessment services to government 
agencies throughout North America.  Our core competency is its 
knowledge of and expertise in the public sector.   

CPS HR offers clients a comprehensive range of competitively priced services, all of which can be 
customized to meet your organization’s specific needs.  We are committed to supporting and 
developing strategic organizational leadership and human resource management in the public 
sector.  We offer expertise in the areas of organizational strategy, recruitment and selection, 
training and development, and organization and workforce management.  

CPS HR occupies a unique position among its competitors in the field of government consulting; 
as a Joint Powers Authority, whose charter mandates that we serve only public sector clients, we 
actively serve all government sectors including Federal, State, Local, Special Districts, Higher 
Education, and Non-Profit Organizations. This singular position provides CPS HR with a systemic 
and extensive understanding of how each government sector is inter-connected to each other 
and to their communities. That understanding, combined with our knowledge of public and 
private sector best practices, translates into meaningful and practical solutions for our clients’ 
operational and business needs. 

With more than 85 full-time employees as well as 200+ project consultants and technical experts 
nationwide, CPS HR delivers breakthrough solutions that help public sector organizations impact 
the communities they serve.  CPS HR has worked with more than 1,200 government and 
public/non-profit clients throughout the United States and Canada.   

Our headquarters are located in Sacramento, California.  We have regional offices in Austin, TX; 
Littleton, CO; and Orange County, CA. 

  

● ● ● 

OUR VISION: 

Enabling people to 
realize the promise of 

public service 

 



Proposal to City of Fort Atkinson  
Executive Recruitment for Fire Chief 

Page | 2  
 

 

b. Executive Recruitment Team 
CPS HR has assembled a strong project team with each member possessing extensive recruiting 
experience and a direct, in-depth understanding of local government.  Our executive recruitment 
team will work collectively to fulfill the City’s needs in a timely and effective manner.  We are 
committed to providing each of our clients the same level of service excellence, and we take great 
care not to take on more work than this commitment allows.  We will not utilize subcontractors 
for these services.   No staff members will be removed or replaced without the prior written 
concurrence of the City.   

Role/Project Assignment Name Phone Email 

Executive Recruiter David Niemeyer (916) 263-1401  dniemeyer@cpshr.us 

Team Biographies 
David J. Niemeyer, Executive Recruiter 

David Niemeyer brings 38 years of local government management experience including 
managing 7 communities in the suburban Chicago area. He brings an extensive practitioner’s 
experience in government services to the CPS HR Executive Recruitment team through his roles 
as Village Manager, City Manager, Village Administrator, and City Administrator/Assistant to the 
Mayor all in the state of Illinois.  Human resources and senior executive recruitment are areas 
that he excels in and thoroughly enjoys. 

Mr. Niemeyer led recruitments for over 15 department head vacancies as well as numerous other 
management positions.  This included preparing recruitment profiles and brochures, screening 
candidates and creating a list of top candidates for the elected officials, developing interview 
questions, managing assessment centers, conducting background checks, and negotiating 
employment offers.  His most recent large recruitment was for the police chief of Tinley Park 
which included a day long assessment center. 

He recently retired as the village manager for the Village of Tinley Park, where he oversaw 
redevelopment of the downtown and two aging retail centers, as well as establishing a new music 
brand to promote tourism and development in the community. He also was the village manager 
of Oak Brook, a well-known retail destination area and home to several corporate headquarters, 
where he undertook a major reorganization of the staff that reduced the village’s annual 
operating budget about 10% and established a new management performance evaluation 
system. 

David has a reputation as an ethical, engaged, collaborative leader, who has excellent 
communication and listening skills. He has a calm, focused disposition and has worked with vocal 
and diverse elected boards and residents to develop a consensus on controversial issues.   



Proposal to City of Fort Atkinson  
Executive Recruitment for Fire Chief 

Page | 3  
 

 

Additionally, he has worked in a variety of different communities in terms of wealth, 
demographic, political stability, culture and differing goals. A candidate that is successful in one 
community may not be successful in other, and so it is important that a recruiter understands 
the importance of candidate fit in an organization. Mr. Niemeyer’s experience in diverse 
communities will help in screening candidates that are a good match for an organization. 

As a City Manager, Mr. Niemeyer led 3 successful Fire Chief recruitments. 

c. Recruitments and References for David Niemeyer 
Client Project Start Date End Date References 

Sierra Lakes 
County Water 
District, CA 

General 
Manager 

1/9/2023 5/12/2023 Jennifer Jackson, Board Member; 
415-378-4074; jjackson@slcwd.org   

City of Madera, 
CA 

Finance 
Director 

12/8/2022 4/18/2023 Wendy Silva, Director of Human 
Resources; 559-661-5481; 
wsilva@madera.gov 

City of Madera, 
CA 

Public Works 
Operations 
Director 

12/8/2022 4/24/2023 Wendy Silva, Director of Human 
Resources; 559-661-5481; 
wsilva@madera.gov 

City of Farmers 
Branch, TX 

Police Chief 11/4/2022 2/20/2023 Jacky Trevino, Human Resources 
Analyst ; 972-919-2555;  
Jacky.trevino@farmersbranchtx.gov  

County of 
Johnson, KS 

Director of 
Facilities 

9/16/2022 1/5/2023 Joe Connor, Assistant County 
Manager; 913-715-0430; 
Joe.Connor@jocogov.org  

Selma-
Kingsburg-
Fowler County 
Sanitation 
District, CA 

General 
Manager 

8/11/2022 3/15/2023 Hilda Montoy, Attorney; 
hildac@montoylaw.com 

City of San 
Diego, CA 

Community 
Engagement 
Coordinator 

7/25/2022 2/13/2023 Liz Barat, Administrative Services 
Director; 619-602-9614; 
ebarat@sandiego.gov.  

County of Inyo, 
CA 

Deputy 
Director for 
Public Health 
and Prevention 

5/13/2022 3/6/2023 Sue Dishion, Assistant County 
Administrator; 760-878-0377; 
sdishion@inyocounty.us  



Proposal to City of Fort Atkinson  
Executive Recruitment for Fire Chief 

Page | 4  
 

 

City of 
Cincinnati, OH 

Police Chief – 
currently 
conducting Fire 
Chief 
recruitment 

6/27/2022 12/20/2022 Kelly Carr, Deputy Human Resources 
Director; 513-352-3486; 
Kelly.carr@cincinnati-oh.gov 

 

  

City of 
Flagstaff, AZ 

Water Services 
Director 

6/23/2022 10/28/2022 Shannon Anderson, Deputy City 
Manager; 928-213-2084;  
sanderson@flagstaffaz.gov 

City of San 
Carlos, CA 

Assistant 
Community 
Development 
Director 

6/6/2022 11/4/2022 Rebecca Mendenhall, Administrative 
Services Director; 650-232-9648; 
Rmendenhall@cityofsancarlos.org 

 

City of 
Bozeman, MT 

Community 
Development 
Director 

3/16/2022 11/11/2022 Cassandra Tozer, Human Resources 
Director;  313-799-2255; 
ctozer@bozeman.net  

County of 
Trinity, CA 

Director of 
Transportation 

10/20/2021 4/25/2022 Suzie Hawkins, Administrative 
Coordinator; 530-623-1382; 
shawkins@trinitycounty.org 

 
d. CPS HR Related Recruitments 
Recruitment Experts 
CPS HR specializes in the recruitment and selection of key professionals for cities, counties, 
special districts, and non-profits.  Working in partnership with the governing body or selection 
team, we develop customized search strategies that focus on locating and recruiting qualified 
candidates who match the agency’s unique needs.  Our wealth of recruitment experience has 
been gained through more than 20 years of placing top and mid-level executives in public 
agencies throughout the United States. 

 Unmatched Recruitment Experience for Government Agencies.  CPS HR has extensive 
experience in recruiting executive-level professionals for public agencies across the 
United States.  As a public agency ourselves, we understand how to work with and within 
government.  Our understanding of public sector culture and policy uniquely sets us apart 
from our competitors. 

 Focus on Diversity Recruiting. In the past three years, 57% of the candidates placed by 
CPS HR are female, members of ethnic minorities or both. To continue this trend, CPS HR 
is constantly assessing the best methods for reaching the broadest network of possible 

mailto:Kelly.carr@cincinnati-oh.gov
mailto:Rmendenhall@cityofsancarlos.org


Proposal to City of Fort Atkinson  
Executive Recruitment for Fire Chief 

Page | 5  
 

 

candidates. To that end, we have just signed a contract with Zoom Info, a new sourcing 
platform, that includes a diversity sourcing filter. 

 Seasoned Executive Recruiters.  Our recruiters possess a high level of expertise in 
recruiting and placing executive-level professionals.  Our staff of experts includes an 
exceptional group of full-time employees as well as a full complement of subject matter 
experts, intermittent employees, and part-time employees with a variety of public and 
private sector experience. 

 Detailed Needs Assessments.  We conduct a detailed needs assessment to identify 1) 
future organizational direction; 2) challenges facing the position; 3) the working style 
and organizational climate; and 4) required core and job specific competencies as well 
as personal and professional characteristics. 

 Success Recruiting Non-Job Seeking Talent.  We recognize that the very best candidates 
for some types of positions may not be looking for a career change, therefore, our 
recruitment team takes a very aggressive approach to identify and recruit such 
candidates. 

 Vast Pool of Public Agency Contacts.  CPS HR maintains a database of candidates and an 
extensive network of external resources to leverage for executive-level positions.  We 
utilize our vast pool of public and non-profit contacts to deliver a strong list of competitive 
candidates who will be well prepared to assist you in the accomplishment of your specific 
mission and goals. 

 Satisfied Clients.  Our executive search client satisfaction rating averages 4.6 on a scale 
of 5.  While many companies talk about client satisfaction, how many measure the impact 
of that through assessing client satisfaction by distributing written surveys and tying the 
results of these surveys to their performance management system?  CPS HR Consulting 
does.  A client satisfaction survey is sent at the end of every engagement requesting 
feedback on the quality of our staff, deliverables, and the overall consulting relationship.  

 Retention/Success Rate.  Our success rate is tied to the longevity of the candidates we 
place, currently more than 95% of our placements are still in their position after two 
years.  

 Partial list of recruitments.  Below is a brief listing of recent similar recruitments to show 
our experience with similar executive recruitments. A detailed list of all executive 
recruitments completed in the past two years is available under Appendix B for the City’s 
review.  

Agency Title Year 
Completed 

City of Cincinnati, OH Fire Chief Current 

City of Aurora, CO Fire Chief 2023 

City of San Jose, CA Deputy Fire Chief 2022 



Proposal to City of Fort Atkinson  
Executive Recruitment for Fire Chief 

Page | 6  
 

 

Agency Title Year 
Completed 

Nederland Fire Protection District, CO Fire Chief 2022 

City of Albany, CA Fire Chief 2021 

City of Missouri City, TX Fire Chief 2021 

City of League City, TX Fire Chief 2021 

City of Aurora, CO Public Safety Communications Center 
Director 

2019 

City of Redlands, CA Fire Chief 2019 

City of Las Vegas, NV Fire Communications Supervisor 2018 

South Metro Fire Rescue, CO Chief Human Resources Officer 2018 

City of Missouri City, TX (Fire 
Department) 

Emergency Management Coordinator 2018 

City of San Jose, CA Deputy Director of Emergency Services 
(Fire) 

2018 

City of Aurora, CO Fire Chief 2017 

City of San Jose - Fire 

Department, CA 
Deputy Director of Administration 2017 

CA State Assembly, CA Chief Sergeant-at-Arms 2016 

California Department of Toxic 
Substance Control, CA 

Director, Office of Emergency 
Management 

2016 

California Office of Emergency 
Services, CA 

Assistant Director of Public Safety 
Communications 

2016 

Cosumnes Community Services 
District, CA 

EMS Division Performance and 
Development Manager 

2016 

City of Missouri City, TX Fire Chief 2016 

Orange County Fire Authority, CA Human Resources Director 2016 

County of Orange, CA Chief Deputy Probation Officer 2016 

County of Santa Barbara, CA Director, Office of Emergency 
Management 

2016 

  



Proposal to City of Fort Atkinson  
Executive Recruitment for Fire Chief 

Page | 7  
 

 

Approach/Strategy to Perform the Project 
a. Tentative Schedule 
The project team CPS HR has selected is prepared to begin work upon receipt of a fully-executed 
contractual agreement.  All search activities up to and including the selection of new Fire Chief 
can be completed in 12 to 14 weeks.  The precise schedule will depend on the placement of 
advertising on appropriate professional and affiliate websites, and the ability to schedule, as 
quickly as possible, the initial meeting.  A proposed schedule of major milestones is presented 
below. 

Task Name Month 1 Month 2 Month 3 Month 4 

Weeks 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 

Initial Meeting     

Draft Brochure             

Brochure Approved/ 
Printed & Place Ads  

             

Aggressive Recruiting       

Final Filing Date               

Preliminary Screening                               

Present Leading 
Candidates  

     

Semi-finalist Interviews                     

Reference/        
Background Checks  

                                          

Final Interviews            

Appointment         

Weeks 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 

 

  



Proposal to City of Fort Atkinson  
Executive Recruitment for Fire Chief 

Page | 8  
 

 

b. Our Approach 
Key Stakeholder Involvement 
The Police and Fire Commission and the City Manager on behalf of the City of Fort Atkinson must 
be intimately involved in the search for a new Fire Chief. Our approach assumes their direct 
participation in key phases of the search process.  At the discretion of the Police and Fire 
Commission and the City Manager, other key stakeholders may also be invited to provide input 
for the development of the candidate profile.   

City’s Needs 
A critical first step in a successful executive search is for the Police and Fire Commission and the 
City Manager to define the professional and personal qualities required of the Fire Chief.  CPS HR 
has developed a very effective process that will permit the Police and Fire Commission and the 
City Manager to clarify the preferred future direction for the City; the specific challenges the City 
is likely to face in achieving this future direction; the working style and organizational climate the 
Police and Fire Commission and the City Manager wishes to establish with the Fire Chief; and 
ultimately, the professional and personal qualities required of the Fire Chief. 

Aggressive, Proactive, and Robust Recruitment 
We take an aggressive approach in identifying and recruiting the best available candidates.  There 
are those candidates who would gladly rise to the professional challenge and apply for this 
position; however, some of the best candidates are often not actively seeking a new position and 
may only consider a change once we present them with your opportunity.  Evoking the sense of 
vision and opportunity in qualified persons is among the responsibilities of CPS HR, and we pride 
ourselves in our efforts to reach the best available potential candidates.  We use advertisements, 
directly email the outreach brochure, post messages and connect with potential candidates on 
business media such as LinkedIn, and of course, pick up the phone and call qualified individuals 
and referral sources. 

Diversity Outreach Process 
CPS HR strives to attract the most highly qualified, diverse candidate pool possible.  We are 
pleased that our diligent efforts have resulted in more than 57% of our executive level 
placements being people of color and/or female candidates within the past three years.   

We accomplished this by advertising with organizations like the National Forum for Black Public 
Administrators and the Local Government Hispanic Network in order to reach these specific 
population groups.  We also seek candidate referrals from local subject matter experts and the 
national leadership of groups like Women Leading Government.  By taking the time to directly 
contact these influential industry experts, we ensure that we capture the maximum number of 
distinguished candidates – particularly those who are well-known in their industries, but who 
may not be actively looking for a new job.  

The result is incredibly diverse candidate pools. Our clients have been quite pleased with our 
process and end results.   



Proposal to City of Fort Atkinson  
Executive Recruitment for Fire Chief 

Page | 9  
 

 

Methodology and Scope of Work 
Our proposed executive search process is designed to provide the City with the full range of 
services required to ensure the ultimate selection of a new Fire Chief uniquely suited to the City's 
needs.   

 

Phase I: Our consultant will meet with the Police and Fire Commission and the City Manager to 
ascertain the City’s needs and ideal candidate attributes, to target our search efforts, and 
maximize candidate fit with the City.   

Phase II: The recruitment process is tailored to fit the City’s specific wants and needs, with 
targeted advertising, combined with contacts with qualified individuals from our extensive 
database. 

Phase III: The selection process is customized for the City.  CPS HR will work with the Police and 
Fire Commission and the City Manager to determine the process best suited to the City of Fort 
Atkinson. 

 
The first step in this engagement is a thorough review of the City’s needs, culture and goals; the 
executive search process; and the schedule.  CPS HR is prepared to meet with key stakeholders 
to obtain input in developing the ideal candidate profile and to assist us in understanding key 
issues and challenges that will face a new Fire Chief.  Activities will include: 

 Identifying key priorities for the new Fire Chief and the conditions and challenges likely to 
be encountered in achieving these priorities. 

 Describing the type of working relationship the Police and Fire Commission and the City 
Manager wish to establish with the Fire Chief. 

Develop 
Candidate 
Profile and 

Recruitment 
Strategy

Phase I Aggressive, 
Proactive, 

and Robust
Recruitment

Phase II

Selection

Phase III

Phase I - Develop Candidate Profile and Recruitment 
Strategy 

Task 1 - Review and Finalize Executive Search Process and Schedule 
Task 2 - Key Stakeholder Meetings 
Task 3 - Candidate Profile and Recruitment Strategy Development 
Task 4 – Develop Recruitment Brochure  



Proposal to City of Fort Atkinson  
Executive Recruitment for Fire Chief 

Page | 10  
 

 

 Generating lists of specific competencies, experiences, and personal attributes needed by 
the new Fire Chief in light of the discussions above. 

 Discussing recruitment and selection strategies for the Police and Fire Commission and 
the City Manager’s consideration to best produce the intended results.   

CPS HR will provide a summary to the City stemming from these activities as an additional source 
of information for developing the candidate profile and selection criteria.   

Following the completion of the workshop session, CPS HR will work with a professional graphic 
artist to design a recruitment brochure and present it to the City for review.  Please refer to 
Appendix A for a sample brochure.  Additional brochure examples are available on our website 
at www.cpshr.us/recruitment-solutions/executive-search.   

 
The recruitment process is tailored to fit the City’s specific wants and needs, with targeted 
advertising, combined with personal contacts with qualified individuals from our extensive 
database. 

CPS HR will prepare, submit for your approval, and publish advertisements on professional and 
affiliate websites to attract candidates on a nationwide, regional, local or targeted basis based 
on the recruitment strategy.  Examples may include: 

Advertising Sources 
• CPS HR website 
• Wisconsin State Fire Chiefs Association 
• League of Wisconsin Municipalities 
• LinkedIn 
• FireRescue1 (FIRE CHIEF) 
• International Association of Women in 

the Fire & Emergency Services  
• International Association of Fire 

Fighters 

• International Fire Marshals Association 
• International Association of Fire Chiefs 
• National Fire Chief’s Council 
• International Association of Black Professional 

Fire Fighters  
• National Association of Hispanic Firefighters  
• National Fire Protection Association 
• DiversityJobs.com 

As a consulting firm that interacts with hundreds of public sector executives during engagements, 
we have a cadre of individuals who we inform of recruitments, both to increase the visibility of 
the opening and to attract appropriate individuals who fit the special needs of our client.  
Communication with these professionals ensures that an accurate picture of the requirements 
of the job is apparent and proliferated throughout their professional networks.   

Phase II – Aggressive, Proactive, and Robust Recruitment 
Task 1 – Place Advertisements 
Task 2 - Identify and Contact Potential Candidates 
Task 3 – Resume Review and Screening Interviews 
Task 4 – Police and Fire Commission and City Manager Select Finalists 

http://www.cpshr.us/recruitment-solutions/executive-search


Proposal to City of Fort Atkinson  
Executive Recruitment for Fire Chief 

Page | 11  
 

 

CPS HR is focused on reaching a diverse candidate pool and would recommend 
publications/websites that are targeted to minority and female candidates.  In addition to placing 
ads on websites aimed at minority candidates, we will contact leaders within appropriate 
associations to gain their insight and referrals of possible candidates. 

Within the past three years, more than 57% of our executive level placements have been 
minority and/or female candidates. 

CPS HR will prepare an email distribution list containing prospective candidates and referral 
sources.  These individuals will receive a link to the Fire Chief brochure along with a personal 
invitation to contact CPS HR should they have any questions about the position. 

CPS HR maintains a comprehensive, up-to-date database of industry leaders and experienced 
professionals; however, we do not rely solely upon our current database.  We also conduct 
research to target individuals relevant to your specific needs and expectations to ensure that we 
are thorough in our efforts to market this position to the appropriate audience and to garner a 
diverse and quality pool of candidates.   

We will: 

 Convey a strong sense of the purpose and strategy of the City.  For many talented 
individuals, understanding these aspects is one of the key motivators to compete in such 
an environment. 

 Provide guidance and resources to candidates regarding the area’s cost of living, mean 
and median housing prices, higher education opportunities, K-12 education information, 
and other aspects of interest to those who are considering relocating to the area. 

 Actively seek highly qualified candidates who may be attracted by the prospect of 
collaboration with other departments, providing exceptional leadership to the City or 
continuing to ensure the public confidence in the integrity of the City. 

CPS HR will directly receive and initially screen all resumes.  This screening process is specifically 
designed to assess the personal and professional attributes the City is seeking and will include a 
thorough review of each candidate's resume, and if applicable, supplemental questionnaire 
responses and other supporting materials.  CPS HR will personally speak to selected candidates 
during a preliminary screening interview and will spend extensive time ascertaining each 
candidate’s long-term career goals and reasons why the candidate is seeking this opportunity, as 
well as gaining a solid understanding of the candidate’s technical competence and management 
philosophy.  We will gather data on any other unique aspects specific to this recruitment based 
upon the candidate profile, as well as conduct internet research on each candidate interviewed. 

CPS HR will prepare a written report that summarizes the results of the recruitment process and 
recommends candidates for further consideration by the Police and Fire Commission and the City 
Manager.  Typically, the report will recommend five to eight highly qualified candidates and will 



Proposal to City of Fort Atkinson  
Executive Recruitment for Fire Chief 

Page | 12  
 

 

include resumes and a profile on each interviewee's background.  CPS HR will meet with the 
Police and Fire Commission and the City Manager to review this report and to assist them in 
selecting a group of finalists for further evaluation. 

 
CPS HR will design a draft selection process based on information gathered in Phase I. We will 
meet with the City to review this process and discuss the City’s preferred approach in assessing 
the final candidates.  The selection process will typically include an in-depth interview with each 
candidate but may also include other selection assessments such as an oral presentation, 
preparation of written materials, and/or problem-solving exercises.   

We will coordinate all aspects of the selection process for the City. This includes preparing 
appropriate materials such as interview questions, evaluation manuals, and other assessment 
exercises; facilitating the interviews; assisting the City with deliberation of the results; and 
contacting both successful and unsuccessful candidates. 

Following the completion of the selection process, CPS HR will be available to complete the 
following components: 

 Arrange Follow-up Interviews/Final Assessment Process: Should the City wish to arrange 
follow-up interviews and/or conduct a final assessment in order to make a selection, CPS 
HR will coordinate this effort. 

 Conduct In-Depth Reference Checks: The in-depth reference checks are a comprehensive 
360-degree evaluation process whereby we speak with current and previous supervisors, 
peers, and direct reports.  (It is our policy to not contact current supervisors until a job 
offer is made, contingent upon that reference being successfully completed, so as not to 
jeopardize the candidates’ current employment situation.)  Candidates are requested to 
provide a minimum of five references.  CPS HR is able to ascertain significant, detailed 
information from reference sources due to our commitment to each individual of 
confidentiality, which leads to a willingness to have an open and candid discussion and 
results in the best appointment for the City.  A written (anonymous) summary of the 
reference checks is provided to the City. 

 Conduct Background Checks: Upon a conditional job offer, we will arrange for a 
background check of a candidate’s records on driving, criminal and civil court, credit 
history, education, published news, and other sensitive items.  Should any negative or 
questionable content appear during these checks, CPS HR will have a thorough discussion 

Phase III – Selection 
Task 1 - Design Selection Process 
Task 2 - Administer Selection Process 
Task 3 – Final Preparation for Appointment  
Task 4 – Contract Negotiation (if requested) 



Proposal to City of Fort Atkinson  
Executive Recruitment for Fire Chief 

Page | 13  
 

 

with the finalist(s) and will present a full picture of the situation to the City for further 
review. 

 Contract Negotiation (if requested): Successful negotiations are critically important, and 
we are available to serve as your representative in this process.  With our expertise, we 
can advise you regarding current approaches to various components of an employment 
package.  We can represent your interests with regards to salary, benefits, employment 
agreements, housing, relocation, and other aspects, with the ultimate goal of securing 
your chosen candidate.  

c. Commitment to Communication 
Throughout the recruitment process, we are strongly committed to keeping you fully informed 
of our progress.  We will collaborate with you to provide updates on the status of the recruitment 
via your preferred method of communication (phone conference, email, etc.).   

We place the highest level of importance on customer service and responding in a timely manner 
to all client and candidate inquiries.  Our previous clients and candidates have expressed a sincere 
appreciation for our level of service and responsiveness to the management of the recruitment 
process.  As a result, we have many long-term relationships with clients that have led to 
opportunities to assist them with multiple recruitments. 

CPS HR’s communication continues once you have selected the new Fire Chief.  We will contact 
the Police and Fire Commission, the City Manager and the newly appointed Fire Chief within six 
months of appointment to ensure an effective transition has occurred. 

d. Challenges to a Success Recruitment 
The current employment market has some challenges which we have been addressing for the 
last year: 

1. Multiple job opportunities and offers for candidates 

2. High costs of relocation 

3. Today’s social media environment is also a challenge. High-profile public-sector jobs can 
be politically challenging, and today’s social media scrutiny intensifies controversy, 
whether real or perceived. Candidates need to be prepared for the realities of this 
environment. 

The primary way we combat these challenges is, first through our marketing efforts, and 
secondly through our vetting process. Our marketing language and collateral pieces will always 
put the agency in its best light while providing a realistic picture of the opportunity. We write to 
attract the right candidate who willingly wants to step up to the challenge and contribute within 
the community. We reinforce this through our screening and vetting process, having in-depth 
conversations and interviews with candidates to understand their motivations and derailers 
before we recommend them for further consideration in the process. 



Proposal to City of Fort Atkinson  
Executive Recruitment for Fire Chief 

Page | 14  
 

 

Cost Proposal 
a. Professional Services Cost 
Our professional fixed fee covers all CPS HR services and deliverables associated with Phases I, 
II, and III of the recruitment process.  Travel expenses for candidates who are invited forward in 
the interview process are not included.  

 
Professional Fixed Fee* 

Professional Services for Full Recruitment (Fixed Flat Fee)   $27000 
*Professional fees would be billed and paid monthly.   

 

b. Hourly Rates 
The following tasks will be performed by the assigned project manager.  Our executive 
recruitment team members will serve as additional resources as needed.  The following table is 
a break-down of our $27,000 flat fee based on a recruiters’ time at $125 per hour including the 
cost of all deliverables – recruitment brochure, advertising, consultant travel, printing/shipping, 
background checks, and miscellaneous expenses.  

Task/Consultant Role Total 

Phase I. Develop Candidate Profile and Recruitment Strategy 

Task 1 – Review and Finalize Executive Search Process and Schedule $1,500 

Tasks 2 & 3 – Development of Candidate Profile and Recruitment Strategy 
including comprehensive stakeholder engagement 

$3,000 

Tasks 4 & 5 – Development and Creation of Recruitment Brochure and Place 
Advertisements 

$4,000 

Phase II. Recruitment 

Task 1 – Identify and Contact Potential Candidates $5,000 

Task 2 – Resume Review and Screening Interviews $3,000 

Task 3 – Finalists Selected – Preparation and Provision of Final Report $2,000 

Phase III. Selection 

Task 1 – Design Selection Process $2,000 

Task 2 – Administer Selection Process – Preparation and Provision of Evaluation 
Materials 

$4,000 



Proposal to City of Fort Atkinson  
Executive Recruitment for Fire Chief 

Page | 15  
 

 

Task/Consultant Role Total 

Task 3 – Final Preparation for Appointment: Arrange Follow-up Interviews, Final 
Assessment Process, In-Depth Reference and Background Check 

$2,500 

Professional Fees Total $27,000 

 

c. Estimates of Additional Services and/or Expenses Not 
Included 
All expenses incurred to complete a full executive recruitment for the Fire Chief are included in 
the professional fee total.  CPS HR does offer additional tools such as the Personality Inventory 
Assessment to further assess their candidates.  This is an optional service and the cost is 
additional.  

Personality Inventory Assessment 
In order to measure candidates’ attitude, motivation, and personality, the Police and Fire 
Commission and City Manager may wish to consider the use of a personality inventory.  CPS HR 
has a unique relationship with Hogan Assessment Systems to provide its products to the 
government sector.  As an international authority in personality assessment, Hogan has over 30 
years of experience helping agencies evaluate leadership potential.  Hogan’s Leadership Forecast 
Potential Report, for example, outlines an individual’s day-to-day leadership style, including 
behavioral descriptions and leadership competencies in terms of seven dimensions of normal 
personality that address a different component of leadership performance. In addition to being 
informative about individuals’ attitude, motivation, and personality, these personality measures 
are also highly reliable in terms of their prediction for successful job performance. These optional 
reports are priced from $150 - $450 per candidate based on the suite of assessments chosen. 

 

  



Proposal to City of Fort Atkinson  
Executive Recruitment for Fire Chief 

Page | 16  
 

 

Additional Material 
a. Alternate Proposals to Reduce Cost 
CPS HR offers Outreach Only or Partial Recruitment services if a full recruitment is not currently 
needed by the City.    

Below is a breakdown of the services included in each recruitment option. 

Task Description Outreach Partial Full 
Phase I - Develop Candidate Profile and Recruitment Strategy 

1 Finalize Schedule  X X 

2 Hold Key Stakeholder Meetings X X X 

3 Develop Candidate Profile X X X 

4 Develop Recruitment Brochure X X X 

Phase II – Aggressive, Proactive, and Robust Recruitment 

1 Place Ads X X X 

2 Identify and Contact Potential Candidates X X X 

3 Review Application Materials  X X 

4 Conduct Screening Interviews  X X 

5 Submit Client Report  X X 

6 Client Meeting to Select Semifinalists  X X 

7 Notify Candidates  X X 

Phase III – Selection 

1 Prepare Assessment   X 

2 Schedule Candidates; Coordinate Travel   X 

3 Prepare Evaluation manuals   X 

4 Facilitate Finalist Selection Process   X 

5 Conduct Reference and Background 
Checks 

  X 

6 Assist in Negotiation (if requested)   X 
 

Professional Services 
Our professional fixed fee covers all CPS HR services associated with the recruitment process 
selected (Outreach Only, Partial Recruitment or Full Recruitment), including the necessary field 
visits. 



Proposal to City of Fort Atkinson  
Executive Recruitment for Fire Chief 

Page | 17  
 

 

Travel expenses for candidates who are invited forward in the interview process are not included.  
 

Professional Fixed Fee & Reimbursable Expenses* 
Professional Services for Outreach Only  $10,000 

Professional Services for Partial Recruitment $20,000 

Professional Services for Full Recruitment  $27,000 

*Professional fees for a Partial and Full recruitment would be billed and paid monthly.  Professional fees 
for an Outreach/Advertising project will be billed and paid in full after the completion of the project.   
 

  



Proposal to City of Fort Atkinson  
Executive Recruitment for Fire Chief 

Page | 18  
 

 

b. Sample Work Products 
Sample Brochure 

 



Proposal to City of Fort Atkinson  
Executive Recruitment for Fire Chief 

Page | 19  
 

 

 



Proposal to City of Fort Atkinson  
Executive Recruitment for Fire Chief 

Page | 20  
 

 

 



Proposal to City of Fort Atkinson  
Executive Recruitment for Fire Chief 

Page | 21  
 

 

 



Proposal to City of Fort Atkinson  
Executive Recruitment for Fire Chief 

Page | 22  
 

 

 



Proposal to City of Fort Atkinson  
Executive Recruitment for Fire Chief 

Page | 23  
 

 

 



Proposal to City of Fort Atkinson  
Executive Recruitment for Fire Chief 

Page | 24  
 

 

c. Placement Guarantee 
Two-Year Service Guarantee 
CPS HR typically offers a one-year guarantee, however, in this instance, we will honor a two-year 
guarantee based on the requirements of the City’s RFP. If the employment of the candidate 
selected and appointed by the City as a result of a full executive recruitment (Phases I, II, and 
III) comes to an end before the completion of the initial two years of service, CPS HR will provide 
the City with professional services to appoint a replacement.  Professional consulting services will 
be provided at no cost.  The City would be responsible only for expenses such as re-advertising, 
consultant travel, additional background checks, etc.  This guarantee does not apply to 
situations in which the successful candidate is promoted or re-assigned within the organization 
during the two-year period.  Additionally, should the initial recruitment efforts not result in a 
successful appointment, CPS HR will extend the aggressive recruiting efforts and screen qualified 
candidates until an offer is made and accepted.  CPS HR does not provide a guarantee for 
candidates placed as a result of a partial recruitment effort. 

 

  



Proposal to City of Fort Atkinson  
Executive Recruitment for Fire Chief 

Page | 25  
 

 

d. Sample Contract 

 



Proposal to City of Fort Atkinson  
Executive Recruitment for Fire Chief 

Page | 26  
 

 

 



Proposal to City of Fort Atkinson  
Executive Recruitment for Fire Chief 

Page | 27  
 

 

 



Proposal to City of Fort Atkinson  
Executive Recruitment for Fire Chief 

Page | 28  
 

 

 

 
 



Proposal to City of Fort Atkinson  
Executive Recruitment for Fire Chief 

Page | 29  
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

We thank you for your consideration of our proposal.  We are committed to 
providing high quality and expert solutions and look forward to partnering with 

the City of Fort Atkinson in this important endeavor. 
 

  



Proposal to City of Fort Atkinson  
Executive Recruitment for Fire Chief 

Page | 30  
 

 

Appendix A: List of Past Recruitments 
Agency Title Year Completed 

City of Madera, CA Public Works Operations Director 2023 

City of Madera, CA Director of Financial Services 2023 

North Texas Municipal Water 

District, TX 

General Counsel 2023 

Selma-Kingsbury-Fowler Sanitation 

District, CA 

General Manager 2023 

City of South Gate, CA Risk Manager 2023 

City of Tampa, FL Purchasing Director 2023 

Regional Transportation 

Commission of Washoe County, NV 

Administrative Services Director  2023 

City of Tucson, AZ Business Services Director  2023 

County of Inyo, CA Deputy Director for Public Health and 

Prevention 

2023 

City of Aurora, CO City Auditor 2023 

City of Farmers Branch, TX Police Chief 2023 

City of San Diego, CA Community Engagement Coordinator 2023 

Seattle City Light, WA Talent Acquisition Manager 2023 

City of Aurora, CO Fire Chief  2023 

County of Orange Social Services 

Agency, CA 

Chief Deputy Director  2023 

East Bay Regional Park District Assistant General Manager – Acquisition, 

Stewardship & Development 

2023 

East Bay Regional Park District Assistant General Manager – Operations 2023 

County of Johnson, KS Director of Facilities 2023 

City of Cincinnati, OH Police Chief 2022 

City of Oklahoma City, OK Total Rewards Manager 2022 

City of Oklahoma City, OK Assistant Director of Development 

Services 

2022 



Proposal to City of Fort Atkinson  
Executive Recruitment for Fire Chief 

Page | 31  
 

 

Agency Title Year Completed 

Las Vegas Valley Water District, NV Director of Risk Management 2022 

City of Costa Mesa, CA Telecommunications Manager 2022 

City of Bozeman, MT Community Development Director 2022 

City of Flagstaff, AZ Water Services Director  2022 

City of San Carlos, CA Assistant Community Development 

Director 

2022 

Contra Costa County, CA Human Resources Manager 2022 

County of Johnson, KS Human Resources Director  2022 

Southern California Fair (46th District 

Agricultural Association, CA 

Chief Executive Officer 2022 

Long Beach Transit, CA Comptroller 2022 

Indian Wells Valley Water District, 

CA 

General Manager 2022 

All Mission Housing Authority, CA Executive Director 2022 

Housing Authority of San Bernardino 

County, CA 

Director of Development 2022 

City of San Jose, CA Industrial Safety Officer 2022 

County of Riverside, CA Assistant Director of Public Social Services 2022 

City of Bakersfield, CA Assistant Economic Development Director 2022 

San Diego County Water Authority, 

CA 

General Counsel 2022 

City of Fort Worth, TX City Auditor 2022 

Santa Clara Valley Transportation 

Authority, CA 

Chief People Officer 2022 

Utah Transit Authority, UT Chief Communication Officer 2022 

City of Scottsdale, AZ Executive Director of Planning 2022 

County of Santa Clara, CA Deputy Director of Procurement 2022 

County of Santa Clara, CA Director of Procurement 2022 

Napa-Vallejo Waste Management 

Authority, CA 

Executive Director 2022 



Proposal to City of Fort Atkinson  
Executive Recruitment for Fire Chief 

Page | 32  
 

 

Agency Title Year Completed 

City of Fort Worth, TX Assistant Director of Human Resources 2022 

City of Bozeman, MT Finance Director  2022 

Oakland Housing Authority, CA Assistant Director of Finance 2022 

City of Greeley, Greeley Fire 

Department, CO 

Division Chief of Operations 2022 

City of Oklahoma City, OK Assistant City Manager 2022 

COW Palace, CA Chief Executive Officer 2022 

City of San Diego, CA Chief Operating Officer 2022 

Sound Transit, WA Chief Executive Officer 2022 

Marin County Probation 

Department, CA 

Assistant Chief Probation Officer 2022 

Mid-Peninsula Water District, CA Assistant General Manager 2022 

Long Beach Transit, CA Manager, Government Relations 2022 

California Transit Training Coalition Executive Director 2022 

Marin County Department of Health 

and Human Services, CA 

Public Information Officer/Media Manager 2022 

Douglas County Public Library, NV Library Director 2022 

Marin County Department of Health 

and Human Services, CA 

Chief Strategic Officer 2022 

County of Trinity, CA Director of Transportation  2022 

Contra Costa County, CA Assistant Clerk-Recorder 2022 

City of Rialto, CA Director of Finance 2022 

Reclamation District #900, CA General Manager 2022 

Foothill-DeAnza Community College 

District, CA 

Vice Chancellor for Human Resources and 

Equal Opportunity 

2022 

City of Aurora, CO Diversity, Equity and Inclusion Officer 2022 

City of Oklahoma City, OK Development Services Director 2022 

City of Oklahoma City, OK Assistant Director of Parks & Recreation 2022 

City of San Diego, CA Planning Director  2022 

Texas Recreation & Park Society, TX Executive Director 2022 



Proposal to City of Fort Atkinson  
Executive Recruitment for Fire Chief 

Page | 33  
 

 

Agency Title Year Completed 

City of Livingston, CA Public Services Director (Partial 

Recruitment)  

2022 

City of Livingston, CA Police Chief (Partial Recruitment) 2022 

City of Livingston, CA Finance Director (Partial Recruitment) 2022 

City of Tucson, AZ Director of Transportation & Mobility 2022 

County of Imperial, CA County Executive Officer 2022 

Regional Transportation 

Commission of Washoe County, NV 

Director of Finance 2022 

First 5 California, CA Executive Director 2022 

City of Rialto, CA Maintenance and Facilities Director 2022 

FIRST 5 Santa Clara County, CA Diversity, Equity and Inclusion Officer 2022 

City of Tucson, AZ Assistant City Manager/Chief Financial 

Officer 

2022 

San Benito Superior Court, CA Court Executive Officer 2022 

Douglas County Department of 

Public Health, CO 

Executive Director of Public Health 2022 

Orange County Fire Authority, CA Director of Communications 2022 

FIRST 5 Santa Clara County, CA Chief Human Resources Officer 2021 

LA Metro, CA Chief People Officer 2021 

LA Metro, CA Child Safety Officer 2021 

City of San Bernardino, CA Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion Officer 2021 

City of Golden, CO Director of Community and Economic 

Development  

2021 

Contra Costa County, CA Public Defender 2021 

City of Dayton, TX City Manager 2021 

Contra Costa Mosquito and Vector 

Control District, CA 

Human Resources and Risk Manager 2021 

Utah Transit Authority, UT Director of Internal Audit 2021 

City of Simi Valley, CA City Attorney 2021 

City of Albany, CA Fire Chief 2021 



Proposal to City of Fort Atkinson  
Executive Recruitment for Fire Chief 

Page | 34  
 

 

Agency Title Year Completed 

City of Fresno, CA Parks, After-School, Recreation & 

Community Services Director 

2021 

Flathead County, MT Director of Planning 2021 

City of League City, TX Director of Finance 2021 

East Bay Regional Park District, CA Chief of Workforce Development  2021 

Contra Costa County, CA Information Systems Division Director, 

Technical Services 

2021 

California Society of Municipal 

Finance Officers, CA 

Executive Director  2021 

City of San Bernardino, CA Public Information Director 2021 

City of Oklahoma City, OK Airports Director 2021 

City of Oklahoma City, OK Parks & Recreation Director 2021 

Contra Costa County, CA  Information System Manager II 2021 

Contra Costa County, CA Information Systems Manager I 2021 

Superior Court of San Benito 

County, CA 

Chief Financial Officer 2021 

City of Aurora, CO Deputy City Manager 2021 

County of Marin, CA Division Director of Homelessness and 

Whole Person Care 

2021 

City of Tampa, FL Housing and Community Development 

Manager 

2021 

City of Aurora, CO Public Safety Attorney 2021 

City of Costa Mesa, CA Assistant Development Services Director 2021 

City of San Mateo, CA Deputy Director of Public Works 2021 

City of Durango, CO Parks & Recreation Director 2021 

County San Bernardino, CA Public Health Director 2021 

County of Boulder, CO Parks & Open Space Director 2021 

Utah Transit Authority Director of Capital Development 2021 

City of Encinitas, CA Housing Services Manager 2021 

City of Anaheim, CA Safety Manager 2021 



Proposal to City of Fort Atkinson  
Executive Recruitment for Fire Chief 

Page | 35  
 

 

Agency Title Year Completed 

City of League City, TX Fire Chief 2021 

City of Elk Grove, CA Human Resources Director 2021 

City of Dickinson, TX City Manager 2021 

City of Lathrop, CA Police Chief 2021 

City of League City, TX Director of Human Resources & Civil 

Service 

2021 

City of Dallas, TX Director of Sanitation Services 2021 

Alameda-Contra Costa Transit 

District, CA 

Chief Financial Officer 2021 

City of Oxnard, CA Assistant Chief Financial Officer 2021 

First 5 Contra Costa, CA Finance and Operation Director 2021 

City of Oxnard, CA IT Director 2021 

Contra Costa County, CA Division Director – Enterprise Systems 2021 

City of Missouri City, TX Director of Development Services 2021 

City of San Mateo, CA Deputy Director of Community 

Development 

2021 

City of Riverside, CA City Attorney 2021 

City of Clayton, CA City Manager 2021 

City of Marysville, CA City Manager 2021 

County of Yolo, CA Assistant County Administrative Officer 2021 

City of Greeley, CO  Deputy City Manager 2021 

Flathead County, MT County Administrator 2021 

City of Missouri City, TX  Fire Chief 2021 

Columbia Housing Authority, MO Chief Executive Officer 2021 

First 5 Santa Clara County, CA Deputy Chief of Finance 2021 

Montana Public Health Institute, MT Chief Executive Officer 2021 

San Mateo County Transit District, 

CA 

Executive Officer, Information Technology 

& Telecommunications 

2021 

City of Amarillo, TX Assistant Solid Waste Superintendent 2021 



Proposal to City of Fort Atkinson  
Executive Recruitment for Fire Chief 

Page | 36  
 

 

Agency Title Year Completed 

Skagit County, WA Director of Human Resources/Risk 

Management  

2021 

City of Glendale, CA City Manager 2021 

City of San Jose, CA Building Management Administrator 2021 

East Bay Regional Park District, CA General Manager 2021 

LA Metro, CA Chief Systems Security and Law 

Enforcement 

2021 

East Bay Regional Park District, CA Chief of Maintenance and Skilled Trades 2021 

Montgomery County, MD Chief Labor Relations Officer 2021 

City of League City, TX Assistant Director of Project Management 2021 

City of Scottsdale, AZ City Clerk 2021 

South Coast Air Quality 

Management District, CA 

Diversity Equity and Inclusion Officer 2021 

City of Salinas, CA City Manager 2021 

City of Oxnard, CA Special Districts Manager 2021 

County of Boulder, CO Housing and Human Services Director 2020 

City of San Jose, CA Senior Engineer - CIP 2020 

City of San Jose, CA Senior Landscape Architect 2020 

City of Greeley, CO Deputy City Manager 2020 

San Joaquin Council of 

Governments, CA 

Executive Director 2020 

City of Tucson, AZ Parks and Recreation Director 2020 

Arizona Behavioral Health 

Corporation, AZ 

Director of Housing 2020 

City of San Bernardino, CA Director of Finance 2020 

County of Tulare, CA IT Director 2020 

Orange County LAFCO, CA Assistant Executive Officer 2020 

City of Fife, WA Public Works Director 2020 

City of Oxnard, CA Assistant City Attorney 2020 

City of Aurora, CO  City Clerk 2020 



Proposal to City of Fort Atkinson  
Executive Recruitment for Fire Chief 

Page | 37  
 

 

Agency Title Year Completed 

City of Aurora, CO Debt, Treasury and Investment Manager 2020 

City of Vancouver, WA Deputy Finance Director  2020 

City of Millbrae, CA Community Development Director 2020 

City of Ontario, CA Assistant General Manager  2020 

County of Prince William, VA Human Resources Director  2020 

City of Redlands, CA Director, Municipal Utilities and 

Engineering 

2020 

City of League City, TX Internal Auditor 2020 

City of Carson, CA Director of Community Services 2020 

County of Oakland, MI Director-Management and Budget 2020 

Montgomery County, MD Head, Project Management Office 2020 

International City/County 

Management Association (ICMA), 

DC 

Director, World-Wide Learning and 

Professional Development 

2020 

City of Sheridan, CO Police Chief 2020 

Contra Costa County, CA Chief Information Security Officer 2020 

County of Marin, CA Assistant Director of Human Resources 2020 

County of Travis, TX Administrative Services Division Director 2020 

City of Shafter, CA City Manager 2020 

San Mateo County Mosquito and 

Vector Control District, CA 

District Manager 2020 

Hayward Area Recreation and Park 

District, CA 

General Manager 2020 

California Human Development, CA Chief Executive Officer 2020 

Utah Transit Authority, UT Chief Financial Officer 2020 

Alderwood Water & Wastewater 

District, WA 

Finance Director  2020 

Alderwood Water & Wastewater 

District, WA 

General Manager  2020 

City of Berkeley, CA Director of Library Services  2020 



Proposal to City of Fort Atkinson  
Executive Recruitment for Fire Chief 

Page | 38  
 

 

Agency Title Year Completed 

Metropolitan Transportation 

Commission, CA 

General Counsel 2020 

City of Reno, NV City Manager 2020 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District, 

CA 

Administrative Services Manager 2020 

San Mateo County Transit District 

(SamTrans), CA 

Director, Contracts and Procurement 2020 

City of San Bernardino, CA Director of Animal Services  2020 

City of Boulder, CO Director of Transportation and Mobility 2020 

City of Sacramento, CA Office of Violence Prevention Manager 2020 

County of Marin, CA Chief Probation Officer 2020 

City of Berkeley, CA Public Works Director  2020 

Montgomery County, MD Manager III Retirement Benefits Manager 2020 

County of Marin Health and Human 

Services, CA 

Chief Financial Officer 2020 

Contra Costa County, CA Deputy Clerk Recorder 2020 

Union Sanitary District, CA CFO/Business Services Workgroup 

Manager 

2020 

Cooperative Agricultural Support 

Services Authority, CA 

Executive Officer 2020 

First 5 Contra Costa, CA  Deputy Director  2020 

County of Nevada, CA Director of Social Services  2020 

County of Nevada, CA County Librarian 2020 

City of Millbrae, CA Finance Director  2020 

North Central Regional Transit 

District, NM 

Strategic Initiatives & Planning Manager 2020 

City of McAllen, TX Deputy Director of Public Works 2020 

City of Anaheim, CA Deputy Planning Director 2020 

City of Fullerton, CA Accounting Supervisor 2020 

County of Nevada, CA Assistant Auditor-Controller 2020 



Proposal to City of Fort Atkinson  
Executive Recruitment for Fire Chief 

Page | 39  
 

 

Agency Title Year Completed 

City of Amarillo, TX Assistant Solid Waste Superintendent 2020 

City of Long Beach, CA Director of Parks, Recreation & Marine 2020 

Galveston Island Park Board of 

Trustees, TX 

Chief Financial Officer 2020 

City of Tucson, AZ Deputy Director of Housing and 

Community Development 

2020 

County of Santa Clara, CA Chief Procurement Officer 2020 

City of Bozeman, MT City Manager 2020 

City of Amarillo, TX Drainage Utility Superintendent 2020 

City of Sugar Land, TX Intelligent Transportation Systems 

Manager 

2020 

City of Dallas, TX Chief Information Officer 2020 

City of Bakersfield, CA Economic Development Director 2020 

Alameda County Office of 

Education, CA 

Executive Director, Human Resources 2020 

City of Oxnard, CA Assistant Public Works Director  2020 

Florin Resources Conservation 

District, CA 

Program Manager 2020 

City of Dallas, TX  Parks & Recreation Director 2020 

City of Tampa, FL Neighborhood Empowerment 

Administrator 

2020 

County of San Joaquin, CA Director of Human Resources 2020 

City of Avondale, AZ Director of Economic Development  2020 

City of Hollister, CA City Manager 2020 

Santa Clara Valley Habitat Agency, 

CA 

Land and Resource Management Specialist 2020 

City of Tampa, FL  Sustainability and Resilience Director 2020 

Mountain View Sanitary District, CA Environmental Services Manager 2020 

Community Transit, CA Director of Planning and Development 2020 



Proposal to City of Fort Atkinson  
Executive Recruitment for Fire Chief 

Page | 40  
 

 

Agency Title Year Completed 

City of Las Vegas, NV Youth Development and Social Innovation 

Director  

2020 

City of Austin, TX Assistant Director, Customer & Employee 

Services 

2020 

City of Oxnard, CA Purchasing Manager 2020 

County of Montgomery, MD Chief, Behavioral Health and Crisis Services 

(Outreach only)  

2020 

County of Montgomery, MD Chief, Aging and Disability Services 

(Outreach only)  
2020 

County of Sierra, CA Chief Deputy Auditor 2020 

City of Berkeley, CA Director of Health, Housing and 

Community Services 
2020 

City of Aurora, CO Public Safety Center Director 2020 

LA County METRO, CA Deputy Executive Officer, System Security 

& Law Enforcement 
2020 

City of Bell, CA  Community Development Director 2020 

County of Clark, NV Assistant Director of Social Services 2020 

City of Fontana, CA City Manager (Outreach only) 2019 

Fargo, ND Executive Director  2019 

Port of Long Beach, CA Director of Government Affairs 2019 

San Mateo County Harbor District, 

CA 

General Manager 
2019 

Turlock Irrigation District, CA General Manager 2019 

City of Bakersfield, CA Assistant Solid Water Director  2019 

City of Clayton, CA City Manager 2019 

County of Orange, CA Chief Deputy Director, Social Services 

Agency 
2019 

City of Avondale, AZ Development and Engineering Services 

Director 
2019 



Proposal to City of Fort Atkinson  
Executive Recruitment for Fire Chief 

Page | 41  
 

 

Agency Title Year Completed 

San Bernardino County Housing 

Authority, CA  

Assistant Director of Housing Services 
2019 

City of Oxnard, CA Communications and Marketing Manager 2019 

City of Wheat Ridge, CO Director of Public Works PARTIAL 2019 

LA County METRO, CA Chief Planning Officer 2019 

LA County METRO, CA Chief Communications Officer 2019 

Desert Healthcare District, CA Chief Executive Officer 2019 

Santa Barbara County, CA Assistant Director, General Services 2019 

Washington Department of Fish and 

Wildlife, WA 

HR Director 2019 

LA County METRO, CA Chief Ethics Officer 2019 

Imperial County, CA Director of Social Services 2019 

Carmichael Recreation and Park 

District, CA 

District Administrator 
2019 

Sacramento County Employees' 

Retirement System, CA 

General Counsel 2019 

City of Glendale, AZ Housing Services Administrator 2019 

City of Glendale, AZ Assistant City Manager 2019 

County of Nevada, CA Health and Human Services Agency 

Director OUTREACH only 
2019 

City of Virginia Beach, VA Human Services Director OUTREACH only 2019 

City of Hayward, CA Deputy Director of Human Resources 2019 

City of Las Vegas, NV Parks Director 2019 

City of Tulsa, OK Housing Policy Director 2019 

County of Alameda, CA Procurement Administrator 2019 

County of San Bernardino, CA Assistant Director of Human Resources  2019 

City of Novato, CA Community Development Director 2019 

City of University City, MO  Planning and Development Director 2019 

City of East Palo Alto, CA City Manager 2019 

City of Carson, CA City Manager 2019 



Proposal to City of Fort Atkinson  
Executive Recruitment for Fire Chief 

Page | 42  
 

 

Agency Title Year Completed 

City of Bell Gardens, CA City Manager 2019 

City of Manitou Springs, CO City Manager 2019 

City of Union City, CA City Manager 2019 

City of Columbia, MO City Manager 2019 

City of San Jose, CA Deputy Director for the Environmental 

Services Department-Capital Improvement  
2019 

County of San Joaquin, CA Director of Human Services 2019 

City of Tucson, AZ Housing and Community Development 

Director 
2019 

Transportation Authority of Marin, 

CA 

Executive Director 
2019 

Orange County Fire Authority, CA Fleet Manager 2019 

County of Skagit, WA County Administrator 2019 

Elko County, NV Comptroller 2019 

County of Santa Barbara, CA Director of Planning and Development 2019 

Santa Cruz County Regional 

Transportation Commission, CA 

Fiscal Officer 
2019 

LA County METRO, CA Executive Officer/Deputy Chief, System 

Security & Law Enforcement 
2019 

LA County METRO, CA Deputy Exec Officer - Emergency Security 

Operations Center 
2019 

City of Aurora, CO City Clerk  2019 

South Coast Air Quality 

Management District, CA 

Director of Communications PARTIAL 
2019 

Superior Court of CA, San Benito 

County 

Fiscal Manager OUTREACH ONLY 
2019 

City of Novato, CA Community Development Director 2019 

City of San Jose, CA Division Manager, Capital Improvement 

Team 
2019 



Proposal to City of Fort Atkinson  
Executive Recruitment for Fire Chief 

Page | 43  
 

 

Agency Title Year Completed 

City of San Jose, CA Deputy Director - Office of Retirement 

Services - OUTREACH ONLY 
2019 

City of Garden Grove, CA Finance Director 2019 

Puget Sound Clean Air, WA HR Manager 2019 

Sierra County, CA Chief Information Officer 2019 

County of Monterey, Social Services 

Administration, CA  

Deputy Director of Social Services, 

Community Benefits 
2019 

Sonoma County Library District, CA Executive Director 2019 

City of Missouri City, TX CFO 2019 

City of Austin, TX Assistant Director of HR 2019 

Metropolitan Transportation 

Commission MTC 

Executive Director 
2019 

East Contra Costa Irrigation District, 

CA 

General Manager 
2019 

Yolo County Public Agency Risk 

Management Insurance Authority 

(YCPARMIA), CA 

Chief Executive Officer/Risk Manager 

2019 

Schools Excess Liability Fund (SELF) Chief Executive Officer 2019 

California Student Aid Commission Executive Director 2019 

LA County METRO Director, Transit Security 2019 

City of East Palo Alto City Manager 2019 

Town of Paradise, CA Town Manager 2019 

Lake County, CA Assistant County Administrative Officer 2019 

City of Oxnard, CA Cultural and Community Affairs Director 2019 

Valley of the Moon Water District, 

CA 

General Manager 
2019 

County of Boulder, CO Building Services Division Manager-

PARTIAL 
2019 

County of Boulder, CO Director of Transportation 2019 

 



 

Angels Recruiting Agency  
P.O. Box 2193 * Victorville, CA  92393 * Ph. 760-843-0490 * jobs@angelsrecruit.com * www.Angelsrecruit.com  

 
 

 
 
 
June 23, 2023 
 
 
 
Dear Rebecca Houseman, 
 
 
Angels Recruiting Agency was established in 2004 and based in California. We will take pride in providing 
excellent service to fill your Fire Chief Position. 
 
As a recruiting agency we have worked with a wide range of clients that include small and large companies 
as well as Government agencies by providing extensive nationwide searches for each client.  We are 
required to evaluate excellent candidates and conduct thorough interviews based on our client’s needs.  As 
a diverse Women Minority business, we pride ourselves on conducting all searches in a fair and inclusive 
manner that is based solely on candidate’s qualifications.  We feel confident that we will do the same by 
filling your position.  
 
We appreciate the opportunity to place any positions with qualified candidates in a timely manner. 
 
 
Sincerely, 

 
 
Patrice Williams, Recruiter/Owner 
Angels Recruiting Agency 
 
 
 
  
 
 



 

Angels Recruiting Agency  
P.O. Box 2193 * Victorville, CA  92393 * Ph. 760-843-0490 * jobs@angelsrecruit.com * www.Angelsrecruit.com  

 
 

 
 
EXPERTISE 
 
 
 

PATRICE WILLIAMS 
(will conduct all recruitment) 

 
 

Victorville, CA 
         Executive Recruiter 
 
 
 
 
 
Experience 
Owner/Executive Recruiter, Angels Recruiting Agency, Victorville, CA  2004 – Present 

● Positive Executive Recruiter that knows how to place qualified candidates for each client. 
● Works with diverse client’s staff and candidates daily. 
● Excellent written and oral communication skills. 
● Daily interaction with candidates through emailing, calls and texting. 
● Clients and Candidates are Nationwide. 
● Developed marketing strategies to market agency. 
● Handles all aspects of running a successful recruiting agency. 
● Maintained excellent professional relationships with client and candidates. 
● Negotiates all contracts. 
● Successfully sourcing and placing qualified candidates into executive and management level 

positions. 
● Handles all financial aspects of the agency. 
● Takes pride in completing a contract from start to finish. 

 
 
 
Education 
The University of La Verne, La Verne, CA 

● Bachelor of Science Degree received in Business Administration. 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Angels Recruiting Agency  
P.O. Box 2193 * Victorville, CA  92393 * Ph. 760-843-0490 * jobs@angelsrecruit.com * www.Angelsrecruit.com  

 
 

CLIENT REFERENCES 
 
 
Des Moines Public Schools (Government) 
2100 Fleur Drive, Des Moines, Iowa 50321 
Dr. Joy Linquist, Human Resources Manager  
515-242-7972 
Joy.linquist@dmschools.org 
Placed: Assistant Internal Auditor  
Candidate Employed: 8/2020 – Present 
 
 
 
Urth Caffe’ 
1101 E. Fifth St, Los Angeles, CA  90013 
Jacqueline Vasquez, Director of Human Resources 
213-819-9026 
jacqueline@urthcaffe.com 
Placed:  Assistant General Manager  
Candidate Employed:  Assistant General Manager 5/2019 – Present 
 
 
 
World Wide Wings 
111 West 39th Street, Vancouver, Washington 98660 
Carol Whiteman, HR Business Partner 
317-695-9569 
cwhiteman@worldwidewingsus.com 
Placed:  Restaurant Manager 
Candidate Employed:  2/2018 – Present 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

about:blank
mailto:jacqueline@urthcaffe.com
mailto:cwhiteman@worldwidewingsus.com


 

Angels Recruiting Agency  
P.O. Box 2193 * Victorville, CA  92393 * Ph. 760-843-0490 * jobs@angelsrecruit.com * www.Angelsrecruit.com  

 
 

RECRUITMENT PLAN 
 
• We will meet with the search committee regarding expectations, requirements and responsibilities. 
• We will develop professional and enticing position announcements. 
• Advertising and sourcing through job boards, social media, websites, cold calling, and networking. 
• In order to keep positions confidential, we will post the position as confidential where the name of 

the company will not be seen on any job boards and job postings. As for candidate’s confidentiality, 
applying for any position we will keep their resume and any information given to ARA to stay with 
us until it is time to submit all qualified candidates.  

• ARA will only submit qualified candidate.   
• ARA does not discriminate. As a Minority Woman and Owner ARA is a diverse agency and we 

understand the importance of hiring qualified candidates. We will not discriminate based on any 
candidate’s race, gender, or sexual orientation.  

• We will take a pool of qualified applicants and screen each one through video interviews and 
phone interviews with questions pertaining to the position and their experience. 

• ARA provides reference questions based on finding out what the candidates management style is, 
relationships, performance issues, strength and weaknesses, drive/motivation, and stability.   

• As for references ARA will call professional references directly and obtain academic backgrounds 
and professional credentials. 

 
METHOD 
 
• We will provide a profile for each Candidate. 
• Presenting Candidates that meet the requirements for this Position. 
• Requirements will include Educational Bachelor/Master/Doctorate Degrees. 
• Also included eight years or more work experience. 
• Strong skills in public speaking, communications, management, hands on, very involved in the 

community and the ability to work independently. 
• Reports, applications, resumes and evaluation materials are sent directly to contact person by 

email or fax. 
• The scheduling of interviews is based on the client’s schedule. 
• We are in constant contact with Client and Candidate through the entire process. 
• Preparing questions for interview panel and attending interviews to assist panel. 
• Provides detail documentation of the selection and non-selection processes. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Angels Recruiting Agency  
P.O. Box 2193 * Victorville, CA  92393 * Ph. 760-843-0490 * jobs@angelsrecruit.com * www.Angelsrecruit.com  

 
 

CANDIDATE SELECTION 
 
• We will prepare and present a written summary report of up to10 qualified candidates. 
• Arrange and coordinate interview appointments with Human Resources. 
• Assist in any needed Travel for each candidate. 
• Select final qualified candidate. 
• Assist in any negotiations of compensation package. 
• Conduct final background and reference checks. 
• Contact all unsuccessful candidates. 
• We will stay in contact with the candidate up to the start date to assure a smooth and complete 

transition. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
NEW HIRE PROCESS 
 
• Client will provide start date for new hire. 
• Send out invoice on new hire. 
 
 
 
 

 

DIVERSITY STATEMENT 
 
Angels Recruiting Agency knows and understands diversity inclusion well as a Minority Women Business 
Owner.  We will take pride in including diverse candidates into our searches for qualified candidates.  It is 
important for us to bring experienced candidates into an environment that includes race, religion, disabilities 
or gender.  We embrace diversity. 
 

 

 

 

 



 

Angels Recruiting Agency  
P.O. Box 2193 * Victorville, CA  92393 * Ph. 760-843-0490 * jobs@angelsrecruit.com * www.Angelsrecruit.com  

 
 

 

 

TIMELINE 
• Client goals will begin: July 10– July 14, 2023 

• Candidate search: July 17 – August 18, 2023 

• Interviews/Screening: August 21 – September 22, 2023 

• Scheduling candidate interviews with client:  September 25- October 20, 2023 

• Background Check and Drug Test: October 23 – November 3, 2023 

• Approximate Start date:  November 13, 2023 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 



 

Angels Recruiting Agency  
P.O. Box 2193 * Victorville, CA  92393 * Ph. 760-843-0490 * jobs@angelsrecruit.com * www.Angelsrecruit.com  

 
 

 

FEE SCHEDULE 

 

 
Flat Fee: 
$18,700.00 per position 
 
 
 
 
Replacement Service 
Angels Recruiting Agency will guarantee for a period of 90 days from the start date whether the candidate 
voluntarily leaves or is terminated. If the candidate leaves during the 90 days guarantee period, Angels 
Recruiting Agency will provide a final replacement candidate to fill the position at no charge.   
 
 
 



 

Angels Recruiting Agency  
P.O. Box 2193 * Victorville, CA  92393 * Ph. 760-843-0490 * jobs@angelsrecruit.com * www.Angelsrecruit.com  

 
 

 



City of Fort Atkinson Fire Chief Recruitment Proposals - Summary Table 

Key
Recruitment 

Firm
Date 

Submitted Firm Location Cost Invoices Estimated Hours Timeline Additional Materials Recruitment Guarantee Meet Requirements of RFP? Notes

1 McMahon 6/6/2023 Neenah, WI 16,000.00$        4 equal installments Not provided 3-4 months None None
No (hourly breakdown; recruitment 
brochure; contract sample)

Does not include travel, supplies, 
copies, etc.; local contacts & 
organizations

2

McGrath 
Consulting 
Group 6/19/2023

Tennesee 
(Corporate); 
Waukesha, WI 15,500.00$       

15% up front; 85% 
at completion Not provided 3-3.5 months

Assessment Center option 
$18,995 (discounted total for 
both $23,325)

1-year guarantee if finalist withdraws 
prior to start or City terminates within 
1 year of employment

No (hourly breakdown; recruitment 
brochure; contract sample)

WI volunteer and FT Fire Chief 
recruitment experience; Mike Stried is 
recruiter & former Volunteer and FT 
fire chief (IL)

3 GovHR USA 6/20/2023 Northbrook, IL 26,000.00$       

40% at acceptance; 
40% at 
recommendation of 
candidates; 20% at 
completion 175 hours 3-3.5 months

Assessment Center option for 
additional $8,500; Community 
Survey option for $2,500

1-year guarantee if employee is 
terminated OR leaves Yes

Exclusively public sector recruiting firm 
with an excellent reputation; Tim 
Sashko retired IL Chief as recruiter; WI 
recruitment exp.; additional 
recruitment thoughts

4 CPS HR Consultin 6/23/2023 Sacramento, CA 27,000.00$       
Monthly billing and 
payments

Hours not provided, 
but hourly rates and 
cost breakdown per 
task provided 3-3.5 months

Personality Inventory 
Assessment option for $150-
$450 per candidate

2-year guarantee if employee is 
terminated OR leaves (not promoted) 
for full recruitment Yes

David Niemeyer is recruiter; IL city and 
village management experience; vast 
national experience, but no WI 
recruitment experience

5

Angels 
Recruiting 
Agency 6/23/2023 Victorville, CA 18,700.00$       

100% due via 
invoice at 
completion Not provided 5 months None

90-day guarantee if employee 
terminated or leaves; will provide a 
"final replacement candidate"

No (hourly breakdown; recruitment 
brochure; contract sample)

No Fire Chief recruitment experience; 
no local contacts



Agenda
City of Fort Atkinson 

Director of Public Works Office 
101 N. Main Street 

Fort Atkinson, WI 53538 

MEMORANDUM 

DATE: July 6, 2023 

TO: Fort Atkinson City Council  

FROM:  Andy Selle PE, City Engineer/Director of Public Works 

RE: Review and possible action relating to a Development Agreement with Fort 
Healthcare 

BACKGROUND 
Fort Heathcare is proposing to construct a new public street off of McMillen St. The public 
street will include five platted lots, utilities and road corridor, and a stormwater facility. State 
statute requires a development agreement to communicate the terms of the public 
improvements, included here for Council’s review. This has been reviewed and recommended 
to Council by the Economic Development Committee at their meeting on June 28. 

DISCUSSION 
The attached Agreement includes a detailed accounting of the various expectations of each 
party. Unique information includes the timeline for an extension of Handeyside Lane to 
intersect with the new road within five years. Should this not occur a cul-de-sac will be 
developed. All other details are relatively standard elements of agreements.  

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 
A surety is in place to protect the City should the public improvements not be completed. The 
City will have access to these funds to complete the work. The reimbursement schedule is also 
included at 70% of the proposed increment generated from the three, taxable, residential lots 
within the development. The reimbursement will be $365,000 paid over the 27 year life of the 
TID. Additional development that utilizes the investment made by Fort Healthcare in this public 
infrastructure will prompt the discussion of increasing this reimbursement up to the actual 
costs incurred by Fort Healthcare in designing and constructing the public improvements.  

RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends the City Council approve the Development Agreement between the City of 
Fort Atkinson and Fort Healthcare and authorize the City Manager to make any minor edits 
necessary and execute on behalf of the City.  

ATTACHMENTS 
Development Agreement 



 

 

6/26/2023 2:49 PM 1 

DEVELOPER’S AGREEMENT 
 
 

This Agreement is made as of the _____ day of ___________________________, 2023, 
by and between the City of Fort Atkinson, Wisconsin, hereinafter referred to as the “City” 
and Fort Healthcare, hereinafter referred to as the “Developer” under the following terms 
and conditions:   
 

A.   RECITALS 
 

1. Developer (Fort Healthcare) owns certain property located in the City of Fort 
Atkinson (City), identified on the approved Preliminary Plat (EXHIBIT A) (the 
“Property”), and is working with the City on a residential development to be 
constructed on the Property.   
 

2. Pursuant to Chapter 236.01, et seq., Wisconsin Statutes and the Municipal Code of 
the City of Fort Atkinson, the City has approved the Plat with all requirements of 
said Statute and Ordinance having been met.   
 

3. Developer is desirous of providing all necessary public improvements to service the 
Property.   
 

4. Pursuant to Chapter 236, et seq., Wisconsin Statutes, a Developer’s Agreement is 
required.   

 
NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of mutual covenants and agreements herein 
contained, the parties mutually agree as follows:   
 

B.  APPROVAL OF DEVELOPMENT 
 

1. Project Description.  The development on the Property will consist of five 
residential lots. Four lots zoned single-family (SR-5) and one lot zoned Duplex 
Residential (DR-8).  The four single family lots will include homes moved from 
their current location on N 4th St, the duplex will be new construction. The necessary 
improvements contemplated and required to service the five lots and adjacent lands 
either developed or available for development include the public right of way and 
utilities in the locations shown and identified in the attached Site Plan – (EXHIBIT 
B - the “Publicly Owned Improvements”).  The residential lots, the Publicly Owned 
Improvements, and the stormwater detention area are collectively referred to as the 
“Project.”   

2. Developer Front Costs.  The Developer will up front the design, construction and 
inspection costs of the Project, but is requesting reimbursement from the City 



 

 

6/26/2023 2:49 PM 2 

through T.I.D. No. 10 for Publicly Owned Improvements as outlined in Section D. 
No additional reimbursement monies will be available without a future, separate 
Developer’s Agreement regarding additional, future improvements. 

   
3. Parcels Not Tax Exempt.  The Developer agrees that residential parcels 1, 2, and 3 

shown on Exhibit A will not become tax-exempt during the life of the Tax 
Incremental District (TID 10 – ends in 2049). The City acknowledges that parcels 4 
and 5 may be tax exempt properties.  Should any or all of parcels 1, 2, or 3 become 
tax-exempt during the life of the TID, the Developer shall make an annual payment 
to the City for each tax-exempt parcel, based on the latest taxable assessed value of 
each parcel multiplied by the tax rate for each year.  This annual payment shall 
continue for the life of the TID and shall be due to the City by June 1 of each year. 
For example, if parcel 1 becomes tax exempt on 1/1/25, the Developer would be 
responsible for a payment to the City by 6/1/2026.  This provision is binding on not 
only the Developer, but also upon any successor-in-interest in this parcel.  The 
Developer has the duty to ensure that this provision is made applicable to such 
successors, should there be any in the future.  The Developer, or any successor, shall 
provide written notice to the City 30 days prior to any intended transfer of the 
parcels of interest. This approval, however, is contingent upon Developer providing 
written proof to the City that the new owner(s) have agreed to be legally bound to 
the provisions set forth in this Section 3.  

4. Publicly Owned Improvements.  All improvements constructed within the public 
right of way or noted as such on the Site Plan (EXHIBIT B) shall be the property of 
the City upon completion and acceptance outlined in Section 6. 

5. Future Road Construction.  Developer acknowledges its intent and agreement to 
work with the City to design and construct a new public street (Handeyside Lane 
extension) from McMillan St on the west and terminating into Memorial Drive  
(EXHIBIT C). The parties set the following schedule for the commencement and 
completion of said public improvements and associated private development; 

a) Concept Development – within 24 months of this Agreement signature date, 
the Developer shall request any necessary Comprehensive Plan changes if 
required and present a Concept Plan for development of the future project to 
the Plan Commission. 

b) Preliminary Plat Approval – within 36 months of this Agreement signature 
date, the Developer shall request any necessary Zoning Changes , and present 
a Site Plan for public improvements and any new Development 
Agreement(s) to the Plan Commission. 



 

 

6/26/2023 2:49 PM 3 

c) Construction of Public Improvements Complete - within 60 months 
of this Agreement signature date, the Developer shall have public 
improvements complete and propose  written acceptance of the public 
improvements by the City of Fort Atkinson.  

d) Cul-du-Sac Required – if the construction of public improvements are 
not complete within 60 months of this Agreement signature date, the 
Developer is required to construct a cul-du-sac at the eastern terminus of 
Street A, as shown in EXHIBIT A, at the Developer’s sole expense. The cul-
de-sac must be designed and constructed to City specifications and must be 
complete and accepted by the City within 72 months of this Agreement 
signature date. 

 

6. Dedication of Improvements/Easements.  The City and Developer agree as follows 
regarding dedication of property and public improvements   

A. Following written acceptance by the City that the Public Improvements have 
been constructed to the lines and grades shown on the Site Plan (EXHIBIT  
B) the Developer will dedicate to the City the Publicly Owned Improvements  

B. The Developer shall dedicate to the City the stormwater detention basin 
shown within Outlot 1 on EXHIBIT B upon completion of the extension of 
Handeyside Lane (see B.5. above)  or within 5 years of the date of this 
agreement whichever occurs first.   

C. All such dedications shall be accomplished through one or more certified 
survey maps, or by other formal conveyance and recording.   

 
C.   DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION OF PROJECT 

 
1. Publicly Owned Improvements Standards.  The design and construction of the 

Publicly Owned Improvements portion of the Project shall at all times be subject to 
approval of the City and shall comply with City standards. Construction shall be 
observed by a qualified engineer, approved by the City and hired by the Developer, 
to assure compliance with City standards.   

2. Publicly Owned Improvements Design.  The design phase is currently in process by 
the engineering firm MSA, retained by the Developer.  The Developer retains the 
right to use MSA during the construction observation phase.  The bid package must 
be approved by the City prior to Bid Solicitation.  



 

 

6/26/2023 2:49 PM 4 

3. Publicly Owned Improvements Bidding and Construction.  Developer shall publicly 
advertise and solicit bids for the construction of Publicly Owned Improvements, 
provide the City with the bid solicitation results and receive the City’s approval of 
the contractor selected. Approval will be to the lowest qualified bidder pursuant to 
State laws.  

4. Record Drawings.  The design firm performing construction observation will 
provide record drawings of the completed work.  Required details of the record 
drawings will be approved by the City Engineer in writing prior to construction. In 
general these will include X,Y,Z information in a national datum of all utilities 
including locations of fittings, laterals, inverts, and inlets. 

5. Surety.  In connection with entering into contracts for the construction of the 
Publicly Owned Improvements, Developer shall obtain and deliver to the City 
payment and performance bonds and/or letters of credit, in favor of and naming the 
City as beneficiary (the “Project Security Documents”).  The amount of such surety 
shall be 110% of the written bid obtained by the Developer, and reviewed and 
approved by the City Engineer.  Said bonds or letters of credit shall be provided no 
later than award of the construction contract.  The Project Security Documents shall 
provide the City with security that the Publicly Owned Improvements will be 
completed on time and in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, and that all 
payments due in connection with the Publicly Owned Improvements are being made 
by the Developer; and shall further give the City the right to enforce such documents 
and assume control of the Publicly Owned Improvements portion of the Project in 
the event those requirements are not being satisfied. 

6. Schedule. Time is of the essence. The Construction schedule will be noted within 
the City approved bid documents for the project. The Bid due date should endeavor 
to be prior to September 1, 2023. Public Improvements shall be completed by 
August 1, 2024.    

D.  REIMBURSEMENT 

1. The Developer may request reimbursement up to the agreed total amount of 
$365,000 for expenses incurred by the Developer for design, construction and 
inspection of the Publicly Owned Improvements.    

2. Upon request, the City will reimburse the Developer 70% of the tax increment 
generated by the proposed development on lots 1, 2, and 3 noted in EXHIBIT A. 
Estimated payback schedule is noted in EXHIBIT D. The Developer understands 
that the additional value added to the TID through this Project will drive any 
reimbursement through the TID. Exhibit D provides an example of a reimbursement 
scheduled based on an additional $639,150 in value from this Project. Upon request, 
70% of the increment generated may be reimbursed to the Developer in the year 



 

 

6/26/2023 2:49 PM 5 

following the year that taxes are paid. For example, if the Developer adds $639,150 
in value to TID 10 through this Project on 1/1/25, then the first payment from the 
City to the Developer would be $10,080 (70% of $14,400 increment generated) and 
would be paid by 12/1/26.   

3. Additional development by the Developer, and a percentage of the associated tax 
increment generated by these public improvements may be eligible to increase and 
or accelerate the reimbursement amount schedule noted in EXHIBIT D. Such 
scenario will be documented in an amendment to this agreement and approved by 
the Developer and the City.   

E. REMEDIES FOR BREACH 

1. In the event Developer or City fails to comply with any of the provisions of this 
Agreement, each shall have all legal remedies which are available to it, including 
but not limited to action against the other and the equitable remedies of specific 
performance and injunctive relief.  In addition, the City shall have such other rights 
and remedies as are provided in the Project Security Documents.   

 
F.  GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 
1. This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the executors, 

administrators, successors or assigns, as the case may be, of the parties hereto.   

2. This Agreement may not be assigned without the written consent of the City.   

3. This Agreement contains the entire agreement of the parties.  All verbal agreements 
or discussions have been merged into this Agreement and no modifications or 
changes to this Agreement are permitted unless reduced to writing and signed by all 
parties hereto. 

4. This Agreement may be modified in the future to include more specific details of 
the Project improvements and reimbursement details. 

5. This Agreement is not binding on the City until approved by the City Council of the 
City of Fort Atkinson and signed by the City officials below. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

6/26/2023 2:49 PM 6 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have entered into this Developer’s 
Agreement as of the date first above written.   
 
CITY OF FORT ATKINSON   FORT HEALTHCARE 
 
 
 
 
 
              
Signature      Signature 
 
 
              
Printed Name & Title     Printed Name & Title  
 
 
              
Date       Date 
 



X
X

X
X

O
H

O
H

X

SS

SS

SS
SS

SS
SS

SS

SS
SS

795

792

792

793

793

794

796

79
0

790

789

789

791

79
5

795

79
379479
6

796

79
3

792

793

79
1

79
0

790

791

79
2

SAN

SAN

SA
N

SA
N

SA
N

SA
N

SA
N

SA
N

SA
N

SA
N

SA
N

SA
N

SA
N

SAN

SAN

SAN SANW W W W W W W W W SANW
W

SS

SS SSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSS

WWWWWWWW

OUTLOT 1
326395 S.F.
7.493 AC.

2
11,405 S.F.
0.262 AC.

1
11,687 S.F.
0.268 AC.

N01°49'16"E
120.51'

N31°25'52"W
124.45' 54.33'

124.85'

11
6.0

0'

60
.00

'
38.81'

94
.4

0'
39

.6
6'

S8
8°

05
'2

3"
E

48
6.

33
'

N36°38'22"W
117.92'

N06°36'07"W 190.83'

N43
°39

'33
"W

47
1.8

9'

N04°00'16"W 323.35'

N53
°0

1'2
4"

W
12

5.2
9'

N42
°55

'39
"W

20
9.7

9'

N46°49'26"E
13.45'

N42°52'34"W
15.27'

S00°48'30"E 699.45'

17.54'

S46°07'38"W
56.35'

84
.8

4'
95

.0
0'

89
.2

8'

N43
°52

'22
"W

17
6.0

0'

C4

N46°07'38"E
179.18'

N46°07'38"E
56.35'

11
0.

69
'

S8
8°

17
'2

5"
E

26
9.

12
'

4
15,833 S.F.
0.363 AC.

N01°49'16"E
120.00'

N01°49'16"E
120.19'

6
98,087 S.F.
2.252 AC.

N
88

°2
5'

58
"W

21
6.

66
'

C2

N
88

°1
7'

25
"W

27
2.

86
'

N89°19'37"E
10.00'

S00°49'38"E 120.44'S00°08'37"W 123.22'

97.41'

S00°40'23"E 224.71'

S8
8°

17
'2

5"
E

13
4.

06
'

10744.97 S.F.
0.247 Ac.

3

5
13,077 S.F.
0.300 AC.

C
7

C8

Curve Table

CURVE

C1

C2

C3

C4

C5

C6

C7

C8

LENGTH

22.94'

79.57'

29.68'

123.17'

24.19'

127.29'

85.12'

42.17'

RADIUS

15.00'

99.77'

209.71'

103.78'

15.00'

160.00'

160.00'

160.00'

DELTA

87°37'02"

45°41'38"

8°06'28"

68°00'09"

92°22'58"

45°34'57"

30°28'57"

15°06'00"

CH. BEARING

S44°28'54"E

S68°55'07"W

S24°29'03"E

S54°25'53"E

N45°31'06"E

N68°55'07"E

N76°28'07"E

N53°40'38"E

CH. DISTANCE

20.77'

77.47'

29.65'

116.07'

21.65'

123.96'

84.12'

42.05'

TAN IN

S00°40'23"E

S46°04'18"W

S20°25'48"E

S88°25'58"E

N00°40'23"W

S88°17'25"E

S88°17'25"E

N61°13'38"E

TAN OUT

S88°17'25"E

N88°14'04"W

S28°32'17"E

S20°25'48"E

S88°17'25"E

N46°07'38"E

N61°13'38"E

N46°07'38"E

S07°27'25"E
7.14'

90.08'37.22' C1 C5

S20°25'48"E
174.21'

C3

89
.2

8'
55

.3
4'

C4

Fo
rtR.

Ro
ck

 R
ive

r

PRELIMINARY PLAT OF FORT
HEALTHCARE ADDITION

60 1200

SUBDIVISION BOUNDARY

LOT LINE

UTILITY EASEMENT LINE

SECTION / 14 SECTION LINE

RIGHT OF WAY LINE

CENTERLINE

PREVIOUS SURVEY

BUILDING SETBACK

CORPORATE LIMIT LINE

FOUND 1" IRON PIPE

LEGEND

FOUND 2" IRON PIPE

FOUND 3/4" IRON ROD

FOUND SECTION CORNER

FOUND 1 1/4" IRON ROD

BEARINGS ARE REFERENCED TO THE
WISCONSIN COORDINATE REFERENCE SYSTEM -

JEFFERSON COUNTY, NAD83 (2011).
THE SOUTH LINE OF THE SOUTHEAST 1/4 OF
SECTION 34, T6N, R14E BEARS N88°17'25"W.

35

VICINITY MAP

2

T-6-N T-5-N

R
-1

4-
E

PLAT
LOCATION

BL
O

C
K 

5

LOT 1

CSM 176

CITY OF FORT ATKINSON

TOWN OF KOSHKONONG

SHEET 1 OF 1

SET 1 1/4" BY 24" IRON
REBAR WEIGHING 4.30
LBS./FT.

ALL OTHER LOT AND OUTLOT
CORNERS ARE 3/4" X 24"
IRON REBAR WEIGHING 1.50
LBS./FT.

PARTS OF THE SOUTHEAST 1/4 OF THE SOUTHWEST 1/4 AND
GOVERNMENT LOT 8, SECTION 34, TOWNSHIP 6 NORTH, RANGE 14
EAST, CITY OF FORT ATKINSON, JEFFERSON COUNTY, WISCONSIN.

34

© MSA Professional Services, Inc.

ENGINEERING | ARCHITECTURE | SURVEYING
FUNDING | PLANNING | ENVIRONMENTAL

                               www.msa-ps.com(608) 242-7779
1702 Pankratz St Madison, WI 53704

N

E
W

SW
I

M
AD

IS
O

N

3

LOT 1

CSM 1353

LOT 1

CSM 2743

LOT 2

CSM 5180

LOT 1

CSM 5180

CSM 5180

OUTLOT 1

WEID
EMAN

N

FIRST

ADDIT
ION

WEID
EMAN

N

SECO
ND

ADDIT
ION

LOT 1

LOT 2

LOT 3

LOT 4

LOT 5

LOT 6

LOT 7

BL
O

C
K 

6

LOT 1

LOT 2

CURRENT OWNERSHIP:
FORT HEALTHCARE, INC (DEVELOPER)
611 E SHERMAN AVE
FORT ATKINSON, WI 53538
James.Nelson@forthc.com
920-568-5000

FIVE HUNDRED MCMILLEN GROUP
500 MCMILLEN STREET
FORT ATKINSON, WI 53538
bjanddon3@charter.net

SURVEYOR:
KEVIN LORD, PLS
MSA PROFESSIONAL SERVICES, INC.
1702 PANKRATZ STREET
MADISON, WI 53704
klord@msa-ps.com
608-242-6617

ENGINEER:
MSA PROFESSIONAL SERVICES, INC.
1702 PANKRATZ STREET
MADISON, WI 53704

THE FIVE HUNDRED

MCMILLEN GROUP

(I) (I)

(I)

LOT 1

CSM 3992

(I)

(SR-5)

(SR-5)

(SR-5)

(SR-5)

(SR-5)

(SR-5)

(SR-5)

(SR-5)

(SR-5)

60'

60
'

60'

10
0'

(DR-8)

(SR-5)

(SR-5)

(SR-5)

(SR-5)

EDGE
WATE

R

ADDIT
ION

VACATED

HAKE ST

LOT 3

LOT 1

LOT 2

LOT 4

LOT 5

12' ELECTRIC EASEMENT
DOC. #76812130' SANITARY INTERCEPTOR SEWER EASEMENT

DOC. #774950

8' ELECTRIC EASEMENT
DOC. #916823

10' ELECTRIC EASEMENT
DOC. #916823

8' ELECTRIC EASEMENT
DOC. #916823

SW 1/4

GL 8

GRAPHIC SCALE: 1" = 60'

SE-SW

GL 8

SOUTH 1/4 CORNER
SECTION 34
FOUND STONE MON.

NORTH 1/4
CORNER SECTION 3
FOUND IRON PIPE

(699.49')

(117.94')

ZONE AE BSE 1% (100 YR)
FIRM PANEL 55055C0312F
EFF. 2/4/2015

SOIL TYPE FsB 2 - 6%
2-P

SOIL TYPE HeB 1 - 6%
2-P

SOIL TYPE MgA 0 - 6%
2-P

SOIL TYPE Sn 0%
2-P

TOTAL PARCEL AREA:
514,072 SF
11.801 ACRES

SOIL TYPE HeB 1 - 6%
2-P

FOUND MAG NAIL

60'

D
ED

IC
AT

ED
 T

O
 T

H
E 

PU
BL

IC
FO

R
 S

TR
EE

T 
PU

R
PO

SE
S

N

E
W

SW
I

M
AD

IS
O

N

(I)

EXISTING
BLDG.

EXISTING
BLDG.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CURTIS  MILL

AutoCAD SHX Text
RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
KUTZ

AutoCAD SHX Text
RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
RALPH

AutoCAD SHX Text
RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLORENCE STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
MC MILLEN STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
HANDEYSIDE  LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE EXISTING ZONING CITY OF FORT ATKINSON ZONING MAP: INSTITUTIONAL (I)

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED ZONING: SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL - 8,000 SF (SR-5) DUPLEX RESIDENTIAL - 10,000 SF (DR-8) INSTITUTIONAL (I)

AutoCAD SHX Text
SR-5 SETBACKS: FRONT - 25' SIDE - 15' REAR - 25'   DR-8 SETBACKS FRONT - 25' SIDE - 8' STREET SIDE - 15' REAR - 25' I SETBACKS FRONT - 10' SIDE - 8' STREET SIDE - 10' REAR - 10' 

AutoCAD SHX Text
ADJACENT ZONING CITY OF FORT ATKINSON ZONING MAP: INSTITUTIONAL (I) SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL - 8,000 SF (SR-5) SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL - 15,000 SF (SR-2)

AutoCAD SHX Text
STREET A

AutoCAD SHX Text
MEMORIAL DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROGERS STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
SURVEYOR'S CERTIFICATE I, KEVIN C. LORD, PROFESSIONAL LAND SURVEYOR, HEREBY CERTIFY: THAT IN FULL COMPLIANCE WITH THE PROVISIONS OF CHAPTER 236 OF THE WISCONSIN STATUTES AND THE SUBDIVISION REGULATIONS OF THE CITY OF FORT ATKINSON, WISCONSIN, AND UNDER THE DIRECTION OF FORT HEALTHCARE, INC, I HAVE SURVEYED, DIVIDED, AND MAPPED FORT HEALTHCARE ADDITION; THAT SUCH PLAT CORRECTLY REPRESENTS ALL EXTERIOR BOUNDARIES AND THE SUBDIVISON OF THE LAND SURVEYED AS SHOWN HEREON.  ALL PARCELS SUBJECT TO EASEMENTS OF RECORD AND NOT OF RECORD AND ALL SITUATED IN THE CITY OF FORT ATKINSON, JEFFERSON COUNTY, WISCONSIN. 



© MSA Professional Services, Inc.

www.msa-ps.com

ENGINEERING | ARCHITECTURE | SURVEYING
FUNDING | PLANNING | ENVIRONMENTAL FORT HEALTHCARE PHASE 1 EXPANSION

FORT HEALTHCARE
CITY OF FORT ATKINSON

PROJECT NO.

17839002
SHEET

G1

   DRAWN BY:            MJW

   DESIGNED BY:       MJW

   CHECKED BY:        KCL
TITLE SHEET----

  PLOT DATE: 6/9/2023 10:47 AM, G:\17\17839\17839002\CADD\Construction Documents\17839002 FRONTEND.dwg

  PROJECT DATE: .

NO. REVISION BY
1 PRELIMINARY

2 FINAL

. .

DATE

5/12/2023

6/9/2023

.

MJW

MJW

.

FORT HEALTHCARE
PHASE 1 EXPANSION

CITY OF FORT ATKINSON
JEFFERSON COUNTY, WISCONSIN

SHEET INDEX UTILITIES

NOT TO SCALE
LOCATION MAP

PROJECT
LOCATION

NOTE:
UTILITY LOCATIONS SHOWN ON PLANS ARE APPROXIMATE AND CONTRACTOR
SHALL HAVE APPROPRIATE UTILITY MARK EXACT LOCATIONS PRIOR TO
CONSTRUCTION.

(800) 242-8511Dial or
www.DiggersHotline.com

LEGEND

BURIED ELECTRIC

EXISTING WATER MAIN, VALVE & HYDRANT

EXISTING WATER SERVICE & CURB STOP

PROPOSED WATER MAIN, VALVE, & HYDRANT

PROPOSED WATER SERVICE & CURB STOP

EXISTING SANITARY SEWER & MANHOLE

EXISTING STORM SEWER & INLET

PROPOSED STORM SEWER & INLET

PROPOSED SANITARY SEWER & MANHOLE

BURIED CABLE TELEVISION

BURIED TELEPHONE

BURIED FIBER OPTICS

EXISTING CURB & GUTTER

PROPOSED CURB & GUTTER

EXISTING SIDEWALK

PROPOSED SIDEWALK

EXISTING CULVERT PIPE

FENCE LINE

EXISTING FORCEMAIN

BURIED GAS & VALVE

EXISTING WATER MAIN

UTILITY POLE & GUY

SOIL BORING

LIGHT POLE

PEDESTAL

STREET SIGN

TREE - CONIFEROUS

SILT FENCE

PROPERTY LINE

IRON PIPE

MAILBOX

TREE TO BE REMOVED

TREE - DECIDUOUS

CONTROL POINT

TREE LINE

RIGHT-OF-WAY

BASELINE

FLAGPOLE

DRAINAGE ARROW

RAILROAD TRACKS

PROPOSED CULVERT PIPE

IRON ROD

OVERHEAD UTILITY

BENCHMARK

1
000.00

<

PROPOSED STORM SEWER & MANHOLE

G - GENERAL SHEETS
G1 TITLE SHEET
G2-8 STANDARD DETAILS
G9 TYPICAL SECTIONS
G10 OUTLOT 1 WET DETENTION POND DETAILS
G11 EXISTING CONDITIONS OVERVIEW
G12 DEMOLITION PLAN

EC - EROSION CONTROL & RESTORATION SHEETS
EC1 EROSION CONTROL & RESTORATION - LOT GRADING
EC2 EROSION CONTROL & RESTORATION - WET DETENTION POND GRADING
EC3 EROSION CONTROL & RESTORATION - DRAINAGE SWALE

S - SITE PLAN SHEETS
S1 SITE PLAN - LOT GRADING & STORM SEWER
S2 SITE PLAN - STORM WATER POND GRADING & STORM SEWER
S3 SITE PLAN - DRAINAGE SWALE

P - PLAN & PROFILE SHEETS
P1 PLAN & PROFILE - SANITARY SEWER & WATERMAIN
P2 PLAN & PROFILE - ROADWAY & STORM SEWER

CS - CROSS SECTION SHEETS
CS1-4 CROSS SECTION PLANS

(608) 242-7779
1702 Pankratz St Madison, WI 53704

SEWER :
CITY OF FORT ATKINSON WASTEWATER UTILITY
101 N. MAIN STREET
FORT ATKINSON, WI 53538
CONTACT: PAUL CHRISTENSEN
PHONE: (920) 397-9917
EMAIL: PCHRISTENSEN@FORTATKINSONWI.GOV

WATER:
CITY OF FORT ATKINSON - WATER UTILITY
101 N. MAIN STREET
FORT ATKINSON, WI 53538
CONTACT: JEFF ARMSTRONG
PHONE: (920) 397-9916
EMAIL: JARMSTRONG@FORTATKINSONWI.GOV

GAS:
WE ENERGIES
506 S 116TH STREET
WEST ALLIS, WI 53214
CONTACT: SCOTT HOLSTEIN
PHONE: (262)763-1084
EMAIL: SCOTT.HOLSTEIN@WE-ENERGIES.COM

ELECTRIC:
WE ENERGIES
506 S 116TH STREET
WEST ALLIS, WI 53214
CONTACT: BRYAN STOEHR
PHONE: (414) 944-5516
EMAIL: BRYAN.STOEHR@WE=ENERGIES.COM

TELEPHONE:
AT&T
205 S. JEFFERSON STREET
GREEN BAY, WI 54301
CONTACT: JOE KASSAB
PHONE: (920) 929-1013
EMAIL: JK527K@ATT.COM

CATV:
CHARTER
N 3760 CTH DJ
JUNEAU, WI 53039
CONTACT: BRENT SCHNEIDER
PHONE: (608) 209-9041
EMAIL: BRENT.SCHNEIDER@CHARTER.COM

(608) 242-7779
1702 Pankratz St Madison, WI 53704
(608) 242-7779

1702 Pankratz St Madison, WI 53704

PROJECT AREA

FLORENCE STREET

M
C

M
ILLEN

 STR
EET

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
FM

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
TV

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
FO

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
OH

AutoCAD SHX Text
CP

AutoCAD SHX Text
SS



© MSA Professional Services, Inc.

www.msa-ps.com

ENGINEERING | ARCHITECTURE | SURVEYING
FUNDING | PLANNING | ENVIRONMENTAL FORT HEALTHCARE PHASE 1 EXPANSION

FORT HEALTHCARE
CITY OF FORT ATKINSON

PROJECT NO.

17839002
SHEET

G2

   DRAWN BY:            MJW

   DESIGNED BY:       MJW

   CHECKED BY:        KCL
STANDARD DETAILS----

  PLOT DATE: 6/9/2023 10:47 AM, G:\17\17839\17839002\CADD\Construction Documents\17839002 FRONTEND.dwg

  PROJECT DATE: .

NO. REVISION BY
1 PRELIMINARY

2 FINAL

. .

DATE

5/12/2023

6/9/2023

.

MJW

MJW

.

INSTALLATION NOTES:

TRIM EXCESS FABRIC IN THE FLOW LINE TO WITHIN 3" OF THE GRATE.
THE CONTRACTOR SHALL DEMONSTRATE A METHOD OF MAINTENANCE,
USING A SEWN FLAP,  HAND HOLDS OR OTHER METHOD TO PREVENT
ACCUMULATED SEDIMENT FROM ENTERING THE INLET.

WOOD 2" x 4" EXTENDS 8"
BEYOND GRATE WIDTH ON
BOTH SIDES, LENGTH VARIES.
SECURE TO GRATE WITH WIRE
OR PLASTIC TIES

GEOTEXTILE
FABRIC, TYPE FF

INLET PROTECTION, TYPE C
NO SCALE

TYPICAL SILT FENCE INSTALLATION AT SITE PERIMETER DETAIL
NO SCALE

PERSPECTIVE VIEW

SECTION

GENERAL NOTES:

FLOW

FLOW

FLOW

1. ENDS OF FENCE SHALL BE TURNED UPSLOPE 1 TO 2 FEET IN
ELEVATION TO PREVENT FLANKING.

2. STAPLE FABRIC WITH 1/2 INCH (MINIMUM) STAPLES TO THE
UPSLOPE SIDE OF THE POSTS.

3. WHEN TWO SECTIONS OF FILTER FABRIC ADJOIN EACH OTHER
THEY SHALL BE OVERLAPPED BY SIX INCHES AND FOLDED.

1-1/8 INCH x 1-1/8 INCH
HARDWOOD POSTS OR
EQUIVALENT

2'
-0

"
M

AX
.

MINIMUM 8 INCHES OF FABRIC IN A 4 INCH x 6 INCH
TRENCH OR A 6 INCH DEEP V-TRENCH. TRENCH
SHALL BE BACKFILLED AND COMPACTED.

3'-0" C-C (FIELD CONST.)
8'-0" C-C (FACTORY ASSM.)

2'
-0

" M
AX

.
20

"
M

IN
.

FILTER FABRIC SEE SPECS.

UNDISTURBED GROUND

STONE TRACKING PAD
NO SCALE

UNDISTURBED HARD SURFACE PUBLIC ROAD

50' MIN.

LIMIT OF DISTURBANCE

12' MIN.

12
"

12" THICK
*STONE

10' MIN.

10' MIN.

NOTES:
1. TRACKING PAD WIDTH SHALL BE AT LEAST THE FULL WIDTH OF HTE EGRESS POINT OR 12' WIDE MINIMUM.
2. TRACKING PAD LENGTH SHALL BE 50' FOR CONSTRUCTION SITES, 30' FOR SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL,

OR AS SPECIFIED IN THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS.  LENGTH OF TRACKING PAD MAY NEED TO BE
INCREASE OR ADDITIONAL SEDIMENT CONTROL PRACTICES SHALL BE INSTALLED BY THE CONTRACTOR
IS SEDIMENT TRACK-OUT OCCURS.

3. GEOTEXTILE FABRIC TYPE R SHALL BE INSTALLED BETWEEN THE STONE AND SUBGRADE ON SITES
WHERE HIGH GROUND WATER IS OBSERVED.

4. CONTRACTOR SHALL CLEAN STREET/ROADWAY ADJACENT TO ALL CONSTRUCTION ACCESS POINTS AT
THE END OF EACH WORKDAY OR MORE FREQUENTLY IF REQUESTED.

SIEVE
SIZE

% PASSING

*TABLE 1 - STONE GRADATION

3"
2 1/2"
1 1/2"
3/4"
3/8"

100%
90 - 100%
25 - 60%
 0 - 20%
  0 - 5%

3"

2'-5"
12"

6"
24

5

3B

1

3A

1. PREPARE SOIL BEFORE INSTALLING BLANKETS, INCLUDING ANY NECESSARY APPLICATION OF LIME, FERTILIZER, AND
SEED.

2. BEGIN AT THE TOP OF THE SLOPE BY ANCHORING THE BLANKET IN A 6" (15 CM) DEEP X 6" (15 CM) WIDE TRENCH WITH
APPROXIMATELY 12" (30cm) OF BLANKET EXTENDED BEYOND THE UP-SLOPE PORTION OF THE TRENCH.  ANCHOR THE
BLANKET WITH A ROW OF STAPLES/STAKES APPROXIMATELY 12" (30 CM) APART IN THE BOTTOM OF THE TRENCH.
BACKFILL AND COMPACT THE TRENCH AFTER STAPLING.  APPLY SEED TO COMPACTED SOIL AND FOLD REMAINING 12"
(30 CM)  PORTION OF BLANKET BACK OVER SEED AND COMPACTED SOIL.  SECURE BLANKET OVER COMPACTED SOIL
WITH A ROW OF STAPLES/STAKES SPACED APPROXIMATELY 12" (30 CM) APART ACROSS THE WIDTH OF THE BLANKET.

3. ROLL THE BLANKETS (A) DOWN OR (B) HORIZONTALLY ACROSS THE SLOPE.  BLANKETS WILL UNROLL WITH
APPROPRIATE SIDE  AGAINST THE SOIL SURFACE.  ALL BLANKETS MUST BE SECURELY FASTENED TO SOIL SURFACE
BY PLACING STAPLES/STAKES IN APPROPRIATE LOCATIONS AS SHOWN IN THE STAPLE PATTERN GUIDE.

4. THE EDGES OF PARALLEL BLANKETS MUST BE STAPLED WITH APPROXIMATELY 2"-5" (5 CM-12.5 CM) OVERLAP
DEPENDING ON BLANKET TYPE.

5. CONSECUTIVE BLANKETS SPLICED DOWN THE SLOPE MUST BE PLACED END OVER END (SHINGLE STYLE) WITH AN
APPROXIMATE  3" (7.5 CM) OVERLAP.  STAPLE THROUGH OVERLAPPED AREA, APPROXIMATELY 12" (30 CM) APART
ACROSS ENTIRE BLANKET WIDTH.

NOTE:
*IN LOOSE SOIL CONDITIONS, THE USE OF STAPLE OR STAKE LENGTHS GREATER THAN 6" (15 CM) MAY BE
NECESSARY TO PROPERLY SECURE THE BLANKETS.

EROSION CONTROL BLANKET DETAIL
NO SCALE

6"

(608) 242-7779
1702 Pankratz St Madison, WI 53704
(608) 242-7779

1702 Pankratz St Madison, WI 53704

CONSTRUCTION SITE
EROSION CONTROL REQUIREMENTS

1. SECTION NR216.46 OF WISCONSIN STATE ADMINISTRATIVE CODE IDENTIFIES REQUIREMENTS
FOR CONSTRUCTION SITE AND POST-CONSTRUCTION EROSION CONTROL.  IT IS THE INTENT
OF THESE PLANS TO SATISFY THESE REQUIREMENTS.  THE METHODS AND STRUCTURES USED
TO CONTROL EROSION SHALL BE THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE CONTRACTOR.  CONTRACTOR
SHALL IMPLEMENT AN APPROPRIATE MEANS OF CONTROLLING EROSION DURING SITE OPERATION
AND UNTIL THE VEGETATION IS  RE-ESTABLISHED.  ADJUSTMENTS TO THE CONTROL SYSTEM
SHALL BE MADE AS REQUIRED.

2. ALL WORK SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LATEST EDITION OF THE WISCONSIN DNR'S
CONSERVATION PRACTICE STANDARDS. THESE STANDARDS ARE PERIODICALLY UPDATED AND
IT IS THE CONTRACTOR'S RESPONSIBILITY TO OBTAIN AND REFERENCE THE MOST RECENTLY
RELEASED STANDARD.

3. THIS INFORMATION IS ONLY ONE PART OF THE OVERALL EROSION CONTROL REQUIREMENTS.
ADDITIONAL REQUIREMENTS MAY ALSO BE SHOWN ON THE CONTRACT DRAWINGS AND IN THE
ACCOMPANYING SPECIFICATIONS.

4. ADDITIONAL EROSION CONTROL MEASURES, AS REQUESTED IN WRITING BY THE STATE OR
LOCAL INSPECTORS, OR THE OWNER'S ENGINEER, SHALL BE INSTALLED WITHIN 24 HOURS.

5. THE AREA OF EROSIVE LAND EXPOSED TO THE ELEMENTS BY GRUBBING, EXCAVATION,
TRENCHING, BORROW AND FILL OPERATIONS AT ANY ONE TIME SHALL BE MINIMIZED
TO THE MAXIMUM EXTENT PRACTICABLE.  FOR ANY DISTURBED AREA THAT REMAINS
INACTIVE FOR GREATER THAN 7 WORKING DAYS, OR WHERE GRADING WORK EXTENDS
BEYOND THE PERMANENT SEEDING DEADLINES, THE SITE MUST BE TREATED WITH TEMPORARY
STABILIZATION MEASURES SUCH AS SOIL TREATMENT, TEMPORARY SEEDING AND/OR MULCHING.
ALL DISTURBED AREAS SHALL BE TREATED WITH PERMANENT STABILIZATION MEASURES WITHIN
3 WORKING DAYS OF FINAL GRADING.

6. ALL EROSION CONTROL MEASURES AND STRUCTURES SERVING THE SITE MUST BE INSPECTED
AT LEAST WEEKLY OR WITHIN 24 HOURS OF THE TIME 0.5 INCHES OF RAIN HAS OCCURRED.
ALL NECESSARY REPAIR AND MAINTENANCE WILL BE DONE AT THIS INSPECTION TIME.

7. ALL EROSION CONTROL DEVICES AND/OR STRUCTURES SHALL BE PROPERLY INSTALLED PRIOR
TO CLEARING AND GRUBBING OPERATIONS WITHIN THEIR RESPECTIVE DRAINAGE AREAS.
THESE SHALL BE PROPERLY MAINTAINED FOR MAXIMUM EFFECTIVENESS UNTIL VEGETATION
IS RE-ESTABLISHED.

8. ALL EROSION CONTROL DEVICES SHALL BE PROPERLY INSTALLED PRIOR TO ANY SOIL DISTURBANCE.
9. ANY SLOPES STEEPER THAN 3H:1V SHALL BE STAKED WITH EROSION CONTROL FABRIC UNLESS

INDICATED ON THE PLAN.
10. ALL WASTE AND UNUSED BUILDING MATERIALS (INCLUDING GARBAGE, DEBRIS, CLEANING WASTES,

WASTEWATER, TOXIC MATERIALS, OR HAZARDOUS MATERIALS) SHALL BE PROPERLY DISPOSED OF
AND NOT ALLOWED TO BE CARRIED OFF-SITE BY RUNOFF OR WIND.

11. WIND EROSION SHALL BE KEPT TO A MINIMUM DURING CONSTRUCTION.  WATERING, MULCH,
OR A TACKING AGENT MAY BE REQUIRED TO PROTECT NEARBY RESIDENCES AND WATER RESOURCES.

12. CHANNELIZED RUNOFF ENTERING THE PROJECT SITE FROM ADJOINING LANDS SHALL BE
DIVERTED THROUGH NATURALLY OR ARTIFICIALLY EROSION-RESISTANT CONVEYANCES.  IF
CHANNELIZED RUNOFF CANNOT BE DIVERTED, SITE BEST MANAGEMENT PRACTICES MUST ACCOUNT
FOR THE ADDITIONAL FLOW RATES AND EROSION POTENTIAL THAT SUCH RUNOFF PRESENTS.

13. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL TAKE ALL POSSIBLE PRECAUTIONS TO PREVENT SOILS FROM BEING
TRACKED ONTO PUBLIC OR PRIVATE ROADWAYS.  PAVED SURFACES ADJACENT TO CONSTRUCTION
SITE VEHICLE ACCESS SHALL BE SWEPT AND/OR SCRAPED (NOT FLUSHED) PERIODICALLY TO
REMOVE SOIL, DIRT, AND/OR DUST.

14. EROSION CONTROLS SHALL BE INSTALLED ON THE DOWNSTREAM SIDE OF TEMPORARY STOCKPILES.
ANY SOIL STOCKPILE THAT REMAINS FOR MORE THAN 30 DAYS SHALL BE COVERED OR TREATED
WITH STABILIZATION PRACTICES SUCH AS TEMPORARY OR PERMANENT SEEDING AND MULCHING.
ALL STOCK PILES SHALL BE PLACED AT LEAST 75 FEET FROM STREAMS OR WETLANDS.

15. ADDITIONAL EROSION CONTROL FOR UTILITY CONSTRUCTION (STORM SEWER, SANITARY SEWER,
WATER MAIN, ETC.) SHALL INCLUDE THE FOLLOWING:

a. PLACE EXCAVATED TRENCH MATERIAL ON THE HIGH SIDE OF THE TRENCH.
b. BACKFILL, COMPACT, AND STABILIZE THE TRENCH IMMEDIATELY AFTER PIPE CONSTRUCTION.
c. DISCHARGE OF TRENCH WATER OR DEWATERING EFFLUENT MUST BE PROPERLY TREATED

TO REMOVE SEDIMENT IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE WDNR CONSERVATION PRACTICE
STANDARD 1061 - DEWATERING OR A SUBSEQUENT WDNR DEWATERING STANDARD PRIOR
TO DISCHARGE INTO A STORM SEWER, DITCH, DRAINAGEWAY, OR WETLAND OR LAKE.

16. ALL DRAINAGE CULVERTS, STORM DRAIN INLETS, MANHOLES, OR ANY OTHER EXISTING STRUCTURES
THAT COULD BE DAMAGED BY SEDIMENTATION SHALL BE PROTECTED ACCORDING TO THE VARIOUS
METHODS PROVIDED IN THE PRINTED CONSERVATION PRACTICE STANDARDS.

17. ANY SOIL EROSION THAT OCCURS AFTER FINAL GRADING AND/OR STABILIZATION MUST BE
REPAIRED AND THE STABILIZATION WORK REDONE.

18. THE FIRST SIX WEEKS AFTER INITIAL STABILIZATION, ALL NEWLY SEEDED AND MULCHED AREAS SHALL
WATERED WHENEVER 7 DAYS ELAPSE WITHOUT A RAIN EVENT.

19. WHEN THE DISTURBED AREA HAS BEEN STABILIZED BY PERMANENT VEGETATION OR OTHER MEANS,
TEMPORARY BMP'S SUCH AS SILT FENCES, STRAW BALES, AND SEDIMENT TRAPS SHALL BE REMOVED
AND THESE AREAS STABILIZED.

20. ALL TEMPORARY BEST MANAGEMENT PRACTICES SHALL BE MAINTAINED UNTIL THE SITE IS STABILIZED.
21. ALL DISTURBED AREAS SHALL BE PERMANENTLY STABILIZED WITH SEED AND MULCH UNLESS

OTHERWISE SPECIFIED.  A MINIMUM OF FOUR INCHES OF TOPSOIL SHALL BE APPLIED TO ALL
AREAS TO BE SEEDED OR SODDED.



© MSA Professional Services, Inc.

www.msa-ps.com

ENGINEERING | ARCHITECTURE | SURVEYING
FUNDING | PLANNING | ENVIRONMENTAL FORT HEALTHCARE PHASE 1 EXPANSION

FORT HEALTHCARE
CITY OF FORT ATKINSON

PROJECT NO.

17839002
SHEET

G3

   DRAWN BY:            MJW

   DESIGNED BY:       MJW

   CHECKED BY:        KCL
STANDARD DETAILS----

  PLOT DATE: 6/9/2023 10:47 AM, G:\17\17839\17839002\CADD\Construction Documents\17839002 FRONTEND.dwg

  PROJECT DATE: .

NO. REVISION BY
1 PRELIMINARY

2 FINAL

. .

DATE

5/12/2023

6/9/2023

.

MJW

MJW

.

CLASS "C" EMBEDMENT FOR RIGID PIPE DETAIL
NO SCALE

SECTION X-X
SECTION Y-Y

BELL AND SPIGOT PIPETONGUE AND GROOVE PIPE

DRY TRENCH WET TRENCH

DRY TRENCH WORK WET TRENCH WORK

TRENCHES SHALL COMPLY WITH OSHA REQUIREMENTS

DRY TRENCH WET TRENCH

GENERAL NOTES:
1. BEDDING AND HAUNCHING MATERIAL SHALL BE WELL-GRADED  3/4  TO  1/4  INCH

CRUSHED STONE OR OTHER NONE COHESIVE MATERIAL NOT SUBJECT TO MIGRATION
AND FREE OF DEBRIS, ORGANIC MATERIAL, AND LARGE STONES.

2. BEDDING MATERIAL TO BE PLACED BEFORE SETTING PIPE, 4 INCH MINIMUM UNDER
BARREL WITH 3 INCH MINIMUM UNDER BELL.

3. INITIAL BACKFILL SHALL BE DENSELY COMPACTED, NON-COHESIVE FINELY DIVIDED
MATERIAL FREE OF DEBRIS, ORGANIC MATERIAL, AND LARGE STONES.

4. IN ROCK OR OTHER INCOMPRESSIBLE MATERIALS, THE TRENCH SHALL BE  OVER
EXCAVATED A MINIMUM OF 6 INCHES AND REFILLED WITH GRANULAR MATERIAL.

X

PAVEMENT  SUBGRADE
OR FINISHED  GRADEMINIMUM CLEAR WIDTH

AS SPECIFIED
MINIMUM CLEAR WIDTH

AS SPECIFIED

6"

90°

COMPACTED
INITIAL BACKFILL

CAREFULLY  COMPACTED
BEDDING MATERIAL

3" OF CRUSHED
STONE REQUIRED
IN WET TRENCH

90°

6"

3"
4"

X

Y

Y

3"
3"

(608) 242-7779
1702 Pankratz St Madison, WI 53704
(608) 242-7779

1702 Pankratz St Madison, WI 53704

GENERAL NOTES:
1. DETAILS OF CONSTRUCTION NOT SHOWN ON THIS DRAWING SHALL CONFORM TO  ASTM D2321.
2. CLASS III EMBEDMENT MATERIAL SHALL BE COURSE-GRAINED SOILS WITH FINES. NO PARTICLES

LARGER THAN 1 1/2 -INCHES SHALL BE USED IN THE PIPE EMBEDMENT.
3. DO NOT USE WHERE WATER CONDITIONS IN TRENCH MAY CAUSE INSTABILITY.
4. CLASS III MATERIAL IS SUITABLE AS FOUNDATION AND FOR REPLACING OVER-EXCAVATED

TRENCH BOTTOM.  DO NOT USE IN THICKNESS GREATER THAN 12 INCH TOTAL. INSTALL AND
COMPACT IN 6-INCH MAXIMUM LAYERS.

5. INSTALL AND COMPACT BEDDING IN 6-INCH MAXIMUM LAYERS.  LEVEL FINAL GRADE BY HAND.
MINIMUM DEPTH 4 INCHES (6 INCH IN ROCK CUTS).

6. INSTALL AND COMPACT HAUNCHING IN 6-INCH MAXIMUM LAYERS.  WORK IN AROUND PIPE BY
HAND TO PROVIDE UNIFORM SUPPORT.

7. INSTALL AND COMPACT INITIAL BACKFILL TO A MINIMUM OF 6 INCHES ABOVE PIPE CROWN.
8. EMBEDMENT COMPACTION:

MINIMUM DENSITY 90% STANDARD PROCTOR.  USE HAND TAMPERS OR VIBRATORY
COMPACTORS.  MAINTAIN MOISTURE CONTENT NEAR OPTIMUM TO MINIMIZE COMPACTIVE
EFFORT.

10. EMBEDMENT INCLUDES BEDDING, HAUNCHING, AND INITIAL BACKFILL.

CLASS III - FLEXIBLE PIPE EMBEDMENT DETAIL
NO SCALE

FOUNDATION (MAY
NOT BE REQUIRED)

BEDDING

HAUNCHING

SPRINGLINE

FINAL
BACKFILL

INITIAL
BACKFILL

EXCAVATED
TRENCH WIDTH

6"-12"

HAUNCH ZONE

PIPE ZONE

VAR. INSLOPE
VAR. BACKSLOPE

TYPICAL RIPRAP INSTALLATION
NO SCALE

OVERALL WIDTH TO BE
DETERMINED BY ENGINEER

1'
 M

IN
.

1'

TYPE R GEOTEXTILE FABRIC RIPRAP

TOPSOIL

SUBSOIL

STRAW MULCH OR EROSION
CONTROL BLANKET AS SPECIFIED SPECIFIED SEED MIX AND

FERTILIZER APPLIED AT
SPECIFIED RATE

SCARIFY SUBSOIL TO PROMOTE
ROOT PENETRATION

NOTE: WHERE REQUIRED, PLANT HERBACEOUS PLUGS
ACCORDING TO PLAN, OR AS DIRECTED BY ENGINEER.

6"
 M

IN
.

TOPSOIL AND SEEDING DETAIL
NO SCALE

FLOW

BIOROLL
NO SCALE

STRAW OR WOOD FIBER 8'' DIA.
MIN. ROLL ENCLOSED IN PLASTIC
OR POLYESTER NETTING 2''X2''X18'' LONG WOODEN STAKES

AT 2'-0'' SPACING. DRIVE THROUGH
NETTING AND FIBER ROLL.

BIO-ROLL



© MSA Professional Services, Inc.

www.msa-ps.com

ENGINEERING | ARCHITECTURE | SURVEYING
FUNDING | PLANNING | ENVIRONMENTAL FORT HEALTHCARE PHASE 1 EXPANSION

FORT HEALTHCARE
CITY OF FORT ATKINSON

PROJECT NO.

17839002
SHEET

G4

   DRAWN BY:            MJW

   DESIGNED BY:       MJW

   CHECKED BY:        KCL
STANDARD DETAILS----

  PLOT DATE: 6/9/2023 10:47 AM, G:\17\17839\17839002\CADD\Construction Documents\17839002 FRONTEND.dwg

  PROJECT DATE: .

NO. REVISION BY
1 PRELIMINARY

2 FINAL

. .

DATE

5/12/2023

6/9/2023

.

MJW

MJW

.

1. CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE AND MAINTAIN ALL PROPER BARRICADES, LIGHTS, SIGNAGE AND
WATCHMEN, OR OTHER TRAFFIC CONTROL MEASURES NECESSARY TO PROPERLY PROTECT
PERSONS, ANIMALS AND PROPERTY DURING ALL SANITARY SEWER AND FORCE MAIN
CONSTRUCTION.

2. ALL OPEN CUT TRENCHES SHALL BE PROTECTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH APPLICABLE RULES, LAWS
AND REGULATIONS OF FEDERAL, STATE AND MUNICIPAL ORDINANCES, BUT SHALL NOT BE LESS
THAN THE STANDARDS AND REGULATIONS ESTABLISHED BY THE DEPARTMENT OF LABOR, OSHA
29 CFR, PART 1926.

3. ALL OPEN TRENCHES SHALL BE BACK FILLED AT THE END OF EACH WORKING DAY, UNLESS THE
TRENCH IS SUITABLY BARRICADED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE STANDARDS AND REGULATIONS
ESTABLISHED BY THE DEPARTMENT OF LABOR, OSHA 29 CFR, PART 1926.

4. INSTALL ALL BOUNDARY SILT FENCE AND EROSION BALES FOR EROSION CONTROL IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE CONSTRUCTION DRAWINGS. INSTALL ALL BOUNDARY SILT FENCE PRIOR
TO ANY CONSTRUCTION WORK.

5. SANITARY SEWER SHALL BE CONSTRUCTED WITH COVER INDICATED.  INSTANCES WHERE COVER
CANNOT BE PROVIDED DUE TO PHYSICAL CONSTRAINTS OR CONFLICTS SHALL BE EVALUATED
AND MODIFIED BY THE ENGINEER.

6. CONTRACTOR SHALL PERFORM LOW PRESSURE AIR AND DEFLECTION TESTS FOR ACCEPTANCE IN
THE PRESENCE OF THE ENGINEER, IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE GREAT LAKES-UPPER MISSISSIPPI
RIVER BOARD OF STATE AND PROVISIONAL PUBLIC HEALTH AND ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGERS
DESIGN STANDARDS, CURRENT EDITION. (TEN STATES STANDARDS)

7. ALL SANITARY SEWER AND LATERAL CONNECTIONS SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE TEN
STATES STANDARDS.

SANITARY SEWER NOTES

R/W

2
3

1
1

ELEVATION VIEW

SANITARY SEWER LATERAL DETAIL
NO SCALE

NOTES FOR LATERAL INSTALLATION:
1. MINIMUM DEPTH OF COVER UNDER ROADWAY = 7 FEET.
2. MINIMUM DEPTH OF COVER UNDER GRASS AREAS = 5 1/2 FEET.
3. MINIMUM DEPTH OF COVER UNDER GRASS AREAS WITH FROST PROTECTION = 3 FEET 6 INCHES.
4. LATERAL SLOPES SHALL BE 1/8 INCH PER FOOT MINIMUM AND 1/2 INCH PER FOOT MAXIMUM.

NOTES FOR TRACER WIRE INSTALLATION:
1. THE TRACER WIRE SHALL REMAIN CONTINUOUS TO THE GREATEST EXTENT POSSIBLE.
2. NO. 12 GAUGE GREEN INSULATED COPPER TRACER WIRE SHALL BE INSTALLED WITH THE

NON-CONDUCTIVE SERVICE. PIPE TRACER WIRE TERMINAL BOXES SHALL BE INSTALLED DIRECTLY
ABOVE THE SEWER MAIN OR AS DETERMINED BY THE ENGINEER OR OWNER. TRACER WIRE
INSTALLATION REQUIRES ACCESS POINTS AT LEAST EVERY 300 FEET.

3. TRACER WIRE SHALL BE RESTRAINED BY CABLE-TIES, TAPE, OR BY NON-CORRESIVE FASTENER
APPROVED BY THE OWNER, INSTALLED EVERY 10 FEET ALONG SERVICE. DO NOT WRAP TRACER
WIRE AROUND THE PIPE.

4. TRACER WIRE SHALL RUN FROM THE WYE AND TERMINATED IN A FLUSH MOUNTED TERMINAL BOX
WITH A CAST IRON LOCKABLE TOP. SPLICES IN TRACER WIRE SHOULD BE MADE WITH SPLIT BOLT
OR COMPRESSION-TYPE CONNECTORS. WIRE NUTS SHALL NOT BE USED. A WATER-PROOF
CONNECTION IS NECESSARY TO PREVENT CORROSION. TERMINAL BOX SHALL BE VALVCO, OR
APPROVED EQUAL.

ZINC ANODE,
2 LB. MIN.

PLUG END.  MARK
LATERAL END PER
SPECIFICATIONS.

BEDDING
1

8 OR 116 BEND (TYP.)
RISER PIPE (OPTIONAL)
SERVICE WYE
INVERT ELEVATION AS INDICATED ON PLANS

TERMINAL
BOX

FASTENERS
(TYP.)

1 10' MAX.

HORIZONTAL PAY DISTANCE FOR LATERALS

D/2

SECTION A-A

PLAN

DROP ASSEMBLY DETAIL

A A

GENERAL NOTES:
1. DETAILS OF CONSTRUCTION, MATERIALS AND WORKMANSHIP NOT SHOWN ON THIS DRAWING  AND THE APPLICABLE

SPECIAL CONDITIONS SHALL CONFORM TO THE PERTINENT REQUIREMENTS OF THE STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS.
2. DETAILED DRAWINGS FOR PROPOSED ALTERNATE DESIGNS FOR UNDERGROUND STRUCTURES  SHALL BE SUBMITTED

TO THE ENGINEER FOR APPROVAL PROVIDING THAT SUCH ALTERNATE DESIGNS MAKE PROVISION FOR EQUIVALENT
CAPACITY AND STRENGTH.

3. PRECAST REINFORCED BASES SHALL BE PLACED ON A BED OF MATERIAL AT LEAST  6 INCHES IN DEPTH, WHICH MEETS
THE REQUIREMENTS FOR GRANULAR BACKFILL. THIS BEDDING SHALL BE COMPACTED AND PROVIDE UNIFORM SUPPORT
FOR THE ENTIRE  AREA OF THE BASE.

4. ECCENTRIC CONE TOPS SHALL BE USED ON ALL STRUCTURES 5 FEET OR GREATER  IN DEPTH, AND FLAT TOPS SHALL BE
USED ONLY ON STRUCTURES LESS THAN 5 FEET IN DEPTH, UNLESS DIRECTED BY THE ENGINEER.

5. PRECAST REINFORCED CONCRETE RISERS MAY BE PLACED WITH TONGUE UP OR DOWN.
6. ALL PRECAST INLET UNITS SHALL CONFORM TO THE PERTINENT REQUIREMENTS OF AASHTO  DESIGNATION M 199.
7. DROP CONNECTIONS SHALL BE USED WHEN THE PIPE INVERT IS MORE THAN 2 FEET  ABOVE THE MANHOLE INVERT.

PRECAST STRUCTURE MANWAY CLEAR OPENING SHALL MATCH CASTING - REFER TO STANDARD SPECIFICATION
8. DIVISION 33 AND THE APPLICABLE SPECIAL CONDITIONS.

- OPENING SHALL BE 24" FOR R-1550 CASTINGS
- OPENING SHALL BE 27" FOR R-1642 CASTINGS

9.     DROP CONNECTION AND ASSEMBLY SHALL BE CONSTRUCTED WITH DUCTILE IRON PIPE.

PRECAST REINFORCED CONCRETE MANHOLE DETAIL
NO SCALE

CONCRETE
ENCASEMENT

≥ 
2'

-0
"

TEE

90º BEND

4"

6"

TYP
E

W
(FT)1 4

2 5
3 6

PRECAST  REINFORCED
CONCRETE  ECCENTRIC  OR FLAT
TOP (SEE "GENERAL  NOTES")

PRECAST
REINFORCED
CONCRETE  RISERS

MIN. SLOPE 1 INCH/FT.
CLASS A
CONCRETE

SPLIT PIPE  OR FORM
CONCRETE  TO FIT

6 INCHES  MINIMUM COMPACTED
GRANULAR  BEDDING

#4 BARS  12" C-C TO  12'
DEPTH  6" C-C OVER  12'
TO 25' DEPTH

W

6"

4" MIN.

SEE
NOTE 8 8" MIN.

(608) 242-7779
1702 Pankratz St Madison, WI 53704
(608) 242-7779

1702 Pankratz St Madison, WI 53704

INSTALLATION IN UNPAVED AREA

INSTALLATION IN PAVED AREA

TRACER WIRE INSTALLATION FOR PVC FORCEMAIN
NO SCALE

GENERAL NOTES:
1. THE TRACER WIRE SHALL REMAIN CONTINUOUS TO THE GREATEST EXTENT POSSIBLE.
2. A THREADED, FEMALE PVC SCHEDULE 40 PLUG AND MALE COUPLING GLUED TO  3/4  INCH

SCHEDULE 40 SHALL BE  INSTALLED IN OR ADJACENT TO THE VALVE VAULT AND  MANHOLE.
3. WIRE PIGTAIL SHALL BE WRAPPED AROUND BOLT AND READILY ACCESSIBLE, WITH

SUFFICIENT LENGTH FOR EASY CONNECTION.

INSULATED NO. 12 COPPER
TRACER  WIRE SHALL BE
LAID ALONG THE TOP OF
THE FORCEMAIN. 4'

 M
IN

.

FINISHED GRADE

MANHOLE

1/4  INCH
STAINLESS
STEEL BOLT

3/4  INCH PVC
CONDUIT
SCH. 40

6" MAX. FROM
TOP OF MANHOLE

SEAL SHALL BE
WATERTIGHT/
WATERPROOF

MANHOLE

PAVEMENT

4'
 M

IN
.INSULATED NO. 12

COPPER TRACER  WIRE
SHALL BE LAID ALONG THE
TOP OF THE FORCEMAIN.

6" TYP.

PVC FORCEMAIN

EXTERNAL RUBBER SLEEVE FRAME/CHIMNEY SEAL

ELASTOMERIC FRAME/CHIMNEY SEAL

THE BOND BREAKER TAPE IS TO PREVENT THE SEALER FROM BONDING TO THE EDGE OF THE FLANGE OF THE
MH FRAME AND THE UPPER 1-1/2 INCHES OF ADJUSTING RING OR CONE.  IF THE EDGE OF FLANGE IS NOT
FLUSH WITH ADJUSTING RING OR CONE, APPLY ADDITIONAL TAPE AS REQUIRED TO PREVENT SUCH BONDING.

GENERAL NOTE:
THE SEAL SHALL EXTEND FROM THE CASTING TO THE CORBEL (CONE).
SEAL EXTENSIONS SHALL BE USED AS REQUIRED.

GENERAL NOTES:
1. THE SEAL SHALL EXTEND FROM THE CASTING TO THE CORBEL

(CONE). SEAL EXTENSIONS SHALL BE USED AS REQUIRED.
2. AN INTERNAL ADAPTOR SEAL RING MAY BE USED IN LIEU OF THE

RUBBER SLEEVE.  THE INTERNAL ADAPTOR SEAL RING SHALL BE
INSTALLED PER MANUFACTURER'S INSTRUCTIONS.

INTERNAL RUBBER SLEEVE FRAME/CHIMNEY SEAL

MANHOLE WATERPROOFING DETAIL
NO SCALE

FINISHED GRADE

ELASTOMERIC
WATERPROOFING SEALER

CONCRETE ADJUSTMENT
RINGS AS REQUIRED

2 LAYERS OF 4 MIL PLASTIC
SHEET AS SPECIFIED

MANHOLE FRAME & COVER

2 INCH OR 3 INCH BOND BREAKER TAPE.
CENTER OVER JOINT BETWEEN MANHOLE
FRAME AND ADJUSTING RINGS OR CONE
SECTION AS APPLICABLE. SEE NOTE.

MANHOLE CONE SECTION

MANHOLE COVER

MANHOLE FRAME

RUBBER SLEEVE

CONCRETE ADJUSTMENT
RINGS AS REQUIRED

FINISHED GRADE

STAINLESS STEEL
COMPRESSION BAND
AS RECOMMENDED
BY MANUFACTURER

MANHOLE
FRAME & COVER

RUBBER SLEEVE

NON-SHRINK MORTAR SPREAD ON
EXTERIOR OF ADJUSTMENT RINGS

SEAL EXTENSION
AS REQUIRED

STAINLESS STEEL COMPRESSION BANDS
FINISHED GRADE

CONCRETE ADJUSTMENT RINGS
AS REQUIRED
PRECAST, BLOCK, OR BRICK
MANHOLE CORBEL (CONE)

BLOCK OR BRICK MANHOLES TO BE
BACKPLASTERED AND SEALED WITH
BITUMINOUS WATERPROOF COATING

GENERAL NOTES:
1. SEE PLANS AND SPECIFICATIONS FOR SIZE AND TYPE OF

CURB STOP AND BOX CORPORATION AND SERVICE LINE.
2. COMMUNITY STANDARDS SHALL SUPERSEDE THE

DIMENSIONS FROM THE PROPERTY LINE.

WATER SERVICE DETAIL
NO SCALE

WATER MAIN

SOLID CONCRETE BLOCK

CORPORATION

CURB &
GUTTER

INSTALL LEVEL
WATER LATERALCURB STOP

& BOX

HORIZONTAL PAY LIMITS

AS
 S

PE
C

'D
6.

5'
 M

IN
.

AS
 S

PE
C

'D
6.

5'
 M

IN
.

7'-0"

2

2'-0"

2

MARK END LOCATION
WITH A 4"x4" WOOD
POST OR METAL
FENCE POST

PR
O

PE
R

TY
 L

IN
E



© MSA Professional Services, Inc.

www.msa-ps.com

ENGINEERING | ARCHITECTURE | SURVEYING
FUNDING | PLANNING | ENVIRONMENTAL FORT HEALTHCARE PHASE 1 EXPANSION

FORT HEALTHCARE
CITY OF FORT ATKINSON

PROJECT NO.

17839002
SHEET

G5

   DRAWN BY:            MJW

   DESIGNED BY:       MJW

   CHECKED BY:        KCL
STANDARD DETAILS----

  PLOT DATE: 6/9/2023 10:47 AM, G:\17\17839\17839002\CADD\Construction Documents\17839002 FRONTEND.dwg

  PROJECT DATE: .

NO. REVISION BY
1 PRELIMINARY

2 FINAL

. .

DATE

5/12/2023

6/9/2023

.

MJW

MJW

.

PLAN

ELEVATION

NOTES:

1. DIMENSION 'C' SHOULD BE LARGE ENOUGH TO MAKE ANGLE ø EQUAL TO OR LARGER THAN 45°.

2. DIMENSION 'D' EQUALS APPROX. I.D. OF PIPE LESS 2 INCHES.  THE CONCRETE SHOULD NOT INTERFERE WITH THE
MECHANICAL JOINTS.

3. WHERE BUTTRESSES ARE NOT POSSIBLE BECAUSE OF POOR SOIL CONDITIONS OR LACK OF ROOM, WEDGE ACTION
RESTRAINING GLANDS SHALL BE PERMITTED.

4. BUTTRESS DIMENSIONS ARE BASED ON A SOIL RESISTANCE OF TWO TONS PER SQ. FT. AND A WATER PRESSURE OF
150 PSI. INFORM THE  ENGINEER IF ON-SITE SOIL DOES NOT MEET THIS CONDITION OR PRESSURES EXCEED 150 PSI.

5. BUTTRESS TO BE POURED AGAINST FIRM UNDISTURBED SOIL, OR DISTURBED SOIL COMPACTED TO 95% OF
MODIFIED PROCTOR DENSITY, ASTM D1557.

6. CONCRETE SHALL HAVE A MINIMUM 7-DAY COMPRESSIVE STRENGTH OF 2000 PSI.

7. ALL POURED BUTTRESSED FITTINGS SHALL BE  WRAPPED IN POLYETHYLENE.

8. NO WOOD BUTTRESS ALLOWED.

TYPICAL
BELL END

SEE  NOTE 1

CAP ON SPIGOT END, PLUG ON
BELL END.  (PLUG SHOWN)

BUTTRESS FOR PLUGS DETAIL
NO SCALE

BUTTRESS DIMENSIONS

DIA. A B C D

6" 1'-6" 1'-2"

SEE
NOTE
NO. 1

SEE
NOTE
NO. 2

8" 2'-0" 1'-4"

12" 2'-5" 1'-10"

16" 3'-4" 2'-4"

20" 4'-3" 2'-10"

24" 5'-2" 3'-4"

30" 6'-9" 4'-0"

TR
EN

C
H

 W
ID

TH

Ø

C

AD FORM
SIDES

BEDDING
MATERIAL

B

APPROXIMATE 1:1 SLOPE
WHERE DEPTH BELOW
PIPE EXCEEDS  6 INCHES.

NOTES:
1. DIMENSIONS IN TABLE ARE BASED ON A  WATER PRESSURE OF 150

P.S.I. AND AN  EARTH RESISTANCE OF 2 TONS PER SQ. FT. INFORM
THE ENGINEER IF PRESSURES EXCEED 150 PSI, OR ON-SITE SOIL
DOES NOT MEET  THIS CONDITION.

2. DIMENSION C1 C2 C3 SHOULD BE LARGE ENOUGH TO MAKE ANGLE Ø
EQUAL TO OR LARGER THAN 45°.

3. DIMENSION A1 A2 A3 SHOULD BE AS LARGE AS POSSIBLE WITHOUT
INTERFERING WITH THE MECHANICAL JOINT.

4. BUTTRESS TO BE POURED AGAINST FIRM UNDISTURBED SOIL, OR
DISTURBED SOIL COMPACTED TO 95% OF MODIFIED  PROCTOR
DENSITY, ASTM D1557.

5. ALL BUTTRESSED FITTINGS SHALL BE WRAPPED IN POLYETHYLENE.
6. CONCRETE SHALL HAVE A MINIMUM 7-DAY COMPRESSIVE

STRENGTH OF 2000 PSI.
7. IN ADDITION TO BUTTRESS, ALL JOINTS SURROUNDING BENDS

SHALL BE RESTRAINED WITH WEDGE ACTION RESTRAINING GLANDS.

SEE  NOTE 2

SECTION A-A

PLAN - 90° BEND PLAN - 22  12° BEND

PLAN - 45° BEND

A

A

A

A

SEE  NOTE 2

A

A

BUTTRESS FOR BENDS DETAIL
NO SCALE

BUTTRESS DIMENSIONS
PIPE
SIZE

22 12° BENDS 45° BENDS 90° BENDS

B1 D1 B2 D2 B3 D3
6" 1'-0" 1'-0" 1'-0" 1'-0" 1'-4" 1'-2"
8" 1'-0" 1'-0" 1'-4" 1'-2" 1'-10" 1'-6"

10" 1'-2" 1'-2" 1'-7" 1'-7" 2'-3" 1'-10"
12" 1'-4" 1'-4" 1'-10" 1'-10" 2'-8" 2'-3"
16" 1'-10" 1'-8" 2'-6" 2'-4" 3'-10" 2'-10"
20" 2'-4" 2'-0" 3'-3" 2'-10" 5'-0" 3'-4"
24" 2'-10" 2'-4" 4'-0" 3'-3" 6'-4" 3'-10"

B3

A3

ø

A1

B1

SEE  NOTE 2 ø

ø
A2

B2

90
°

C1
C2
C3

D
1 

D
2 

D
3

APPROX. 1:1 SLOPE
WHERE DEPTH BELOW
PIPE EXCEEDS 6 INCHES

BEDDING MATERIAL

CONCRETE SHALL BE
IN CONTACT WITH
THIS QUADRANT OF
PIPE MINIMUM

SECTION A-A

PLAN

AA

BUTTRESS FOR TEES DETAIL
NO SCALE

BUTTRESS DIMENSIONS

DIA. A B C D
6" 1'-3" 1'-0"

SEE
NOTE
NO. 1

SEE
NOTE
NO. 3

8" 1'-6" 1'-4"
10" 1'-10" 1'-8"
12" 2'-3" 2'-0"
16" 3'-2" 2'-6"
20" 4'-0" 3'-0"
24" 5'-3" 3'-4"

DIA. = BRANCH DIAMETER

NOTES:

1. DIMENSION 'C'  SHOULD BE LARGE ENOUGH TO MAKE ANGLE Ø
GREATER THAN OR EQUAL TO 45°.

2. CONCRETE SHOULD BEAR ON THIS QUADRANT OF PIPE AT A MINIMUM.
3. DIMENSION 'D' SHOULD BE AS LARGE AS POSSIBLE BUT CONCRETE

SHOULD NOT INTERFERE WITH MECHANICAL JOINTS.
4. BUTTRESS DIMENSIONS ARE BASED ON A SOIL RESISTANCE OF TWO

TONS PER SQ. FT. AND A WATER PRESSURE OF 150 PSI.  INFORM THE
ENGINEER IF ON-SITE SOIL DOES NOT MEET THIS CONDITION OR
PRESSURES EXCEED 150 PSI.

5. BUTTRESS TO BE PLACED AGAINST FIRM UNDISTURBED SOIL, OR
DISTURBED SOIL COMPACTED TO 95%%% OF MODIFIED PROCTOR
DENSITY, ASTM D1557.

6. CONCRETE SHALL HAVE A MINIMUM 7-DAY COMPRESSIVE STRENGTH OF
2000 PSI.

7. ALL POURED BUTTRESSED FITTINGS SHALL BE WRAPPED IN
POLYETHYLENE.

8. IN ADDITION TO BUTTRESSES, ALL JOINTS SURROUNDING TEES SHALL BE
RESTRAINED WITH WEDGE ACTION RESTRAINING GLANDS.

BEDDING
MATERIAL

BRANCH

APPROX. 1:1 SLOPE
WHERE DEPTH BELOW
PIPE EXCEED 6 INCHES

SEE NOTE 2 6"
 M

AX

B90
°

BRANCH

Ø SEE NOTE 1

AD

C

(608) 242-7779
1702 Pankratz St Madison, WI 53704

ELEVATION PLAN
PERVIOUS SOIL SUMP DETAIL

HYDRANT AND LEAD CONNECTION DETAIL
NO SCALE

PLAN

IMPERVIOUS SOIL SUMP DETAIL

1'
 M

IN
.

1' MIN.

BEDDING

BACKFILL

1'

DRAINPORT

UNDISTURBED
TRENCH WALL

CONCRETE
BLOCKING

FILTER FABRIC

CRUSHED STONE
OR GRAVEL, 3/4"
OPEN GRADED

6"
 M

IN
.

2'
M

IN
.

3'
MIN.

DRAINPORT

UNDISTURBED
TRENCH WALL

CRUSHING  STONE
OR GRAVEL, 3/4"

OPEN GRADED

BACKFILL

LOCATION AS DIRECTED
BY ENGINEER.

ALL JOINTS FROM MAINLINE TEE TO
HYDRANT SHALL BE RESTRAINED UTILIZING
WEDGE ACTION RESTRAINING GLANDS

FINISHED  GRADE18
"

SEE BUTTRESS
FOR TEES DETAIL

BEDDING

PRECAST OR POURED SOLID CONCRETE
BLOCK REQUIRED UNDER HYDRANT AND VALVE

CONCRETE BUTTRESS
SIZED FOR MAIN NOT
LEAD LINE

ELEVATION

3' MIN.

TRENCH WALL

TRENCH WALL

VALVE BOX

VALVE BOX ADAPTER

GEOTEXTILE
FABRIC (TYP)

GEOTEXTILE
FABRIC (TYP)

GENERAL NOTES:
1. THE SIDE PROTECTION INSTALLATION SHALL BE USED WHERE

FROST WILL PENETRATE BELOW THE PIPE INVERT.

PIPE INSULATION DETAIL
NO SCALE

SIDE PROTECTION INSTALLATION

STANDARD INSTALLATION

℄
4'-0"

2'-0"

6"

UTILITY MAIN OR
UTILITY SERVICE

2 INCH THICK, 4 FOOT
BY 8 FOOT EXTRUDED
POLYSTYRENE FOAM
INSULATION (25 PSI)

D + 12"
2' MIN.

D
 +

 1
2"

2'
 M

IN
.

6"

UTILITY MAIN OR SERVICE LINE

2 INCH THICK  EXTRUDED
POLYSTYRENE FOAM
INSULATION (25 PSI)

PRESSURE SERVICE CROSSING DETAIL
NO SCALE

GENERAL NOTES:
1. PIPE INSULATION SHALL BE INSTALLED AS

REQUIRED.  SEE "PIPE INSULATION DETAIL."

RELOCATED OR NEW PRESSURE SERVICE LINE

EXISTING OR  PROPOSED UTILITY

12" MIN. CLEARANCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
 EQUAL TO OR LARGER THAN 45 . 



© MSA Professional Services, Inc.

www.msa-ps.com

ENGINEERING | ARCHITECTURE | SURVEYING
FUNDING | PLANNING | ENVIRONMENTAL FORT HEALTHCARE PHASE 1 EXPANSION

FORT HEALTHCARE
CITY OF FORT ATKINSON

PROJECT NO.

17839002
SHEET

G6

   DRAWN BY:            MJW

   DESIGNED BY:       MJW

   CHECKED BY:        KCL
STANDARD DETAILS----

  PLOT DATE: 6/9/2023 10:47 AM, G:\17\17839\17839002\CADD\Construction Documents\17839002 FRONTEND.dwg

  PROJECT DATE: .

NO. REVISION BY
1 PRELIMINARY

2 FINAL

. .

DATE

5/12/2023

6/9/2023

.

MJW

MJW

. (608) 242-7779
1702 Pankratz St Madison, WI 53704

SECTION A-A

2' x 3' INLET DETAIL
NO SCALE

GENERAL NOTES:
1.     SEE PLANS FOR SIZE, NUMBER, AND LOCATION OF PIPES.
2.     DETAILS OF CONSTRUCTION, MATERIALS AND WORKMANSHIP NOT SHOWN ON THIS DRAWING  SHALL CONFORM TO

THE PERTINENT REQUIREMENTS OF THE SPECIFICATIONS.
3.     DETAILED DRAWINGS FOR PROPOSED ALTERNATE DESIGNS FOR UNDERGROUND DRAINAGE  STRUCTURES SHALL

BE SUBMITTED TO THE ENGINEER FOR APPROVAL PROVIDING THAT  SUCH ALTERNATE DESIGNS MAKE PROVISION
FOR EQUIVALENT CAPACITY AND STRENGTH.

4.     ALL PRECAST INLET UNITS SHALL CONFORM TO THE PERTINENT REQUIREMENTS OF AASHTO DESIGNATION M 199.
5.     PRECAST REINFORCED BASES SHALL BE PLACED ON A BED OF MATERIAL AT LEAST  6 INCHES IN DEPTH, WHICH

MEETS THE REQUIREMENTS FOR WELL GRADED CRUSHED STONE.  THIS  BEDDING SHALL BE COMPACTED AND
PROVIDE UNIFORM SUPPORT FOR THE ENTIRE AREA  OF THE BASE.

6.     PRECAST REINFORCED CONCRETE FLAT SLAB TOPS MAY BE USED ON THE STRUCTURES.   THE TOPS SHALL BE
INSTALLED ON A BED OF MORTAR.

7.     ALL BAR STEEL AND WELDED WIRE FABRIC REINFORCEMENT SHALL BE EMBEDDED 2 INCHES  CLEAR UNLESS
OTHERWISE SHOWN OR NOTED.

8.     PRECAST REINFORCED CONCRETE RISERS SHALL BE PLACED WITH TONGUE DOWN.

WELDED WIRE  FABRIC
6x6-W2.9xW2.9

5" 3'-0" 5"

5"
D

EP
TH

 A
S 

SH
O

W
N

 O
N

 P
LA

N

6" MIN.  COMPACTED, WELL
GRADED CRUSHED STONE

MORTAR

DISCHARGE PIPE
CONSTRUCTION JOINT
ONLY ON CAST-IN-PLACE

6" MIN.

A A

5"
2'

-0
"

5"

EXPANDED POLYPROPYLENE ADJUSTMENT RINGS
AS REQUIRED

24-INCH OFFSET HOLE

DIMENSION FROM BOTTOM
OF GROOVE TO TOP OF CUT
OUT SHALL BE SUCH THAT
THE BOTTOM OF THE
GROOVE IS INTACT.

GROOVE
DEPTH
+ 4"

CONCRETE COLLAR
REQUIRED AROUND ALL
PIPE/STRUCTURE
CONNECTIONS.
CONTRACTOR SHALL USE
A MECHANICAL VIBRATOR
DURING CONSTRUCTION
OF THE COLLARS.

VARIES

FIELD POURED
BENCH / FLOWLINE

6" MIN.  COMPACTED, WELL
GRADED CRUSHED STONE

6" PRECAST BASE

CONCRETE COLLAR
CONTRACTOR SHALL
UTILIZE MECHANICAL
VIBRATOR DURING
PLACEMENT

O
.D

.+
6"

+/
-

O
.D

.

9" MIN.
THICKNESS

PIPE MAY BE PLACED
AT ANY LOCATION IN
CUT OUT PROVIDED
INVERTS MATCH THOSE
IN THE STORM TABLE

4"

VARIES

VARIES

VARIES

6"

RIM ELEVATION
CASTING AS SPEC'D

CUT OUT =
O.D.+ 6"±

STORM MANHOLE DETAIL
NO SCALE

GENERAL NOTES:
1.     SEE PLANS FOR SIZE, NUMBER, AND LOCATION OF PIPES.
2.     DETAILS OF CONSTRUCTION, MATERIALS AND WORKMANSHIP NOT SHOWN ON THIS DRAWING  SHALL CONFORM TO

THE PERTINENT REQUIREMENTS OF THE SPECIFICATIONS.
3.     DETAILED DRAWINGS FOR PROPOSED ALTERNATE DESIGNS FOR UNDERGROUND DRAINAGE  STRUCTURES SHALL

BE SUBMITTED TO THE ENGINEER FOR APPROVAL PROVIDING THAT  SUCH ALTERNATE DESIGNS MAKE PROVISION
FOR EQUIVALENT CAPACITY AND STRENGTH.

4.     ALL PRECAST INLET UNITS SHALL CONFORM TO THE PERTINENT REQUIREMENTS OF AASHTO DESIGNATION M 199.
5.     PRECAST REINFORCED BASES SHALL BE PLACED ON A BED OF MATERIAL AT LEAST  6 INCHES IN DEPTH, WHICH

MEETS THE REQUIREMENTS FOR WELL GRADED CRUSHED STONE.  THIS  BEDDING SHALL BE COMPACTED AND
PROVIDE UNIFORM SUPPORT FOR THE ENTIRE AREA  OF THE BASE.

6.     ALL BAR STEEL AND WELDED WIRE FABRIC REINFORCEMENT SHALL BE EMBEDDED 2 INCHES  CLEAR UNLESS
OTHERWISE SHOWN OR NOTED.

7.     PRECAST REINFORCED CONCRETE RISERS SHALL BE PLACED WITH TONGUE DOWN.
8.     OVERHANGING BASE NOT REQUIRED WHERE INTEGRAL BASE IS ALLOWED.

I.D. AS SPECIFIED ON PLAN

SEE NOTE 8

SEE SPECIAL PROCEDURES OR CONTACT ENGINEER TO VERIFY. STORM SEWER OUTFALL DETAIL
NO SCALE

FRONT VIEW

4:1

I.E. + 1.0'

I.E.

SIDE VIEW

1.0%
I.E. + 0.5'I.E.

GENERAL NOTES:
1. DETAILS OF CONSTRUCTION, MATERIALS AND WORKMANSHIP NOT SHOWN ON THIS

DRAWING SHALL CONFORM TO THE PERTINENT REQUIREMENTS    OF THE SPECIFICATIONS.
2. THE RIPRAP CLASS AND GEOTEXTILE FABRIC TYPE SHALL BE AS SHOWN ON THE PLANS

AND REQUIRED IN THE SPECIFICATIONS.

RIPRAP CLASS T
RIPRAP 12"
MEDIUM RANDOM 18"
HEAVY 24"

GEOTEXTILE FABRIC

RIPRAP

RCP STORM SEWER
APRON ENDWALL

PLACE LARGE (200 POUNDS
MINIMUM) STONE PIECES TO
FORM ENERGY DISSIPATER

APRON ENDWALL SIZE,
LOCATION, AND INVERT
ELEVATION (I.E.) AS SHOWN ON
THE CONTRACT DRAWINGS 2.0'

RIPRAP AND CONCRETE
REQ'D. UNDER ENDWALL

GEOTEXTILE FABRIC 2x WIDTH

1'

T

RIPRAP

TOTAL WIDTH = ENDWALL WIDTH + 2'

PIPE GRATE DETAIL
NO SCALE

REINFORCED CONCRETE
APRON ENDWALL

PIPE GRATE
GENERAL NOTES:
1. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BOLT THE PIPE GRATE TO THE ENDWALL WITH FOUR 3/8  INCH x 6 INCH

STAINLESS STEEL ZINC COATED MACHINE BOLTS WITH NUTS ON INSIDE WALL.
2. PAINTING SPECIFICATIONS

THE PIPE GRATE SHALL RECEIVE THE FOLLOWING PREPARATION AND PAINTING.
PREPARATION:
BARE SURFACES BY THOROUGH SCRAPING, WIRE BRUSHING AND CLEANING.  APPLY THE THREE 
COAT SYSTEM LISTED. EACH COAT SHALL BE AN OVERALL COAT.
FIRST COAT: RUST-OLEUM X-60 RED BARE METAL PRIMER OR EQUAL
SECOND COAT: RUST-OLEUM 960 ZINC CHROMATE PRIMER OR EQUAL
THIRD COAT: RUST-OLEUM 1282 HIGH GLOSS AND METALLIC FINISH OR EQUAL
ALLOW 24 - 48 HOURS DRYING TIME BETWEEN COATS.

2"

SHOP DRILL FOUR  7/16"
Ø HOLES AS SHOWN

8"

4"x4"x3/16" ANGLES (4 REQ'D.)
WELD TO FRAME.  PROVIDE
7/16 INCH HOLE IN EACH ANGLE.

PROVIDE 2 ADDITIONAL
CONNECTIONS WHEN PIPE
IS 36" OR LARGER

3/4" Ø ROD @ 12" O.C. MAX.
WELD @ EACH PIPE.

1" Ø STANDARD
PIPE FRAME

1" Ø STANDARD PIPE
FRAME @ 8" O.C.



© MSA Professional Services, Inc.

www.msa-ps.com

ENGINEERING | ARCHITECTURE | SURVEYING
FUNDING | PLANNING | ENVIRONMENTAL FORT HEALTHCARE PHASE 1 EXPANSION

FORT HEALTHCARE
CITY OF FORT ATKINSON

PROJECT NO.

17839002
SHEET

G7

   DRAWN BY:            MJW

   DESIGNED BY:       MJW

   CHECKED BY:        KCL
STANDARD DETAILS----

  PLOT DATE: 6/9/2023 10:47 AM, G:\17\17839\17839002\CADD\Construction Documents\17839002 FRONTEND.dwg

  PROJECT DATE: .

NO. REVISION BY
1 PRELIMINARY

2 FINAL

. .

DATE

5/12/2023

6/9/2023

.

MJW

MJW

. (608) 242-7779
1702 Pankratz St Madison, WI 53704

CURB AND GUTTER AT INLETS DETAIL
NO SCALE

SECTION A-A

A

24"

PAVEMENT SURFACE

TOP OF CURB  ELEVATION
SHOWN ON  PLANS

2" DEPRESSION BELOW
NORMAL FLOW LINE

EXPANSION JOINT
TOP OF CURB

EDGE OF PAVEMENT
EXPANSION JOINT

A

FLOW LINE

VAR., 3' NORM. 36" INLET GRATE VAR., 3' NORM.

EXPANSION JOINT 3 4" WIDE
FULL DEPTH STRIP OF
BITUMINOUS FIBER MATERIAL.

CONTRACTION JOINT
AT MAXIMUM OF 13
THE THICKNESS OF THE SIDEWALK.

6" COMPACTED BASE AGGREGATE

4" THICKNESS FOR SIDEWALKS
6" THICKNESS FOR DRIVEWAYS
8" MINIMUM FOR INDUSTRIAL &

COMMERCIAL DRIVEWAYS

NOTES:
1.        ALL EXPOSED CONCRETE SHALL HAVE A LIGHT BROOM FINISH.
2.       EXPANSION JOINTS SHALL BE PLACED AT ABUTTING WALKS,
          DRIVEWAYS, CURBS, FOUNDATIONS OR OTHER FIXTURES.
3.       EXPANSION JOINT MAXIMUM SPACING SHALL BE 50 FEET.
4.       CONTRACTION JOINT SPACING TYPICALLY EQUAL TO SIDEWALK WIDTH.
5.       CROSS SLOPE TYPICAL 1/4" PER FOOT, MAX 1/2" PER FOOT.

DENSE 3/4-INCH

TYPE L CURB AND GUTTER DETAIL
NO SCALE

STANDARD SECTION

DRIVEWAY SECTION

4-INCH COMPACTED  AGGREGATE
BASE  COURSE (MINIMUM)

1/4-INCH  RADIUS
TOP OF CURB ELEVATION 2-INCH RADIUS

2-INCH TO 3-INCH RADIUS 1/4-INCH RADIUS

6" MIN.
12"

30" OR 24"

6" 24" OR 18"

12"

30" OR 24"

6" 24" OR 18"

4-INCH COMPACTED  AGGREGATE
BASE COURSE (MINIMUM)

6" MIN.

1/4-INCH RADIUS

1"

6"

1/4-INCH  RADIUS

TOP OF CURB ELEVATION

SPECIAL DRIVEWAY SECTION

6" MIN.

1/4-INCH RADIUS

12
"

30" OR 24"

6"  24" OR 18"

4-INCH COMPACTED  AGGREGATE
BASE  COURSE (MINIMUM)

2-INCH TO 3-INCH RADIUS

1"

1-1/2"

2-No. 4 BARS EXTENDING ENTIRE
LENGTH OF DRIVE OPENING  PLUS
4 FEET WHEN REQUIRED.

1/4-INCH  RADIUS
TOP OF CURB ELEVATION

2-No. 4 BARS EXTENDING ENTIRE
LENGTH OF DRIVE OPENING  PLUS
4 FEET WHEN REQUIRED.

4%

2" CLR. TYP.
4%

2" CLR. TYP.
4%

DRIVEWAY DETAIL
NO SCALE

SECTION B-B

B B

A

A

PL

SECTION A-A

12
"

6"

TOP OF CURB

EXPANSION
JOINT

EXPANSION JOINTFLOW LINE

1-1/2" 2'

2.5'

6 INCH COMPACTED BASE  COURSE
REQUIRED UNDER  CONCRETE DRIVEWAYS,
6 INCH UNDER  ASPHALT DRIVEWAYS

SEE DRIVEWAY  CURB
AND  GUTTER DETAIL

10% MAX. SLOPE

APRON LENGTH
VARIES

SIDEWALK
WIDTH 1/4  INCH/FOOT TO

3/4 INCH/FOOT SLOPE

6 INCH MINIMUM THICKNESS
AT DRIVEWAYS

EXPANSION JOINT EXPANSION JOINT

FLOW LINE

2'

2.5'

2'

2.5'

CONTRACTION  JOINT AS REQ'D

NEW DRIVEWAY APRON  TO MATCH
EXISTING DRIVEWAY MATERIAL (SEE PLANS)

EXISTING OR
PROPOSED  SIDEWALK

 1/2  INCH EXPANSION  JOINT (TYP)

6 INCH SIDEWALK

 1/2  INCH EXPANSION
JOINT FOR CONCRETE
DRIVEWAYS

VA
R

IE
S

SEE PLANS

12"

EXISTING OR PROP. DRIVEWAY WIDTH VARIES
(10 FEET MIN.  - 24 FEET MAX.)



© MSA Professional Services, Inc.

www.msa-ps.com

ENGINEERING | ARCHITECTURE | SURVEYING
FUNDING | PLANNING | ENVIRONMENTAL FORT HEALTHCARE PHASE 1 EXPANSION

FORT HEALTHCARE
CITY OF FORT ATKINSON

PROJECT NO.

17839002
SHEET

G8

   DRAWN BY:            MJW

   DESIGNED BY:       MJW

   CHECKED BY:        KCL
STANDARD DETAILS----

  PLOT DATE: 6/9/2023 10:47 AM, G:\17\17839\17839002\CADD\Construction Documents\17839002 FRONTEND.dwg

  PROJECT DATE: .

NO. REVISION BY
1 PRELIMINARY

2 FINAL

. .

DATE

5/12/2023

6/9/2023

.

MJW

MJW

. (608) 242-7779
1702 Pankratz St Madison, WI 53704

LEGEND

CONTRACTION JOINT FIELD LOCATED

1/2" EXPANSION JOINT-SIDEWALK

PAVEMENT MARKING CROSSWALK (WHITE)

SECTION A-A FOR TYPE 2

1.
5%

 S
LO

PE

SLOPE
VARIABLE

(CENTER OF CORNER RADIUS)

AA

BB

(OUTSIDE OF CROSSWALK AREA)

PLAN VIEW

PLAN VIEW

CURB RAMP TYPE 2

CURB RAMP TYPE 3

1.5%*

GENERAL NOTES
AVOID PLACING DRAINAGE STRUCTURES,  JUNCTION BOXES OR OTHER OBSTRUCTIONS IN FRONT OF RAMP ACCESS
AREAS.

DETAILS OF CONSTRUCTION, MATERIALS AND WORKMANSHIP NOT SHOWN ON THIS DRAWING SHALL CONFORM TO THE
PERTINENT REQUIREMENTS OF THE STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS AND THE APPLICABLE SPECIAL PROVISIONS

DETECTABLE WARNING FIELDS THAT ARE INSTALLED AS A GROUP OR SIDE BY SIDE, SHALL BE FROM THE SAME
MANUFACTURER.

2. GRADE CHANGE BETWEEN GUTTER FLAG SLOPE AND THE CURB RAMP SLOPE SHALL NOT EXCEED 11%.  MAXIMUM
GUTTER FLAG SLOPE IS 4%.  PROVIDE LONGITUDINAL DRAINAGE AROUND CURB AND AWAY FROM CURB RAMP.  NO
VERTICAL LIPS OR DISCONTINUITIES GREATER THAN �1/4-INCH ARE ALLOWED.  SLOPE OF CURB HEAD OPENING SHALL
MATCH THE RAMP SLOPE, MINIMALLY 1.5% AND NOT TO EXCEED 7%.  WHEN ADJACENT TO 1.5% LANDING,  CONSTRUCT
CURB HEAD OPENING AT 1.5% IN THE DIRECTION OF PEDESTRIAN TRAVEL.

3. AN 8.33%  CURB RAMP SLOPE IS ALLOWABLE WITH FLATTENED GUTTER FLAG SLOPE (2.67% OR LESS) AND NOT TO
EXCEED 11% GRADE CHANGE

4. +/- 0.5% CONSTRUCTION TOLERANCE IN SIDEWALK CROSS SLOPE.  THE SIDEWALK CROSS SLOPE SHALL NOT EXCEED
2% WITHOUT PRIOR APPROVAL FROM THE ENGINEER.

6. PROVIDE A LEVEL LANDING (MAXIMUM 2% SLOPE)  IN ANY DIRECTION OF PEDESTRIAN TRAVEL. STANDARD LANDING
SIZE IS 5 FEET BY 5 FEET.

7. WHEN THIS GRADE BREAK DISTANCE EXCEEDS 5 FEET,  USE RADIAL DETECTABLE WARNING FIELD.

8. PROVIDE GRADE BREAK PERPENDICULAR TO DIRECTION OF WHEELCHAIR TRAVEL.

9. WHEN THIS DISTANCE IS LESS THAN 6'-0" IT MAY BE DIFFICULT TO ACHIEVE A 7% SLOPE OR FLATTER ALONG THE RAMP.
REDUCE CURB HEIGHT IN TRIANGLE AREA TO ACHIEVE 7% SLOPE OR FLATTER ON RAMP. CONSTRUCT 2-INCH MINIMUM
CURB HEIGHT BETWEEN 10:1 FLARES.

6
9

9

10:1MAX.

FLARE

10:1MAX.

FLAREMIN. 2-INCH

CURB HEIGHT

8*

8*

5'
-0

"

5'-0"

CONCRETE
SIDEWALK**

TERRACE**

4

(PLANTING OR
NON-WALKABLE
SURFACE SHOWN)

7

TERRACE**
CONCRETE
SIDEWALK**

4
DETECTABLE
WARNING FIELD

CONCRETE
SIDEWALK OR OTHER
WALKABLE SURFACE

1.5% CROSS SLOPE

SECTION B-B FOR TYPE 3

7% MAX.

2

3 6

DETECTABLE
WARNING FIELD

EXPANSION JOINT

2'-0"

TERRACE **
LEVEL

LANDING **

TOP OF
ROADWAY

DEPRESSED
CURB & GUTTER LANDING

DETECTABLE WARNING
FIELD (SEE DETAIL)

2'-0"

TERRACE**
LEVEL

LANDING **

7% MAX.
1.5% CROSS

SLOPE 63
8

2

EXPANSION JOINT

* MAXIMUN 2.0% SLOPE IN
ALL DIRECTIONS IN FRONT
OF GRADE BREAK

65'
-0

"

TERRACE**
CONCRETE
SIDEWALK**

MAX.
1.5% CROSS

SLOPE 4

MAX.
1.5% CROSS

SLOPE
4

10' MAX.

TERRACE**

CONCRETE
SIDEWALK**4

(PLANTING OR
NON-WALKABLE

SURFACE SHOWN)

5'-0"

6

CURB RAMPS TYPES 2 AND 3
NO SCALE

1.5% SLOPE

CONCRETE
SIDEWALK OR
OTHER WALKABLE
SURFACE

SL
O

PE
VA

R
IA

BL
E

RADIUS

VARIABLE

3' CURB TAPER
WITH 6" CURB

SEE DETAIL B

6:1
GRADED
FLARE

** WIDTH SHOWN
ELSEHWERE IN THE PLANS

MATCH EXISTING
SIDEWALK (TYP.)

SLOPE
VARIABLE

1.
5%

 S
LO

PE

DETECTABLE
WARNING
FIELD (TYP.)

6:1
GRADED
FLARE

SEE DETAIL B
3' CURB
TAPER
WITH 6"
CURB

RADIUS

VARIABLE

1.5% SLOPE

4

CC

10:1
MAX.

FLARE

10
:1

M
AX

.
FL

AR
E

SL
O

PE
VA

R
IA

BL
E

MATCH EXISTING
SIDEWALK (TYP.)

TOP OF
ROADWAY

DEPRESSED CURB AND GUTTER

7

DETAIL A

5'-0"
MAX.

10
:1

M
AX

.
FL

AR
E

CONCRETE
SIDEWALK OR
OTHER WALKABLE
SURFACE

CONCRETE
SIDEWALK OR
OTHER WALKABLE
SURFACE

6"

OPTIONAL CURB RETURN. USE
WHEN GRADED FLARE UNABLE
TO BE CONSTRUCTED. CAN
USE STRAIGHT RETURNS OR
24" RADIUS.DETAIL B

LEVEL LANDING

PAVED FLARE

GRADED FLARE

2'-0"

5'-0"

VIEW C-C FOR TYPE 3



© MSA Professional Services, Inc.

www.msa-ps.com

ENGINEERING | ARCHITECTURE | SURVEYING
FUNDING | PLANNING | ENVIRONMENTAL FORT HEALTHCARE PHASE 1 EXPANSION

FORT HEALTHCARE
CITY OF FORT ATKINSON

PROJECT NO.

17839002
SHEET

G9

   DRAWN BY:            MJW

   DESIGNED BY:       MJW

   CHECKED BY:        KCL
TYPICAL SECTIONS----

  PLOT DATE: 6/9/2023 10:47 AM, G:\17\17839\17839002\CADD\Construction Documents\17839002 FRONTEND.dwg

  PROJECT DATE: .

NO. REVISION BY
1 PRELIMINARY

2 FINAL

. .

DATE

5/12/2023

6/9/2023

.

MJW

MJW

.

CURB AND GUTTER TYPICAL SECTION
NO SCALE

13.0' 13.0'2.5'

10.5'4.0' 15.5'

60.0' R/W

4:1 MAX.
6:1 TYP.

DENSE GRADED BASE, 3-INCH (9-INCH DEPTH)

DENSE GRADED BASE, 1 14-INCH (6-INCH DEPTH)

ASPHALTIC CONCRETE PAVEMENT (4.0-INCH DEPTH)
SURFACE LAYER: 4 LT 58-28 S (2.0-INCH DEPTH)
BINDER LAYER: 3 LT 58-28 S (2.0-INCH DEPTH)

DENSE GRADED BASE, 1 14-INCH
(6-INCH DEPTH)

TOPSOIL, SEED,
FERTILIZE & MULCH

30-INCH CURB & GUTTER, TYPE L

30-INCH CURB & GUTTER, TYPE L

2.0%*2.0%
4.0%1.5%

POINT REFERENCED IN PROFILE

1.0'

GEOTEXTILE FABRIC, TYPE SAS

33.0' PAY LIMITS FOR FABRIC, SELECT CRUSHED AND BASE

(608) 242-7779
1702 Pankratz St Madison, WI 53704

15.5'

2.5' 1.0'

4-INCH CONCRETE SIDEWALK

10.5' 4.0'

4:1 MAX.

6:1 TYP.

DENSE GRADED BASE, 1 14-INCH
(6-INCH DEPTH)

4.0% 1.5%

4-INCH CONCRETE SIDEWALK



© MSA Professional Services, Inc.

www.msa-ps.com

ENGINEERING | ARCHITECTURE | SURVEYING
FUNDING | PLANNING | ENVIRONMENTAL FORT HEALTHCARE PHASE 1 EXPANSION

FORT HEALTHCARE
CITY OF FORT ATKINSON

PROJECT NO.

17839002
SHEET

G10

   DRAWN BY:            MJW

   DESIGNED BY:       MJW

   CHECKED BY:        KCL
OUTLOT 1 WET DETENTION POND DETAILS----

  PLOT DATE: 6/9/2023 10:47 AM, G:\17\17839\17839002\CADD\Construction Documents\17839002 FRONTEND.dwg

  PROJECT DATE: .

NO. REVISION BY
1 PRELIMINARY

2 FINAL

. .

DATE

5/12/2023

6/9/2023

.

MJW

MJW

. (608) 242-7779
1702 Pankratz St Madison, WI 53704

NOTE:
THE GRATE FOR OUTLET STRUCTURE SHALL BE A HAALA CG48TM CONE GRATE
OR APPROVED EQUAL, SEE PLAN FOR EXACT ELEVATIONS AND I.E.

48-INCH DIA. CONCRETE MANHOLE

STRUCTURE SHALL HAVE A
MINIMUM 8-INCH CONCRETE
BASE 12-INCH BELOW LOWEST I.E.

24-INCH RCP OUTLET PIPE
I.E.= 787.14

OUTLOT 1 WET POND OUTLET STRUCTURE DETAIL (ST6)
NO SCALE

RIM ELEV. = 789.64

6-INCH ORIFICE.
I.E.= 787.14

ELEV. = 787.14

TOP OF POND ELEVATION = 792.14

ELEV. = 786.14

ELEV. = 782.14

6-INCH ORIFICE I.E. = 787.14

OUTLET CONTROL STRUCTURE - 48-INCH WITH
HAALA CONE GRATE CG48TM. 24-INCH OUTLET PIPE.

I.E. = 787.14

10-FT SHELF (TYP.)

OUTLOT 1 WET DETENTION POND WITH OUTLET STRUCTURE
NO SCALE

4:1

10:1

3:1

4:1

10:1

3:1

EMERGENCY POND OVERFLOW  WEIR ELEVATION = 790.64
BOTTOM OF OVERFLOW TO HAVE 15-FT WIDTH MINIMUM.



CB

S

S

CB

CB

T

T

S

CB

CB

T

CB

T

HH

HH
HH

S

CB

OHOHOHOHOH

XX

X

X X

SS

SS

SS

SS

SS

SS

SS

SS

SS

SS SS SS SS SS SS

SSSSSSSSSSSSSS

SS

SS

SSSSSSSSSSSS

SS

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN SAN SAN SAN

SAN
SAN

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN
W

W
W

W
W

SS
SS

SS
SS

T

T

T

T

CB

TT

W

© MSA Professional Services, Inc.

www.msa-ps.com

ENGINEERING | ARCHITECTURE | SURVEYING
FUNDING | PLANNING | ENVIRONMENTAL FORT HEALTHCARE PHASE 1 EXPANSION

FORT HEALTHCARE
CITY OF FORT ATKINSON

PROJECT NO.

17839002
SHEET

G11

   DRAWN BY:            MJW

   DESIGNED BY:       MJW

   CHECKED BY:        KCL
EXISTING CONDITIONS OVERVIEW----

  PLOT DATE: 6/9/2023 10:47 AM, G:\17\17839\17839002\CADD\Construction Documents\17839002 Overview.dwg

  PROJECT DATE: .

NO. REVISION BY
1 PRELIMINARY

2 FINAL

. .

DATE

5/12/2023

6/9/2023

.

MJW

MJW

. (608) 242-7779
1702 Pankratz St Madison, WI 53704

EXISTING SIGN BASE AND JUNCTION BOXES

EXISTING LIGHT POLE (TYP.)

TIMBER CURB

EDGE OF PAVEMENT

CURB

CURB

TRASH ENCLOSURE

UTILITY PEDESTAL

CONCRETE WALK

CONCRETE WALK

M
C

M
IL

LE
N

 S
TR

E
E

T

PROPERTY LINE (TYP.)

R.O.W. (TYP.)

LOT 3 LOT 4

LOT 5

LOT 6

OUTLOT 1

LOT 1
LOT 2

NANCY B & PETER OLSEN
703 FLORENCE STREET

PARCEL ID: 226-0514-0321-0000

SERGIO D NOH
707 FLORENCE STREET

PARCEL ID: 226-0514-0312-068
SHEREE L CORNFORD

713 FLORENCE STREET
PARCEL ID: 226-0514-0312-069

SUSAN K HALL
717 FLORENCE STREET

PARCEL ID: 226-0514-0312-070 JESSICA NYSTED
721 FLORENCE STREET

PARCEL ID: 226-0514-0312-071

ANDREW LANGE
725 FLORENCE STREET

PARCEL ID: 226-0514-0312-072

MATTHEW P THORMAN
729 FLORENCE STREET

PARCEL ID: 226-0514-0312-073

0 20 4010

EXISTING SIGN AND BASE

BUILDING SETBACKS (TYP.)



CB

S

S

CB

CB

T

T

S

CB

CB

T

CB

T

HH

HH
HH

S

CB

OHOHOHOHOH

XX

X

X X

SS

SS

SS

SS

SS

SS

SS

SS

SS

SS SS SS SS SS SS

SSSSSSSSSSSSSS

SS

SS

SSSSSSSSSSSS

SS

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN

SAN

SAN

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

SAN
SAN

W
W

W
W

SS
SS

SS

T

T

T

T

CB

TT

W

XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X

XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX X XX
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

© MSA Professional Services, Inc.

www.msa-ps.com

ENGINEERING | ARCHITECTURE | SURVEYING
FUNDING | PLANNING | ENVIRONMENTAL FORT HEALTHCARE PHASE 1 EXPANSION

FORT HEALTHCARE
CITY OF FORT ATKINSON

PROJECT NO.

17839002
SHEET

G12

   DRAWN BY:            MJW

   DESIGNED BY:       MJW

   CHECKED BY:        KCL
DEMOLTION PLAN----

  PLOT DATE: 6/9/2023 10:47 AM, G:\17\17839\17839002\CADD\Construction Documents\17839002 Overview.dwg

  PROJECT DATE: .

NO. REVISION BY
1 PRELIMINARY

2 FINAL

. .

DATE

5/12/2023

6/9/2023

.

MJW

MJW

. (608) 242-7779
1702 Pankratz St Madison, WI 53704

RELOCATE PEDESTAL

REMOVE TIMBERS

REMOVE DUMPSTER ENCLOSURE

STORM PIPE REMOVAL (TYP.)

STORM STRUCTURE REMOVAL (TYP.)

PAVEMENT REIMOVAL (TYP.)

CURB AND GUTTER REMOVAL (TYP.)

TREE REMOVAL (TYP.)

LIGHT POLE REMOVAL (TYP.)

SIGN BASE AND JUNCTION BOXES TO BE REMOVED

M
C

M
IL

LE
N

 S
TR

E
E

T

PROPERTY LINE (TYP.)

R.O.W. (TYP.)

EXISTING ARBOR VITAE VEGETATION NOT TO BE
DISTURBED BY CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITIES. (TYP.)

LOT 3 LOT 4

LOT 5

LOT 6

OUTLOT 1

LOT 1
LOT 2

NANCY B & PETER OLSEN
703 FLORENCE STREET

PARCEL ID: 226-0514-0321-0000

SERGIO D NOH
707 FLORENCE STREET

PARCEL ID: 226-0514-0312-068
SHEREE L CORNFORD

713 FLORENCE STREET
PARCEL ID: 226-0514-0312-069

SUSAN K HALL
717 FLORENCE STREET

PARCEL ID: 226-0514-0312-070 JESSICA NYSTED
721 FLORENCE STREET

PARCEL ID: 226-0514-0312-071

ANDREW LANGE
725 FLORENCE STREET

PARCEL ID: 226-0514-0312-072

MATTHEW P THORMAN
729 FLORENCE STREET

PARCEL ID: 226-0514-0312-073

0 20 4010

REMOVE EXISTING STRUCTURE AND CONNECTING PIPE (TYP.)

REMOVE EXISTING STRUCTURE AND CONNECTING PIPE (TYP.)

UTILITY PED TO BE RELOCATED (TYP.)

ABANDON EXISTING SANITARY LATERAL IN PLACE

BUILDING SETBACKS (TYP.)



CB

S

S

CB

CB

T

T

S

CB

CB

T

CB

T

HH

HH
HH

S

CB

OHOHOHOHOH

XX

X

X X

SS

SS

SS

SS

SS

SS

SS

SS

SS

SS SS SS SS SS SS

SSSSSSSSSSSSSS

SS

SS

SSSSSSSSSSSS

SS

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN SAN SAN SAN

SAN
SAN

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN
W

W
W

W
W

SS
SS

SS
SS

T

T

T

T

CB

TT

W

<<

<<

<<

<<

<<<<<<<<<<<<<<

<

2''W
S

2''W
S

1'
'W

S
1'

'W
S

1'
'W

S
1'

'W
S

1'
'W

S

1'
'W

S

1''W
S

1''W
S

<

<

<

<

<

<
<<

78
5

79
0

78
378
478
678

778
878
979

1

791

791

791

792

79
2

793

79
3

794

79
4

790

791

792

79
3

793

79
3

79
0

790 79
0

795

78
9

78
9

791
791

79
1

79
2 79
3 794

796
796

796 795

795

79
1

792

79
2

793

793

794

79
5

79
3794

796

795

795

794

© MSA Professional Services, Inc.

www.msa-ps.com

ENGINEERING | ARCHITECTURE | SURVEYING
FUNDING | PLANNING | ENVIRONMENTAL FORT HEALTHCARE PHASE 1 EXPANSION

FORT HEALTHCARE
CITY OF FORT ATKINSON

PROJECT NO.

17839002
SHEET

EC1

   DRAWN BY:            MJW

   DESIGNED BY:       MJW

   CHECKED BY:        KCL
EROSION CONTROL & RESTORATION - LOT GRADING----

  PLOT DATE: 6/9/2023 10:47 AM, G:\17\17839\17839002\CADD\Construction Documents\17839002 Erosion Control & Restoration - Site Plans.dwg

  PROJECT DATE: .

NO. REVISION BY
1 PRELIMINARY

2 FINAL

. .

DATE

5/12/2023

6/9/2023

.

MJW

MJW

. (608) 242-7779
1702 Pankratz St Madison, WI 53704

M
C

M
IL

LE
N

 S
TR

E
E

T

PROPERTY LINE (TYP.)

R.O.W. (TYP.)

EXISTING ARBOR VITAE VEGETATION NOT TO BE
DISTURBED BY CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITIES. (TYP.)

UTILITY PED (TYP.) UTILITY POLE (TYP.)

INLET PROTECTION (TYP.)

LOT 3 LOT 4

LOT 5

LOT 6

OUTLOT 1

LOT 1
LOT 2

NANCY B & PETER OLSEN
703 FLORENCE STREET

PARCEL ID: 226-0514-0321-0000

SERGIO D NOH
707 FLORENCE STREET

PARCEL ID: 226-0514-0312-068
SHEREE L CORNFORD

713 FLORENCE STREET
PARCEL ID: 226-0514-0312-069

SUSAN K HALL
717 FLORENCE STREET

PARCEL ID: 226-0514-0312-070 JESSICA NYSTED
721 FLORENCE STREET

PARCEL ID: 226-0514-0312-071

ANDREW LANGE
725 FLORENCE STREET

PARCEL ID: 226-0514-0312-072

MATTHEW P THORMAN
729 FLORENCE STREET

PARCEL ID: 226-0514-0312-073

0 20 4010

TRACKING PAD (TYP.)

RESTORE DISTURBED AREAS WITH TOPSOIL, SEED AND MULCH.

SILT FENCE (TYP.)

TREES TO BE PLANED IN CENTER OF
TERRACE. TREE SPECIES AND FINAL
LOCATION TO BE COORDINATED WITH CITY
OF FORT ATKINSON. PLACEMENT TO AVOID
DRIVEWAYS AND UTILITY LATERALS

PROPOSED BUILDING FOOTPRINT (TYP.)



S

X

X
XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

X

OHOHOHOHOHOHOHOHOHOHOHOHOHOHOHOH

SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS

SAN

SAN

SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN

TT

S

T

T

T

T

CB

<
<

<

<

<

78
5

79
0

78
378
478

6

78
778

878
9

79
179

2

79
3

790

788

789

79
1

792

793

793

79
5

79
5

792

79
2

793

79
3

79
4

794

79
6

796

790

790

787787

788
788

789

789791

791
792

792

© MSA Professional Services, Inc.

www.msa-ps.com

ENGINEERING | ARCHITECTURE | SURVEYING
FUNDING | PLANNING | ENVIRONMENTAL FORT HEALTHCARE PHASE 1 EXPANSION

FORT HEALTHCARE
CITY OF FORT ATKINSON

PROJECT NO.

17839002
SHEET

EC2

   DRAWN BY:            MJW

   DESIGNED BY:       MJW

   CHECKED BY:        KCL

EROSION CONTROL & RESTORATION - WET DETENTION

POND GRADING----
  PLOT DATE: 6/9/2023 10:52 AM, G:\17\17839\17839002\CADD\Construction Documents\17839002 Erosion Control & Restoration - Site Plans.dwg

  PROJECT DATE: .

NO. REVISION BY
1 PRELIMINARY

2 FINAL

. .

DATE

5/12/2023

6/9/2023

.

MJW

MJW

. (608) 242-7779
1702 Pankratz St Madison, WI 53704

PROPERTY LINE (TYP.)

PROPERTY LINE (TYP.)

EXISTING ARBOR VITAE VEGETATION NOT TO BE
DISTURBED BY CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITIES. (TYP.) UTILITY PED (TYP.) UTILITY POLE (TYP.)

LOT 5

OUTLOT 1

ANDREW LANGE
725 FLORENCE STREET

PARCEL ID: 226-0514-0312-072

MATTHEW P THORMAN
729 FLORENCE STREET

PARCEL ID: 226-0514-0312-073
TIMOTHY L AND JENNY S EBERT

739 FLORENCE STREET
PARCEL ID: 226-0514-0312-074

EXISTING FENCE (TYP.)

0 10 205

RESTORE DISTURBED AREAS WITH TOPSOIL, SEED AND MULCH.

SILT FENCE (TYP.)

DITCH CHECK (TYP.)

RIP RAP (TYP.)

RIP RAP (TYP.)

DRAINAGE SWALE TO HAVE 2-FT BOTTOM
AND GRADED TO MINIMUM 0.50% TO DRAIN.



X

X
XXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

CP
CP

OHOHOHOHOH

SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN

TT

<

<
<

79
5

792 793

79
4

79
6

790

78
8

788

789

789

791

791

790

790

787787
788

788

789

789791

791
792

© MSA Professional Services, Inc.

www.msa-ps.com

ENGINEERING | ARCHITECTURE | SURVEYING
FUNDING | PLANNING | ENVIRONMENTAL FORT HEALTHCARE PHASE 1 EXPANSION

FORT HEALTHCARE
CITY OF FORT ATKINSON

PROJECT NO.

17839002
SHEET

EC3

   DRAWN BY:            MJW

   DESIGNED BY:       MJW

   CHECKED BY:        KCL
EROSION CONTROL & RESTORATION - DRAINAGE SWALE----

  PLOT DATE: 6/9/2023 10:52 AM, G:\17\17839\17839002\CADD\Construction Documents\17839002 Erosion Control & Restoration - Site Plans.dwg

  PROJECT DATE: .

NO. REVISION BY
1 PRELIMINARY

2 FINAL

. .

DATE

5/12/2023

6/9/2023

.

MJW

MJW

. (608) 242-7779
1702 Pankratz St Madison, WI 53704

PROPERTY LINE (TYP.)

UTILITY PED (TYP.)

EXISTING SANITARY SEWER (TYP.)

UTILITY POLE (TYP.)

DRAINAGE SWALE TO HAVE 2-FT BOTTOM
AND GRADED TO MINIMUM 0.50% TO DRAIN.

ASPHALT PATCH. EDGES TO BE SAWCUT PRIOR TO
INSTALLATION OF NEW ASPHALT PAVEMENT. (TYP.)

OUTLOT 1

RICHARD JAECKEL TRUST
741 FLORENCE STREET

PARCEL ID: 226-0514-0312-075

TIMOTHY L AND JENNY S EBERT
739 FLORENCE STREET

PARCEL ID: 226-0514-0312-074

EXISTING FENCE (TYP.)

0 10 205

TREE REMOVAL (TYP.)

EXISTING EDGE OF PAVEMENT (TYP.)

RESTORE DISTURBED AREAS WITH TOPSOIL, SEED AND MULCH.

SILT FENCE (TYP.)

RIP RAP (TYP.)

DITCH CHECK (TYP.)

CULVERT CHECK (TYP.)

RIP RAP (TYP.)



CB

S

S

CB

CB

T

T

S

CB

CB

T

CB

T

HH

HH
HH

S

CB

OHOHOHOHOH

XX

X

X X

SS

SS

SS

SS

SS

SS

SS

SS

SS

SS SS SS SS SS SS

SSSSSSSSSSSSSS

SS

SS

SSSSSSSSSSSS

SS

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN SAN SAN SAN

SAN
SAN

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN
W

W
W

W
W

SS
SS

SS
SS

T

T

T

T

CB

TT

W

<<

<<

<<

<<

<<<<<<<<<<<<<<

<

2''W
S

2''W
S

1'
'W

S
1'

'W
S

1'
'W

S
1'

'W
S

1'
'W

S

1'
'W

S

1''W
S

1''W
S

<

<

<

<

<

<
<<

78
5

79
0

78
378
478
678

778
878
979

1

791

791

791

792

79
2

793

79
3

794

79
4

790

791

792

79
3

793

79
3

79
0

790 79
0

795

78
9

78
9

791
791

79
1

79
2 79
3 794

796
796

796 795

795

79
1

792

79
2

793

793

794

79
5

79
3794

796

795

795

794

56 L.F. - 18 IN PVC @ -0.13%

CB1
STORM MH (48 IN)

RIM = 792.90
I.E. = 787.21(E)

I.E. = 787.21(NW)

AE1

18-INCH APRON ENDWALL
I.E. = 787.14(W)

139 L.F. - 18 IN PVC @ -0.10%

IN1

STORM INLET, 2 FT X 3 FT
RIM = 792.76

I.E. = 787.35(SE)
I.E. = 787.35(W)

© MSA Professional Services, Inc.

www.msa-ps.com

ENGINEERING | ARCHITECTURE | SURVEYING
FUNDING | PLANNING | ENVIRONMENTAL FORT HEALTHCARE PHASE 1 EXPANSION

FORT HEALTHCARE
CITY OF FORT ATKINSON

PROJECT NO.

17839002
SHEET

S1

   DRAWN BY:            MJW

   DESIGNED BY:       MJW

   CHECKED BY:        KCL
SITE PLAN - LOT GRADING & STORM SEWER----

  PLOT DATE: 6/9/2023 10:48 AM, G:\17\17839\17839002\CADD\Construction Documents\17839002 Overview.dwg

  PROJECT DATE: .

NO. REVISION BY
1 PRELIMINARY

2 FINAL

. .

DATE

5/12/2023

6/9/2023

.

MJW

MJW

. (608) 242-7779
1702 Pankratz St Madison, WI 53704

M
C

M
IL

LE
N

 S
TR

E
E

T

PROPERTY LINE (TYP.)

R.O.W. (TYP.)

CONCRETE SIDEWALK, 4-FT (TYP.)

CONCRETE CURB, 30-INCH (TYP.)

TEMPORARY ASPHALT TURNAROUND

ASPHALT PAVEMENT (TYP.)

EXISTING ARBOR VITAE VEGETATION NOT TO BE
DISTURBED BY CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITIES. (TYP.)

UTILITY PED (TYP.) UTILITY POLE (TYP.)

UTILITY PED TO BE RELOCATED (TYP.)

LOT 3 LOT 4

LOT 5

LOT 6

OUTLOT 1

LOT 1
LOT 2

NANCY B & PETER OLSEN
703 FLORENCE STREET

PARCEL ID: 226-0514-0321-0000

SERGIO D NOH
707 FLORENCE STREET

PARCEL ID: 226-0514-0312-068
SHEREE L CORNFORD

713 FLORENCE STREET
PARCEL ID: 226-0514-0312-069

SUSAN K HALL
717 FLORENCE STREET

PARCEL ID: 226-0514-0312-070 JESSICA NYSTED
721 FLORENCE STREET

PARCEL ID: 226-0514-0312-071

ANDREW LANGE
725 FLORENCE STREET

PARCEL ID: 226-0514-0312-072

MATTHEW P THORMAN
729 FLORENCE STREET

PARCEL ID: 226-0514-0312-073

0 20 4010

CONCRETE CURB AND GUTTER IN REMOVED DRIVEWAYS TO BE REPLACED

CONCRETE CURB AND GUTTER IN REMOVED DRIVEWAYS TO BE REPLACED

CONCRETE SIDEWALK TO BE INSTALLED ALONG MCMILLEN STREET TO SOUTH PROPERTY LINE

CONTRACTOR TO PROTECT TREE FROM
BEING REMOVED DURING SIDEWALK
INSTALLATION IF POSSIBLE

PROPOSED BUILDING FOOTPRINT (TYP.)

BUILDING SETBACKS (TYP.)



S

X

X
XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

X

OHOHOHOHOHOHOHOHOHOHOHOHOHOHOHOH

SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS

SAN

SAN

SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN

TT

S

T

T

T

T

CB

<
<

<

<

<

78
5

79
0

78
378
478

6

78
778

878
9

79
179

2

79
3

790

788

789

79
1

792

793

793

79
5

79
5

792

79
2

793

79
3

79
4

794

79
6

796

AE1

18-INCH APRON ENDWALL
I.E. = 787.14(W)

CB2

STORM MH (48 IN)
RIM = 789.64
I.E. = 787.14(NE)

65 L.F. - 24 IN PVC @ -0.25%

AE2

24-INCH APRON ENDWALL
I.E. = 786.98(SW)

790

790

787787
788

788

789

789791

791
792

792

© MSA Professional Services, Inc.

www.msa-ps.com

ENGINEERING | ARCHITECTURE | SURVEYING
FUNDING | PLANNING | ENVIRONMENTAL FORT HEALTHCARE PHASE 1 EXPANSION

FORT HEALTHCARE
CITY OF FORT ATKINSON

PROJECT NO.

17839002
SHEET

S2

   DRAWN BY:            MJW

   DESIGNED BY:       MJW

   CHECKED BY:        KCL

SITE PLAN - WET DETENTION POND GRADING & STORM

SEWER----
  PLOT DATE: 6/9/2023 10:48 AM, G:\17\17839\17839002\CADD\Construction Documents\17839002 Overview.dwg

  PROJECT DATE: .

NO. REVISION BY
1 PRELIMINARY

2 FINAL

. .

DATE

5/12/2023

6/9/2023

.

MJW

MJW

. (608) 242-7779
1702 Pankratz St Madison, WI 53704

PROPERTY LINE (TYP.)

PROPERTY LINE (TYP.)

EXISTING ARBOR VITAE VEGETATION NOT TO BE
DISTURBED BY CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITIES. (TYP.) UTILITY PED (TYP.)

EXISTING SANITARY SEWER (TYP.)

UTILITY POLE (TYP.)

DRAINAGE SWALE TO HAVE 2-FT BOTTOM
AND GRADED TO MINIMUM 0.50% TO DRAIN.

15-FT POND OVERFLOW WEIR. SEE POND TYPICAL SECTION.

LOT 5

OUTLOT 1

ANDREW LANGE
725 FLORENCE STREET

PARCEL ID: 226-0514-0312-072

MATTHEW P THORMAN
729 FLORENCE STREET

PARCEL ID: 226-0514-0312-073
TIMOTHY L AND JENNY S EBERT

739 FLORENCE STREET
PARCEL ID: 226-0514-0312-074

EXISTING FENCE (TYP.)

0 10 205



X

X
XXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

CP
CP

OHOHOHOHOH

SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN SAN

TT

<

<
<

79
5

792 793

79
4

79
6

790

78
8

788

789

789

791

791

65 L.F. - 24 IN PVC @ -0.25%

AE2

24-INCH APRON ENDWALL
I.E. = 786.98(SW)

790

790

787787
788

788

789

789791

791
792

38 L.F. - 18 IN CMP @ -0.30%  W/ APRON ENDWALLS
 W I.E. = 785.95
E I.E. = 785.83

78
6

78
7

788789

78
5

© MSA Professional Services, Inc.

www.msa-ps.com

ENGINEERING | ARCHITECTURE | SURVEYING
FUNDING | PLANNING | ENVIRONMENTAL FORT HEALTHCARE PHASE 1 EXPANSION

FORT HEALTHCARE
CITY OF FORT ATKINSON

PROJECT NO.

17839002
SHEET

S3

   DRAWN BY:            MJW

   DESIGNED BY:       MJW

   CHECKED BY:        KCL
SITE PLAN - DRAINAGE SWALE----

  PLOT DATE: 6/9/2023 10:48 AM, G:\17\17839\17839002\CADD\Construction Documents\17839002 Overview.dwg

  PROJECT DATE: .

NO. REVISION BY
1 PRELIMINARY

2 FINAL

. .

DATE

5/12/2023

6/9/2023

.

MJW

MJW

. (608) 242-7779
1702 Pankratz St Madison, WI 53704

PROPERTY LINE (TYP.)

UTILITY PED (TYP.)

EXISTING SANITARY SEWER (TYP.)

UTILITY POLE (TYP.)

DRAINAGE SWALE TO HAVE 2-FT BOTTOM
AND GRADED TO MINIMUM 0.50% TO DRAIN.

ASPHALT PATCH. EDGES TO BE SAWCUT PRIOR TO
INSTALLATION OF NEW ASPHALT PAVEMENT. (TYP.)

OUTLOT 1

RICHARD JAECKEL TRUST
741 FLORENCE STREET

PARCEL ID: 226-0514-0312-075

TIMOTHY L AND JENNY S EBERT
739 FLORENCE STREET

PARCEL ID: 226-0514-0312-074

EXISTING FENCE (TYP.)

0 10 205

TREE REMOVAL (TYP.)

EXISTING EDGE OF PAVEMENT (TYP.)



772

776

780

784

788

792

796

800

772

776

780

784

788

792

796

800

78
9.

5

78
9.

6
78

9.
20

79
0.

3
78

9.
11

79
0.

2
78

9.
38

79
0.

6
79

0.
01

79
0.

7
79

0.
68

79
0.

5
79

0.
87

79
0.

5
79

0.
73

79
0.

8
79

0.
58

79
1.

1
79

0.
48

79
1.

5
79

0.
53

79
1.

4
79

0.
73

79
1.

4
79

1.
07

79
1.

3
79

1.
51

79
1.

4
79

1.
95

79
1.

5
79

2.
39

79
1.

7
79

2.
84

79
3.

8
79

3.
28

79
6.

2
79

3.
72

79
4.

9
79

4.
15

79
4.

8
79

4.
58

79
5.

1

79
5.

3

79
4.

4

10+00 10+25 10+50 10+75 11+00 11+25 11+50 11+75 12+00 12+25 12+50 12+75 13+00 13+25 13+50 13+75 14+00 14+25 14+50 14+75 15+00 15+25 15+50 15+75 15+80

MH4

STA = 10+63.00
RIM = 789.21
I.E. = 778.90(E)

271 L.F. - 8 IN. PVC  @-0.40%

MH3

STA = 13+33.91
RIM = 791.65
I.E. = 777.72(E)
I.E. = 777.82(W)

73 L.F. - 8 IN. PVC  @-0.40%

MH2

STA = 14+07.72
RIM = 792.95
I.E. = 777.33(NE)
I.E. = 777.43(W)

76 L.F. - 8 IN. PVC  @-0.40%

MH1

STA = 14+83.96
RIM = 794.31
I.E. = 771.10(NW)
I.E. = 771.10(SE)
I.E. = 777.02(SW)
CONTRACTOR TO VERIFY ELEVATIONS
PRIOR TO CONNECTION.

319 LF - 8" C900 WATERMAIN

2 LF - 8" C900 WATERMAIN

69 LF - 8" C900 WATERMAIN 31 LF - 8" C900 WATERMAIN 89 LF - 8" C900 WATERMAIN

3 LF - 8" C900 WATERMAIN

TO
P 

W
M

 7
90

.0
1

TO
P 

W
M

 7
90

.5
8

TO
P 

W
M

 7
91

.0
7

TO
P 

W
M

 7
92

.8
4

TO
P 

W
M

 7
94

.5
8

TO
P 

W
M

 7
89

.2
0

TO
P 

W
M

 7
89

.1
1

TO
P 

W
M

 7
89

.3
8

TO
P 

W
M

 7
90

.6
8

TO
P 

W
M

 7
90

.8
7

TO
P 

W
M

 7
90

.7
3

TO
P 

W
M

 7
90

.4
8

TO
P 

W
M

 7
90

.5
3

TO
P 

W
M

 7
90

.7
3

TO
P 

W
M

 7
91

.5
1

TO
P 

W
M

 7
91

.9
5

TO
P 

W
M

 7
92

.3
9

TO
P 

W
M

 7
93

.2
8

TO
P 

W
M

 7
93

.7
2

TO
P 

W
M

 7
94

.1
5

6 INCH SEPARATION MIN.
AT CROSSINGS

10+00

11+00

12+00

13+00

14+00

15+00

15+98.61
S

CB

CB

T

S

CB

CB

CB

T

HH

HH
HH

D

S
S

CB

X
X

X

X
X

SS

SS

SS

SS

SS

SS

SS
SS

SS
SS

SS
SS

SS

SS

SS

SS

SS

SS

SS

SS

SS

SS

SS

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W
SS

SS

W

<<

<<

<<
<<

<<

<<

<<

<<

<<

<<

<<2''W
S

2''W
S

1'
'W

S

1'
'W

S

1'
'W

S

1'
'W

S

1'
'W

S
1'

'W
S

1''
W

S

1''
W

S

<

<<

<

<

<<

<<

<<
<<

<<

<<

<<

<<

<<

<<

<<

SAN. SEWER INSIDE DROP MH (48 IN)
STA = 14+83.96 @ 0.00' TMH1

SAN. SEWER MH (48 IN)
STA = 14+07.72 @ 1.04' RT MH2

SAN. SEWER MH (48 IN)
STA = 13+33.91 @ 0.68' RTMH3

SAN. SEWER MH (48 IN)
STA = 10+63.00 @ 0.00' TMH4

STA. 14+09, OFF -8.1 L
22.5 DEGREE DUCTILE IRON BEND

STA. 14+42, OFF -9.0 L
8 INCH X 6 INCH DUCTILE IRON TEE

STA. 14+42, OFF -12.0 L
 6-INCH GATE VALVE

STA. 15+31, OFF -9.0 L
 8-INCH GATE VALVE

HYDRANT, STA. 14+42, 20.75' LT
6 INCH GATE VALVE

12 LF OF C900 6 INCH WATERMAIN
FINISH GRADE ELEV. = 793.90

<

<<

<

<

STA. 13+33, OFF -8.5 L
22.5 DEGREE DUCTILE IRON BEND

© MSA Professional Services, Inc.

www.msa-ps.com

ENGINEERING | ARCHITECTURE | SURVEYING
FUNDING | PLANNING | ENVIRONMENTAL FORT HEALTHCARE PHASE 1 EXPANSION

FORT HEALTHCARE
CITY OF FORT ATKINSON

PROJECT NO.

17839002
SHEET

P1

   DRAWN BY:            MJW

   DESIGNED BY:       MJW

   CHECKED BY:        KCL
PLAN & PROFILE - SANITARY SEWER & WATERMAIN----

  PLOT DATE: 6/9/2023 10:48 AM, G:\17\17839\17839002\CADD\Construction Documents\17839002 Plan and Profile - Sanitary Sewer & Watermain Sheets.dwg

  PROJECT DATE: .

NO. REVISION BY
1 PRELIMINARY

2 FINAL

. .

DATE

5/12/2023

6/9/2023

.

MJW

MJW

.

0 20 4010

M
C

M
IL

LE
N

 S
TR

EE
T

PROPOSED ℄ ELEVATION

EXISTING ℄ ELEVATION

R.O.W. (TYP.)

CONCRETE SIDEWALK, 4-FT (TYP.)
CONCRETE CURB, 30-INCH (TYP.) TEMPORARY ASPHALT TURNAROUND

(608) 242-7779
1702 Pankratz St Madison, WI 53704

INSTALL TEMPORARY HYDRANT

CONNECT TO EXISTING 6-INCH WATERMAIN USING 6-INCH X 6-INCH TEE.
8-INCH X 6-INCH REDUCER TO BE INSTALLED BETWEEN CONNECTION AND
PROPOSED 8-INCH GATE VALVE. CONTRACTOR TO VERIFY ELEVATIONS
PRIOR TO CONNECTION. ESTIMATED TOP OF EXISTING WM = 782.93

EXISTING CURB AND GUTTER (TYP.)

UTILITY PEDESTAL

4 FT X 8 FT INSULATION INSTALLED
ABOVE WATERMAIN (TYP.)

INSTALL 4-IN SANITARY LATERAL
END AT STA10+77 @ 40.00' R
INSTALL 2-IN WATER SERVICE
END AT STA 10+81 @ 40.00' R

INSTALL 4-IN SANITARY LATERAL
END AT STA 12+01 @ 40.00' R

INSTALL 1-IN WATER SERVICE
END AT STA 11+97 @ 40.00' R

INSTALL 4-IN SANITARY LATERAL
END AT STA 12+92 @ 40.00' R

INSTALL 1-IN WATER SERVICE
END AT STA 12+96 @ 40.00' R

INSTALL 4-IN SANITARY LATERAL
END AT STA 13+63 @ 40.00' R

INSTALL 1-IN WATER SERVICE
END AT STA 13+67 @ 40.00' R

INSTALL 4-IN SANITARY LATERAL
END AT STA 14+20 @ 40.00' R
INSTALL 1-IN WATER SERVICE
END AT STA 14+24 @ 40.00' R

LOT 3 LOT 4 LOT 5

LOT 6

OUTLOT 1

LOT 1 LOT 2

STREET A

PROPOSED BUILDING FOOTPRINT (TYP.)



772

776

780

784

788

792

796

800

VP
T 

= 
15

+1
7.

78
EL

 =
 7

94
.8

8

VP
T 

= 
11

+5
5.

00
EL

 =
 7

90
.8

5

VP
T 

= 
11

+0
1.

12
EL

 =
 7

90
.0

5

VP
T 

= 
13

+0
4.

00
EL

 =
 7

91
.1

4

VP
C

 =
 1

4+
42

.7
8

EL
 =

 7
93

.5
9

VP
C

 =
 1

1+
05

.0
0

EL
 =

 7
90

.1
8

VP
C

 =
 1

0+
26

.1
2

EL
 =

 7
89

.1
9

VP
C

 =
 1

2+
04

.0
0

EL
 =

 7
90

.5
6

1.68%

1.77%

-1.00%
3.30%

-0.60%

VPI = 10+20.74
EL = 789.24

L = 0.00

VPI = 15+19.14
EL = 794.90
L = 0.00

VPI = 12+54.00
EL = 790.26
L = 100.00
K = 42.26

VPI = 10+63.62
EL = 788.81
L = 75.00
K = 17.46

VPI = 11+30.00
EL = 791.00

L = 50.00
K = 12.83

VPI = 14+80.28
EL = 794.25

L = 75.00
K = 837.06

H
P 

= 
11

+4
7.

30
EL

 =
 7

90
.8

7

LP
 =

 1
0+

43
.5

8
EL

 =
 7

89
.1

0

LP
 =

 1
2+

29
.3

5
EL

 =
 7

90
.4

8

78
9.

5

78
9.

6
78

9.
20

79
0.

3
78

9.
11

79
0.

2
78

9.
38

79
0.

6
79

0.
01

79
0.

7
79

0.
68

79
0.

5
79

0.
87

79
0.

5
79

0.
73

79
0.

8
79

0.
58

79
1.

1
79

0.
48

79
1.

5
79

0.
53

79
1.

4
79

0.
73

79
1.

4
79

1.
07

79
1.

3
79

1.
51

79
1.

4
79

1.
95

79
1.

5
79

2.
39

79
1.

7
79

2.
84

79
3.

8
79

3.
28

79
6.

2
79

3.
72

79
4.

9
79

4.
15

79
4.

8
79

4.
58

79
5.

1

79
5.

3

79
4.

4

10+00 10+25 10+50 10+75 11+00 11+25 11+50 11+75 12+00 12+25 12+50 12+75 13+00 13+25 13+50 13+75 14+00 14+25 14+50 14+75 15+00 15+25 15+50 15+75 15+98.61

IN3
STA = 12+31.39

RIM = 790.60
I.E. = 787.51(N)
I.E. = 787.51(E)

89 L.F. - 18-INCH RCP  @-0.10%

IN2
STA = 13+20.67

RIM = 791.55
I.E. = 787.42(E)
I.E. = 787.42(W) IN1

STA = 13+89.24
RIM = 792.76

I.E. = 787.35(SE)
I.E. = 787.35(W)

76 L.F. - 18-INCH RCP  @-0.10%

S

CB

CB

T

S

CB

CB

CB

T

HH

HH
HH

D

S
S

CB

X
X

X

X
X

SS

SS

SS

SS

SS

SS

SS
SS

SS
SS

SS
SS

SS

SS

SS

SS

SS

SS

SS

SS

SS

SS

SS

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W
SS

SS

W

<<

<<

<<
<<

<<

<<

<<

<<

<<

<<

<<2''W
S

2''W
S

1'
'W

S

1'
'W

S

1'
'W

S

1'
'W

S

1'
'W

S
1'

'W
S

1''
W

S

1''
W

S

<

<<

<

<

10+00

11+00

12+00

13+00

14+00

15+00

15+98.61

<<

<<

<<
<<

<<

<<

<<

<<

<<

<<

<<

79
0

795

78
9

78
9

791
791791

79
2 792 79

2

792

79
2

79
3

79
4 79

6796

79
6

79
0

795

79
5

78
9

791

79
1

792

79
0

79
1

79
2

79
3

793

790

791

791

793

793

794

795

79
5

789

789

IN4

STA = 12+31.39 @ -15.50 L
RIM = 790.60
I.E. = 787.54(S)

31 L.F. - 24-INCH X 14-INCH HERCP @ -0.10%

IN5
STA = 10+43.73 @ 15.50 R

RIM = 789.23
I.E. = 786.56(N)

IN6
STA = 10+43.73 @ -15.50 L

RIM = 789.22
I.E. = 786.41(N)
I.E. = 786.41(S)

MH1

STA = 10+43.73 @ -28.68 L
RIM = 789.68
I.E. = 786.34(W)
I.E. = 786.34(S)

13 L.F. - 12-INCH RCP  @-0.50%

31 L.F. - 12-INCH RCP  @-0.50%

<

<<

<

<

STORM INLET, 2 FT X 3 FT
STA = 13+20.67 @ 15.50' RT IN2

STORM INLET, 2 FT X 3 FT
STA = 12+31.39 @ 15.50' RT IN3

STORM INLET, 2 FT X 3 FT
STA = 13+89.24 @ 15.50' RT IN1

139 L.F. - 18 IN PVC @ -0.10%

© MSA Professional Services, Inc.

www.msa-ps.com

ENGINEERING | ARCHITECTURE | SURVEYING
FUNDING | PLANNING | ENVIRONMENTAL FORT HEALTHCARE PHASE 1 EXPANSION

FORT HEALTHCARE
CITY OF FORT ATKINSON

PROJECT NO.

17839002
SHEET

P2

   DRAWN BY:            MJW

   DESIGNED BY:       MJW

   CHECKED BY:        KCL
PLAN & PROFILE - ROADWAY & STORM SEWER----

  PLOT DATE: 6/9/2023 10:48 AM, G:\17\17839\17839002\CADD\Construction Documents\17839002 Plan and Profile - Roadway & Storm Sewer Sheets.dwg

  PROJECT DATE: .

NO. REVISION BY
1 PRELIMINARY

2 FINAL

. .

DATE

5/12/2023

6/9/2023

.

MJW

MJW

.

0 20 4010
M

C
M

IL
LE

N
 S

TR
EE

T

PROPOSED ℄ ELEVATION

EXISTING ℄ ELEVATION

R.O.W. (TYP.)

CONCRETE SIDEWALK, 4-FT (TYP.)
CONCRETE CURB, 30-INCH (TYP.)

TEMPORARY ASPHALT TURNAROUND

ASPHALT PAVEMENT (TYP.)

(608) 242-7779
1702 Pankratz St Madison, WI 53704

PROPERTY LINE (TYP.)

EXISTING CURB AND GUTTER (TYP.)

UTILITY PEDESTAL

LOT 1 LOT 2 LOT 3 LOT 4 LOT 5

LOT 6

OUTLOT 1

STREET A

9-FT RADIUS

9-FT RADIUS

21 FT

59 FT

LOCATION AND TYPE/MODEL OF STREET LIGHT TO BE
COORDINATED AND VERIFIED WITH WE ENERGIES

LOCATION AND TYPE/MODEL OF STREET LIGHT TO BE
COORDINATED AND VERIFIED WITH WE ENERGIES

PROPOSED BUILDING FOOTPRINT (TYP.)



STA.= 10+50

780

785

790

795

780

785

790

795

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 400-5-10-15-20-25-30-35-40

RW RW

STA.= 11+00

780

785

790

795

780

785

790

795

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 400-5-10-15-20-25-30-35-40

RW RW

STA.= 11+50

780

785

790

795

780

785

790

795

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 400-5-10-15-20-25-30-35-40

RW RW

-2.00%
1.50%

-2.00%
1.50%

4:1

-2.00%
1.50%

-2.00%
1.50%4:1

-2.00%
1.50%

-2.00%
1.50%4:1

DESIGN EL. = 789.11
EXISTING EL. = 790.3

DESIGN EL. = 790.01
EXISTING EL. = 790.6

DESIGN EL. = 790.87
EXISTING EL. = 790.5

O
ff:

 0
.0

0
El

ev
: 7

90
.8

7

O
ff:

 1
3.

00
El

ev
: 7

90
.6

1
O

ff:
 1

5.
50

El
ev

: 7
90

.9
9

O
ff:

 2
6.

00
El

ev
: 7

91
.4

1

O
ff:

 3
0.

00
El

ev
: 7

91
.4

7

O
ff:

 -1
3.

00
El

ev
: 7

90
.6

1

O
ff:

 -1
5.

50
El

ev
: 7

90
.9

9

O
ff:

 -2
6.

00
El

ev
: 7

91
.4

1

O
ff:

 -3
0.

00
El

ev
: 7

91
.4

7

O
ff:

 -3
1.

13
El

ev
: 7

91
.1

9

O
ff:

 0
.0

0
El

ev
: 7

90
.0

1

O
ff:

 1
3.

00
El

ev
: 7

89
.7

5
O

ff:
 1

5.
50

El
ev

: 7
90

.1
3

O
ff:

 2
6.

00
El

ev
: 7

90
.5

5

O
ff:

 3
0.

00
El

ev
: 7

90
.6

1

O
ff:

 -1
3.

00
El

ev
: 7

89
.7

5

O
ff:

 -1
5.

50
El

ev
: 7

90
.1

3

O
ff:

 -2
6.

00
El

ev
: 7

90
.5

5

O
ff:

 -3
0.

00
El

ev
: 7

90
.6

1

O
ff:

 -3
1.

54
El

ev
: 7

91
.0

0

O
ff:

 0
.0

0
El

ev
: 7

89
.1

1

O
ff:

 1
3.

00
El

ev
: 7

88
.8

5
O

ff:
 1

5.
50

El
ev

: 7
89

.2
3

O
ff:

 2
6.

00
El

ev
: 7

89
.6

5

O
ff:

 3
0.

00
El

ev
: 7

89
.7

1

O
ff:

 -1
3.

00
El

ev
: 7

88
.8

5

O
ff:

 -1
5.

50
El

ev
: 7

89
.2

3

O
ff:

 -2
6.

00
El

ev
: 7

89
.6

5

O
ff:

 -3
0.

00
El

ev
: 7

89
.7

1

O
ff:

 -3
2.

45
El

ev
: 7

90
.3

2

© MSA Professional Services, Inc.

www.msa-ps.com

ENGINEERING | ARCHITECTURE | SURVEYING
FUNDING | PLANNING | ENVIRONMENTAL FORT HEALTHCARE PHASE 1 EXPANSION

FORT HEALTHCARE
CITY OF FORT ATKINSON

PROJECT NO.

17839002
SHEET

CS1

   DRAWN BY:            MJW

   DESIGNED BY:       MJW

   CHECKED BY:        KCL
CROSS SECTIONS----

  PLOT DATE: 6/9/2023 10:57 AM, G:\17\17839\17839002\CADD\Construction Documents\17839002 Cross Sections.dwg

  PROJECT DATE: .

NO. REVISION BY
1 PRELIMINARY

2 FINAL

. .

DATE

5/12/2023

6/9/2023

.

MJW

MJW

. (608) 242-7779
1702 Pankratz St Madison, WI 53704



STA.= 12+00

780

785

790

795

780

785

790

795

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 400-5-10-15-20-25-30-35-40

RW RW

STA.= 12+50

780

785

790

795

780

785

790

795

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 400-5-10-15-20-25-30-35-40

RW RW

STA.= 13+00

780

785

790

795

780

785

790

795

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 400-5-10-15-20-25-30-35-40

RW RW

-2.00%
1.50%

-2.00%
1.50%

4:1

-2.00%
1.50%

-2.00%
1.50%

4:1

-2.00%
1.50%

-2.00%
1.50%4:1

DESIGN EL. = 790.58
EXISTING EL. = 790.8

DESIGN EL. = 790.53
EXISTING EL. = 791.5

DESIGN EL. = 791.07
EXISTING EL. = 791.4

O
ff:

 0
.0

0
El

ev
: 7

91
.0

7

O
ff:

 1
3.

00
El

ev
: 7

90
.8

1
O

ff:
 1

5.
50

El
ev

: 7
91

.1
9

O
ff:

 2
6.

00
El

ev
: 7

91
.6

1

O
ff:

 3
0.

00
El

ev
: 7

91
.6

7

O
ff:

 -1
3.

00
El

ev
: 7

90
.8

1

O
ff:

 -1
5.

50
El

ev
: 7

91
.1

9

O
ff:

 -2
6.

00
El

ev
: 7

91
.6

1

O
ff:

 -3
0.

00
El

ev
: 7

91
.6

7

O
ff:

 0
.0

0
El

ev
: 7

90
.5

3

O
ff:

 1
3.

00
El

ev
: 7

90
.2

7
O

ff:
 1

5.
50

El
ev

: 7
90

.6
5

O
ff:

 2
6.

00
El

ev
: 7

91
.0

7

O
ff:

 3
0.

00
El

ev
: 7

91
.1

3

O
ff:

 -1
3.

00
El

ev
: 7

90
.2

7

O
ff:

 -1
5.

50
El

ev
: 7

90
.6

5

O
ff:

 -2
6.

00
El

ev
: 7

91
.0

7

O
ff:

 -3
0.

00
El

ev
: 7

91
.1

3

O
ff:

 -3
7.

78
El

ev
: 7

93
.0

7

O
ff:

 0
.0

0
El

ev
: 7

90
.5

8

O
ff:

 1
3.

00
El

ev
: 7

90
.3

2
O

ff:
 1

5.
50

El
ev

: 7
90

.7
0

O
ff:

 2
6.

00
El

ev
: 7

91
.1

2

O
ff:

 3
0.

00
El

ev
: 7

91
.1

8

O
ff:

 -1
3.

00
El

ev
: 7

90
.3

2

O
ff:

 -1
5.

50
El

ev
: 7

90
.7

0

O
ff:

 -2
6.

00
El

ev
: 7

91
.1

2

O
ff:

 -3
0.

00
El

ev
: 7

91
.1

8

O
ff:

 -3
2.

61
El

ev
: 7

91
.8

3

© MSA Professional Services, Inc.

www.msa-ps.com

ENGINEERING | ARCHITECTURE | SURVEYING
FUNDING | PLANNING | ENVIRONMENTAL FORT HEALTHCARE PHASE 1 EXPANSION

FORT HEALTHCARE
CITY OF FORT ATKINSON

PROJECT NO.

17839002
SHEET

CS2

   DRAWN BY:            MJW

   DESIGNED BY:       MJW

   CHECKED BY:        KCL
CROSS SECTIONS----

  PLOT DATE: 6/9/2023 10:57 AM, G:\17\17839\17839002\CADD\Construction Documents\17839002 Cross Sections.dwg

  PROJECT DATE: .

NO. REVISION BY
1 PRELIMINARY

2 FINAL

. .

DATE

5/12/2023

6/9/2023

.

MJW

MJW

. (608) 242-7779
1702 Pankratz St Madison, WI 53704



STA.= 13+50

785

790

795

800

785

790

795

800

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 400-5-10-15-20-25-30-35-40

RW RW

STA.= 14+00

785

790

795

800

785

790

795

800

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 400-5-10-15-20-25-30-35-40

RW RW

STA.= 14+50

785

790

795

800

785

790

795

800

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 400-5-10-15-20-25-30-35-40

RW RW

-2.00%
1.50%

-2.00%
1.50%4:1

-2.00%
1.50%

-2.00%
1.50%

4:1

-2.00%
1.50%

-2.00%
1.50%

4:1

DESIGN EL. = 791.95
EXISTING EL. = 791.4

DESIGN EL. = 792.84
EXISTING EL. = 791.7

DESIGN EL. = 793.72
EXISTING EL. = 796.2

O
ff:

 0
.0

0
El

ev
: 7

93
.7

2

O
ff:

 1
3.

00
El

ev
: 7

93
.4

6
O

ff:
 1

5.
50

El
ev

: 7
93

.8
4

O
ff:

 2
6.

00
El

ev
: 7

94
.2

6

O
ff:

 3
0.

00
El

ev
: 7

94
.3

2

O
ff:

 -1
3.

00
El

ev
: 7

93
.4

6

O
ff:

 -1
5.

50
El

ev
: 7

93
.8

4

O
ff:

 -2
6.

00
El

ev
: 7

94
.2

6

O
ff:

 -3
0.

00
El

ev
: 7

94
.3

2

O
ff:

 -3
7.

97
El

ev
: 7

96
.3

1

O
ff:

 0
.0

0
El

ev
: 7

92
.8

4

O
ff:

 1
3.

00
El

ev
: 7

92
.5

8
O

ff:
 1

5.
50

El
ev

: 7
92

.9
6

O
ff:

 2
6.

00
El

ev
: 7

93
.3

8

O
ff:

 3
0.

00
El

ev
: 7

93
.4

4

O
ff:

 -1
3.

00
El

ev
: 7

92
.5

8

O
ff:

 -1
5.

50
El

ev
: 7

92
.9

6

O
ff:

 -2
6.

00
El

ev
: 7

93
.3

8

O
ff:

 -3
0.

00
El

ev
: 7

93
.4

4

O
ff:

 -3
7.

07
El

ev
: 7

91
.6

7

O
ff:

 0
.0

0
El

ev
: 7

91
.9

5

O
ff:

 1
3.

00
El

ev
: 7

91
.6

9
O

ff:
 1

5.
50

El
ev

: 7
92

.0
7

O
ff:

 2
6.

00
El

ev
: 7

92
.4

9

O
ff:

 3
0.

00
El

ev
: 7

92
.5

5

O
ff:

 -1
3.

00
El

ev
: 7

91
.6

9

O
ff:

 -1
5.

50
El

ev
: 7

92
.0

7

O
ff:

 -2
6.

00
El

ev
: 7

92
.4

9

O
ff:

 -3
0.

00
El

ev
: 7

92
.5

5

O
ff:

 -3
4.

91
El

ev
: 7

91
.3

2

© MSA Professional Services, Inc.

www.msa-ps.com

ENGINEERING | ARCHITECTURE | SURVEYING
FUNDING | PLANNING | ENVIRONMENTAL FORT HEALTHCARE PHASE 1 EXPANSION

FORT HEALTHCARE
CITY OF FORT ATKINSON

PROJECT NO.

17839002
SHEET

CS3

   DRAWN BY:            MJW

   DESIGNED BY:       MJW

   CHECKED BY:        KCL
CROSS SECTIONS----

  PLOT DATE: 6/9/2023 10:57 AM, G:\17\17839\17839002\CADD\Construction Documents\17839002 Cross Sections.dwg

  PROJECT DATE: .

NO. REVISION BY
1 PRELIMINARY

2 FINAL

. .

DATE

5/12/2023

6/9/2023

.

MJW

MJW

. (608) 242-7779
1702 Pankratz St Madison, WI 53704





City of Fort Atkinson
Tax Increment District No. 10 - Fort HealthCare Project

Cash Flow Proforma Analysis
$13.00

$0
$0

Assumptions

Annual Inflation During Life of TID…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………0.00%

2022 Gross Tax Rate (per $1000 Equalized Value)………………………………………………………………………$22.53

Annual Adjustment to tax rate………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………0.00%

Investment rate…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….0.00% Example Developer Incentive
Data above dashed line are actual $365,000

Developer Outlay

Background Data Revenues Expenditures  TID Status
(a) (b) (c) (d) (e) (f) (g) (h) (i) (j) (k) (l) (m) (n) (o)

Net Annual Balance PAYGO Year End
TIF District Inflation Construction TIF Increment Tax Tax Investment Total Revenues (Shortfall)/ Due to Payment to Combined Annual Cumulative

Year Valuation Increment Increment Over Base Rate Revenue Proceeds Revenues Year Available Surplus Developer Developer Expenditures Balance Balance Cost Recovery Year
(January 1) (1) 70% (December 31)

Base Value
$0

2023 $0 $0 $0 $0 $22.53 $0 $0 $0 2023 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 2023
2024 $0 $0 $639,150 $639,150 $22.53 $0 $0 $0 2024 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 2024
2025 $639,150 $0 $639,150 $22.53 $0 $0 $0 2025 $0 ($365,000) ($365,000) $0 $0 $0 $0 2025
2026 $639,150 $0 $639,150 $22.53 $14,400 $0 $14,400 2026 $10,080 $10,080 ($354,920) $10,080 $10,080 $4,320 $4,320 2026
2027 $639,150 $0 $639,150 $22.53 $14,400 $0 $14,400 2027 $10,080 $10,080 ($344,840) $10,080 $10,080 $4,320 $8,640 2027
2028 $639,150 $0 $639,150 $22.53 $14,400 $0 $14,400 2028 $10,080 $10,080 ($334,760) $10,080 $10,080 $4,320 $12,960 2028
2029 $639,150 $0 $639,150 $22.53 $14,400 $0 $14,400 2029 $10,080 $10,080 ($324,680) $10,080 $10,080 $4,320 $17,280 2029
2030 $639,150 $0 $639,150 $22.53 $14,400 $0 $14,400 2030 $10,080 $10,080 ($314,600) $10,080 $10,080 $4,320 $21,600 2030
2031 $639,150 $0 $639,150 $22.53 $14,400 $0 $14,400 2031 $10,080 $10,080 ($304,520) $10,080 $10,080 $4,320 $25,920 2031
2032 $639,150 $0 $639,150 $22.53 $14,400 $0 $14,400 2032 $10,080 $10,080 ($294,440) $10,080 $10,080 $4,320 $30,240 2032
2033 $639,150 $0 $639,150 $22.53 $14,400 $0 $14,400 2033 $10,080 $10,080 ($284,360) $10,080 $10,080 $4,320 $34,560 2033
2034 $639,150 $0 $639,150 $22.53 $14,400 $0 $14,400 2034 $10,080 $10,080 ($274,280) $10,080 $10,080 $4,320 $38,880 2034
2035 $639,150 $0 $639,150 $22.53 $14,400 $0 $14,400 2035 $10,080 $10,080 ($264,200) $10,080 $10,080 $4,320 $43,200 2035
2036 $639,150 $0 $639,150 $22.53 $14,400 $0 $14,400 2036 $10,080 $10,080 ($254,120) $10,080 $10,080 $4,320 $47,520 2036
2037 $639,150 $0 $639,150 $22.53 $14,400 $0 $14,400 2037 $10,080 $10,080 ($244,040) $10,080 $10,080 $4,320 $51,840 2037
2038 $639,150 $0 $639,150 $22.53 $14,400 $0 $14,400 2038 $10,080 $10,080 ($233,960) $10,080 $10,080 $4,320 $56,160 2038
2039 $639,150 $0 $639,150 $22.53 $14,400 $0 $14,400 2039 $10,080 $10,080 ($223,880) $10,080 $10,080 $4,320 $60,480 2039
2040 $639,150 $0 $639,150 $22.53 $14,400 $0 $14,400 2040 $10,080 $10,080 ($213,800) $10,080 $10,080 $4,320 $64,800 2040
2041 $639,150 $0 $639,150 $22.53 $14,400 $0 $14,400 2041 $10,080 $10,080 ($203,720) $10,080 $10,080 $4,320 $69,120 2041
2042 $639,150 $0 $639,150 $22.53 $14,400 $0 $14,400 2042 $10,080 $10,080 ($193,640) $10,080 $10,080 $4,320 $73,440 2042
2043 $639,150 $0 $639,150 $22.53 $14,400 $0 $14,400 2043 $10,080 $10,080 ($183,560) $10,080 $10,080 $4,320 $77,760 2043
2044 $639,150 $0 $639,150 $22.53 $14,400 $0 $14,400 2044 $10,080 $10,080 ($173,480) $10,080 $10,080 $4,320 $82,080 2044
2045 $639,150 $0 $639,150 $22.53 $14,400 $0 $14,400 2045 $10,080 $10,080 ($163,400) $10,080 $10,080 $4,320 $86,400 2045
2046 $639,150 $0 $639,150 $22.53 $14,400 $0 $14,400 2046 $10,080 $10,080 ($153,320) $10,080 $10,080 $4,320 $90,720 2046
2047 $639,150 $0 $639,150 $22.53 $14,400 $0 $14,400 2047 $10,080 $10,080 ($143,240) $10,080 $10,080 $4,320 $95,040 2047
2048 $639,150 $0 $639,150 $22.53 $14,400 $0 $14,400 2048 $10,080 $10,080 ($133,160) $10,080 $10,080 $4,320 $99,360 2048
2049 $639,150 $0 $639,150 $22.53 $14,400 $0 $14,400 2049 $10,080 $10,080 ($123,080) $10,080 $10,080 $4,320 $103,680 2049
2050 $639,150 $0 $639,150 $22.53 $14,400 $0 $14,400 2050 $10,080 $10,080 ($113,000) $10,080 $10,080 $4,320 $108,000 2050
2051 $14,400 $0 $14,400 2051 $10,080 $113,000 $0 $113,000 $113,000 ($98,600) $9,400 Expenditures Recovered 2051

$0 $639,150 $374,400 $0 $374,400 $262,080 $0 $365,000 $365,000

Type of TID: Blight
2023 TID Inception (10/18/2022) (1)  Increment per City Estimates. 
2045 Final Year to Incur TIF Related Costs
2050 Maximum Legal Life of TID (20 Years)
2051 Final Tax Collection Year

Beginning June 1, 2025

Robert W. Baird & Co. Incorporated is providing this information to you for discussion purposes.  The materials do not contemplate or relate to a future issuance of municipal securities.  Baird is not recommending 
that you take any action, and this information is not intended to be regarded as “advice”’ within the meaning of Section 15B of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or the rules thereunder. 

Prepared by Robert W. Baird & Co. Incorporated S:\Public Finance\municipalities\fort atkinson cy wi\tif\tif 10\Proformas\2023\tif10 proforma (project plan) v4 
06212023.xlsx /tjw 6/22/2023



Agenda
City of Fort Atkinson 

City Manager’s Office 
101 N. Main Street 

Fort Atkinson, WI 53538 

MEMORANDUM 

DATE: July 6, 2023 

TO: Fort Atkinson City Council  

FROM:  Jedidiah Draeger, Building Inspector/Zoning Administrator 

RE: Review and possible action relating to a Certified Survey Map for the property 
located at 1712 and 1714 Montclair Place   

BACKGROUND 
Property owner Aeryn Barry has requested a two-lot Certified Survey Map for the parcel 
located at 1712 Montclair Pl.  

The property owner would like to separate the existing DR-8 Duplex Residential lot into two 
separate lots allowing the construction of a twin house using the zero-lot line zoning 
mechanism.   

RECOMMENDATION 
At the meeting on June 27, 2023, the Plan Commission reviewed this matter and recommended 
that the City Council approve the Preliminary Survey Map with the following conditions:  
• A joint maintenance agreement for the roof and shared wall of the house, to be recorded

on each parcel.
• Add the missing information required in Article VI, Section 70.60.03 – CSM Requirements, of

the City of Fort Atkinson Land Division Ordinance.
• Any other recommendations of City staff and the Plan Commission.

Staff recommends that the City Council approve the Preliminary Survey Map subject to the 
conditions outlined above.   

ATTACHMENTS 
PC Staff Report Packet; Preliminary Survey Map 



  City of Fort Atkinson 
  City Engineer’s Office 
  101 N. Main Street 
  Fort Atkinson, WI 53538 

 

1 
 

CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP  
REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION 

 
DATE: June 27, 2023 
 
PROPERTY ADDRESS: 1712 Montclair Pl  
 
PARCEL NUMBER: 226-0614-3234-025 
 
OWNER: Aeryn Barry  
 
FILE NUMBER: CSM-2023-07 

 
EXISTING ZONING: DR-8, Duplex Residential 
 
PROPOSED ZONING: N/A 
 
EXISTING LAND USE: Residential 
 
REQUESTED USES: N/A 
 

 

REQUEST OVERVIEW: 
Property owner Aeryn Barry has requested a two-lot Certified Survey Map for the parcel located at 
1712 Montclair Pl.  
 
The property owner would like to separate the existing DR-8 Duplex Residential lot into two separate 
lots allowing the construction of a twin house using the zero-lot line zoning mechanism.   
 
PUBLIC NOTICE: 
Public Notice is not required. 
 
COMPREHENSIVE LAND USE PLAN (2019): 
The current parcel is in the Northwest Quadrant Planning Area. The current and proposed properties 
are and will remain in concert with the City of Fort Atkinson Comprehensive Plan which shows this 
area as a residential neighborhood.  
 
 
 
 
 



 

2 
 

 
 
 
 
 



 

3 
 

 
 
____________________________________________________________________________ 
DISCUSSION: 

The current zoning of DR-8 Duplex Residential allows the proposed changes to parcel #226-0614-
3234-025. This would in turn allow for a zero-lot line twin house to be constructed. A Twin House is a 
permitted right in the DR-8 Zoning District. There is currently a duplex being built on the parcel using 
the existing plat. The division of the lot will allow for the owner of each side of the twin home to own 
and maintain their half of the existing lot, also Section 15.03.06 (6) states that each twin house must 
provide a separate public water lateral, sanitary sewer lateral, and electric service to each of the two 
dwelling units, these requirements were planned by the applicant prior to the start of construction, in 
anticipation of this application.  

Lastly the preliminary Certified Survey Map that was submitted is missing a few requirements 
listed in Section 70.06.03 of the City of Fort Atkinson Land Division Ordinance.  
 

• CSM must include the owner’s email and phone number. 
• An inset map showing the location of the parcel relative to the City of Fort Atkinson 
• CSM must label adjacent lands west and south of the proposed lots as Unplotted Land 
• CSM must show all existing setback lines and reference to the current zoning document made 
• CSM should include location of water and sewer service 

 
These items are minor and easily added.  
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends that the Plan Commission recommend the City Council approve this preliminary 
Certified Survey Map. Contingent on the inclusion of the following: 

• A joint maintenance agreement for the roof and shared wall of the house, to be recorded on 
each parcel 

• Addition of the missing information required in Article VI, Section 70.06.03 – CSM 
Requirements, of the City of Fort Atkinson Land Division Ordinance.   

 
ATTACHMENTS: 
Preliminary CSM  
Application  
Barry Overlay 



FORT • ATKINSON 

City of Fort Atkinson 
City Manager's Office 

101 N. Main Street 
Fort Atkinson, WI 53538 

City of Fort Atkinson Certified Survey Map Application 

This form is designed to be used by the Applicant as a guide to submitting a complete application for 
review of a Certified Survey Map by the City to process the application. 

APPLICANT Name, company, and client (if applicable):_A_e
-'
ry

'--
n_B _a_r

-'
ry

'---
-------

Phone number: 608-480-3625 Email: aerynbarry@yahoo.com 

OWNER Name, company, and client (if applicable):_A_ e___,;;ry_n_B_a_r.....:ry;....._ _______ _ 
Samantha Tiry 

Phone number: 608-480-3625 Email:aerynbarry@yahoo.com 

Postal address for proposed CSM: 1712-1714 Montclair Pl. Fort Atkinson, WI 5353

Parcel Identification Numbers Involved: 226-0614-3234-025
·-------------------

Brief description of proposed division or combination and purpose: Parcel #226-0614-3234-025

to be divided as shown on attached CSM for sale of 2 condos 

Application Packet Requirements 

The Applicant shall submit one electronic copy of the application. 
ii A map of the subject property to scale depicting: 

iii All lands and boundaries for the parcel(s) 
iii Current zoning of the subject property and its environs, and the 

jurisdiction(s) whichmaintains that control. 
iii All lot dimensions of the subject property. 
ii A graphic scale and a north arrow. 

ii Legal Description 
ii All easements, setbacks or land restrictions on the parcel(s) 

Certified Survey Map Review Page I of2 



FORT • ATKINSON 

City of Fort Atkinson 
City Manager's Office 

101 N. Main Street 
Fort Atkinson, WI 53538 

II Process Checklist 

□ Application fee of $100 plus $10 per additional lot received by City Treasurer     Date: SW_
(Maximum $500) Date: 

□ Receipt of complete application packet by Zoning Administrator Date: 
□ City Staff Review Date: 
□ Plan Commission Public Hearing, review and recommendation Date: 
□ City Council review and action

Dated thiJJ:_�y of � ,2osl}J 

ully submitted, 

--

--

---

--

Certified Survey Map Review Page 2 of2 



8/RRENKOTT 

SURVEYING 
CERTIFIED SURVEY 

MAP 
1677 N. Bristol Street Lot J8, Crescent Beouly Forms, 
Sun Proirie, WI. 53590 Locoted in the Southeast 1/4 of 

Phone (608) 837-7463 the Southwest 1/4 of Section J2, 
Fox (608) 8J7-108I T6N, R14£, City of Fort Atkinson, 

Jefferson County, Wisconsin, 

LOT2 LOTf 
5,400 S.F. 

0.124 ACRES 
5,400 S.F. � 

0.124 ACRES ;;i 

.v: 

L.Q.UZ. 

6.1 . .' 

Legend: 

• 

0 

0 

,. Section Corner 
u Found J/4 • Iron Pip<J 
• Found I 1/4• Iron Bar 

• J/4•x24• Iron Bar set 
wt.•I.SC/jln./1. 

C£Rnn£D SURVEY UAP NO. ----

VOLUME: _____ PAGC ___ _ 

OOCUMCNT NO. ________ _ 

If' 
c._ 12..1 

PROPOSCD 

20.,· 

G.IRAGf' 

'.! 20.5' 

� lOT 

0 

� ., 

OUPt.D< 

20.5 

G.IRAGf' 
,,� 

20.,· 
� 

tj 
38 

� 

.JO 

SCALE 1• • 30' 

A.Z: 

60 

J.Q.Ui. 

Center ol Section 
S«t.ion J2-6-14 
Found Aluminum 
llonument � 

South I/ 4 Corner 
s«tion J2-6 - I 4 
F ound Alutrunum 
Monument 

Sheet 1 of J 
Office I.lop No. 2JOJBS 



��

90' 35 

§ �33-Y

iD 

1726 1724 

90' 

90' 
34 

1727 1725 

33-2

it, 

-

-� •OI• .. 

44,94' 1 

33-4 
io "'"'

1722 

44.99' 

85' 

1721 

33-1
' . 

44 95' 36
2 

33-7 
io "' 
� 

1720 

44,98' 

33 

I:'; 
U') -: .., "' 
- ::? 

510' 

44.99' 
3 44,9' 

37 90' 

4 

34-24 34-33.
io 

co 

34-25"! "' 
2? � 

1718 1716 1712 

44.97' 44,99' 90' 

MONTClAIR PL 

85' 
32 85' 

31 

1717 
1713 

U) 
¥)N 
N -

34-23
..... "'> 
"'(") 34-22::? -

535 

38 90' 
39 it, 

N 
85' 41 

120· 
40 

� 

b 
b 

� � b 

34-26 
N 
-

it, 

34-27 "' 
1708 

90' 120' 
85' 

85' 30 85' 29 85' 
28 65' 

27 

1709 1705 1701 1659 

it, it, 

[it, 
.., 

34-19 
.., 

(") 
- -

34-18
it, 

34-21 
-

34-20
::? 

--





Agenda
City of Fort Atkinson 

City Manager’s Office 
101 N. Main Street 

Fort Atkinson, WI 53538 

MEMORANDUM 

DATE: July 6, 2023 

TO: Fort Atkinson City Council  

FROM:  Jedidiah Draeger, Building Inspector/Zoning Administrator 

RE: Review and possible action relating to a Certified Survey Map for the property 
located at 624 and 704 Sherman Ave East   

BACKGROUND 
The property owner would like to break off a portion of 624 Sherman Ave E and join it with the 
adjoining property at 704 Sherman Ave E. The lot at 624 Sherman is legal nonconforming with 
respect to lot width. Approval of this CSM would increase the width of the 624 Sherman Ave E 
lot creating a legal conforming lot. The lot at 704 Sherman would increase in size, remain a legal 
lot, and would retain the shoreline access from both current lot configurations. 

RECOMMENDATION 
At the meeting on June 27, 2023, the Plan Commission reviewed this matter and recommended 
that the City Council approve the Preliminary Survey Map with the following conditions:  
• Increase the width of the proposed lot at 624 Sherman Ave E. to the 100 ft. required for

SR-2 Zoning.
• Add the missing information required in Article VI, Section 70.60.03 – CSM Requirements, of

the City of Fort Atkinson Land Division Ordinance.
• Any other recommendations of City staff and the Plan Commission.

Staff recommends that the City Council approve the Preliminary Survey Map subject to the 
conditions outlined above.   

ATTACHMENTS 
PC Staff Report Packet; Preliminary Survey Map 



  City of Fort Atkinson 
  City Engineer’s Office 
  101 N. Main Street 
  Fort Atkinson, WI 53538 

 

1 
 

CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP  
REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION 

 
DATE: June 27, 2023 
 
PROPERTY ADDRESS: 624 Sherman Ave E.,  
704 Sherman Ave E.  
 
PARCEL NUMBER: 226-0514-0321-117 
226-0514-0312-076 
 
OWNER: Terry A Duch 
 
APPLICANT: Terry A Duch 

 
FILE NUMBER: CSM-2023-06 
 
EXISTING ZONING: SR-2, Single-family Residential 
 
PROPOSED ZONING: N/A 
 
EXISTING LAND USE: Residential 
 
REQUESTED USES: N/A 
 

 

REQUEST OVERVIEW: 
Property owner Terry A Duch has requested a two-lot Certified Survey Map for the parcels located at 
624 Sherman Ave E. and 704 Sherman Ave E.  
 
The property owner would like to break off a portion of 624 Sherman Ave E and join it with the 
adjoining property at 704 Sherman Ave E. The lot at 624 Sherman is legal nonconforming with respect 
to lot width. Approval of this CSM would increase the width of the 624 Sherman Ave E lot creating a 
legal conforming lot. The lot at 704 Sherman would increase in size, remain a legal lot, and would 
retain the shoreline access from both current lot configurations.   
 
PUBLIC NOTICE: 
Public Notice is not required. 
 
COMPREHENSIVE LAND USE PLAN (2019): 
Both parcels are in the Healthcare Center Planning Area. These properties are and will remain in 
concert with the City of Fort Atkinson Comprehensive Plan which show this area as a residential 
neighborhood.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

2 
 

 
 
 



 

3 
 

______________________________________________________________________ 
DISCUSSION: 
The SR-2 zoning district has a required minimum lot width of 100 ft; a required lot depth of 120 ft, 
and a minimum lot area of 15,000 S.F. Currently the parcel located at 624 Sherman Ave E. has a width 
of 91.74 ft, a depth of 881.05 ft, and a total area of 80,827 S.F., which is legal nonconforming to the 
Zoning Ordinance. The Parcel at 704 Sherman Ave is currently a legal lot in the SR-2 Zoning with a 
width of 195.36 ft, a depth of 1072 ft, and a total area of 209,425 SF.  
 
 Mr. Duch and Staff spoke concerning the width of the proposed lot and the proximity of the 
accessory buildings to the East lot line. Mr. Duch agreed that the proposed North and South lot line 
should be moved East 8.26 ft. This would allow for both lots to be conforming.   
 
The Preliminary CSM will show the parcel at 624 Sherman Ave E. would increase the width to 100 ft, 
but would have the lot depth reduced to 244.94 ft and the total area reduced to 24,494 SF. The lot 
after the proposed changes would become a legal conforming lot. The parcel located at 704 Sherman 
Ave E would have width reduced to 187.1 ft at the street, however the lot width would increase to 
287.10 ft for the Southern portion of the lot. 704 Sherman Ave E would continue to have a depth of 
1072.35 ft, however the total sq footage would increase to 268,147 SF. The required ratios of 
impervious surfaces to green space are also not adversely affected. The last thing to note is the 
Accessory buildings at 624 Sherman Ave E are currently encroaching the side setback requirements 
for the SR-2 Zoning district and the change proposed would bring those accessory structures into 
conformity. Last the preliminary Certified Survey Map that was submitted is missing a few 
requirements listed in Section 70.60.03 of the City of Fort Atkinson Land Division Ordinance.  
 

• CSM must include the owner’s email and phone number. 
• CSM must show any existing easements. 
• CSM must label adjacent lands west and south of the proposed lots as Unplotted Land 
• CSM must show all existing setback lines and reference to the current zoning document made. 

 
These items are minor and easily added.  
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends that the Plan Commission recommend the City Council approve this preliminary 
Certified Survey Map. Contingent on the final Certified Survey Map including the following: 

• increase width of the proposed lot at 624 Sherman Ave E. to the 100 ft required for SR-2 
Zoning.  

• add the missing information required in Article VI, Section 70.60.03 – CSM Requirements, of 
the City of Fort Atkinson Land Division Ordinance, noted above   

 
ATTACHMENTS: 
Preliminary CSM Updated 
Application  
Duch Overlay 







E. SHERMAN  AVE.

RO
CK  RIVER

LOT 2

CSM NO. 2027

FORT ATKINSON, JEFFERSON COUNTY, WISCONSIN.

PRELIMINARY CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP

PART OF GOVERNMENT LOTS 2 & 3 IN SECTION 3, T5N., R14E., CITY OF

A CONSOLIDATION OF LOT 1, CSM NO. 1072 AND LOT 1, CSM NO. 2027,


	Agenda
	Consent Agenda.pdf
	6.20.23 Council Minutes
	6.27.23Plan Commission Minutes
	6.27.23 Loan Review Committee Minutes
	6.27.23 Police and Fire Commission Minutes
	6.28.23 Economic Development Commission Minutes
	Special Event: Youth Triathlon
	Application
	Map

	Special Event: Knight Nation 5K
	Application
	Map

	Special Event: Tour de Fort
	Application
	Map

	Special Event: Making Fort Special
	Application


	City of Fort Atkinson AUD DRAFT 05232023.pdf
	Prop CFS
	Proprietary CFS
	Prop CFS
	Proprietary CFS
	Index to Notes
	Notes
	CF Notes
	CF Notes
	CF Notes
	CF Notes
	CF Notes
	CF Notes
	CF Notes
	CF Notes
	TOC NOTE I.D.8
	CF Notes
	CF Notes
	CF Notes
	CF Notes
	CF Notes
	CF Notes
	CF Notes
	CF Notes
	CF Notes
	CF Notes
	CF Notes
	CF Notes
	CF Notes
	CF Notes
	CF Notes
	CF Notes
	CF Notes
	CF Notes
	CF Notes
	CF Notes
	CF Notes
	CF Notes
	CF Notes
	CF Notes
	CF Notes
	CF Notes
	CF Notes
	CF Notes
	CF Notes
	CF Notes
	CF Notes
	CF Notes
	CF Notes
	General Fund IS Budget to Actual
	S1A
	S1A
	S1A
	S1A
	General Fund IS Budget to Actual

	City of Fort Atkinson Audit Results DRAFT 05232023.pdf
	Executive summary
	Responsibilities
	Our responsibilities

	Audit status
	Significant changes to the audit plan

	Audit approach and results
	Planned scope and timing
	Audit focus

	Key areas of focus and significant findings
	Significant risks of material misstatement
	Other areas of emphasis

	Internal control matters
	Required communications
	Nonattest services

	Reports to those charged with governance
	Visit our resource page for regulatory updates, trending challenges and opportunities in your industry and other timely updates.
	Management representation letter
	Accounting changes relevant to the City of Fort Atkinson
	Fort Atkinson MRL.pdf
	top


	Thank you Resolution Wisconsin Act 12
	Memo: Zoning Text Amendments
	Plan Commission Memo
	Zoning Text Amendments

	7.6.23 Council Memo - Fire Chief Recruiter Packet.pdf
	Fire Chief Recruitment
	McMahon Proposal
	McGrath Proposal
	Gov HR Proposal
	Proposal
	Sashko, Tim - Biography
	Understanding Innovative Recruitment Strategies - Urbandale IA
	Fire Client List 6-19-2023
	Menomonee-WI-FC-Brochure-1-29-20-v2
	RFP Form

	Assessment Center Overview
	CPS HR Consulting Proposal
	Table of Contents
	Experience and Qualifications
	a. About CPS HR Consulting
	b. Executive Recruitment Team
	c. Recruitments and References for David Niemeyer
	d. CPS HR Related Recruitments
	Recruitment Experts

	Approach/Strategy to Perform the Project
	a. Tentative Schedule
	b. Our Approach
	Key Stakeholder Involvement
	City’s Needs
	Aggressive, Proactive, and Robust Recruitment
	Diversity Outreach Process

	Methodology and Scope of Work
	c. Commitment to Communication
	d. Challenges to a Success Recruitment

	Phase I - Develop Candidate Profile and Recruitment Strategy
	Task 1 - Review and Finalize Executive Search Process and Schedule
	Task 2 - Key Stakeholder Meetings
	Task 3 - Candidate Profile and Recruitment Strategy Development
	Task 4 – Develop Recruitment Brochure

	Phase II – Aggressive, Proactive, and Robust Recruitment
	Task 1 – Place Advertisements
	Task 2 - Identify and Contact Potential Candidates
	Task 3 – Resume Review and Screening Interviews
	Task 4 – Police and Fire Commission and City Manager Select Finalists

	Phase III – Selection
	Task 1 - Design Selection Process
	Task 2 - Administer Selection Process
	Task 3 – Final Preparation for Appointment
	Task 4 – Contract Negotiation (if requested)

	Cost Proposal
	a. Professional Services Cost
	b. Hourly Rates
	c. Estimates of Additional Services and/or Expenses Not Included
	Personality Inventory Assessment


	Additional Material
	a. Alternate Proposals to Reduce Cost
	Professional Services

	b. Sample Work Products
	Sample Brochure

	c. Placement Guarantee
	Two-Year Service Guarantee

	d. Sample Contract

	Appendix A: List of Past Recruitments

	Angels Recruiting Proposal
	City of Fort Atkinson Fire Chief Recruitment Proposals - Summary Table.pdf
	Sheet1



	Memo: Fort Healthcare Development Agreement
	Development Agreement
	Exhibit A - Prelim Plat (1).pdf
	Sheets and Views
	PRE PLAT


	Exhibit B - Phase 1 Expansion Plans_2023.06.09 (1).pdf
	Sheets and Views
	G1 TITLE SHEET
	G2 STANDARD DETAILS
	G3 STANDARD DETAILS
	G4 STANDARD DETAILS
	G5 STANDARD DETAILS
	G6 STANDARD DETAILS
	G7 STANDARD DETAILS
	G8 STANDARD DETAILS
	G9 TYPICAL SECTIONS
	G10 OUTLOT 1 WET DETENTION POND DETAILS
	G11 EXISTING CONDITIONS OVERVIEW
	G12 DEMOLTION PLAN
	EC1 EROSION CONTROL & RESTORATION - LOT GRADING
	EC2 EROSION CONTROL & RESTORATION - WET DETENTION POND GRADING
	EC3 EROSION CONTROL & RESTORATION - DRAINAGE SWALE
	S1 SITE PLAN - LOT GRADING & STORM SEWER
	S2 SITE PLAN - WET DETENTION POND GRADING & STORM SEWER
	S3 SITE PLAN - DRAINAGE SWALE
	P1 PLAN & PROFILE - SANITARY SEWER & WATERMAIN
	P2 PLAN & PROFILE - ROADWAY & STORM SEWER
	CS1 CROSS SECTIONS
	CS2 CROSS SECTIONS
	CS3 CROSS SECTIONS


	Exhibit C Future Road Plan
	Exhibit D TIF10 Proforma

	Memo: CSM 1712 & 1714 Montclair Pl
	Plan Commission Memo
	Application
	CSM
	Overlay

	Memo: CSM 624 & 704 Sherman Ave East
	Plan Commission Memo
	Application
	CSM


	Name of BusinessGroup Organizing Event:  Crown of Life Christian Academy
	Contact Person for Event:  Kayla Brown
	Email Phone Number:  kayla_kj@hotmail.com
	Special Event Details Event Name: Knight Nation 5k
	Event Date mmddyyyy: 8/19/23
	Event Location:  Crown of Life Campus: 535 Berea Drive, Fort Atkinson
	Estimated Number of Attendees: 100-150
	Hours of Event: 10a-1p
	Event Setup Time: 9a
	Event Tear Down Time: 2p
	Event Description: CLCA is hosting a back to school event on Saturday, August 19th. 
We will be having lunch, games, bounce house, hayrides, face painting and a kids run all on our property. 
We are requsting 5K run event, that would start and end on the school property. The run would be the same route as last year, going through low traffic back streets and Rock River Park.  
	GoalPurpose of Event: The purpose of this back-to-school event is to create a feeling of community amungst our families, supporters and anyone interested in CLCA. This low cost/no cost event is amed at having fun and reconnecting at the close of summer and creating excitement for the upcoming school year. For our new families and students, this is a great event to get to know other families and to meet staff and classmates. 
	Check all applicable boxes: 
	I am renting a city park: 
	I am renting city equipment: X
	Qty: 
	Qty_2: 
	Qty_3: 
	Qty_4: 
	Qty_5: 2
	Qty_6: 
	Electrical Access The City Electrican may reach out to you to address any needsconcerns Please specify if you have any requests or requirements beyond current access: 
	undefined: 
	Text1: 920-723-9178
	Text2: 
	Check Box3: Off
	Check Box4: Off
	Check Box5: Off
	I will be having music: X
	Start Time of Music: 10a
	End Time of Music: 1p
	I will be closing a streets: 
	I will be selling beer andor wine: 
	I will be erecting a tent canopy or other temporary structure: 
	I am having a walkrace: YES
	For Office Use Only Date Received Date Paid Council Approval  Denial Date Date applicant notified of Council action and any event stipulations Event Stipulations: 
	1: 
	2: 
	Date applicant notified of Council action and any event stipulations: 
	undefined_2: 
	Check Box6: Off
	Check Box7: Off
	Check Box8: Off
	Check Box9: Off
	Check Box10: Off
	Text11: 6/15/23
	Text13: Kayla Brown


